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1.1 . Aeroflot
today

Aeroflot is the undisputed leader of the Russian
air transport market and one of the most
successful airlines in Europe. JSC Aeroflot,
the Group’s flagship carrier carried more than
20.9 million people in 2013, while the total
number of passengers flown by all of Aeroflot
Group’s airlines reached 31.4 million.
Aeroflot Group held 37% of the Russian market
by passenger traffic (excluding foreign airlines)
and 23% of the market for cargo.

JSC Aeroflot was one of the fastest growing and largest airlines in
Europe in 2013, ranking second by growth of revenue passenger
kilometers (RPK; +19.2%) and available seat kilometers (ASK; +17.8%)
according to the Association of European Airlines, against European
averages of +2.7% and +1.7%, respectively.

Aeroflot Group’s strategy focuses on profitable growth, further gains in
operating efficiency and introducing new technologies and innovative
solutions. The Group aims to become a leading carrier on the global
aviation market and to secure a dominant position on routes between
Europe and Asia.

In 2013, for the second year running, Aeroflot was the only Russian
airline among the five largest European airlines by passenger traffic
and capacity. Aeroflot revenue passenger kilometers for 2013 totalled
60.2 billion, with available seat kilometers of 76.4 billion.

JSC Aeroflot has one of the youngest aircraft fleets in Europe, with
143 modern airliners as of 31 December 2013. Aeroflot Group operates
fleets with a total of 239 aircraft and includes the following airlines:
Aeroflot, Donavia, Rossiya Airlines, Orenburg Airlines and Aurora
Airlines (a new Far East carrier created in 2013 with the merger of
Group subsidiaries Vladivostok Air and SAT Airlines). A new low-cost
carrier within the Group, LLC Dobrolet, was registered as a legal entity
in 2013 and is scheduled to start operations in 2014.

Aeroflot has a rich and eventful 90-year history. Today, it is continuing
to grow as a modern and dynamic company that uses the latest
technologies and innovative solutions throughout its operations and
at management level. Aeroflot sets the standard for the industry in
terms of fleet management, organisation of transport operations and
passenger service both on the ground and in the air.
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A multi-brand strategy enables the Group to successfully expand its
presence in all key market segments on both domestic and international
routes. The creation of new airlines Aurora and Dobrolet gives the
Group access to new segments and anticipates the future of air travel.
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Aeroflot’s own route network includes 156 destinations in 56 countries.
Aeroflot is a member of the SkyTeam global airline alliance. The route
network of Aeroflot Group includes 293 regular destinations in 65
countries.
51.17% of the shares of JSC Aeroflot belong to the Russian
Government. Aeroflot is included in the list of strategic enterprises and
strategic joint stock companies by Russian Presidential Decree № 1009
of 4 August 2004.
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the over-the-counter section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. In
December 2013 the Russian Central Bank gave permission for trading
in depositary receipts on Aeroflot shares outside Russia, enabling
the launch of a Level-1 ADR programme. In January 2014, the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission announced the commencement
of a Level-1 ADR programme for shares of JSC Aeroflot.

Aeroflot’s shares are listed on the Moscow Stock Exchange (ticker:
AFLT) in the highest A1 quotation list. The Company’s shares trade
in the main T+2 sector and the Classica sector. Outside Russia
Aeroflot shares trade as global depositary receipts (GDRs) at

Aeroflot revenue passenger
kilometers for 2013 totalled

60.2

* In this Annual Report, the terms “JSC Aeroflot”, “Aeroflot” and “the Company”

billion.

“Aeroflot Group” or “the Group” refers to JSC Aeroflot together with its

refer to the parent company of Aeroflot Group: Joint Stock Company

“Aeroflot – Russian Airlines”.
subsidiaries.
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1.2. A Year of Confident Growth
OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS OF AEROFLOT GROUP
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND
27,471.7

2012

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION

31,390.6

74,617.2

+14.3 %

2013

CARGO AND MAIL CARRIED,
THOUSAND TONNES
223.8

2012

204.6

2012

2013

2013

2012

+14.3 %

8,666.1

2013

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR, %
78.1

REVENUE TONNE KILOMETERS,
MILLION
7,925.7

–8.6 %

85,273.3

2012

78.2

2013

+0.1 p. p.

17,656.1

65.2

64.7

2012

2013

50,532.5

+18.4 %

CARGO AND MAIL CARRIED,
THOUSAND TONNES
193.9
176.5

2012

2013

–9.0 %

2012

+9.3 %

2012

2013

–0.5 p. p.

+19.2 %

REVENUE TONNE KILOMETERS,
MILLION
5,669.2

2012

EBITDA INCREASED BY 49.0%

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR INCREASED

9,1 35.7

1,000.0

230.3

MILLION

MILLION

6,339.9

2012

78.8

2013

+0.9 p. p.

64.4

+11.8 %

2012

2013

Change

Revenue

9,135.7

8,138.1

12.3 %

Operating costs

8,514.2

7,780.4

9.4 %

Operating profit

621.5

357.7

73.7 %

Profit before income tax

430.3

357.7

20.3 %

Income tax

200.0

191.4

4.5 %

Profit for the year

230.3

166.3

38.5 %

1,000.0

671.3

49.0 %

10.9

8.2

2.7 p.p.

1,602.2

1,238.3

29.4 %

17.5

15.2

2.3 p.p.

2.1

3.1

-32.3 %

23.9

21.3

12.2 %

2,861.6

1,651.7

73.3 %

EBITDA
EBITDAR
EBITDAR margin, %
Net debt/EBITDA

+0.6 p. p.

MILLION

2012

Earnings per share (US cents)

2013

BY 38.5% TO USD

2013

EBITDA margin, %

REVENUE LOAD FACTOR, %
63.8

TO USD

USD million

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,%
77.9

60,226.3

2013

REVENUE INCREASED BY 12.3%
TO USD

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION

20,902.4

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF AEROFLOT GROUP

REVENUE LOAD FACTOR, %

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS OF JSC AEROFLOT
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

See this section in
the online version
of the Annual
Report

Market capitalisation at the end of the year
p.p. — percentage point.
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1.3. Main Events
in 2013

Creating a multi-brand platform for Aeroflot Group
• In 2013 Aeroflot Group set up a new airline, Aurora, combining
the assets of two carriers, Vladivostok Air and SAT Airlines. JSC
Aeroflot will own at least 51% of shares of the new company. The
first passenger-carrying flight by an aircraft of the new company
took place on 14 November 2013 on the Vladivostok-KhabarovskMagadan route.

• In 2013 Aeroflot announced the creation of a budget airline. The new
company was incorporated under the name Dobrolet on 4 October,
2013, and flights are scheduled to begin in 2014.

Balanced development of the route network
• The Group added 25 new regular routes to its overall route network
in 2013.
• JSC Aeroflot started flight operations on nine new routes.

• Aeroflot commissioned a Hub Control Centre (the first of its kind
in Russia) to coordinate connections for transit passengers and
baggage and to manage aircraft turnover at Aeroflot’s base airport,
Moscow Sheremetyevo.

Fleet expansion and moderniSation
• Aeroflot put four new long-haul Boeing 777-300ER airliners into
operation in 2013. The Group also took receipt of 22 aircraft from the
Airbus A320 family and five Boeing 737s. Four Sukhoi Superjet 100 in
‘light’ configuration were exchanged for ‘full’ configuration craft.
• The General Meeting of Shareholders of JSC Aeroflot approved
the acquisition of up to 50 new Boeing 737-800/737-900ER on an
operating lease basis, to be delivered in 2013-2017. Approval was
also given for the acquisition in 2013 of five Airbus A321-200s on a
leaseback basis.
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• The Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot approved a transaction with
JSC VEB-Leasing for the financial lease of 10 new Sukhoi Superjet 100
regional jets, equipped to Aeroflot’s specifications (full configuration).
The jets will replace 10 Sukhoi Superjet 100s already received in
a simplified (light) version. The Board also approved lease transactions
to acquire 10 medium-range craft in the Airbus A320 family for delivery
in 2014 , as well as a transaction to purchase 10 new Airbus A320s and
four new Airbus A321s for delivery in 2016-2017.
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Safety and security
• Aeroflot successfully passed regular inspections to confirm
compliance with industry standards of flight safety and security,
including the Operational Safety Audit of the International Air
Transport Association’s (IATA) Operational Safety Audit (IOSA).

Greater presence on capital markets
• JSC Aeroflot redeemed series BO-01 and BO-02 bond loans, with a
total value of RUB 12 billion.
• JSC Aeroflot placed series BO-03 bonds with a value of RUB 5 billion
for a period of three years at an interest rate of 8.3% per annum.
• JSC Aeroflot obtained permission from the Financial Markets Service
of the Bank of Russia for shares of Aeroflot to be traded outside
Russia as part of a Level 1 ADR programme.

• Shares of JSC Aeroflot were transferred to the Moscow Exchange’s
top-level A quotation list.
• JSC Aeroflot has been included in the list of partly state-owned
companies that are eligible for privatisation in 2014-2016. A final
decision will be taken by the Russian Government.

Improving the quality of service to passengers
• A new Comfort class was introduced on long-haul routes flown
by Boeing 777-300ER aircraft. This service class offers seats with
superior levels of comfort, an entertainment programme on builtin Thales monitors, individual travel sets, an increased baggage
allowance and new standards for in-flight meals.
• Aeroflot unified its telephone services for passengers in 12 countries
at a single call centre.
• Aeroflot signed an exclusive partnership agreement with Europcar,
one of the world’s largest car rental companies.
• The Company further expanded its on-board Internet programme.
Internet access is now available to passengers on 15 Airbus A330s
and four Boeing 777s.

• Both international and domestic flights offered a revamped summer
menu, designed by a world-class team of professionals under the
direction of Thierry Mona, head chef at LSG Sky Chefs, the world’s
leading in-flight caterer.
• Aeroflot is constantly improving its Aeroflot Bonus loyalty programme
for frequent flyers. The Arkady Novikov restaurant chain has joined
the programme as a new partner.
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The latest technology and innovation

90 th anniversary of Aeroflot

• Aeroflot announced the results of an international innovation
competition to develop an in-flight entertainment platform.
• Aeroflot commissioned Russia’s first Full Flight Simulator (FFS) for
the A330, made by the Canadian manufacturer CAE Inc., and an FFS
for the Sukhoi Superjet 100. Aeroflot and Irkut Corporation gave the
first presentation of the PT-MS-21-300 simulator at the Moscow Air
Show (MAKS-2013).
• Aeroflot carried out a full upgrade of its Sabre ACSI registration
system, achieving conversion to Sabre Sonic Check-in (SSCI).

• Aeroflot celebrated its 90th birthday in 2013. Dobrolet Russian
Voluntary Air Fleet Company, subsequently transformed into JSC
Aeroflot, was established on 17 March 1923, and was Russia’s first
provider of civil aviation services.

Charitable and sponsorship activities
• Aeroflot launched a new programme to help children in need, entitled
‘The Heart has Two Wings’.
• Aeroflot was the official airline of the 27th World Student Games in
2013.
• Aeroflot was appointed official carrier of the Russian team and
the national delegation to the XXII Olympic Winter Games and XI
Paralympic Winter Games, held in Sochi in 2014.
• Aeroflot was appointed the official carrier for Manchester United
Football Club.
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• Aeroflot was technical partner of the Olympic Torch Relay in 2013
and carried the Olympic flame from Athens to Moscow. The Torch
Relay team crossed Russia from west to east on an aircraft provided
by Aeroflot, lighting the Olympic flame in 20 Russian cities located
north of the Arctic Circle.
• Aeroflot held its traditional Comrades in Arms action for veterans of
World War II to mark the 68th anniversary of VE Day.
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Events since the reporting date (2014)
• The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission announced the
activation of Aeroflot’s Level 1 ADR programme. The depositary bank
for the ADR programme is Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.
• Aeroflot transferred a 49% stake in Aurora Airlines to Sakhalin
Region under terms of a cooperation agreement with the regional
administration. The agreement calls for the phased transfer of shares
in Aurora from Sakhalin Region to other regional administrations in
Russia’s Far Eastern Federal District.
• Aeroflot introduced a new elite Platinum level for the Aeroflot
Bonus loyalty programme, as well as a new brand identity for the
programme.
• Aeroflot became the first Russian airline to commission the most
advanced modification of the Airbus A320, equipped with new
aerodynamic Sharklet wingtips, which improve aerodynamic
performance and reduce operating costs.
• Aeroflot held four-day auctions for sales of block freight reservations
on scheduled flights in the summer 2014 season to destinations in
the Urals, Siberia and the Far East. The revenue realised exceeded
the asking price by 6.7%. The average yield rate at the auctions was
15% higher than in 2012.

• Aeroflot opened ticket sales at subsidised rates in its programme
to provide affordable air transport to passengers travelling from the
Russian Far East to European Russia and back.
• Aeroflot reviewed its operations to serve the 22nd Winter Olympic
Games and 11th Winter Paralympic Games in Sochi in 2014. Aeroflot
made 500 return flights between Moscow and Sochi in the period
from 20 January to 18 March 2014, carrying 133,887 passengers, as
well as 20 return flights between Frankfurt and Sochi carrying 2,915
passengers.
• Fitch Ratings confirmed Aeroflot’s BB- credit rating, leaving the
‘Stable’ outlook unchanged, following its annual credit rating review.
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1.4. Aircraft fleet
of Aeroflot group*
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AN-24

SHORT-HAUL/REGIONAL

1 aircraft

DHC 8-300

DHC 8-200

2 aircrafts

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

21,800

29.2

ENGINES

AI-24

SEATING CAPACITY

40

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

990

AN-148

10 aircrafts

6 aircrafts

LENGTH, M

22.2

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

16,466

LENGTH, M

25.7

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

18,997

LENGTH, M

45,880

LENGTH, M

ENGINES

PW123 С

WINGSPAN, М

27.4

ENGINES

PW123

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

Power Jet SaM146

WINGSPAN, М

29.13
28.91

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

25.9

29.94
27.8

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

WINGSPAN, М
SEATING CAPACITY

37

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

1,713

SEATING CAPACITY

50

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

1,550

SEATING CAPACITY

87

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

2,400

SEATING CAPACITY

75

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

AIRBUS A320

39 aircrafts

MEDIUM-HAUL

23.5

SSJ-100

3 aircrafts

AIRBUS A319

42,550
D-436-148

ENGINES

3,500

BOEING 737-400

BOEING 737-800

67 aircrafts

22 aircrafts

4 aircrafts

33.84
34.1

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

70,000

LENGTH, M

75,500 – 77,000

LENGTH, M

79 015

LENGTH, M

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

CFM 56-5A/5B

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

CFM 56-7B

WINGSPAN, М

36.45
28.88

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

CFM 56-5A/5B

39,5
35,8

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

ENGINES

37.57
34.1

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

65,090–68,038
CFM 56-3С1

SEATING CAPACITY

116-138

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

3,500 – 6,800

SEATING CAPACITY

140-180

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

4,000 – 5,550

SEATING CAPACITY

158-189

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

4 500-5 765

SEATING CAPACITY

150-168

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

3,300-5,000

LENGTH, M

AIRBUS A321

BOEING 737-500

BOEING 737-200

2 aircrafts

2 aircrafts

26 aircrafts

30.5
28.3

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

54,204

LENGTH, M

57,833

LENGTH, M

89,000

PW JT8D

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

CFM 56-3С1

WINGSPAN, М

44.51
34.1

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

ENGINES

31.01
28.88

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

CFM 56-5B

SEATING CAPACITY

109

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

3,800

SEATING CAPACITY

110

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

4,500

SEATING CAPACITY

170

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

3,800

LENGTH, M

AIRBUS A330-200

BOEING 777-200ER

BOEING 767-300ER

IL-96-300

3 aircrafts

5 aircrafts

LONG-HAUL

LENGTH, M
WINGSPAN, М

6 aircrafts

8 aircrafts

LENGTH, M

58.8

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

230,000

LENGTH, M

63.73

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

297,556

LENGTH, M

54.9

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

186,880

LENGTH, M

55.35

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

250,000

WINGSPAN, М

60.3

ENGINES

RR TRENT 772B

WINGSPAN, М

60.93

ENGINES

PW 4090

WINGSPAN, М

47.6

ENGINES

CF6-80C2

WINGSPAN, М

57.66

ENGINES

PS-90A

SEATING CAPACITY

241

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

11,200

SEATING CAPACITY

364

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

14,305

SEATING CAPACITY

218-309

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

10,000–10,700

SEATING CAPACITY

282

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

10,000

BOEING 777-300ER

TU-204-300

6 aircrafts

AIRBUS A330-300

4 aircrafts

17 aircrafts

LENGTH, M

40.19

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

107,500

LENGTH, M

73.86

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

317,515

LENGTH, M

MAXIMUM TAKE-OFF WEIGHT, KG

41.8

WINGSPAN, М

64.8

230,000

ENGINES

PS-90A

63.7

WINGSPAN, М

ENGINES

GE 90-115BL

WINGSPAN, М

60.3

ENGINES

RR TRENT 772B

SEATING CAPACITY

142

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

SEATING CAPACITY

402

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

11,200

SEATING CAPACITY

296-302

FLIGHT RANGE, KM

9,500

* As of 31 December 2013.

6,400
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GREENLAND
NOVAYA ZEMLYA

Murmansk
RUSSIA

Norilsk
Arkhangelsk

ICELAND

SWEDEN
FINLAND
NORWAY

CANADA
FINLAND

NORWAY

Stockholm

Oslo

Dublin

Manchester

Birmingham
Norwich
Cardiff
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1.5. Acclaim for the Company
from passengers
and professionals

Main achievements and awards in 2013
RATINGS
• Aeroflot Group was among the top five airlines in Europe and top 25
airlines worldwide by revenue in 2012, according to Airline Business.
• Aeroflot Group entered the top five European and top 20 global air
carriers by RPK according to Air Transport World.
• Airline Business put Aeroflot in second place in Europe by growth of
RPK and ASK in 2013, and among the European top five by RPK and
ASK for the second consecutive year.
• Aeroflot entered ranks of the world’s top 30 airlines by carrying
capacity in a rating by Innovata, the global leader in IT services
provision for air transport.
• The Company ranked second among European airlines for quality of
meals on long-haul flights and fifth for short-haul flights, according to
Skyscanner.
• Aeroflot was named as one of the five most punctual airlines in
Europe in an annual ranking by Flightstats.
• Aeroflot topped the rating of most stylish European carriers compiled
by Skyscanner from a survey of more than 1,200 travellers.
• Fourth place among world airlines by new fleet additions in both
quantity and value terms, according to Airline Business magazine.
• The only airline among 30 Russian companies listed in the Forbes
Global 2000 rating of the world’s largest publicly traded companies.
• First place in a popularity rating of Russian airlines by Stock Exchange
Leader magazine, based on the number of searches in Yandex (the
leading Russian search engine) and mentions in the media.
• First place in a ranking of cleanest Russian airlines by the travel
search engine, Aviasales.ru.
• One of the 10 fastest growing companies in Russia, as measured by
RosBusinessConsulting.
• Rated seventh in the world by IATA for in-flight service quality.
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• One of the 10 best real-economy companies in Russia by criteria
of fast and sustainable development, as measured by Russia’s
Economic News Agency.
• Second biggest online seller in the Runet, measured by Company
Secret magazine (Kommersant publishing house).
• Third place in a rating of Russia’s best employers in a poll by the
Russian Public Opinion Research Centre (VTsIOM).
• First place in the ‘Quietest Airline’ rating by Vaclav Havel Airport
(Prague).
• 15th place in the 50 most innovative companies in Russia, compiled
by the Institute for Socio-Economic Modernisation.
• Aeroflot cabin crew uniforms were rated the most stylish in the world
at the St Petersburg fashion week and by Aviasales.ru.
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AWARDS
• ‘Towards the Future!’ prize awarded by the Sochi 2014 Organising
Committee in its ‘Modern Technologies’ nominations for the Aeroflot
project, ‘All Weather Flights to Olympic Airports’.
• Wings of Russia - 2013 ‘Airline of the Year’ awards in the following
categories: passenger carrier on group 1 domestic routes; passenger
carrier on international scheduled routes.
• The Best Airline in Eastern Europe in the World Airline Awards run by
Skytrax.
• Consumer rights and service quality prize, awarded by leading
Russian market research agency Romir, based on the Consumer
Choice 2013 Internet poll.
• Brand Awards prize awarded by the Fashion Events agency in the
category ‘Best company for business travellers’.
• Zvezda Tavel.ru award in the categories ‘Best CIS carrier’ (including
Russia) and ‘Best carrier to North America’.
• Best Russian Airline in Readers Choice survey by Conde Nast
Traveller, globally recognised as the ‘travel Oscars’.
• Athens International Airport award for the Fastest Growing Airline in
Eastern Europe.
• LED TOGETHER 2012 award from Pulkovo Airport (St. Petersburg)
for best pricing.
• ‘Company of the Year’ in the Russia-Korea Business Awards.
• Adam Smith Institute award for Best Finance Team in Russia.
• 10 Best IT Projects for the Public Sector awarded by the Russian
Telecom and Mass Communications Ministry and ComNews in the
category Most Effective Contact Centre Solution.
• A prize at the CNews Awards in the category ‘Best High-tech Data
Processing Centre of the Year’.
• Company of the Year 2013 in the transport category.
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• ‘Time for Innovation’ prize in the transport and machine-building
category. The award was established by the Foundation for
Social Projects and Programmes with the support of the Russian
Ministry of Economic Development and the Telecom and Mass
Communications Ministry.
• ‘Towards the Future’ prize in the Modern Technologies category, for
the use of sniffer dogs in aviation security. The award was given
in connection with the Sochi 2014 Winter Olympic and Paralympic
Games.
• Winner of the 16th Annual Report Competition at the Moscow
Exchange in the category ‘Best Annual Report in the Consumer
Sector’.
• Winner of the Annual Report Competition in the transport sector as
part of the 16th annual national competition for annual reports and
websites, organised by Securities Market magazine and Investor.ru
social network.
• Winner of the annual Best Corporate Media national contest for 2013
in the ‘Print media, corporate newspaper’ nomination.
• Prize at the Digital Communications Awards-2013 for Best brand
page on Twitter.
• Aeroflot CEO Vitaly Saveliev was awarded the Order for Services to
Russia (4th class).
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LETTERS TO SHAREHOLDERS
2.1 . Letter from the Chairman
of the Board of Directors
Dear Shareholders,
2013 was a year of outstanding performance for Aeroflot, paving
the way for important qualitative changes going forward.
Aeroflot has always been and remains systemically important to
the Russian civil aviation industry, and is also becoming an increasingly
strong force in the global air transport market.
Aeroflot’s role as the foundation and driving force for the consolidation
of the Russian air transport industry is ever more apparent, and this is
bound up with another highly important task for Aeroflot and for Russia,
that of making air travel more affordable for ordinary Russians.
Mobility is a major factor in successful national development.
The Russian government has set a goal of increasing imobility levels
to 40% in the near future, helped by rapid development in regional air
services. Aeroflot Group launched two major strategic projects last
year that will help to achieve this nationally important objective: the
establishment of a new unified Far East operator, Aurora Airlines, and
preparations for the launch of a low-cost carrier, Dobrolet.
These activities have taken on particular significance since the
accession to Russia of two new constituent entities: Crimea and
Sevastopol. Looking ahead to the long term, Aeroflot has initiated a
large-scale programme of special-rate flights to Crimea
Together, all of these tasks determine the way forward and future
structure of Aeroflot Group as Russia’s largest and fastest growing
aviation holding. While JSC Aeroflot maintains its positions in
the premium segment, its subsidiaries will continue to establish
themselves in new market segments that are both socially important
and commercially attractive.
Aeroflot also has a strategic role as one of the main customers for new
products offered by the Russian aircraft-manufacturing industry. Of the
36 new aircraft Aeroflot expects to receive in 2014, eight are Russianbuilt Sukhoi Superjet 100s.
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On the global market, Russia’s leading airline is not only developing its
traditional competitive advantages, including high-quality standards
of service, but is also making best use of new opportunities in sales,
marketing and corporate image management. In 2013, Aeroflot became
the official carrier of one of the world’s best-known football clubs,
Manchester United – an unprecedented development in the history of
Russian civil aviation.
Aeroflot showed its qualities as national carrier to best effect in the
period before and during the Olympic Winter Games in Sochi at the
start of 2014. We feel fully justified in saying that Russia’s leading airline
played an important part in making the Games the success that they
were. We carried out our duties as General Partner of the Games in
full, helping the Russian government achieve its aim of creating and
maintaining a positive image for Russia in the world.
Aeroflot’s recent achievements owe much to the forward-looking
management team that has overseen the Group’s growth over the
last five years. The key principles that guide senior executives in their
decision-making are high levels of productivity, efficient cost control,
and optimisation of the business of subsidiaries being integrated into
Aeroflot Group.
Aeroflot celebrated its 90th birthday in 2013, and the Company’s
achievements during the year did ample justice to the anniversary.
Aeroflot has now embarked on its tenth decade, and Company
managers face new challenges in the strategic task of transforming
Russia’s foremost airline and the whole of Aeroflot Group into one of
the best premier-league global players. Consistent growth of passenger
traffic and other key operational and financial performance indicators
are an important part of what is needed. But we also plan to make
effective and truly creative use of Aeroflot’s vast potential, and to take
fuller advantage of Russia’s unique geography, its boundless spaces
and excellently positioned air routes.
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We have everything we need to capitalise on the successes we have
achieved to date:
• A strong brand, respected worldwide;
• A powerful and up-to-date fleet and operating base;
• Qualified and dedicated personnel;
• A motivated management team with a wealth of experience and an
excellent track record;
• A business model that takes full account of national competitive
advantages.
By using these advantages, we will achieve new heights of service
quality and business success. Our rate of climb to these new heights
depends to a large degree on our work this year. We count on your
support in making 2014 particularly successful for the Company, for
Russia and for all of our stakeholders.

Chairman of the Board of Directors
JSC Aeroflot
Kirill Androsov
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2.2. Letter from the Chief
Executive Officer
Dear Shareholders,
Aeroflot celebrated its 90th birthday in 2013 and once again confirmed
its status as the undisputed leader of Russia’s air transport industry. We
set a new record by transporting more than 20.9 million passengers,
while the number of passengers carried by all of the airlines in Aeroflot
Group was about 31.4 million. Aeroflot Group holds a 37% share of
the Russian air transport market, and one in three passenger air tickets
purchased for Russian flights in 2013 was for an Aeroflot flight.
Aeroflot’s results in 2013 confirm its position as one of the fastest
growing airlines in Europe. Passenger turnover increased by 19.2%,
while our European competitors showed average growth rates of
just 2.7%. The passenger load factor of JSC Aeroflot in 2013 was
78.8% and passenger turnover was 60.2 billion PKM. Aeroflot Group
passenger turnover increased by 14.3% to 85.3 billion PKM, putting the
Group among the top five airlines in Europe and top 20 worldwide. At
78.2%, the load factor of Aeroflot Group is also among the best
in Europe.
We view our key business priorities as increasing people’s mobility,
operating safe flights and continually improving our product quality.
Aeroflot is among the safest airlines in the world. Measured by the
SAFA coefficient, the generally recognised indicator for flight safety
worldwide, Aeroflot is the best operator in Russia with performance
that ranks alongside the world’s leading airlines. Aeroflot’s flight safety
level in 2013 was assessed at 99.961%, which is in the top bracket.
Aeroflot successfully underwent its fifth audit by the International Air
Transport Association (IATA) for compliance with the IOSA standard
in 2013.
Aeroflot operates one of the youngest aircraft fleets in Europe. As of
31 December 2013, the fleet consisted of 143 modern airliners, with
an average age of 5.5 years. New additions to the fleet in 2013 were
eight Airbus A320s, five Airbus A321s, three Boeing 737-800s and four
Boeing 777-300ERs. The Company also acquired four Sukhoi Superjet
100s in expanded configuration to replace aircraft previously acquired
in ‘light’ configuration. Aeroflot is the largest operator of new Russianmade civil aircraft. A further 20 SSJ100s will be added to the fleet by
the end of 2015 and the Company is considering the purchase of about
150 Russian-made airliners in total, including 50 Yak-242 aircraft. As of
31 December 2013, the fleet of Aeroflot Group totalled 239 aircraft.
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We continued to upgrade the route network in 2013. The Company’s
network consists of 156 destinations in 56 countries, while the route
network of Aeroflot Group includes 293 regular destinations
in 65 countries.
Aeroflot’s priority continues to be improvement of service quality and
development in the premium market segment. In 2013 Aeroflot was
voted Best Airline in Eastern Europe by Skytrax for the second time,
and entered the world top 10 for in-flight service quality based on an
IATA study. The airline won more than 40 prestigious awards and high
placement in many reputable industry rankings in the course of 2013.
We have expanded the number of aircraft offering in-flight Internet
access, as well as improving flight menus and entertainment systems.
A multilingual group has been set up to service transit passengers
at Sheremetyevo Airport. Internet sales have become an important
channel for ticket sales: Aeroflot was among the biggest online retailers
on the Runet in 2013, with online sales increased by 29% to
RUB 37.5 billion.
Main strategic projects in 2013 were the launch of Aurora Airlines, a
new unified operator serving the Russian Far East, and of the low-cost
carrier, Dobrolet. The new budget airline is expected to make its first
flight in summer 2014, when amendments to Russian legislation will
bring the business environment for a low-cost carrier in Russia into line
with that for Western carriers. Aurora and Dobrolet both have major
infrastructure and social missions, since they will do much to enhance
transport services between Russian regions.
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increased by 15.0% compared with 2012 to RUB 290,955.8 million
(USD 9,135.7 million). Net income increased by 41.9% to RUB 7,334.7
million (USD 230.3 million). Aeroflot’s market capitalisation increased
by 85.5% (73.3% in dollar terms) to reach RUB 93.37 billion (USD
2.86 billion) by the end of the year. These financial results demonstrate
Aeroflot’s competitiveness, and put the Company among the most
successful non-resource companies in Russia. They also show how
the efficiency of Company subsidiaries has increased in the process of
integration with Aeroflot Group.
In 2013 we took a major step towards achieving our principal strategic
goal of creating Russia’s strongest airline holding, capable of competing
on equal terms with leading global airlines. We expect Aeroflot Group to
be among the top five European and top 20 airlines worldwide by traffic
and revenue by 2025. Our results in 2013 show that these ambitious
targets are realistic.
Chief Executive Office
JSC Aeroflot
Vitaly Saveliev

Aeroflot’s main social projects in 2013 were our involvement in the 27th
World Student Games in Kazan, the 22nd Winter Olympics and 11th
Winter Paralympics in Sochi, and the launch of the charity campaign,
‘A Heart Has Two Wings’. We greatly expanded our flight schedule on
the Moscow-Kazan and Moscow-Sochi routes to serve the Student
Games, Olympics and Paralympics, and we also offered a special fare,
‘the Olympics for 5,000’, which made travel to the Olympics affordable
for Russians on relatively low incomes. The charity programme ‘A Heart
Has Two Wings’ provides transport to enable the treatment of seriously
ill children who live in remote regions of Russia. More than 400 children
benefited from the scheme in its first few months of operation.
Aeroflot reported strong financial indicators for the third consecutive
year. The main positive result in 2013 was Aeroflot’s subsidiaries
breaking even at the operating level. IFRS consolidated revenue in 2013
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3.1 . Market Position
of the Group

international air transport market
The global air transport market saw further growth of volumes in 2013.
According to IATA, the total number of passengers carried in 2013
increased by 5.1% y-o-y to 3.1 billion. The global market has therefore
grown by about a third over the past seven years, representing an
annual increment of 1 billion passengers, driven by growth of the
global economy, increasing population mobility and the introduction by
operators of new business models.
According to IATA, airline industry revenues in 2013 totalled
USD 708 billion, up 4.3% on 2012. As in past years the bulk of revenues
(80%) came from the passenger segment. Cargo accounted for just
8.4%, compared with 11.5% in 2007, due mainly due to a slowdown of
global economic growth.
Airline costs rose by 3% y-o-y in 2013 to USD 686 billion. Fuel still
accounted for a major part of airline costs (31% in 2013). However,
the world’s leading carriers have learned to live with high prices for
fuel, adjusting their business processes accordingly. In particular,
the load factor reached a record high of 79.6% in 2014, up by nearly
9 percentage points from 2003, when the share of fuel costs was only
14%.
IATA forecasts net profit for the global airline industry in 2013 at USD
12.9 billion, which will be one of the best results in the last 10 years.
Industry development was heterogeneous across regions in 2013, as a
variety of development scenarios played out. The European air transport
market entered a new stage of significant change as growth began to
slow. The European market, one of the largest in the world, grew by
3.8% in 2013 according to IATA, well below the global average, and
the region accounted for 13% of global net profit in the industry. Poor
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performance by European airlines reflects the unfavourable economic
situation in the European Union. Another important trend in Europe in
2013 was intensification of competition from players based elsewhere,
including acquisition of European airline assets by foreign companies
(Korean Air, Etihad Airways).
Airline groups made increasing use of low-cost carriers on regional
routes in 2013, particularly on the European market and in Asia-Pacific
countries.
Advances in technology continued to play an important role in the
industry in 2013, and the year saw the emergence of new families
of aircraft. The long-range wide-body Airbus A350 XWB, which is
designed to replace the A330-A340 family, made its maiden flight and
the first of these new aircraft are expected to enter service in late 2014.
Short-term problems with the world’s other main new civil aerospace
project – the Boeing 787 – drew much attention during 2013.

According to IATA, airline industry
revenues in 2013 totalled USD

708

billion,
up 4.3% on 2012.
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The Russian air transport market
The Russian air transportation market grew faster than the world
average in 2013 and substantially faster than the European market.
According to the Russian Air Transport Agency (Rosaviatsia), volumes
carried by Russian airlines increased by 14.2% y-o-y in 2013, and
including foreign airlines the Russian market grew by 13.1%. These
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figures compare with global passenger traffic growth of 5% in 2013,
according to IATA. A total of 103.6 million passengers were carried on
the Russian market in 2013 by both Russian and foreign airlines.
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All segments of the Russian market experienced high growth rates
during 2013. Domestic routes experienced 10.8% growth of passenger
numbers and 9% growth of RPK. A total of 39.2 million passengers
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were transported on domestic routes. Growth rates were helped by
initial steps toward industry consolidation, which is generally beneficial
for the Russian industry. The load factor on domestic flights increased
by 2p.p. in 2013 compared with 2012 to 75%.
International passenger traffic continued to grow rapidly in 2013, when
Russian airlines carried 45 million passengers on international routes,
representing an increase of 17.4% y-o-y. The average load factor was
82.1%. Passenger carrying by Russian airlines on flights between
Russia and other CIS countries amounted to 7.8 million passengers.
The growth of carriage volumes from regional airports to foreign tourist
destinations continued in 2013, improving the outlook for Russian
regional airport infrastructure.
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Development of the Russian market currently depends mainly on three factors:
• Consolidation of regular services, led by Aeroflot Group, S7, UTair and Transaero.
• Rapid growth of airlines specialising in tourist flights, often in association with a particular tour operator.
• The long-awaited revival of regional air transport inside Russia.
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Aeroflot Group is taking advantage of all three of these factors and
building a multi-brand platform, with each of the Group’s airlines
specialising in a particular market segment. In 2013, the Group
launched Aurora Airlines in the Far East – a project that is without
parallel in Russia and was one of the key events in the Russian market
in 2013. Aurora is positioned as a service provider for Russia’s Far
Eastern regions, with a mission to develop intra-regional air transport.
As a part of Aeroflot Group, the new airline will be able to draw on
Group resources to develop its services.

In 2013, Aeroflot Group held 37% of the Russian market for regular and
non-regular air transport by Russian carriers and 30.2% of the market
including carrying by foreign airlines. The Group’s share exceeds the
aggregate market share of its three closest competitors. Aeroflot Group
intends to further strengthen its positions in 2014 thanks to the launch
of the new low-cost airline, Dobrolet.
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STRUCTURE OF THE RUSSIAN AIR TRANSPORT MARKET
BY PASSENGER TRAFFIC ON INTERNATIONAL ROUTES, %
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34.1

2012
2013

37.3
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13.4
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3.8

4.5
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The air cargo market
Slower global economic growth had a major impact on the
development of the air freight market in 2013. According to IATA, the
global air freight market expanded by only 1%, to 49.8 million tonnes.
Freight revenues contracted by USD 3 billion to USD 61 billion. IATA
expects freight demand to grow by 4% in 2014 and revenues to
increase by 3% to USD 63 billion.
Russian airlines held about 2% of the global freight market in 2013,
transporting about 1 million tonnes or 1.3% more than in 2012.
However, their freight turnover decreased by 1.3% y-o-y in 2013 to 5
billion tonne-kilometers.

AIR CARGO VOLUMES OF RUSSIAN AIRLINES,
THOUSAND TONNES

926.4
640.3

732.2

779.3

712.2

255.7
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519.9
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2009
Domestic

663.0
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316.8

682.0

673.7
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2011

Aeroflot revised its strategy for freight business in 2013, deciding to
focus on belly cargo on regular passenger flights.

1,001.4

314.7

167

AirBridgeCargo (a part of Volga-Dnepr) remained the biggest Russian
air freight carrier in 2013, with JSC Aeroflot in second place. The five
biggest Russian freight carriers accounted for 76.2% of total volumes
last year.

STRUCTURE OF THE RUSSIAN AIR
CARGO MARKET, %

296.8

112

The carriage of freight by Russian airlines on international routes rose
slightly in 2013 to about 684,000 thousand tonnes, representing 68%
of all freight carried by Russian airlines. Freight volumes on domestic
routes remained almost unchanged at about 317,000 tonnes.

2012

2013
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3.2. Strategy

Подробно о приоритетных
направлениях деятельности Группы
«Аэрофлот» смотрите на следующей
странице

Strategy overview
Strategy of Aeroflot Group through 2025

Building on the Group’s position as one by
the Top 5 carriers in Europe and of the Top 20
globally by revenue and passenger traffic.

Increasing of passenger traffic to 70 million
passengers a year, including 30 million
passengers on the domestic market.

Successful business development across market segments
based on the Group’s multi-brand platform, including premium,
regional, tourist, and low-cost businesses.

Strategic objectives of Aeroflot Group

Leading positions on the
global air transport market.

Achievement of a dominant
position on the market
for air transport between
Europe and Asia.

Sustainable profitable growth.

Continuous improvement
of operational efficiency.

Deployment of new
technologies and innovative
solutions.

See this section in
the online version
of the Annual
Report
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Business priorities of Aeroflot Group
CREATION OF A MULTI-BRAND PLATFORM
The Group is completing the transition to unified management of all its
assets and an integrated policy for rapid development of all of its airlines
in their respective market segments. The Group is developing as the
largest player in the Russian air transport sector and one of the leaders
on the European market.

DEVELOPING INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS
• Cooperation with other SkyTeam airlines.
Cooperation with other members of the SkyTeam alliance helps
Aeroflot to improve the profitability of its route network by offering
customers more destinations, services and privileges.

• Implementing a unified policy for managing Group assets.
In 2013, the Group took over commercial management of all Donavia
flights. A new Far East airline, Aurora, was established from the assets
of SAT Airlines and Vladivostok Air, and commercial management of the
new regional company will be transferred to the Group. Starting from
the 2014 summer schedule flights by Rossiya Airline are to be placed
under the commercial management of Aeroflot and will be operated
under the SU code.

• Strategic partnerships with companies in non-aviation market
segments.
Aeroflot is developing collaboration with a number of non-aviation
companies to expand its range of services and customer base, and
to increase brand awareness. Following an agreement with Europcar,
airline passengers can book rental cars through a co-branded Internet
service on the Aeroflot website. A sponsorship agreement with
Manchester United has boosted awareness of the Aeroflot brand
among more than 600 million fans of the football club worldwide.

SUSTAINABLE PROFITABLE GROWTH, INCREASING INVESTMENT
ATTRACTIVENESS AND EXPANDING CAPITAL MARKET ACTIVITIES.
Aeroflot is focused on maintaining profitable growth and strengthening
The company aims to maximise the profitability of its carriage
its positions on domestic and international air transportation markets.
operations, helped by segmentation of its service provision.
• Cost optimisation.
The company works constantly to reduce its costs and increase its
operating efficiency, with special focus on fuel efficiency, productivity
and best possible use of capacities.

IMPROVING THE QUALITY OF SERVICE TO PASSENGERS
Aeroflot is continuously improving the quality of its services to
passengers. The main airline in the Group, Aeroflot -– Russian Airlines,
serves premium-segment passengers, offering a high quality of service
to the best international standards of leading global airlines. Aeroflot’s
customer loyalty, as measured by its net promoter score (NPS),
increased for the third year in a row in 2013 to 58%. The company
won the prestigious international Skytrax World Airlines award in the
category ‘Best Airline in Eastern Europe’ for the second time in 2013.
• Development of services in all classes.
The Group has a wide range of service classes, from premium to
tourist, all of which are undergoing further development. A new comfort
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• Increased presence in capital markets.
Aeroflot is implementing a consistent strategy to expand its work with
the investment community.

service class was introduced in 2013 on long-haul Boeing 777 aircraft.
The launch of the low-cost carrier, Dobrolet, will make high-quality
service available at discount prices to price-sensitive passengers on
routes to popular destinations.
• High-quality service in the air and on the ground.
The Company is expanding the number of its aircraft that offer inflight Internet access, and is constantly improving the standards of
in-flight menus and entertainment systems. The Company has set
up a multilingual group to assist transit passengers at Aeroflot’s base
airport (Moscow Sheremetyevo), and a unified call centre now provides
services to airline passengers in 12 countries.
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BALANCED DEVELOPMENT OF THE ROUTE NETWORK
• The Group is developing a route network, which allocates routes
between carriers according to their specialisation and flight
geography, avoiding competition between airlines within the Group.

EXPANDING THE FLEET
• The Group has a well-balanced and modern fleet that helps achieve
strategic objectives in various market segments.
• JSC Aeroflot’s fleet was expanded in 2013, mainly through the
commissioning of eight Airbus A320s, five Airbus A321s, three
Boeing 737-800s and four Boeing 777-300ERs.

NEW TECHNOLOGIES AND INNOVATION
Aeroflot is implementing a programme including technological,
managerial and organisational innovation and the development of
cooperation with universities, research organisations and businesses
specialising in innovative development. In 2013, Aeroflot was named
the most innovation-proactive company in the Transport and Machinebuilding category by judges at the independent Innovation Time-2013
awards.
• Integrated systems for operation management.
Aeroflot applies innovative technical tools and solutions in the spheres
of ground support, maintenance and repair, and aviation security. Use of
the latest information technology has enabled the Company to achieve
new standards of punctuality, cost optimisation, aircraft servicing and
preparation, check-in, and in-flight services.
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Further work has been done to place charter business with Orenburg
Airlines.

• New Boeing 777 and Airbus A320 airliners will be added to the JSC
Aeroflot fleet in 2014 and the fleets of Group subsidiaries will be
substantially modernised.
• JSC Aeroflot took receipt of its first Boeing 737NG aircraft in 2013.
• The Group fleet is expected to expand to include 336 aircraft by 2018.

• Complex IT projects and the creation of a unified IT infrastructure.
Aeroflot is completing the installation of SAP ERP, working on
the introduction of a single IT platform for business processes
and combining all IT infrastructure within the Group, automating
management of the route network and aircraft fleet, and installing
efficient IT solutions for in-flight services to passengers and in airports.
The Group has also launched a unified data-processing centre.

KEY TASKS FOR THE GROUP IN 2014

• Complete the integration of subsidiaries into the structure of Aeroflot Group based on the multi-brand
platform and best use of synergies;
• Increase traffic volumes and revenue of Group companies;
• Develop new airlines (Aurora and Dobrolet);
• Expand the Group’s aircraft fleet;

• Improve the quality of service in all segments, and expand the range of services;
• Implement the Group’s innovative development programme,
implement and standardise IT technologies.
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Multi-brand platform
By creating a multi-brand business, Aeroflot Group can compete
effectively both at home and abroad, and increase the volume of its
business in all key segments.

Business travel
Regional

(1-1.5 hours)
Short-haul

The Group’s target model is centralised organisation of all key
processes in the spheres of the sales, revenue and route network
management, and fleet planning.

In 2013, Aeroflot Group led the creation of two new carriers to develop new
market segments as part of the Group’s multi-brand platform. Aurora will be the
main carrier in the Far East region of Russia, with potential for a significant role in
the future across the whole Asia-Pacific region. Dobrolet will lead the emerging
low-cost air transport segment in Russia.

AURORA
Aurora, a new airline within Aeroflot Group, was unveiled in November 2013.
The company was established on the initiative of the Russian government by
combining two Far East carriers, JSC SAT Airlines and JSC Vladivostok Air,
which have been part of Aeroflot Group since 2011.
The mission of Aurora is to promote the socio-economic development of
the Russian Far East, and to increase mobility. The company will be the leading
domestic carrier in the region and in future plans to strengthen its market
presence throughout the Asia-Pacific region.
The Aurora fleet will consist of modern Boeing 737 and Airbus A319 aircraft and
will also include modern turboprop aircraft with 50-78 seats. Aircraft with up
to 20 seats will be purchased for local flights. The company fleet is expected to
number up to 40 aircraft by 2018.
Aurora’s route network has been designed to take account of the transport
needs of residents in all the constituent regions of the Far Eastern Federal
District, and the airline’s business plan calls for a rapid expansion of operations.
The number of flights is expected to increase from 172 in 2013 to 534 in 2018,
and the number of destinations from 30 to 128. Annual carrying volumes should
rise to 2.4 million passengers in the same period.
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Medium -haul

• Business model: high-frequency,
direct flights.
• Regional/narrow-body aircraft

EU

• Business model: Use of hubs, very
high frequency of flights.
• Narrow-body aircraft, classes C/Y

Russia

North and Central America
Asia
Long -haul

Russia

JSC Aeroflot will maintain at least a 51% interest in Aurora. A 49% stake
in the company was transferred from JSC Aeroflot to the ownership of Sakhalin
Region after the reporting date in January 2014 for subsequent gradual transfer
to the administrations of other regions in the Far Eastern Federal District.
The project will be developed in close association with regional administrations
in the Far East, and the agreement signed between Aeroflot and Sakhalin
Region on joint ownership of Aurora Airline is an important step in this direction.
The proactive policy of the Russian government to support investments
and economic development in the Russian Far East will stimulate growth of
passenger traffic in the region.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
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Low-cost

• Business model: direct flights.
• Regional/narrow-body aircraft.

Short-haul
(1.5-2 hours)

CIS

New projects: Aurora and Dobrolet

RISK MANAGEMENT

• Business model: flight frequency
dependent on demand, direct flights.
• Regional aircraft

• Business model: use of hubs,
frequency dependent on demand.
• Narrow-body aircraft, classes C/Y

• Business model: Use of hubs, high
frequency of flights, code-sharing
agreements.
• Wide-body aircraft, classes C/М/Y

• Business model: direct flights, flight
frequency dependent on demand
(package tours and flight only), highly
seasonal.
• Narrow-fuselage aircraft, class Y.

• Business model: high-frequency
direct flights on main routes, high
fleet load factor, low budget.
• Narrow-body aircraft with large
passenger capacity, class Y only.
• No frills service with option of
additional services.

• Business model: direct flights , flight
frequency dependent on demand
(package tours and flight only),
highly seasonal.
• Wide-body aircraft, classes C/Y.

DOBROLET
Dobrolet LLC was created as part of Aeroflot Group in October 2013. The
company will develop using the classic low-cost carrier business model,
applying global best practices that have already taken shape in the industry.
Dobrolet will make air transportation available to larger sections of the general
public and will help to attract new passengers.
0 85 85 0

P 485 c

ral 3020

85 50 0 20

P 2945 c

ral 5017

The new low-cost carrier has been named after the predecessor of modernday Aeroflot: Dobrolet was the name of the first Russian civilian air transport
company, created in the 1920s.
The Dobrolet fleet will include narrow-body Boeing 737-800 aircraft in a singleclass layout. The fleet will consist of eight aircraft in the first year of operations,
and will be expanded in the future at the rate of about eight aircraft per year.
In an initial period the airline will operate flights on the most popular routes
in the European part of Russia. There are plans to incorporate international
destinations in three years’ time.

Aeroflot plans to invest about USD 100 million in Dobrolet during the
first two years. Carrying costs will be reduced in comparison with
traditional air carriers by the following means:
• High utilisation and high fuel efficiency using a modern aircraft fleet.
• Economies of scale in fuel purchases.
• Increased seat numbers by reducing the distance between seats
with non-reclining backs.
• Use of the airline website as the main sales channel.
• Additional charges for a choice of seat, superior comfort, checked-in
baggage, priority boarding and in-flight meals.
Operational launch and full functioning of the new low-cost airline is contingent
on a number of amendments to Russian legislation on air travel. It is expected
that Dobrolet will make its first flights in mid-2014.

JSC Aeroflot owns 100% of shares in the new company.
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New technologies and innovation
TECHNOLOGICAL DEVELOPMENT AND INNOVATION
Application of the latest technologies throughout all levels of Aeroflot’s
operations and management is of strategic importance for the Company.
Aeroflot works with leading global developers of IT and technology solutions as
well as encouraging in-house R&D work and proprietary technologies.

The airline uses several dozen IT services that are available around the clock to
support its operations, ensure flight safety and to achieve the objectives of key
business units. These services include reservation and ticket sales systems,
flight planning, and specialised avionics systems.

SINGLE PAYMENT SOLUTION
The number of tickets purchased via the Aeroflot website and payment agents
using Aeroflot’s unified payment system continued to grow in 2013. The value
of ticket purchases through the system exceeded RUB 44.2 billion during the
year.

A gateway for online and mobile ticket payments has been added to the unified
payment system. This gateway also enables users to purchase insurance, and
members of the Aeroflot Bonus frequent flyer programme can use their bonus
miles online or via mobile as well.

SIRAX REVENUE ACCOUNTING SYSTEM
In early 2013 Aeroflot began commercial operation of the Sirax revenue
accounting system, which has been acknowledged as one of the best
solutions in its class. In addition to installing the new IT solution, Aeroflot has
adopted best international practices in revenue accounting.
IN-FLIGHT INTERNET
Aeroflot was the first Russian airline to enable use of mobile phones and the
Internet during flights. In 2013, the Company further developed its in-flight

Use of the system has substantially improved the quality and speed of sales
accounting processes, as well as automating responses to errors made by
agents and increasing the transparency of revenue accounting.

Internet service: the necessary equipment for Internet access had been
installed on 15 Airbus A330 aircraft and four Boeing 777s by the end of 2013.

DATA PROCESSING CENTRE
Aeroflot created a back-up data processing centre in 2013 in collaboration
with HP and Technoserve. The modular centre will provide reliable back-ups
for all of Aeroflot’s information services, taking account of increasing volumes

of air transport and the deployment by the Company of new, highly critical IT
services.

AEROFLOT INFOCENTRE
The Company designed and set up the Aeroflot InfoCentre, a software and
hardware complex for the automated telephone notification of passengers.
The system makes it possible to inform passengers quickly in case of flight
alterations: it automatically contacts passengers by phone, making up to six
attempts to reach them. Customers can thus be efficiently informed of flight

delays (even delays as short as one hour). Such precision in the notification
of passengers is unique in the airline industry. The project was declared the
winner of the 5th national contest Top-10 IT Projects in the Public Sector in the
category Most Effective Contact Centre Solution.

FLIGHT SIMULATORS
Aeroflot uses modern flight simulators for pilot training. Flight simulators
currently in use by Aeroflot are as follows: FFS A320 Series 5000, FFS A320
Series 7000, FFS IL 96-300 (full-flight simulators); FNPT DA-42, MFTD A320,
SNT IL 96-300 (procedural simulators); emergency and rescue simulators for
A319/320/321, A330, B767, SSJ-100 and Il-96-300 aircraft; as well as a fire drill
trainer and specialised pool for emergency water rescue training.
In 2013, the Company commissioned Russia’s first full-flight simulator for the
A330 aircraft, manufactured by the Canadian company CAE Inc. The FFS
A330 simulator has the most up-to-date six-level electrical movement system
available and a highly realistic imaging system that meets all international
requirements, including the requirements of EASA’s Level-D JAR FSTD A.
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The Company took delivery of a full flight simulator for the Sukhoi Superjet 100
aircraft in 2014. Installation of the simulator at the Company’s Air Crew Training
Centre enhances pilot skills and ensuring that they are familiar with all flight
regimes for the new aircraft.
Acquisition of more FFS MC-21, FFS A350 and FFS B787 simulators is planned
in the future.
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PROCESS OPTIMISATION
The introduction of a unified automated system for airworthiness and the
management of maintenance and repair functions is expected to optimise the
process of spare part orders at all airlines in the Aeroflot Group.
INNOVATIVE DEVELOPMENT
Aeroflot depends on innovative development for successful implementation of
its growth strategy on the highly competitive global passenger carrying market.
The development and implementation of innovative solutions help to build
shareholder value. Aeroflot’s innovative development programme is designed
to improve key indicators related to safety, punctuality and quality of passenger
service, and to increase synergies between existing business processes.
In 2013, Aeroflot’s innovative development programme was updated to
include all of the Group’s aviation assets. The programme now includes all the
main projects and activities that are being carried out by JSC Aeroflot and its
subsidiaries Donavia, Rossiya Airline, Aurora and Orenair. The programme sets
RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT
Some of the areas where Aeroflot is actively involved in R&D work
include:
• Study of applications for combined reality technology in the training
and testing of air traffic controllers (take-off, flight and landing). The
results of the study will be used in the training of air traffic controllers.
• Study of applications for combined reality technology in the training
and testing of special vehicle operators at airports. The results of the
study will be used in the training of special vehicle operators.
• Study of applications for combined reality technology in an online
directory with three-dimensional models of aircraft assemblies.
Results of the study will enable the use of distance learning for
TECHNOLOGY SUPPORT FOR AEROFLOT’S SNIFFER DOG SERVICE
Aeroflot’s sniffer dog service is researching technology applications to
support the use of sniffer dogs for detecting and identifying trace amounts
of target substances. The company is working on a method for determining
the accuracy of searches for explosives and other dangerous substances
using sniffer dogs by means of a digital system that records and analyses the
physiological parameters of each dog.
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The Company has also developed a concept for the introduction of an
automated information and analysis system for aviation security management.
The system will be implemented throughout Aeroflot Group in the future.

key performance indicators for innovative activity in the medium and long term
for the period 2011-2020.
As part of its innovation activity the Company carries out its own R&D work in
association with Russian universities and scientific organisations, in accordance
with the Russian government’s requirement that state-owned companies
create demand for products of the Russian knowledge sector.
In 2013 Aeroflot was the only airline to be included among the Top 50 most
innovative companies in Russia. Aeroflot ranked higher than many major
Russian industrial companies, taking 15th place.

students at engineering universities in preparation for employment at
Aeroflot, as well as distance learning for retraining of engineers and
technicians now working at the Company, and also as an online tool
to assist maintenance and repair work.
• Development of prototype software and an information centre for
the situational modelling of airline operations, with integration of
existing software. The project is being implemented in association
with the Central Aero-Hydrodynamic Institute and the Moscow
Institute of Physics and Technology, and seeks to optimise operating
processes at the Company, increase productivity, and ensure optimal
use of the fleet and of human resources.

approved by the Russian government.
Aeroflot presented innovative techniques for the use of sniffer dogs in nonintrusive inspection of vehicles and cargo at the World Cynological
Forum in 2013.

Aeroflot is collating the outcomes of this research to prepare a concept for the
use of sniffer dogs in the Russian Federation up to 2020. This initiative has been

39

ABOUT THE COMPANY

LETTERS TO SHAREHOLDERS

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

3.3. Business
Overview

Group Structure
JSC Aeroflot is working to improve the structure of the Group,
prioritising the consolidation and integration of aviation assets, and
establishing unified standards, technology and IT-systems across

the Group companies. Aeroflot Group assets are being developed
on the basis of a multi-brand concept that ensures the harmonious
development of Group business in all key market segments.

AEROFLOT GROUP STRUCTURE1

JSC AEROFlot
Airlines
JSC DONAVIA
JSC ORENAIR

Service companies

100%
100%

CJSC AEROMAR

JSC AURORA AIRLINES2

JSC VLADIVOSTOK AIR

LLC DOBROLET3
CJCS JETALLIANCE
VOSTOK4

1
2
3
4

40

8.9 6%

In-flight catering

51%

JSC SHEREMETYEVO

CJSC AEROMASH-AB

45%

CJSC TRANSPORT
CLEARING HOUSE

3.85%

LLC AEROFLOT-FINANCE

99.99%

ALT REISER

100%

CJSC SHEROTEL

100%

LLC AEROFLOT RIGA4

100%

Aviation security

JSC ROSSIYA AIRLINES

Strategic investment assets

Base airport

LLC TRANSNAUTIC
AERO4

Cargo sales

75%-1
share

100%
52.16%
100%

Financial services

Hotel services

AEROFLOT
AVIATION SCHOOL

Travel agency

Travel agency

100%

49%

As of 31 December 2013. For more detailed information about the companies in Aeroflot Group, see the Appendix to this Report (pp. 168-170).

49% of shares in JSC Aurora were transferred by Aeroflot to Sakhalin Region in January 2014.
A legal entity has been set up and preparatory work is underway.
Subsidiaries in the process of liquidation.

49%
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Operating results
AEROFLOT GROUP
Aeroflot Group achieved strong consolidated operating results in 2009-2013
thanks to both organic growth and M&A activity.
Indicator

Units

Passengers carried

million

Revenue passenger kilometers

billion

Available seat kilometers

Passenger load factor

2009

2010

42.6

11.1

billion

29.9

%

70.2

Aeroflot Group
2011

2012

2013

50.8

60.0

95.6

109.1

77.1

76.8

78.1

78.2

14.1

39.2

16.4

27.5

46.1

31.4

74.6

85.3

2013/2012

+14.3%
+14.1%

+14.3%

+0.1 p.p.

Aeroflot Group continued to increase traffic volumes in 2013, despite
increasing competition and the ongoing restructuring of its aircraft
fleet. The Group carried 31.4 million passengers during the reporting
period, a 14.3% year-on-year increase from 2012. In total, Group
airlines carried out 264,019 regular and charter flights on passenger
aircraft. The Group’s passenger turnover grew by 14.3% to 85.3 billion

passenger-kilometers (RPK), while tonne-kilometers (TKM) increased
by 9.3% to 8.7 billion TKM. Operational flight hours in 2013 for the
entire Group increased by 7.6% y-o-y to 776,258 hours. Capacity grew
by 14.1%, and the passenger load factor remained at a high level of
78.2%.

AEROFLOT GROUP PASSENGERS CARRIED, MILLION

AEROFLOT GROUP REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS, BILLION

27.5

14.3%

16.0

International

74.6
14.0

11.5

2012

14.3%

31.4

17.4
2013
Domestic

JSC Aeroflot carried 17.4 million passengers on international flights
in the reporting period, representing 55.4% of total passenger
traffic and 65.8% of passenger turnover for the whole Group. The

85.3
29.2

24.3

56.1

50.3
2012
International

2013
Domestic

majority international of traffic was on scheduled flights. Capacity on
international flights increased by 12.0%, and load factor remained stable
at a high level of 78.4%.
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Aeroflot Group’s domestic passenger traffic continued to grow at a
strong pace. Domestic passenger traffic represented 44.6% of total
passengers in 2013 and numbered 14.0 million, up 21.6% from 2012.
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Capacity increased by 18.2%, while passenger turnover increased by
19.8%, thus increasing the load factor by 1.0 p.p to 77.7%.

OPERATING INDICATORS FOR AEROFLOT GROUP BY REGIONS
Region

Russia
and CIS

Europe

Passengers carried,
thousand

2013

16,809.7
8,347.0

2012 Change, %

13,798.3
7,123.6

Revenue passenger kilometers,
million
2013

2012 Change, %

34,417.1

29,016.6

18.6

44,403.4

17.2

19,363.0

16,081.2

20.4

25,628.8

2,426.9

2,200.0

Middle
East and
Africa

2,944.9

3,771.3

-21.9

8,866.8

11,115.2

31,390.6

27,471.7

14.3

85,273.3

74,617.2

Total

862.2

578.5

2013

21.8

Asia

America

Available seat kilometers,
million

10.3

49.0

14,978.8

7,647.4

13,236.1
5,168.1

13.2

2012 Change, %

37,768.4

17.6

21,682.1

18.2

2013

2012 Change, p.p.

77.5

76.8

75.6

74.2

1,4

17,003.5

-20.2

10,416.9

12,837.4

-18.9

51.2

80.2

85.1

86.6

-1,5

14.3

109,063.9

95,598.1

14.1

78.2

78.1

0,1

9,538.0

6,306.7

78.5

0,7

19,076.7

48.0

12.2

Passenger load factor,
%

77.8

0,7

81.9

-1,7

The largest capacity increases in the reporting year were on routes to
America, Europe, Russia and CIS countries, which Aeroflot believes
hold the greatest potential for growth.

The only region where operating results decreased were in the Middle
East, due to a decline in demand for air travel to destinations in the
region as a result of political instability.

The largest passenger traffic volumes in 2013 were on Russian,
European and CIS routes, and the highest rates of traffic growth were in
America, Russia and CIS, Europe.

The key operating indicators of most Aeroflot Group airlines improved in
the reporting period.

JSC AEROFLOT
JSC Aeroflot flights carried 20.9 million passengers in 2013, which is
18.4% more than in 2012. Passenger turnover increased by 19.2% to
60.2 billion RPK and tonne kilometers increased by 11.8% to 6.3 billion
TKM.
Aeroflot carried out 167,071 scheduled and charter flights in 2013.
Passenger numbers on scheduled flights increased by 19.3% to 20.6
million. The integration of subsidiaries specialising in charter flights as
part of the multi-brand strategy of Aeroflot Group led to a redistribution
of charter operations within the Group, enabling JSC Aeroflot to
concentrate its capacities on its own regular routes. The number
of passengers carried by Aeroflot on non-regular (charter) flights
decreased by 21.3% y-o-y to 307,000 as a result.

JSC Aeroflot increased its capacity by 17.8% in 2013, but still achieved
an increase of load factor by 0.9 p.p. to 78.8%. The freight load
factor increased by 0.6 p.p. to 64.4% while tonne-kilometer capacity
increased by 10.9%.
JSC AEROFLOT PASSENGER TRAFFIC, MILLION

14.2

11.3

8.7
3.3
5.4
2009
International
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20.9

17.7
5.5

4.2

8.7

7.1
2010

2011
Domestic

7.0
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International traffic accounted for

JSC AEROFLOT REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS (BILLION)
AND PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR (%)
77.2

69.5

77.5

34.7

25.9

2009

2010

International

34.9

28.6

23.6

17.3

15.6

13.4

11.1

8.6

60.2

50.5

42.0

2011

2012

Load factor

Domestic

58.8%

78.8

77.9
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of JSC Aeroflot passenger traffic
in 2013.

19.6
40.6
2013

STRUCTURE OF JSC AEROFLOT PASSENGER
AND CARGO TRAFFIC
Total carrying

2013

Passengers, thousand

20,902.4

Cargo and mail,
thousand tonnes

176.5

Regular flights

2013

Passengers, thousand

20,595.4

Cargo and mail, thousand
tonnes

176.4

Non-regular flights

2013

Passengers, thousand

Share of carrying
on regular flights
Passengers, %

193.9

-9.0%

18.4%

2012

% to 2012

193.7

-9.0%

17,266.0

19.3%

% to 2012

0.093

0.232

-59.9%

2013

2012

p.p. change
to 2012

98.53

Cargo and mail, %

% to 2012

2012

307.0

Cargo and mail,
thousand tonnes

2012

17,656.1

390.1

97.79

-21.3%

99.88

0.07

Share of carrying on
non-regular flights

2013

2012

Cargo and mail, %

1.47

0.05

2.21

p.p. change
to 2012

0.12

JSC Aeroflot passenger numbers on domestic routes continued to
grow sustainably, up 23.9% year-on-year to 8.6 million. Domestic
routes accounted for 41.2% of total passenger traffic, and passenger
turnover on domestic routes increased by 25.9% to 19.6 billion RPK.
Load factor increased by 0.8 p.p. to 81.5% despite a significant increase
in capacity (24.7%).

0.74

99.95

Passengers, %

International traffic accounted for 58.8% of JSC Aeroflot passenger
traffic and 67.4% of passenger turnover in 2013. International traffic
amounted to 12.3 million people in the reporting period. Most traffic
was on scheduled flights. Capacity increased by 14.9% y-o-y, but
capacity use also improved: load factor increased by 0.8 p.p. to 77.5%.

-0.74

-0.07

AEROFLOT TRAFFIC ON SCHEDULED FLIGHTS BY REGIONS, 2012-2013
Passengers carried,
thousand

2013

2012

Change, %

1,479.8

29.9

Russia

8,604.0

Europe

6,052.4

5,302.0

Middle
East and
Africa

1,290.6

CIS

Asia (incl.
Japan)

America

Total

1,922.5

1,935.6

790.4

20,595.5

6,947.7

23.8

Revenue passenger kilometers,
million
2013

2012

Change, %

2,454.7

20.2

11,569.2

14.6

19,607.4

15,576.3

2,951.3

19.8

79.0

78.7

0.3

78.8

77.9

0.9

0.3

80.3

78.9

1.4

40.9

79.5

81.9

-2.4

4,209.9

4,198.8
6,167.0

3,313.3

2.1

567.6

39.3

5,049.4

36.8

49,609.4

3,118.0

13.2

3,382.4
6,907.0

Change, %

14,844.8

1.9

59,515.5

2012

16,811.0

1,266.3

19.3

2013

18,139.4

11,646.5

17,266.0

Change, %

15.2

13,413.4

20.0

3,735.4

8,687.0

75,615.3

Passenger load factor,
%

2012

24,032.6

13,254.0

14.2

2013

25.9

13.7

1,702.6

Available seat kilometers,
million
19,284.4

16,194.2

63,807.2

24.6

12.0

18.5

81.6

73.9

78.7

80.8

71.9

77.7

0.8

2.0

1.0
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Business of Subsidiary Airlines
Work continued in 2013 to integrate subsidiaries into the structure of the
Group in order to maximise synergies, including the unification of route
networks, sales systems, construction of an overall marketing strategy,
and the creation of unified financial policy and tax accounting rules.
The biggest increases in passenger traffic in 2013 were achieved by
Aurora (+23.0%), Donavia (+37.3%) and Rossiya Airlines (9.1%).

frequency on new routes with major capacity increases meant that load
factor rates at some Group airlines declined in 2013 compared to 2012.
Load factors declined at Rossiya Airlines (-1.2 p.p.), Donavia (-2.7 p.p.)
and Orenburg Airlines (-3.7 p.p.). However, load factor rose at
JSC Vladivostok Air (+2.1 p.p.) and JSC Aurora (+5.8 p.p.).

Further significant adjustments were made to optimise the route
network of almost all subsidiary airlines in order to better integrate them
into the Group structure. Entry to new markets and increased flight

JSC AEROFLOT

JSC DONAVIA

Company indicators

Company indicators

Company indicators

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

2013

20,902.4

2012

17,656.1

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

60,226.3

2012

50,532.5

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

76,4 44.8

2012

6 4,880.0

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

78.8

44

2012

77.9

2013

1,353.6

JSC ORENAIR

2012

985.7

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

2,001.1

2012

1,433.7

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

3,019.6

2012

2,077.6

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

66.3

2012

69.0

2013

3,1 40.9

2012

3,1 93.5

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

10,9 83.8

2012

10, 505.2

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

13,393.9

2012

12,260.7

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

82.0

2012

85.7
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Aeroflot group
2013

Passengers carried, thousand

31,390.6
85,273.3
109,063.9
78.2

Revenue passenger kilometers, million
Available seat kilometers, million
Passenger load factor, %

JSC VLADIVOSTOK AIR

2012

27,471.7
74,617.2
95,598.1
78.1

JSC AURORA AIRLINES

JSC ROSSIYA AIRLINES

Company indicators

Company indicators

Company indicators

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

2013

1 0,77.3

2012

1,1 62.2

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

2,519.3

2012

3,1 34.2

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

3,631.9

2012

4,657.4

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

69.4

2012

67.3

2013

326.3

2012

265.3

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

356.4

2012

250.7

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

5,41.7

2012

417.9

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

65.8

2012

60.0

2013

4,590.1

2012

4,208.9

REVENUE PASSENGER KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

9,186.3

2012

8,760.9

AVAILABLE SEAT KILOMETERS,
MILLION
2013

1,2 031.9

2012

1,1 304.7

PASSENGER LOAD FACTOR,
%
2013

76.3

2012

77.5
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ROSSIYA AIRLINES
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

REVENUE PASSENGER
KILOMETERS, MILLION

77.5

8,760.9 9,186.3

4,208.9 4,590.1

2012

2013

76.3

–1.2 p.p.

+4.9%

+9.1%
2012

PASSENGER LOAD
FACTOR, %

2012

2013

Rossiya Airlines is developing as a regional airline based at Pulkovo
Airport in St. Petersburg. In 2013, the company continued to optimise
and coordinate its schedules and route network as part of the Aeroflot
Group. As a result, there was an increase in flight frequency to popular
destinations in the North-West and South of Russia, and to Europe and
the CIS (50 more weekly flights in comparison with 2012). The share of
high frequency routes in the overall route network increased by 13 p.p.
to 46% (33% in 2012) and a number of new destinations were added:
Syktyvkar, Moscow (Domodedovo) and Nice. The share of transit
passengers increased by 4 p.p. to 16% of the subsidiary’s total passenger
traffic thanks to the route network optimisation

2013

The development strategy of Rossiya Airlines, approved in August 2013,
calls for an agreement with JSC Aeroflot on 100% code-sharing from
the start of the 2014 summer timetable. The agreement envisages
the transfer of all regular flights by Rossiya Airlines to commercial
management by JSC Aeroflot (including pricing and ticket sales) based
on a model of commuter (regional) flights. Booking systems will use
the single SU code for joint flights from the start of the 2014 summer
schedule and until the end of 2014.
Rossiya Airlines took a number of steps in 2013 to improve its financial
results, including:
• Optimisation of flight operations with An-148 aircraft.
• Optimisation of payroll.
• An agency agreement with JSC Aeroflot to secure aviation fuel
supplies (transition to formula-based pricing using Platts index, at the
home airport).
A slight decline in load factor rates was due to initiatives to enter new
markets and increase flight frequency.

The share of Rossiya Airlines’ regular routes operated on a code-sharing
basis with JSC Aeroflot reached 90% in 2013, up 6 p.p. compared
with 2012.

JSC DONAVIA
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

985.7

2,001.1

1,353.6

2013

66.3

–2.7 p.p.

+39.6%
2012

2013

Donavia is a regional airline based at Rostov-on-Don Airport. Its mission
within Aeroflot Group is to ensure sustainable Group presence on the
air transport market in the southern part of European Russia. Donavia
operates scheduled and charter flights for passengers and freight to
cities in Russia, the CIS and other countries. The airline also provides
prompt and regular maintenance of its own aircraft and the aircraft of
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69.0

1,433.7

+37.3%
2012

PASSENGER LOAD
FACTOR, %

REVENUE PASSENGER
KILOMETERS, MILLION

2012

2013

other airlines. Since the 2013 summer timetable, Donavia has expanded
the geography of its flights from the Southern Federal District: flight
operations began from Krasnodar using the route network of Kuban
Airlines. The airline carried out 480 return flights in 2013.
A slight decline of load factor rates was due to entering new markets.
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ORENAIR
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND
3,193.5

REVENUE PASSENGER
KILOMETERS, MILLION
10,505.2 10,983.8

3,140.9

–1.6%

2012

PASSENGER LOAD
FACTOR, %
82.0

–3.7 p.p.

+4.6%
2012

2013

85.7

2013

2012

OrenAir is focused on charter flights from Russia to the most popular
international tourist destinations. Political instability in traditional
destination countries (Turkey, Egypt and Thailand) forced the Group to
make significant changes to the route network in 2013. New charter
flights were added from Khabarovsk and Vladivostok to the islands of
Guam and Saipan (USA), from St. Petersburg to cities in Greece, Italy
and Spain, and from Vladikavkaz and Mineralniye Vody to Istanbul. New
regular routes were opened from Russian cities to Europe, from Ural cities
to resort cities in Russia, and also an Almaty-Sochi-Almaty route. Flights
to some destinations were discontinued and frequencies were reduced to
the least profitable destinations. These changes were primarily related to
operations in the Middle East and Africa.

2013

The company continued its fleet upgrade programme in 2013, with one
new Boeing 737-800 aircraft obtained under an operating lease. One
Boeing 737-800, a Boeing 737-500 and a Tu-154 were phased out from
the fleet in 2013 due to termination of the lease periods.
In order to reduce costs, OrenAir entered into an agency agreement with
JSC Aeroflot in 2013 for the supply of aviation fuel, resulting in lower
average prices and total cost of aviation fuel purchases through centralised
procurement.
Insurance coverage was also consolidated in 2013 as part of the
integration process with Aeroflot Group. The changes will reduce
insurance rates for all types of insurance coverage. In addition, a unified
strategy was adopted for management of credit risk.

VLADIVOSTOK AIR
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND
1,162.2

3,134.2

1,077.3

2013

67.3

2,519.3

69.4

–19.6%

–7.3%
2012

PASSENGER LOAD
FACTOR, %

REVENUE PASSENGER
KILOMETERS, MILLION

2012

2013

Vladivostok Air is a regional carrier that engaged in passenger and freight
transportation in 2013.
Work continued in 2013 to reduce costs in order to improve the
operational and financial performance of the company. All inventory
procurement was transferred to a competitive basis, and service providers
for overhaul work on A320 aircraft engines were changed.
In March 2013, 52.156% of shares of Vladivostok Air owned by Aeroflot
were transferred to SAT Airlines, another Aeroflot Group subsidiary, as
part of the creation of a single Far East airline.

+2.1 p.p.
2012

2013

As part of process of creating a single Far East airline from SAT Airlines
and Vladivostok Air, the Board of Directors of Vladivostok Air resolved on
1 November 2013 to exit the subsidiary’s operating lease agreements
for A320 aircraft. Tu-204-300 aircraft were withdrawn from the regular
schedule from the fourth quarter of 2013, and operations with these craft
were discontinued on 28 October 2013.
The year-on-year declines in passenger traffic and turnover at Vladivostok
Air in 2013 were due to transfer from October of the most popular and
profitable routes to management by Aurora Airlines.
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AURORA AIRLINES (CREATED FROM SAT AIRLINES)
PASSENGERS CARRIED,
THOUSAND

265.3

REVENUE PASSENGER
KILOMETERS, MILLION
356.4

326.3

2013

65.8

+42.2%
2012

2013

A new company in Aeroflot Group, the unified Far Eastern operator
Aurora Airlines, was unveiled on 6 November 2013. Aurora’s mission
is to ensure sustainable development Aeroflot Group’s business in
the Russian Far East. The new company brings together the assets of
two Far Eastern carriers, SAT Airlines and Vladivostok Air, which have
been a part of Aeroflot Group since 2011. Aurora will help to unlock the
economic potential of the Far East, and to increase the mobility of the
population, and will strengthen synergies with other Aeroflot Group
companies.
Aeroflot holds 51% of Aurora’s shares. The other 49% of shares were
transferred in January 2014 to the administration of Sakhalin Region.
In 2013, Aurora’s route network included 25 destinations in five
countries. The company’s business plan calls for a rapid increase in the
volume of operations. The number of flights by Aurora should increase
from 172 to 534 and the number of destinations from 30 to 128 in the
period from 2013 to 2018.
The Aurora fleet, which includes medium-haul Boeing 737s, is
being optimised and improved by the addition of modern aircraft.
Three Airbus A319s were delivered in the fourth quarter of 2013 and
the number of these aircraft in the fleet should rise to seven by the end
of 2014.

DOBROLET
The Aeroflot Board of Directors in 2013 passed a resolution to create a
new low cost carrier (LCC), Dobrolet, which aims to become the leading
player in the emerging low-cost segment.
Dobrolet was registered on 4 October 2013 and the main application for
issue of an air operator certificate to Dobrolet LLC was submitted to the
Federal Air Transport Agency (Rosaviatsia) in December 2013.
JSC Aeroflot owns 100% of the new company. Aeroflot expects that its
total investments in the project during the first two years will be USD 100
million.
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60.0

250.7

+23.0%
2012

PASSENGER LOAD
FACTOR, %

+5.8 p.p.
2012

2013

Aurora’s regional division will operate modern turboprop aircraft with
capacities of 50 to 78 seats. Aircraft with up to 20 seats will be acquired
for local flights. The total fleet size is planned to reach 40 aircraft by 2018.
A number of steps were taken in 2013 to further the integration of
Aurora into Aeroflot Group:
• On 20 December 2013 an agreement was signed with Aeroflot
on 100% code-sharing, enabling sales via Aeroflot’s entire agent
network.
• Staff of Vladivostok Air were transferred to Aurora Airlines.
• Branches were set up in Vladivostok and Khabarovsk.
• The company’s technical base was certified under European EASA
Part 145 regulations and a certificate was obtained for servicing
under OTAR39 rules.
• The SAT-club loyalty programme was integrated with the Aeroflot
Bonus programme.
The number of regular routes increased by 62% in 2013, while
international charter destinations decreased by 50%. The number
of flights increased by 2.0% year-on-year to 5,968 in 2013. Flight
numbers increased by 4.2% on domestic routes while international
flight numbers declined by 8.8%. Average weekly frequency per route
increased by 73% to 5.62 (71% for domestic routes and 33% for
international routes).

The Dobrolet fleet will include narrow-body Boeing 737-800 aircraft in
a single-class layout. The airline expects that its fleet will grow to eight
aircraft in the first year of operations, with further expansions planned at
the rate of about eight aircraft per year.
A number of amendments to legislation governing air travel in Russia
are required before the company can begin full-scale operations.
Dobrolet’s first flights are planned for mid-2014. At the initial stage, the
airline currently plans to operate flights to the most popular routes in the
European part of Russia.
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Cargo and mail carrying
AEROFLOT GROUP
Aeroflot Group carried freight on both passenger and cargo aircraft
in 2013. The decision by JSC Aeroflot to decommission cargo planes
and focus on belly cargo operations had a significant impact on the
business segment. Group companies transported 204,600 tonnes of
cargo and mail in 2013, which is 8.6% less than in 2012. Cargo turnover
decreased by 18.1% to 991.5 million TKM. Capacity increased by
10.2%, and the load factor decreased by only 0.5 p.p. to 64.7%.

CARGO AND MAIL CARRYING BY AEROFLOT
GROUP, THOUSAND TONNES

223.8

2012
International

121.8

2012
International

1,210.0
3.0

–18.1%

991.5

289.7

5.7

5.4

2013

REVENUE CARGO TONNE KILOMETERS
OF AEROFLOT GROUP, MILLION

8.7

2.5

82.8

Domestic

9.3%

7.9

204.6

153.1

Cargo and mail carried on domestic flights was 82,800 tonnes, which
is 17.1% more than in 2012, and cargo turnover increased by 14.2% to
330.8 million TKM. Capacity increased by 18.8% and the load factor
increased by 0.2 p.p. to 65.4%.

REVENUE TONNE KILOMETERS
OF AEROFLOT GROUP, BILLION

–8.6%

70.7

International flights accounted for 59.5% of the total volume of cargo
and mail carried in 2013 and 66.6% of turnover. A total of 121,800
tonnes of cargo and mail was carried on international flights, down by
20.5% year-on-year. The load factor on these flights was 64.4%.

330.8
660.7

920.3

2013

2012

Domestic

International

2013
Domestic

Nearly all Group companies saw year-on-year declines in cargo and mail
volumes in 2013, with the exception of Rossiya Airlines (+3.2% yearon-year) and Donavia (+52.6% year-on-year).

CARGO AND MAIL CARRYING BY AEROFLOT GROUP IN 2013,
THOUSAND TONNES

7.9
5.2
2.3

10.2

2.4

176.5

JSC Aeroflot

JSC Rossiya Airlines

JSC Donavia
JSC Orenair

JSC Vladivostok Air
JSC Aurora

REVENUE CARGO TONNE KILOMETERS OF AEROFLOT GROUP
IN 2013, MILLION

21.1
23.6
3.0
21.2

3.1
919.5

JSC Aeroflot

JSC Rossiya Airlines
JSC Donavia
JSC Orenair

JSC Vladivostok Air
JSC Aurora
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AEROFLOT
Aeroflot seeks to achieve positive financial results in its cargo business
to ensure long-term competitiveness in the segment. The Company
has a number of competitive advantages, including a unique route
network, strong safety record, a well-known brand, understanding
of Russian operating conditions, commercial rights to routes, and an
effective system for making freight reservations management. The
Company has set up regional sales centres in order to further develop
its freight business.
In mid-2013, Aeroflot decided to suspend the use of cargo aircraft
and continue with belly freight operations. During 2013, the Company
carried 176,500 tonnes of cargo and mail, which is 9.0% less than in
2012. Freight turnover in 2013 decreased by 18.0% to 919.5 million
TKM.

REVENUE TONNE KILOMETERS (BILLION)
AND REVENUE LOAD FACTOR (%)
63.2
55.9

2.7
0.9
1.8

2009

International

1.4

1.2

3.3

2.9
2010

2011

Domestic

Cargo and mail traffic on domestic routes amounted to 58,500 tonnes,
which is 26.6% more than in 2012. Domestic turnover increased by
26.0% to 267.9 million TKM. Overall domestic capacity grew by 24.8%
and revenue load factor increased by 0.5 p.p. to 67.1%.

64.4

6.3

5.7

4.7

4.1

Cargo and mail carried on international flights accounted for 66.9%
of traffic and 70.9% of cargo tonne kilometers in 2013. Aeroflot’s
international flights carried 118,000 tonnes during the year, which is
20.2% less than in 2012. Revenue load factor increased by 0.3 p.p. to
63.1%.

CARGO AND MAIL CARRYING,
THOUSAND TONNES
63.8

62.2

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

163.4

1.6

2.0

4.1

4.3

2012

Load factor

2013

86.8
35.5

51.3

2009

International

160.6

42.3

40.3
120.3

121.1
2010

2011

Domestic

193.9
46.2
147.7
2012

176.5
58.5
118.0
2013

Safety
FLIGHT SAFETY
Flight safety is the absolute priority for all Aeroflot Group companies.
The use and regular maintenance of new and modern aircraft and the
work of highly professional flight and service personnel helps enable
the Group to maintain a high level of safety. JSC Aeroflot’s flight safety
coefficient in 2013 was 99.961%, which is in the range defined as the
highest level of safety (99.900% ÷ 100%).
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Since 2000 airports in member states of the European Civil Aviation
Conference (ECAC) have been implementing the Safety Assessment
of Foreign Aircraft programme. The assessments are carried out using
a standardised procedure in all ECAC countries. Checks by ECAC
inspectors in 2013 confirmed that Aeroflot aircraft fully meet the
programme requirements.
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AVIATION AND TRANSPORT SECURITY
The Company continued to implement measures in 2013 to ensure a
high level of aviation and transport security, preventing any risk to the
life and health of passengers and of Aeroflot employees when they are
carrying out their duties.
In 2013 the Company fully implemented measures to ensure transport
security of its vehicle fleet and took an active part in legislative work to
enhance provisions of the Federal Law № 16-FZ ‘On transport security’,
dated 09.02.2007.
Aeroflot takes measures to prevent illegal interferences in Company
operations and any attempts to cause economic losses to the
Company. Aeroflot constantly monitors compliance with aviation
security standards, rules and procedures by passengers, Company
employees and firms carrying out aviation and transport security work
for Aeroflot on an outsourcing basis. Safety management activities are
pursued in close cooperation with aviation security staff at airports,
aviation companies, law-enforcement agencies and Russian federal
executive bodies.
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The Company operates an integrated management system, which
monitors the compliance of Aeroflot products and services and those
of its suppliers with requirements for flight safety, aviation security
and quality standards, as defined by the international standards IOSA,
ISAGO, ISO 9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 (to which Aeroflot
adheres), as well as Russian Federal Aviation Regulations. Aeroflot’s
own sniffer dog service implements a system of anti-terrorist measures
(the service uses a unique hound-jackal hybrid, called Sulimov dogs).
The company developed a series of programmes and procedures
for ensuring aviation security in 2013, including the concept of an
automated information and analysis system for security management.

During 2013 the Company underwent a number of regular audits, which
confirmed compliance with aviation security standards:
• Aeroflot successfully passed IATA’s Operational Safety Audit (IOSA)
for the fifth time.
• Aeroflot successfully underwent a certification audit to remain
registered as a supplier of ground services in compliance with the
requirements of ISAGO (IATA Safety Audit for Ground Operations).
• Specialists of the US Transportation Security Administration
assessed compliance with TSA requirements for Aeroflot flights
departing to the USA, and found no instances of non-compliance.
All Aeroflot Group airlines comply with the IOSA standard, which
is a prerequisite for membership of IATA and the SkyTeam global
alliance, and also with partners requirements as a condition for making
and prolonging agreements on joint flight operation (code-sharing
agreements).
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Route network
Aeroflot Group pursues a policy of balanced development of its
route network in accordance with a multi-brand platform that
provides efficient business development in various price and regional
segments. The Group is expanding its route network, increasing flight
frequency and the number of destinations, while maintaining positive
financial results. Efficiency of the route network is being improved
by concentrating resources on those routes that provide maximum
revenue and profit.

As of 31 December 2013, the route network of Aeroflot Group included
293 regular destinations in 65 countries. The route network of JSC
Aeroflot consisted of 156 scheduled and charter destinations in 56
countries.

CHANGE IN NUMBERS OF ROUTES OF AEROFLOT GROUP,
(2012-2013, %)

CHANGE IN NUMBERS OF ROUTES OF JSC AEROFLOT,
(2012-2013, %)

Medium-haul
Long haul
–10.7

2013

Regular

Charter

Total

Regular

Charter

191

471

606

202

371

530

–5.4

27.0

89

115

260

78

417

106

–2.8

293

576

773

258

487

658

Regular

Charter

Total

Regular

Charter

92

32

112

95

30

31

2

30

1
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Domestic

Medium-haul

131
39

100

47
15

45

2013
156

44
32

124

94

495

Medium-haul

35

167

296

105

Long-haul

2012

Total

102

International

7.6

Charter

Long-haul

Total

1.8

All Routes

7.8

Domestic

Routes

25.7

Regular

International
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International

14.3
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Total

6.7

Domestic

Domestic

All Routes

7.8

Long haul

8.5

International

Routes

Medium-haul

7.7

36

128

33

98

124

37

7

36

717

187

–1.0

16.4

Change, %
Total
7.8

14.3

8.5

–15.3

–10.7

–0.8

16.8

7.7

Total

Regular

Charter

110

–3.2

6.7

30

3.3

611

2012
145

35

115

2.3

18.2
2.0

14.1

27.0

8.5

Change, %
Total
7.6

1.8

114.3

25.7

25.0

7.8

100.0

6.7
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The Group is opening new routes and boosting its capacity on existing
routes based on criteria of economic feasibility, demand, competition
and social requirements. A total of 25 new regular routes were added
in 2013:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sochi to Almaty;
Chelyabinsk to Anapa;
Khabarovsk to Blagoveshchensk and Novosibirsk;
Krasnodar to Sochi, Ekaterinburg, Dusseldorf and Yerevan;
St. Petersburg to Syktyvkar;
Moscow to Magnitogorsk, Novokuznetsk, Beslan, Yakutsk,
Thessaloniki and Toronto;
Mineralniye Vody to Ekaterinburg;
Omsk to Anapa, Varna and Munich;
Perm to Anapa;
Orenburg to Orsk and Varna;
Rostov-on-Don to Antalya;

CHANGE IN THE NUMBER OF FLIGHTS BY AEROFLOT GROUP
TO VARIOUS REGIONS (2013 VS. 2012, %)

• Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk to Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky;
• Vladivostok to Krasnoyarsk.
In 2013 Aeroflot launched flights on nine new routes from Moscow to
Abakan, Blagoveshchensk, Magnitogorsk, Novokuznetsk, Thessaloniki,
Toronto, Ulan-Ude, Chita and Yakutsk.

DISTRIBUTION OF AEROFLOT GROUP AVAILABLE SEAT
KILOMETERS BY REGION, MILLION
Region

24.0

CIS

Europe

–16.4%

Change, %

25,629

21,682

18.2

10,417

12,837

–18.9

109,064

95,598

14.1

Asia

19,077

North America
Total

9,538

37,768

17,004

6,307

17.6

12.2
51.2

46.4

North America
Asia

2012

44,403

Middle East and Africa

11.0

2013

Russia and CIS
Europe

12.5

Russia
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0.3
Middle East and Africa

Flight frequency on the most popular and profitable routes (mainly
international and long-haul) was stepped up in the reporting year.
The expansion of Aeroflot’s flight geography enabled the Company
to reduce passenger waiting times at connecting airports on priority
routes and to enhance comfort levels for connecting passengers at
Terminals D, E and F at Sheremetyevo Airport. The number of transit
passengers on flights in JSC Aeroflot’s own network grew by 28.1% in
2013 to 7.3 million passengers, representing 35% of the total number

of passengers carried by the airline and 23.3% of total Aeroflot Group
passenger numbers. The connection ratio for Aeroflot’s own flights
increased by 15.0% in 2013 to a level of 12.7.
Aeroflot Group plans to expand its network by 15-16% in 2014
compared with 2013. New destinations will include Karaganda and
Novy Urengoy.
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The policy of Aeroflot Group airlines regarding prices for passenger
tickets is determined by economic expediency, market conditions and
(where appropriate) by legislative requirements. Group airlines strive
to obtain maximum revenue from the sale of air transport services,
in order to ensure sustainability of the Group’s financial position and
ensure the development of Group business in the future.
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Group airlines carry out promotions in the low season in order to
stimulate demand, offering special lower ticket prices to passengers.
Group companies in some regions also offer transportation at rates that
are subsidised by government programmes.

OBTAINING RIGHTS, DISPENSATIONS, PERMISSIONS
AND AUTHORISATIONS FOR THE INCREASE OF FLIGHT FREQUENCIES
In 2013 JSC Aeroflot obtained the following permissions and
authorisations from Rosaviatsia on behalf of the Russian Ministry of
Regular route permissions of JSC Aeroflot that expired, in 2013
Transport:
were extended for a further five years. The Company received
13 new permissions and extensions for international non-regular
• 12 new permissions for regular international passenger carrying on
(charter) passenger services on routes from Moscow to Barcelona,
the routes:
Burgas, Varna, Grenoble, Sofia, Tel Aviv and Chambery.
-- Vladivostok to Dalian, Mudanjiang, Pusan, Sanya, Seoul,
Tokyo and Harbin.
• Aeroflot also received dispensations in 2013 through diplomatic
-- Moscow to Karaganda and Chisinau.
channels of the Russian Foreign Ministry for provision of regular
-- Sochi to Frankfurt-am-Main.
flights on 13 routes:
-- Khabarovsk to Tokyo.
-- Vladivostok to Dalian, Mudanjiang, Sanya and Harbin.
-- Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk to Harbin.
-- Ekaterinburg to Thessaloniki.
-- Moscow to Basel, Varadero, Guangzhou (increase of flights),
• 12 additional authorisations to increase the frequency of flights
Karaganda, Krakow (permanent basis) and Thessaloniki.
on regular passenger routes from Khabarovsk to Harbin and from
-- Khabarovsk to Harbin.
Moscow to Amsterdam, Bangkok, Bishkek, Goa, Kiev, Minsk,
-- Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk to Harbin.
Odessa, Simferopol and Tivat.

COOPERATION UNDER CODE-SHARING AGREEMENTS
Aeroflot Group continued to develop its cooperation with partners
through code-share agreements throughout 2013. During the reporting
year, JSC Aeroflot transported more than 500,000 passengers of
code-share partners and about one million Aeroflot passengers flew on
flights operated by partners. Total revenue from operations under codesharing agreements was about RUB 4.8 billion.
Aeroflot’s main code-share partners last year, measured by the scale of
cooperation, were:
• International: Alitalia, Air France, Czech Airlines, LOT and Air Baltic.
• Domestic: Subsidiaries of JSC Aeroflot and also JSC Nordavia
(among Russian companies).
The number of marketing routes used by JSC Aeroflot increased in the
reporting year from 248 to 256. Agreements on joint operation of flights
were initiated with a number of airlines: Middle East Airlines, China
Eastern Airlines, and the Moroccan national carrier, Royal Air Maroc.
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Aeroflot Group focused on further integrating Donavia and Aurora
Airlines with JSC Aeroflot. Ticket sales on flights of the airline
subsidiaries under code-share agreements use a ‘commuter’ model,
by which joint flights are shown in booking systems under Aeroflot’s
unified SU code (this differs from usual code-sharing, where a dual
code and flight numbers of both partners are shown). More than 2.8
million passengers flew on Aeroflot commuter flights in 2013.
At the beginning of 2014 Aeroflot had code-share agreements with 31
foreign and Russian airlines, including:
• 19 agreements where Aeroflot is both operating and marketing
partner, with Air France, KLM, Alitalia, SAS, Finnair, DELTA Air Lines,
Czech Airlines, LOT Polish Airlines, Bulgaria Air, Cyprus Airways,
Korean Air, Air Serbia , MIAT, Air Baltic, Air Europa, Kenya Airways,
China Eastern Airlines, China Southern Airlines and Rossiya Airlines.
• 4 agreements where Aeroflot is only an operating partner, with
Tarom, Cubana, Iran Air and Middle East Airlines.
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• 5 agreements where Aeroflot is only a marketing partner, with Adria
Airways, Air Malta, Estonian Air, Royal Air Maroc and JSC Nordavia.
• 3 agreements with JSC Aeroflot affiliated airlines using a commuter
transport model, with JSC Donavia, Orenburg Airlines and Aurora
Airlines.
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Code-share agreements planned for 2014 include Garuda Indonesia,
Bangkok Airways and other partners. The Group also plans to transfer
the operations of Rossiya Airlines to a commuter-based code-share
model, managed by JSC Aeroflot, enabling further integration of the
subsidiary’s route network into that of the Aeroflot Group.

Company priorities in the development of code-share cooperation
include:
• Strengthening Aeroflot’s presence on promising markets.
• Gaining access to markets that may otherwise be restricted.
• Further improvement of the existing route network, helped by
increase of the marketing flight network.
• More efficient use of the fleet.

PARTICIPATION IN THE SKYTEAM GLOBAL AIRLINE ALLIANCE
Aeroflot Group continues to cooperate with the world’s largest air
carriers in the framework of the SkyTeam alliance. Aeroflot traffic
volumes as part of cooperation with SkyTeam reached 737,000
passengers and 1,817 tonnes of cargo in 2013.

The SkyTeam alliance had 19 members in 2013:
•
Aeroflot
•
CSA Czech Airlines
•
Aerolineas Argentinas
•
DELTA
•
AeroMexico
•
Kenya Airways
•
AirEuropa
•
Korean Air
•
AIRFRANCE
•
MEA
•
KLM
•
Saudia
•
Alitalia
•
Tarom
•
China Airlines
•
Vietnam Airlines
•
China Eastern
•
XiamenAir
•
China Southern
SKYPRIORITY
The priority task for SkyTeam in 2013 was the implementation of
strategic projects capable of making the alliance product the industry
leader. The first stage of the SkyPriority project, which provides an
extended set of privileges for high-usage customers, was completed in
the reporting year. SkyPriority offers a number of services at airports to
business-class passengers and cardholders of loyalty programmes at
SkyTeam airlines:
• Priority registration;
• Priority baggage handling;
• Priority service at sales offices and transfer desks;

In March 2014 the alliance welcomed Garuda Indonesia as its
20th carrier.
SkyTeam accounts for 19% of global passenger traffic,
and the alliance has a dominant position in ‘Greater China’
(mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan). The alliance
offers services on over 90% of major global passenger
routes.

• Priority in customs formalities, passport control and security
procedures;
• Priority boarding;
• Priority luggage return at the destination airport.
SkyPriority has been implemented across most of the Aeroflot route
network. Work on the second phase of the programme, for further
improvement of the product, is scheduled for completion by the end
of 2014.
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SKYTRANSFER ACCELERATOR
Major progress has been made by the SkyTransfer Accelerator system,
which aims to improve service quality in transfers between flights.
Aeroflot carried out a number of measures in 2013 at Sheremetyevo
Airport to improve the quality of service to transfer passengers. The
Company has set up a control centre for connections and aircraft
turnover (Hub Control Centre). A system has been put in place for
transmission of information to the transit services of partner carriers
on dispatch of baggage, helping to optimise baggage handling for
connecting flights at major SkyTeam hubs. Aeroflot is now the handling
company for six of the nine alliance carriers at Sheremetyevo Airport.
Work is now being carried out at Sheremetyevo to meet requirements
under the SkyTeam initiative to transfer all alliance members to service
by a single agent.
As well as initiatives to improve service quality at hubs, SkyTeam also
developed projects in 2013 enhance transfer operations throughout
the SkyTeam route network. Introduction of an updated version of the
departure control system (SSCI Sabre) on Aeroflot flights has enabled
through-registration (IATCI) for alliance partners for flight connections of
more than 48 hours.
SKYTEAM CARE AND ASSISTANCE POLICY
The rules of SkyTeam carriers for actions by companies to minimise
negative impact of delay, cancellation and postponement of flights
(SkyTeam Care and Assistance Policy) were standardised in 2013.
JSC Aeroflot is carrying out work to enable partial access to the
partners’ booking systems, since this will significantly improve the
quality of service to passengers in case of service disruptions.
SKYPORT
The SkyPort programme offers new opportunities for cooperation
between alliance members and improvement of passenger service
quality. Project actions in 2013 included:
• Opening of an alliance passenger lounge at Istanbul Ataturk Airport
(Turkey);
• 110th SkyTeam-branded kiosk at Narita Airport (Tokyo, Japan)
for check-in on any alliance flight;
• A new joint operations zone at Vienna International Airport (Austria);
• Shared sales offices for all SkyTeam members at airports in Prague
(Czech Republic) and Istanbul (Turkey).
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SKYTEAM CARGO
Aeroflot is cooperating with other alliance airlines in the cargo business
through SkyTeam Cargo – a unique alliance of 12 freight carriers. China
Cargo and Aerolineas Cargo joined SkyTeam Cargo in 2013.
INTERLINE AGREEMENTS
Aeroflot has interline agreements with 172 airlines, including nine
Russian companies and companies from nine CIS countries. Five new
agreements were signed in 2013 and 11 were cancelled. More than
500,000 passengers were carried by Aeroflot and its partners under
interline agreements during the reporting period.
CARGO ROUTE NETWORK
JSC Aeroflot ceased operations with cargo aircraft as from August 2013.
The Company now uses belly freight to transport cargo and mail.
Aeroflot Group’s extensive route network makes possible delivery of
customs and non-customs transit goods through Sheremetyevo Airport
to dozens of airports in Russia and worldwide.
The number of routes offered at auctions for cargo capacity in 2013
was increased from four to 17. Electronic auctions are held for three
major airports in Russia: Sheremetyevo, Vladivostok and Khabarovsk.
Capacity on routes to Far East destinations, for which there is high
demand, was offered at auction for the first time in the 2012-2013
winter season on an experimental basis.
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AIRCRAFT FLEET
AEROFLOT GROUP FLEET
Aeroflot Group has a well-balanced fleet of aircraft, which it continues
to update and modernise in line with its business strategy based on a
multi-brand platform. As of 31 December 2013 Aeroflot Group had a
total of 239 aircraft in its fleet, including 232 passenger airliners, three
cargo planes, three helicopters and one plane equipped for medical
purposes.

There were a number of new fleet additions in 2013: the Group took
receipt of 22 Airbus A320 aircraft, five Boeing 737s and four new longhaul Boeing 777-300ER aircraft.

AEROFLOT GROUP FLEET ON 31 DECEMBER 2013
Aircraft type
Short-haul

Mi-8**(helicopter)

An-12 (cargo)

An-24

DHC 8-200

DHC 8-300

An-148

Yak-40

SSJ-100

Medium-haul

Tu-154

Total aircraft
on 31.12.2013
10%

Changes*

Added

3

-

0

-

1

-

2

-

3

-

6

-

0

10
0

26

5

4

-

B737-200

B737-500

B737-800

Long-haul

B767

A330

Tu-204-300

B777-200ER

B777-300ER

Il-96

MD-11F

Total

2

2

22

22%

8

9
-

1

4

8

-

22
6

3

4

6

3

239

-

-

-

5

А321

B737-400

3

-

39
67

-

1

2

А319

А320

Withdrawn

-

-

68%

2013

-

-

-

-

-

1

7

1
2

-

1

-

-

-

4
-

-

31

-

-

-

-

23

As of 31 December 2013 the Aeroflot Group fleet consisted of six regional
turboprop aircraft (An-24s and Bombardier DHC 8-200/300s), 16 short-haul
aircraft (SSJ100s and An-148s), 162 medium-haul aircraft (Airbus A320s
and Boeing 737s), 49 long-haul aircraft (Boeing 767s, Airbus A330s, Tu204-300s, Boeing 777s and Il-96s) as well as three helicopters (Mi-8s). The
Group was also operating three MD-11F aircraft.
Two Boeing 767s, nine Boeing 737s, one An-12 cargo plane and one A330
were withdrawn from Aeroflot Group fleet in 2013 due to lease termination.

2014

Added

Withdrawn

-

3

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

8
-

-

13
-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6
-

2

4

1

15

2

-

5

-

6

-

2

6

-

-

-

-

6

45

36

-

-

Owned

3

0

1

0

0

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

Operating
lease
0

0

3

0

0

0

0

0

6

0

10
0

26

13

5

21

4

0

66
2

1

0

2

0

22

0

8

3

10

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

14

6

0

0

0

0

Financial
lease

0

8

0

6

0

0

4

0

3

160

0

0

69

The Company also decommissioned three An-24s, two Yak-40s and five
Tu-154s as scheduled.
As a result of these changes, the share of long-haul aircraft in the fleet
remained unchanged, the share of medium-range aircraft increased by
4 p.p. (from 64% in 2012 to 68% in 2013) and the share of short-haul craft
decreased by 4p.p. (from 14% in 2012 to 10% in 2013).

* According to contracts made.
** One aircraft was out of service as of 31 December 2013.
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The Group plans to expand its medium-haul fleet to 29 aircraft in 2014,
including 13 Airbus A320s and 16 Boeing 737s, as well as increasing its
long-haul fleet by the addition of eight Boeing 777s. Delivery of eight new
short-haul SSJ100s is also expected.
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The Group will continue the process of fleet renewal in 2014, when it will
withdraw three Mi-8 helicopters, one An-24, six aircraft from the Airbus
A320 family, nine Boeing 737s, as well as 17 long-haul aircraft, including five
Boeing 767 -300ERs, six Tu-204-300s and six Il-96.
Operating flight time of the Group fleet in 2013 was 776,3 thousand hours ,
which is 7.6% more than in 2012.

JSC AEROFLOT FLEET
JSC Aeroflot operates one of the most modern and youngest aircraft fleets
in Europe. The Company’s aircraft meet the highest standards of safety,
reliability and comfort, as well as being highly fuel-efficient. The average age
of the Company’s aircraft at the end of 2013 was 5.5 years.
As of December 31, 2013 , the Aeroflot fleet consisted of 143 aircraft,
including 140 passenger airliners and three cargo aircraft. The passenger
fleet included 37 long-haul aircraft (five Boeing 767-300ERs, four Boeing
777-300ERs, 22 Airbus A330s and six Il-96s), 93 medium-haul aircraft (90
aircraft of the Airbus A320 family and three B737-800s) and 10 short-haul
SSJ100s. The Company’s cargo fleet consisted of three MD-11F aircraft.
Aeroflot continued to expand and update its fleet in 2013 by the addition
of new types of aircraft, which are traditionally supplied directly from
manufacturers. In the course of the year, the Company took receipt of four
long-haul Boeing 777-300ERs and 16 medium-haul aircraft (three Next
Generation Boeing 737-800s, eight Airbus A320s and five Airbus A321s). In
the short-haul segment, four SSJ100s in ‘light’ configuration were replaced
by aircraft in the expanded ‘full’ configuration.

Two Boeing 767-300ERs were withdrawn from the Aeroflot fleet due
to termination of the lease and three A319s were withdrawn ahead of
schedule for transfer to the Aurora Airlines subsidiary.
The Aeroflot fleet will be further developed in 2014 by the receipt of six
long-haul aircraft (Boeing 777 -300ERs), 16 medium-haul aircraft (13
Airbus A320s and three Boeing 737-800s) as well as eight short-haul
aircraft (SSJ100s). The company also plans to replace its remaining six
‘light’-configuration SSJ100 aircraft by SSJ100s in the expanded ‘full’
configuration .
The remaining five Boeing 767s, four Airbus A319s, six Il-96s and two
Airbus A320s will be withdrawn from the fleet as scheduled in 2014. It is
expected that two Airbus A319s will be transferred to subsidiary airlines.
Operating flight time of the Aeroflot fleet in 2013 was 509.1 thousand
hours, which is 10.5% more than in 2012. Average flight time per aircraft fell
by 0.1 hour to 10.3 hours due to withdrawals from the fleet.

FUEL EFFICIENCY
Aeroflot is constantly improving fuel efficiency of its operations thanks
to ongoing work to update the fleet. JSC Aeroflot’s per unit fuel
consumption of decreased by 1 gram to 307 grams per tonne-kilometer

in 2013 compared with 2012. The figure for Aeroflot Group as a whole
declined by 2 grams in 2013 to 313 grams per TKM.

SPECIFIC FUEL CONSUMPTION (GRAMS/TKM)
AT AEROFLOT GROUP

SPECIFIC FUEL CONSUMPTION (GRAMS/TKM)
AT JSC AEROFLOT
392

315

313

319

2010

2011

308

307

2012

2013

313

2012
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2009
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Maintenance and repair operations
Aeroflot Group has an efficient system of aircraft maintenance and
repair, which ensures good working order and reliability of the fleet
and in turn the safety and regularity of flights. Aeroflot’s maintenance
and repair policy is geared to the development of fleet capacity,
technological know-how, use of innovative solutions, and development
and training in order to maximise economic efficiency.
The maintenance and repair system includes 10 maintenance bases
within JSC Aeroflot and 12 at Aeroflot subsidiary airlines. More than
2000 engineers and technical and ancillary staff are employed in
maintenance and repair work at JSC Aeroflot.
Development of the maintenance and repair function at Aeroflot in 2013
occurred as part of ongoing restructuring and expansion of the fleet.
Aeroflot is currently acquiring light maintenance capabilities (‘A-check’)
for B737 and B777 aircraft. The Company exchanged four RRJ-95B
aircraft in ‘light’ configuration for four RRJ-95Bs in ‘full’ configuration.
Aeroflot also transferred two B767 aircraft and three A319s to the fleet
of its new subsidiary airline, Aurora.
There was a significant increase in work to prepare aircraft for flights,
routine maintenance and work to deal with malfunctions, due to
a larger fleet and higher traffic. The average monthly number of
departures from Sheremetyevo grew by 11.9% versus 2012. Routine
maintenance increased 12.8% and technical maintenance interventions
at Sheremetyevo increased 3.3%.
The Company maintained the fleet in an excellent state of repair in 2013
despite increased demands on the maintenance and repair system due
to fleet rotation and expansion. Average daily flight time per aircraft at
Aeroflot matches and in many cases exceeds other top airlines.

• Development of light forms of maintenance (‘A-check’) for B777
aircraft.
• Development of maintenance and repair of components made by
Airbus, Teledyne, Zodiac, etc. for A320 and A330 aircraft.
• Development of maintenance and repair of components made by
Honeywell for A320 and A330 aircraft.
• Development of maintenance and repair of oxygen equipment for
A320 and A330 aircraft.
• Development of maintenance and repair of new types of equipment
on foreign aircraft (WQAR).
• Development of maintenance and repair of new types of equipment
on foreign aircraft (smoke sensors).
• Technical nitrogen generation and compression systems.
• Development of light forms of maintenance (‘A-check’) for B737
aircraft.
• Purchase of new thermographic equipment.
• Installation of wireless Internet (Wi-Fi) equipment on A330 aircraft.
In addition to servicing its own fleet, the Company also provided
maintenance and repair services to more than 70 third-party
organisations in 2013. Revenue from these services amounted to RUB
17.06 million.
Aeroflot aims to develop cooperation with Russian and foreign
manufacturers of aircraft and components, and also with specialised
maintenance and repair companies. A contract was signed at the end of
2013 with Lufthansa Technik to provide maintenance services for B777
aircraft at a per-flight-hour rate. Also a contract was awarded to Air
France Industries to provide technical support for GE90 engines.
Efficient use of human resources in 2013 enabled further reduction of
labour costs for maintenance and repair of the main types of aircraft in
the Aeroflot fleet.

The Company initiated a programme of innovative projects in 2013
aimed at reducing costs and improving the efficiency of maintenance
and repairs. The programme aims to increase the share of in-house
aircraft and component maintenance work and to reduce the share of
tasks entrusted to external contractors in order to increase economic
efficiency. The programme also includes:
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In addition to servicing its own fleet, the Company also provided
maintenance and repair services to more than 70 third-party
organisations in 2013. Revenue from these services amounted to RUB
17.06 million.

end of 2013 with Lufthansa Technik to provide maintenance services
for Boeing B777 aircraft at a per-flight-hour rate. Also a contract was
awarded to Air France Industries to provide technical support for GE90
engines.

Aeroflot is developing cooperation with Russian and foreign
manufacturers of aircraft and components , and also with specialised
maintenance and repaid companies. A contract was signed at the

Efficient use of available human resources in 2013 enabled further
reduction of labour costs for maintenance and repair of main types of
aircraft in the Aeroflot fleet.

LABOR COSTS FOR MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR IN 2013, %

RATIO OF MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR COSTS TO FLIGHT TIME
AT JSC AEROFLOT
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Aeroflot plans to build a hangar in 2014 to house the В777-300ER. The
Company will also carry out replacement of the standard salon lighting
systems in A320 family aircraft by an LED system.

Brand and service quality
BRAND DEVELOPMENT AND QUALITY OF SERVICES
Aeroflot is continuously working to improve the quality and expand the
range of services offered to passengers on all its flights and at all stages
of their travel experience: when selecting and booking their journey, at the
airport, in flight, during transfers, and when arranging hotel accommodation

BRAND DEVELOPMENT
According to the international agency Brand Finance, a recognised expert
in business valuation, the value of the Aeroflot brand in 2013 was
USD 1.423 billion, while the value of all Aeroflot Group brands combined
was USD 1.515 billion.
Aeroflot continued to develop its brand in 2013 as an air carrier on
international markets, which:
• matches the levels of service quality and safety achieved by leading
global airlines;
• offers the best option for travel to Russia; and
• provides optimal transit opportunities for flights via Moscow.
Aeroflot has launched an advertising campaign entitled ‘Top Flight
Performance’ in priority European and Asian markets, capitalising on
the long-term strategic partnership between Aeroflot and the UK Premier
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at their destination. The Company does all it can to surpass the best
international standards of passenger service. The growth of brand value
numerous industry awards and high rankings in various surveys confirm that
Aeroflot is meeting these challenges successfully.

League football club Manchester United. This collaboration allows Aeroflot
to raise its profile among millions of Manchester United fans worldwide,
helping to promote awareness of the Company and increase its credibility
across a huge audience. The cooperation with Manchester United allows
Aeroflot to display its logo on the home stadium of the football club, to
organise competitions among fans and to carry out large-scale promotional
activities at airports around the world.
As part of the same business strategy, Aeroflot carried out an advertising
campaign in a number of foreign markets to promote transit services
between cities in Europe and Asia with transfer in Moscow.

RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Aeroflot organised an image advertising campaign in Russia in 2013 to
coincide with the Company’s 90th anniversary. Advancement of the brand
was also supported by a number of business and sporting events, including
the St. Petersburg International Economic Forum, the XVII Summer
Universiade in Kazan, and the Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games in
Sochi in 2014.
Aeroflot has made a substantial effort to launch and build the brands of its
new airline subsidiaries, Aurora and Dobrolet, in various regions of Russia.
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Landor also carried out work to create a corporate identity for Aurora
Airlines, including uniforms for personnel, branding of items used for in-flight
service (economy and business classes), and signage at airports.
A large-scale advertising campaign for Aurora was carried out at the end of
2013 in Far Eastern and Siberian cities, including press and radio placements
and outdoor advertising.

An open tender was held to select an agency to build the Dobrolet brand.
The winner was the international branding agency, Landor.

AEROFLOT’S 90TH ANNIVERSARY
Aeroflot celebrated its 90th year in the skies on 17 March 2013, making
it one of the longest-established and best-known airlines in the world.
Aeroflot carried out an image campaign in Russia in 2013, timed to
coincide with the 90th anniversary. A special anniversary logo was
created as well as a slogan, ‘Flying high for 90 years‘.
The Company held a number of competitions to mark the anniversary,
including ‘Paint an Aeroflot plane’: a model was designed and a Sukhoi
Superjet-100 aircraft was painted in the colourful Russian ‘Khokhloma’
folk style, based on a sketch submitted by the competition winner.
Other anniversary competitions included the quiz game, ‘City of your
dreams’, the Aeroflot Open Chess Tournament and a children’s drawing
contest, ‘The Aeroflot I love’.

MARKET RESEARCH
Aeroflot is continuously engaged in market research on the domestic
and international markets. These studies assess levels of customer
satisfaction and loyalty, clarify attitudes towards the Company and its
services, and measure the extent to which Aeroflot’s product matches
the Company’s own quality standards and international standards. The
main research projects include:
• Participation in research carried out by the SkyTeam alliance, aimed
both at general assessment of the quality of service provided by
member airlines, and at monitoring of specific product elements,
including the SkyPriority programme.
• The ‘secret passenger’ monitoring project, carried out in association
with Romir Monitoring Standard, which assesses the extent to which
Aeroflot lives up to its declared standards of passenger service. In
2013 achievement of standards was evaluated by passengers at
91%, matching results in previous periods.
• The ‘Net Promoter Score’ customer loyalty index, implemented
jointly with Bain & Company. In 2013, the NPS index showed a
positive trend, rising from 56% to 58%.
• Market research on key markets in Europe and Asia to measure
consumer perceptions of the Aeroflot brand and attitudes to
Aeroflot’s partnership with Manchester United.

Also in celebration of the 90th anniversary Aeroflot took delivery of
Russia’s only aircraft in ‘retro’ livery: an Airbus A320 airliner, which was
christened ‘Dobrolet’ – the name of the civil aviation company set up
in the USSR 90 years ago, which was later rebranded as Aeroflot (the
name ‘Dobrolet’ has also been used for Aeroflot’s new budget carrier,
which was created in 2013).
Passengers were able to enjoy a special anniversary in-flight menu from
1 February to 31 May 2013.

NET PROMOTER SCORE, %
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52
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56

58
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2013
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DEVELOPMENT OF SERVICES ON THE GROUND AND IN THE AIR
Aeroflot Group continued to implement strategies in 2013 to improve
the quality of passenger service and expand the range of available
services in the air and on the ground:
• The new ‘Comfort’ service class was introduced on long-haul flights
operated by Boeing 777-300ER aircraft, including new standards for
seats with built-in Thales entertainment monitors, individual travel
sets, increased baggage allowance and improved in-flight meals.
• Children’s travel kits, previously offered only on flights lasting more
than three hours, are now offered on all Aeroflot flights.
• Blankets are now provided in class Y on all Aeroflot flights lasting at
least three hours.
• Aeroflot continued to regularly update its selection of in-flight
meals and wines in 2013. Recognised world-class chefs and
restaurateurs took part in designing the 2013 menu. From 1 February
until 31 May 2013 Aeroflot passengers in all service classes on
international and domestic flights were offered a special menu,
designed with the help of internationally acclaimed chefs, in
celebration of Aeroflot’s 90th anniversary. Breakfasts have been
improved and additional snacks have been introduced on flights
lasting more than eight hours. Business-class passengers were
offered tea gifts as part of the Aeroflot Tea Collection project.

ENQUIRIES FROM PASSENGERS
Aeroflot fields telephone enquiries from passengers in 12 countries via
a single call centre. The Company allocated a special number at the
time of the Winter Olympics and Paralympic Games in Sochi to address
enquiries related to flights during the Olympics.
A decision was made in 2013 to enable ‘one-window’ processing of
enquires using a special form on the Aeroflot website.

SKYPRIORITY
In 2013 Aeroflot launched the SkyPriority project, implemented as
part of the SkyTeam alliance, at most airports in its route network.
The project offers fast-track pre-flight formalities for frequent flyer
passengers. SkyPriority offers these passengers:
•
•
•
•
•
•
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the use of priority registration zones;
priority check-in;
fast-track passport control (at some airports);
priority boarding;
priority baggage handling;
priority service at ticket offices and transit desks.
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• The company is constantly improving its flight entertainment
systems:
-- the number of aircraft equipped with Internet access is steadily
increasing;
-- the Company has substantially expanded the number of films
and TV programs available to passengers, including materials in
foreign languages. The number of English-language newspapers
and magazines available on flights has been greatly increased.
• Aeroflot has expanded the geography of through check-in of baggage
to the final destination of transit passengers.
• Purchase of tickets for the Aeroexpress airport express train service
via www.aeroflot.ru became possible in 2013.
• Aeroflot signed an agreement with Europcar, one of the world’s
largest car rental companies, enabling passengers to pre-book a
rental car through a co-branded Internet service.

Aeroflot held a competition to select the creator and operator of its
loyalty programme and customer relationship management (CRM)
system, which will also be designed to address enquires from
passengers.
Passenger enquiry services at Aeroflot, Donavia and Aurora were
unified in 2013, and Aeroflot has developed a programme for further
integration of these services at airline subsidiaries.

RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS
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AEROFLOT BONUS PROGRAMME
Aeroflot continued to develop its Aeroflot Bonus frequent flier
programme in 2013. The number of members increased by 19%
(by 643,071 people) to reach a total of 4,002,178 by the end of the year.
Most of the growth was in basic level memberships.

NUMBERS OF AEROFLOT BONUS MEMBERS,
THOUSANDS

2,293

724

3,359

STRUCTURE OF AEROFLOT BONUS MEMBERS
IN 2012-2013
4,002

89,434 42,417
3,870,327

Basic
Silver

2010

2011

2012

2013

In 2013 the Company designed and implemented a broad range of new
services for members of the Aeroflot Bonus programme:
• A new text notification service for programme members to access
up-to-the-minute information about their miles account.
• The ability to pay for an upgrade in class with miles.
• ‘My Booking’, which keeps a record of current bookings, miles
credited and in-flight meals that have been ordered.
• Ability to obtain services from Aeroflot partners in return for miles via
the Aeroflot website.
• A new service for ordering and paying for premium tickets on
Aeroflot Group flights via a contact centre.
• Ability to book tickets with miles on a mobile site using a mobile
application.
• Expansion of the list of privileges for silver-level members when
obtaining premium air tickets.
• ‘Light Award’, which enables purchase of premium tickets in
exchange for fewer miles.
Aeroflot has implemented various measures to enhance profitability of
the Aeroflot Bonus programme, attract new passengers and promote
specific sections of the route network. A mechanism has been provided
to preserve accumulated miles when a passenger makes two journeys
on any scheduled flights of Aeroflot Group and to provide additional
miles in certain circumstances. In order to boost sales on new routes,
Aeroflot offered additional miles for flights to Toronto and to Yakutsk and
a special programme, ‘Two times more miles for flights with Aeroflot’.

Gold

Joint promotions offering additional miles were carried out in 2013
with various hotels and hotel chains (Marriott Awards, Hilton Honors,
Azimut Hotels Company, Amathus Hotels and Kempinski) and also with
Russian Standard Bank and Bank Uralsib. Premium cards were also
launched in association with partner banks (MasterCard Black Edition
from Alfa-Bank, SMP Bank and Bank Uralsib). Uralsib launched the
new ‘Experience’ programme with a set of two cards (MasterCard and
Amex), and the system of mile credits on ‘Flyaway’ deposit accounts at
Alfa Bank was revived.
The new Aeroflot Bonus Platinum level was introduced at the start of
2014, aimed at a premium audience, and will be of great importance
for the image of the Aeroflot Bonus programme. Work to update the
programme’s style and logo, expand online functionality of ‘My Aeroflot
Bonus’, and improve the ‘My Bookings’ service is also scheduled for
2014. New services will be introduced: ‘Premium Certificate’, which
enables crediting of miles via a promotional code, and ‘Upgrade
Certificate’, which enables guaranteed free upgrades to be transferred
or given as presents. The Company will continue to develop partnership
programs in 2014, and there are plans to extend the Aeroflot Bonus
programme to other companies in Aeroflot Group (Aurora and Rossiya
Airlines).

The company continued to develop partnership programmes for
Aeroflot Bonus members. New partnership agreements were signed
in 2013 with the Arkady Novikov restaurant chain, with TripAdvisor,
with the Premier International hotel network in Ukraine, and with
MasterCard.
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Sales
The revenue of JSC Aeroflot from the sale of passenger transport
services increased by 18.9% in 2013, to RUB 182.7 billion (equivalent to
USD 5,740.71 million).

The share of sales in
Russia in 2013 was

The share of sales
abroad was

Passenger traffic sales are carried out both in Russia and abroad.

68.5% 31.5%

STRUCTURE OF JSC AEROFLOT REVENUE IN 2013, %

STRUCTURE OF SALES CHANNELS IN 2012-2013, %

8.0
18.4

73.6

4.4

4.7

Agent sales

36.4

34.7

Internet sales + call center

15.3

14.9

Own sales

27.3

28.6

16.6

17.1

2012

The largest share of revenue from traffic sales is generated by the
agent network (73.6%). The share of sales through the Internet and
call centre was 18.4% in 2013, while sales at Aeroflot’s own offices
accounted for 8% of total sales in 2013.
Ticket agents in the Moscow region accounted for the largest share
of sales in 2013 (34.7%) with representative offices abroad in second
place (28.6%). The contribution from branches and representative
offices in Russia remained unchanged compared with 2012 at 14.9% of
total sales.
Aeroflot continued to develop Internet sales in 2013. Their share in total
sales revenue increased to 17.1% and totalled RUB 36.2 billion roubles,
which is 24.4% more than in 2012.

Own sales offices + call centre
Agents in Moscow

Offices and branches
in Russian regions
Offices abroad
Internet sales

2013

Various new technical services and other sales capabilities were put in
place in 2013:
• A ‘call-back’ service from the website (the same service is under
preparation for foreign language versions of the site).
• Expansion of available call lines.
• Extension of the time during which recordings of phone
conversations are kept to six months.
• Payment by passengers via call centre using air-mile credit cards.
• Capability to credit air miles earned on flights of other Sky Team
member airlines.
• Capability to change name and address in the Aeroflot Bonus
member profile.
• Expansion of the team of English-speaking agents to serve traffic
during the Olympic Games in Sochi in 2014.
• Creation of a Prime Club office for Aeroflot Bonus Platinum
members.
Credit card sales via the call centre increased 3.2 times in 2013
compared with 2012.
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SALES IN RUSSIA
Sales in Russia in 2013 developed in a context of ongoing work to
optimise the structure of Aeroflot Group and integrate subsidiary
airlines. A single Far East carrier, Aurora Airlines (based on Vladivostok
Air and SAT Airlines ), was created within the Aeroflot Group in 2013
and was a major factor helping to increase revenues generated in
Russia by more than 18.6% in 2013 compared with 2012.

STRUCTURE OF SALES REVENUE GENERATED INSIDE RUSSIA
(NOT
INCLUDING
MOSCOW),
%
СТРУКТУРА
ОБЪЕМОВ
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ТЕРРИТОРИИ РФ (КРОМЕ МОСКВЫ)

St. Petersburg

14

6

7

9

AEROFLOT | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

In 2013, Aeroflot revenues from sales in Russia increased by more than
14.1% year-on-year to RUB 114.2 billion, of which almost 72% were in
the Moscow region. The largest share of sales in Russia are for routes
to Vladivostok (18%) and St. Petersburg (14%).

STRUCTURE OF JSC AEROFLOT SALES REVENUE GENERATED
INSIDE RUSSIA, %

Vladivostok

18

46
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Khabarovsk
Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky
Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk
Other

Passenger traffic in Russia is sold through the following channels:
• Neutral sale systems (Transport Clearing Chamber, BSP Russia).
• Official agents (companies that have direct agency agreements with
Aeroflot).
• The Company website.
• The Company’s own sales offices and call centre.

The first phase of an initiative to optimise motivation of the agency
network in Russia was carried out in 2013, when the basic agent
commission was reduced to 4%. The second phase will see reduction
of the basic agent commission to 0.1% and the introduction of a bonus
commission component. The first phase gave Aeroflot a saving of about
USD 63 million and reduced the effective commission rate from 6.4%
in 2012 to 4.8% in 2013. Launch of the full, multi-component agent
motivation system should save the airline USD 90 million in 2014.

Optimisation of the Aeroflot Group route network and reduction of the
minimum connection time at Sheremetyevo Airport led to increase in
the share of international transport sales in total sales made in Russia by
more than 4.0%.

BSP/TCC

37.9

37.8

32.3

31.1

20.1

20.4

Agents
Internet
Own sales offices

10.7

9.7

2012

2013

The major portion of sales in Russia is through agency sales channels:
official agents (31.1% of total sales) and agents using neutral systems
sales (37.8%). Two of the Company’s own sales offices in Moscow will
be closed in order to reduce costs.

RATIO BETWEEN DOMESTIC AND INTERNATIONAL
TICKET SALES INSIDE RUSSIA, %
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Work will continue in 2014 to integrate subsidiary airlines into the
structure of Aeroflot Group, and to optimise and improve the efficiency
of the motivation scheme of the Russian agent network.
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SALES OUTSIDE RUSSIA
Revenue from sales of passenger transport made outside Russia
increased by 24.4% year-on-year in 2013.
Various steps were taken during the year to strengthen sales on
foreign markets, including optimisation of base and bonus commission,

STRUCTURE OF REVENUE BY REGIONS OUTSIDE RUSSIA IN 2013, %
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advertising and promotional actions, joint marketing activities with
major BSP/ARC agents, participation in travel industry exhibitions,
product and service presentations, and convening workshops for
members of the agency network.

STRUCTURE OF JSC AEROFLOT SALES REVENUE GENERATED
OUTSIDE RUSSIA, %
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Middle East, Israel

The largest shares of international sales in 2013 were made in Western
Europe (41%), Southeast Asia (20%), and the CIS and Baltic countries
(19%).
Tickets are sold outside Russia through the following channels:
• The neutral agency network, unified by the BSP and ARC systems
for settlements between agencies and airlines.
• Official agents (companies that have direct agency agreements with
Aeroflot).
• The Company’s own sales offices.
• The Company’s Internet site.

2012

Own sales offices
Internet
Agents

South-East Asia

19
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BSP/TCC

2013

The share of sales via the BSP/ARC neutral systems increased
substantially in 2013.
Own sales of passenger traffic on foreign markets are carried out
through 72 Aeroflot offices.
Aeroflot continued to further expand its presence in Southeast Asian
markets in 2013 by entering the Singapore and the Philippines BSP via
the IBCS system. The authorisation of new agents for Aeroflot sales in
China was continued.
Sales growth abroad has done much for the growth of both direct
air traffic and also of transit business, leading to new volumes
of passenger traffic from points in Europe and Asia. Aeroflot’s main
transit destinations are traditionally in Asia (China, Japan and Vietnam).
The Company also achieves substantial volumes on transit routes to
Europe, and particularly to destinations in Germany and Eastern Europe.
The total number of transit passengers carried by the Aeroflot route
network in 2013 was 8.6 million, which is 23.7% more than in 2012.
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Work that began in 2012 to adjust commission terms was continued
in 2013. Basic commission has been abolished on most markets and
a bonus commission for achieving specific growth rates and sales
volumes has been introduced. A marketing fund is available to partners
for joint marketing activities.
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A system has been put in place since 2013 to boost sales of Aeroflot
flights by the largest agents on foreign markets: agreements are made
with TMS agents and largest consolidators for payment of a bonus
commission, distinct from the standard bonus system. In 2013 Aeroflot
carried out actions to adjust the terms of commission payments in the
Netherlands, China, Italy, Uzbekistan and India.

MAIN TASKS IN SALES BUSINESS IN 2014
ON FOREIGN MARKETS:
• Development of sales on new Aeroflot routes.
• Integration with Rossiya Airlines, expanding sales on routes from St.
Petersburg to the CIS countries, Europe and Southeast Asia.
• Increase of revenue volumes through promotion of the new
‘Comfort’ service class to long-haul destinations.
• Improving the system of commission on markets with a high level of
basic commission.

CORPORATE SALES
Corporate sales by Aeroflot saw further development in Russia and
abroad during 2013. A specialised unit was established at the Company
for work with corporate clients, and a system of key performance
indicators for corporate sales growth was implemented. An improved

IN RUSSIA:
• Further integration of the sales systems of airline subsidiaries into the
unified Aeroflot Group system.
• Optimising and increasing efficiency of the motivation system for
agents in Russia.
• Launching an incentive system for sales staff at the Company’s own
sales points.
• Initiatives to develop online sales. Introduction of a discount coupon
programme.
• Alternative forms of online payment for transport services.
• Cooperation with meta-search systems.
• Development of corporate loyalty programmes.

system of discounts was introduced after the discontinuation of
agency commissions, and direct communications with customers were
established.

Plans for development of Internet sales:
• A ‘package’ travel product, including airfare, additional
services and third-party services.
• A new e-commerce platform for the sale of package
services.

• GDS-independent distribution by direct connection of online
agents and meta-search engines to the Aeroflot resource
and white labelling of platforms with large customer flows.
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CARGO SALES
The Company continued to work on development of its cargo sales in
2013.
Aeroflot sells freight transport services through electronic auctions,
which provide a guaranteed source of income. Electronic auctions
are held for freight carrying focused on three major airports in Russia:
Sheremetyevo, Vladivostok and Khabarovsk. Freight transport on 15
routes was offered for auction in 2013. Freight auctions for popular Far
East destinations were held in the Winter 2012-2013 season for the first
time on an experimental basis.
Increase of direct sales via CASS (Cargo Agency Settlement System) is
an important aspect of the development of freight traffic, contributing
to the growth of revenue. Since 2011, the CASS system is increasingly
used in a number of countries, particularly in Northern Europe,
Germany, the Czech Republic, Turkey, China (including Hong Kong) and
Switzerland. Several companies from other countries in Eastern and
Western Europe, and the Middle East (14 countries in total) changed
over to the CASS system in 2013.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

Regional sales centres were set up in 2013 in Moscow, Vladivostok,
London, Hahn (Germany) and Shanghai in 2013 to assist the
development of freight business. Operations at the regional sales
centres match best global practices of leading airlines.
The company also carries out transportation of high revenue cargos
using the internal customs transit regime. As a licensed customs
carrier, Aeroflot can offer an exclusive service to its customers for
the delivery of goods under customs control from other countries to
destinations in Russia. Up to 450 transit shipments of internal customs
transit are organised each month via Sheremetyevo Airport. Aeroflot’s
service is used by leading international courier companies such as DHL,
TNT, DPD ARMADILLO and PONY EXPRESS. Aeroflot regularly carries
out transit delivery of cargo for the Russian aircraft manufacturer OJSC
Sukhoi.
Aeroflot decided in mid-2013 to suspend the use of cargo aircraft and
pursue its freight business using passenger flights.

Procurement
JSC Aeroflot meets its procurement needs in compliance with Russian
law, including Federal Law № 223-FZ, ‘On procurement of goods,
works and services by certain types of legal entities’, dated 18/07/2011,
and also follows the Company’s own internal regulation on procurement
of goods, works and services, which ensures the use of a single
methodological basis for procurements.

JSC Aeroflot used modern and competitive methods for procurement,
including electronic methods. The Company ensures transparency
in its procurement activities and excludes any discriminatory and
unreasonable restrictions on the number of procurement partners.

ELECTRONIC AUCTIONS FOR PROCUREMENT PURPOSES
Indicator

Value of electronic auctions, million roubles

Value of single-bidder electronic auctions, million roubles

Share of single-bidder auctions in total value of electronic auctions, %
Number of electronic auctions

Share of electronic auctions in the total number of auctions, %

Share of of single-bidder auctions in the total number of electronic auctions, %
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2013

63,893

2,002

3.13

10,877

97.98

3.04

2012

Change

2,382

-16.0%

57,392

11.3%

4.15

-1.02 p.p.

98.95

-0.97 p.p.

9,957

3.21

9.2%

-0.17 p.p.
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The total value of electronic auctions increased by 11.3% in 2013, while
the share of auctions with only one participant decreased in both value
and in terms of numbers, indicating more efficient procurement using
competitive procedures. Electronic auctions accounted for 97.98%
of the total number of auctions carried out in 2013 and electronic
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auctions represented 40.49% of total procurement amounts, complying
with the requirements of the Federal Property Agency
(Instruction № GN-13/1206 from 21.01.2011).

BIDS IN PROCUREMENT AUCTIONS
Indicator

2013

Total number of bids in auctions;

of which, bids in electronic auctions.

Average number of bids per auction

Average number of bids per auction held in another form

The total number of procurement bids filed by counterparties increased
by 42.4% to 38,975. The average number of bids submitted for each
competitive procedure increased by 28.6% to 3.51, which indicates the

Number of bids

38,975

Average number of bids
per auction

27,170

2.7

2013

Change, %

38,179

27,281

39.9

3.51

2.74

3.51

Average number of bids per electronic auction

2012

2012

38,975

3.5

3.53

27,371

2.73

1.82

42.4

28.6
28.1

94.0

openness and accessibility for all market participants of procurement
procedures at Aeroflot.

The use of open competitive procurement procedures and changeover
to formula pricing helped to optimise expenses and reduce costs in
purchases of aviation fuel, which is one of the Company’s principal
cost items. By making long-term contracts, Aeroflot reduced the risks
associated with limited supply of certain types of goods, works and
services on the market.
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3.4. Corporate
Social
Responsibility

HR policy
The HR policy of JSC Aeroflot is designed to strengthen the Company’s
positions on domestic and international markets for air transport, to
win the trust of passengers, and to ensure professional development
and social provisions for Company employees. Efficient relationships
between the Company and its workforce are among Aeroflot’s key
competitive advantages, and the system is designed to take full account

THE MAIN TASKS IN AEROFLOT’S HR POLICY ARE:
• Timely monitoring of selection and recruitment needs;
• The appointment of staff with appropriate professional skills,
specialisations and qualifications to various business units;
• Training an executive team for the Company bearing in mind
strategic business objectives, and assessing the future development
prospects of Company staff;
• Attracting highly qualified professionals with potential for career
growth to come and work at the Company;

of all of the factors that motivate employees to realise their potential
to the fullest extent. The key objectives of Company personnel policy
include training of flight and cabin crew, training staff to work on new
types of aircraft, and providing social support for Company personnel.

• Staff certification in order to raise the productivity of professionals
working at Aeroflot and the level of responsibility of Company
leaders, and to ensure the most efficient use of labour;
• Developing and maintaining a high level of employee loyalty;
• Rapid resolution of problems at all stages of work with personnel.

HEADCOUNT OF JSC AEROFLOT EMPLOYEES BY JOB SPECIFICATION
Employees by job specification

31/12/2013

31/12/2012

Cabin crew

5,229

4,572

Airport services

4,019

1,418

1,686

Other staff

3,124

2,062

17,891

16,418

Flight crew

Maintenance and repair

Sales of tickets and services, advertising

Total
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1,935
2,166

1,825

Notes

2,422
3,851

Due to a change of classification:
• In 2013 staff of the accounts department (272 people) were counted
in ‘Other staff‘, while in 2012 they were counted in ‘Sales of tickets
and services, advertising‘.
• In 2013 ground staff working in the administrative department, and
in the departments of in-flight services, flight operations, and flight
safety (849 people) were counted in ‘Other staff‘, while in 2012 they
were counted in ‘Airport services‘.
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24

23

25

23
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STRUCTURE OF JSC AEROFLOT PERSONNEL BY CATEGORY, %

5

6

Over 50

50

Managers

49

40-50
51

2012

54

Up to 40

2013

The headcount of JSC Aeroflot staff as of 31 December 2013 was
17,891, representing an increase by 1,473 people in 2013. This was
caused by increase of traffic, fleet expansion and centralisation of the
sales functions of several Group airlines within JSC Aeroflot. The largest
growth of headcount was in the following Company departments: inflight services (13.5%), ground support (11.7%), sales (9.3%), and flight
operations (6.1%).

Specialists
44

2012

Workers

46

2013

The average age of personnel was 38.8 years in 2013 compared with
39.4 years in 2012.

HEADCOUNT OF AEROFLOT GROUP EMPLOYEES BY JOB SPECIFICATION
Staff by specialisation
Air crew

Cabin crew

Maintenance, repair and ground service
Others
Total

The headcount of personnel working at airlines within Aeroflot Group
increased by 1,631 in 2013 to 27,257 by the end of the year, reflecting
expansion of the Group’s aircraft fleet.

31/12/2013

31/12/2012

Change, %

7,922

7,154

10.7

6,343

10.7

3,098
9,214

7,023

27,257

3,025

9,104

25,626

2.4

1.2

6.4

Total numbers of personnel at Aeroflot Group, including people working
in service companies, was 30,469 at the end of 2013, having increased
from 28,826 a year earlier.
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PROFESSIONAL RETRAINING AND RAISING OF QUALIFICATIONS
Aeroflot has put in place an efficient system for training and raising the
level of qualification of its personnel. The Company fully complies with
all current international standards and Russian aviation standards with
respect to training. In 2013, training was provided to about 29,000 staff
and students both in-house and at external institutions by means of
programmes for retraining, raising of qualifications, and certification.
In the reporting year the Flight Personnel Training Department carried
out 564 drill meetings, and trained more than 7,000 engineering and
technical employees, flight personnel and ground specialists as part of
training programmes for the operation of new aircraft types and use of
flight simulators, organisation of passenger and freight transport, use of
the SABRE automated reservation system, and for other purposes.
JSC Aeroflot carried out attestation of more than 4,000 managers and
specialists in 2013, and 99.5% of the staff concerned were found to
comply with their job requirements.
STUDY AND TRAINING CAPACITIES OF JSC AEROFLOT
As acknowledged by Russian and international civil aviation
organisations and industry professionals, the capacities of JSC Aeroflot
for education and training of flight and cabin crews are the best in
Russia and the CIS and among the best in Europe. The capacities are
used for Aeroflot’s own needs and are also provided for use by other
airlines. Aeroflot’s flight simulators include the latest Russian and
foreign equipment, and were used for training purposes by more than
6,000 Aeroflot crews and 226 crews from other airlines in 2013.

THE MOTIVATION AND INCENTIVE SYSTEM FOR PERSONNEL
Aeroflot has a system of staff incentives, designed to build a highly
professional workforce and ensure retention of employees.
In 2013, the Board of Directors approved a Statute on Profit Sharing,
according to which a sum from Company net income is allocated to a
fund for the benefit of employees whose salary levels are determined
on the basis of key performance indicators (KPIs). Clause 2.1. of the
Statute declares that: “A sum equal to 20% of the amount by which
factual net income of Aeroflot Group exceeds the net income target for
the reporting period is allocated for remuneration of staff.”
The total number of employees, whose salary levels vary and are paid
according to KPI achievement, is about 2,900.
The remuneration fund created under the statute is dependent on two
indicators:

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Work continued in 2013 in association with the Russian aircraft
manufacturer, Irkut Corporation, to create a training centre for aviation
personnel who will operate the new MS-21 short- and medium-haul
aircraft, which is under development by Irkut. The FTD MS-2 simulator,
developed by Irkut, was rated highly by flight and technical specialists at
the MAKS-2013 air show.
Plans for 2014 include further development of the quality management
system to meet the challenges of new aircraft additions to the Aeroflot
fleet and the adoption of new training techniques. Aeroflot’s flight
simulation centre is preparing to train flight and ground maintenance
personnel for work with new aircraft, starting training operations with
new DT B737 simulators and the ‘cockpit evacuation mock-up’, which
rehearses the procedure for pilot evacuation in case of an emergency.
AEROFLOT AVIATION SCHOOL
The Aeroflot Aviation School is Russia’s first certified private centre for
aviation training. The school uses the latest simulator equipment and
also has distance-learning capacities.
The school adheres to the recent IATA-endorsed concepts of ‘new
safety culture’ and ‘new distribution concept’, which have been
designed to improve the efficiency and quality of aviation personnel
training, and to differentiate and improve services. The school provides
a broad variety of approaches for raising of qualifications, and serves all
categories of specialists. Training was organised for more than 17,000
staff and students in 2013.

INDICATOR 1:
Share of net income in excess of the target figure, which is placed in
the incentive fund.
Excess of factual net income in the
respective year compared with the
target figure

Share of net income in excess of
the target figure, which is placed in
the incentive fund.

0 - 10%

2.5%

Less than 0%
10 - 15%

15 – 20%

More than 20%

0.0%

5.0%
7.5%

10.0%

INDICATOR 2:
Rate of year-on-year growth of net income of Aeroflot Group compared
with peers
Position in the group of airline
peers (the group is ranked by
rate of net income growth, in
descending order).

Share of net income in excess of
the target figure, which is placed in
the incentive fund.

2nd

7.5%

1st

10.0%

3rd

5.0%

4th

5th and 6th
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The total percentage of net profit to be allocated to the fund is equal to
the sum of both indicators as implementation progresses.
Aeroflot Group exceeded its net income target for 2013 by more than
20%. The Board of Directors proposed that 10% of net profit in excess
of the target should be allocated to the remuneration fund.
Aeroflot Group took first place among its peers by the rate of net
income growth in 2013 compared with 2012.
The decision on making of payment from the remuneration fund is
taken by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
Categories of workers whose wage formation is not associated with
KPIs are covered by provisions of the Statute on Remuneration of
Employees of JSC Aeroflot from Annual Net Income of the Company
(approved by the Board of Directors, minutes № 10 dated 30 January
2007 as amended by Minutes № 5 dated 5 October 2009).
About 15,000 Company employees receive salaries which are not
linked to KPIs.

SOCIAL PROGRAMMES FOR EMPLOYEES
The social policy of JSC Aeroflot is designed and implemented in
a systematic manner in accordance with regulatory requirements.
The Company views social programmes as an important part of its
personnel policy, since they make Aeroflot more attractive as an
employer, help to attract and retain highly qualified staff and strengthen
Aeroflot’s competitive advantages.
According to a study by the Russian Public Opinion Centre, conducted
in 2013, Aeroflot rates among the top three state-owned employers
in Russia, offering proof of the Company’s strong with focus on social
provision for its personnel.
Aeroflot continued the implementation of its main social programmes
for its employees In 2013. These programmes were in the following
spheres:
• Wellness breaks and holidays for employees and members
of their families
In 2013 the Company programme of sanatorium, resort and wellness
breaks for employees and their families was supplemented by a
programme of voluntary health insurance, covering injury and workrelated illness as well as medical care for the children of employees.
More than 1,500 employees benefited from health and leisure breaks at
sanatoria; more than 300 children of Company employees vacationed at
a children’s camp in Bulgaria.
• Non-state pension provision
Over 5,000 Aeroflot employees subscribe to the corporate pension
programme.
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This Statute applies to employees (mainly production and flight
personnel) with the exception of employees of JSC Aeroflot, who have
been transferred to a salary system based on KPIs.
Payments to employees under this Statute are funded using 7% of
annual RAS net income of JSC Aeroflot, provided that the net income
target is fully achieved, plus an additional 20% of any net profit in
excess of the target.
Research carried out by Ward Howell found that payments as part of
profit-sharing programmes at multinational companies amount to 2050% of net profit on average. Many Russian companies do not operate
profit-sharing programmes.
Company employees receive various marks of distinction in addition to
incentives of a financial nature. In 2013 Company employees received
various national awards, an honorary diploma from the President of
the Russian Federation, awards from the Governments of Moscow
and Moscow Region, the Ministry of Transport and other ministries
and departments. Nine Aeroflot staff members were given tokens of
gratitude by the President of the Russian Federation and more than 60
personnel received marks of distinction (1st, 2nd and 3rd classes) for
completing large numbers of accident-free flight hours.

Aeroflot is implementing a special ‘Golden Anchor’ programme to help
attract and retain key personnel for positions such as air crew captains.
Programme participants are awarded bonuses, which are paid into
individual pension accounts in the corporate pension fund.
Aeroflot awards retiring employees a corporate pension in addition to
their funded pension. As of 31 December 2013 more than 4,000 people
were receiving Aeroflot corporate pensions.
• Transport and parking services for employees
About 3,000 Company employees each day use ground transport
services provided free by Aeroflot. Company employees also had the
use of about 1,500 free parking spaces at Company car parks in 2013.
• Subsidised mortgages for air crew
During 2013 Aeroflot continued its housing programme, which
subsidises mortgage interest rates paid by air crew employees. The
programme was used by 78 Aeroflot pilots in the reporting year.
• Accommodation
The ‘Aeroflot air town’ project went ahead successfully in 2013.
The project offers a residential settlement with all amenities for the
long-term accommodation of flight crews from other cities. As well
as providing a place to live and rest, the settlement also operates
as an interactive platform for corporate culture and the sharing of
professional experience.
• Provide financial assistance to workers and former workers
The Aeroflot Commission for provision of material assistance
to employees and former employees of the Company who are
experiencing hardship continued its work in 2013 when such
assistance was provided to 91 people.
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• Reimbursement of costs for placement of children in pre-schools
A total 1,354 employees received reimbursements from the
Company in 2013 of money paid to place their children in preschools.
• Sports events and corporate celebrations
Aeroflot teams took part in various sports competitions during 2013.
The Company rented grounds for sports sections, which operate on a
permanent basis and Company employees were given subscriptions
to fitness club chains.
Various special events were held in honour of Aeroflot’s 90th
anniversary in 2013. They included a concert, a meeting with veterans,
as well as creative contests for employees, their children, and pupils at
a sponsored children’s home.

74

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

• Discount airfares for employees
Since 2006, Aeroflot has been a member of the ZED/MIBA FORUM
non-profit organisation, which has a regulatory framework for
providing staff travel at discounted fares for personal and workrelated purposes (the organisation includes more than 190 airlines
worldwide).
During 2013 Aeroflot signed employee discount agreements with
seven more airlines. In 2013 about 11,000 Aeroflot employees took
advantage of discounted tickets for flights on partner airlines under the
agreements.
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Charity
and social programmes
Aeroflot plays an active role in society, providing ongoing support to charitable
organisations and helping to organise socially important actions. The Company continued to
carry out social support programmes in a number of priority areas during the reporting year.

SUPPORT FOR SOCIAL ORGANISATIONS
AND VULNERABLE SOCIAL GROUPS
Aeroflot was active in providing assistance to victims of the floods in
the Russian Far East in 2013. The Company helped to transport and
evacuate children from flooded regions, carried volunteers where they
were needed (more than 3,000 volunteers in total) and delivered food
and medicines.

employees voluntarily contributed a part of their salaries to the flood
victims. A discount of 20% was introduced on all economy-class fares
for Aeroflot flights to and from Moscow and the Far East cities of
Blagoveshchensk, Khabarovsk, Vladivostok and Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk. The
discount remained in effect until the end of 2013 .

The Executive Board of JSC Aeroflot resolved to provide financial
assistance to the Far East region to alleviate distress in the aftermath
of the floods, allocating RUB 10 million for that purpose, and Company

In 2013, Aeroflot supported and provided a total of 70 tickets at special
prices to the Health of Russia and Quality of Life Foundations, and to
children with disabilities.

CHARITY AND SPONSORSHIP TO HELP CHILDREN
CHARITY AND SPONSORSHIP FOR ORPHANAGES
Aeroflot provided charity assistance to several Russian orphanages in
2013:
• Payment of utility bills for the Reverend Sergius Residential School
(Toporkovo village, Sergiev-Posad district).
• Financing of major repair work on premises at the Pokrov Orphanage
(Pokrov, Vladimir Region) and provision of free flights to orphanage
children to take part in the Kinotavrik International Arts and Sports
Festival.
• Purchase and delivery of stationery for the Children’s Social and
Rehabilitation Centre at the Church of the Holy Trinity (Kolomna,
Schurovo).

NATIONAL CHARITY PROGRAMME ‘THE HEART HAS TWO WINGS’
In 2013 Aeroflot carried out a unique national charity programme, ‘The
Heart has Two Wings’ to enable children with severe and rare immunesystem, musculoskeletal and gastrointestinal diseases to obtain highly
qualified treatment from the best doctors in Russia.
As part of the programme Aeroflot transported sick children and their
carers from all over Russia to Moscow for treatment and then back to
their homes. Aeroflot also carried teams of doctors from the Scientific
Centre of Children’s Health (part of the Russian Academy of Medical
Sciences) to remote regions of the country, where they provided
treatment and diagnosis of complex diseases. Aeroflot assumed all
the costs for transportation of the doctors, children and accompanying
adults. The Company, in association with the Scientific Centre of
Children’s Health, also organised three trips by teams of doctors to
Petropavlovsk-Kamchatsky, Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk and Kaliningrad.
The action provided vital care to over 400 children with rare diseases in
more than 30 regions of Russia.
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MILES OF MERCY
In 2013 Aeroflot celebrated five years since the start of its Miles
of Mercy project, which provides assistance to critically ill children.
Members of the Aeroflot Bonus programme contribute their bonus
miles to the accounts of charitable organisations taking part in the
programme, including the Give Life charity foundation, the Russian
Assistance Foundation operated by Kommersant Publishing House, the
Vladimir Spivakov International Charity Foundation and the Line of Life
Foundation.
The contributed miles are used to transport children with oncological
illnesses, haematological conditions, conditions of the heart, nervous
system, and vestibular system, innate brain and vascular conditions, and
cerebral palsy.
A total of 4,983 air tickets were issued for use by charitable foundations
in 2013.
TRAIN OF HOPE
During the reporting year Aeroflot continued its involvement in the
national charity campaign Train of Hope, organised by Radio Russia as
part of its Child’s Question social project.
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The train visits cities where, as statistics show, there are particularly
large numbers of parentless children. The purpose of the action is to
draw the attention of society, business representatives, government
and law-makers to the issue of children without parents, to provide
assistance to such children and to organise meetings with potential
adopters.
In 2013, Aeroflot provided 55 discounted tickets to project participants.
SUPPORT FOR WWII VETERANS
COMRADES IN ARMS
Aeroflot carried out its regular Comrades in Arms charity action in
2013, enabling veterans of the Second World War, concentration camp
survivors, and survivors of the Siege of Leningrad to travel to Europe
and distant Russian cities free of charge to take part in commemorative
events. About 3,015 people took advantage of the opportunity in 2013.
Aeroflot also organised a number of celebrations for the Second World
War veterans during 2013. The company continues to provide financial
assistance to veterans.
SUBSIDISED CARRIAGE
In 2013, Aeroflot continued its participation in the government programme
for subsidised air transport services to residents of the Russian Far East.
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Supporting Russian sport
Aeroflot runs a large-scale programme of support for Russian sport. The Company sponsors
major international sports events as well as supporting Aeroflot’s own sports teams.

GENERAL PARTNER OF THE 22ND WINTER OLYMPIC GAMES
AND 11TH PARALYMPIC WINTER GAMES, SOCHI, 2014
In 2013, Aeroflot signed an agreement to carry the Russian Olympic
team and the official Russian delegation to Sochi for the 22nd Winter
Olympic Games. The agreement included the transportation to Sochi
of 800 athletes, members of official delegations, as well as special
baggage on regular and additional Aeroflot flights.
In 2013 Aeroflot joined with VISA in an initiative to support the Russian
Olympic team, entitled ‘A Big Thank-you to the Team’: the two
companies contributed RUB 10 million to help fund the creation of a
scientific and methodological centre for Olympic training in support of
Russian Olympians.
Also in 2013, Aeroflot was a technical partner of the Olympic torch
relay, carrying the Olympic flame from Athens to Moscow.
OFFICIAL PARTNER OF THE XVII SUMMER UNIVERSIADE
IN KAZAN
In 2013 Aeroflot carried athletes, referees, organisers and other
participants of the Universiade, which was held in Kazan. The number
of Aeroflot flights between Moscow and Kazan was increased for the
period of the Games.

OFFICIAL SPONSOR AND CARRIER OF CSKA MOSCOW
FOOTBALL CLUB
Since 2009, Aeroflot has been the official sponsor and airline of CSKA
Moscow football club. In turn, the club agrees provide advertising for
the Company and to helps to promote the Aeroflot brand in Russia and
abroad.
SPONSOR OF THE RUSSIAN VOLLEYBALL FEDERATION
Since 2012 Aeroflot has provided support for the development
of volleyball, which is one of the most popular sports in Russia.
Sponsorship of the Russian Volleyball Federation provides Aeroflot
with a broad range of advertising opportunities.
GENERAL PARTNER OF THE RUSSIAN CHESS FEDERATION
Aeroflot and the Russian Chess Federation have a long-standing
association, working together to organise the Aeroflot Open Chess
Tournaments, which are the largest chess tournaments in the world.
The 12th Open International Chess Festival in 2013 had special
importance, since it coincided with Aeroflot’s 90th birthday.

OFFICIAL AIRLINE PARTNER AND CARRIER OF THE RUSSIAN
NATIONAL FOOTBALL TEAM
Since 2012 Aeroflot has been the official partner airline carrier of the
Russian national football team.
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Protecting the environment
The President of Russia decreed 2013 to be National Year of the Environment (Presidential Decree № 1157 of
10/08/2012). Aeroflot, as the undisputed leader of the Russian air transport market and a socially responsible
corporate citizen, is committed to ensuring environmental sustainability in all areas of its business.
The Company continued work in 2013 to improve its energy-saving
and environmental performance indicators, and to reduce pollution
and adverse effects on the environment, guided by the ISO 1400
international standards and Russian Guidelines for Environmental
Management (approved on 21.10.2013).
Aeroflot’s environmental policy aims to improve energy and
environmental performance in the air transportation of passengers,
baggage, mail and cargo and supporting functions. Restructuring and
renewal of the Company air fleet has enabled Aeroflot to achieve the
best fuel-efficiency indicators in the industry, greatly reducing negative
impact on the environment. The Company is also implementing a
broad range of special measures to fulfill its social responsibilities for
environmental protection. Priority areas in this work include:
• Voluntary deployment of an environmental management system to
ensure the compliance of production facilities and operations with
the highest international environmental standards.
• Implementation of resource-saving processes and technologies in
order to reduce the energy intensity of Company operations.
• Optimisation of the route network and the use of new piloting
techniques to reduce noise and emissions from aircraft engines.
• Waste management in order to minimise impact on the environment.
Recycling as the most efficient method of waste disposal.
• Monitoring and analysis of operations and processes to identify new
opportunities for improving environmental performance.
• Use of environmental performance indicators as criteria for the
selection of suppliers and contractors.
• Raising levels of environmental awareness among Aeroflot
employees, motivating employees to efficient use of all resources;
developing a culture of recycling.

MINIMISING ATMOSPHERIC EMISSIONS
Aeroflot continued to implement its programme of fuel economy and
transition to operations using more modern aircraft with higher fuel
efficiency. Almost the entire Aeroflot fleet now complies with ICAO
standards for noise pollution and atmospheric emissions.
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The company is constantly improving its internal regulations governing
work to minimise negative environmental impacts. In compliance with
the Decree of the President of the Russian Federation № 889 ‘On
measures to improve the energy and environmental efficiency of the
Russian economy’, dated 04.06.2008, the Company has developed a
programme for energy saving and environmental efficiency up to 2020.
The set of energy saving measures that has been put in place should
save up to 1.5 million tonnes of aviation fuel per year and reduce per
unit fuel consumption by 43.6% in this period until 2020.
Aeroflot has developed a programme for continuation and development
of its initiatives in the field of environmental protection and social
responsibility as part of Company cooperation with partners in the
SkyTeam alliance. The Company has also developed a series of plans
and instructions governing work in this direction in preparation for
certification of its environmental management work to the standards of
ISO 14001:2004.
Company experts in the field of environmental protection and industrial
monitoring carried out nine routine inspections in 2013 at structural
divisions of JSC Aeroflot to check compliance with environmental
legislation.
In order to enhance levels of environmental transparency, the Aeroflot
website provides materials on Company initiatives in the field of
environmental protection. The company has developed reporting
indicators for environmental responsibility, including basic aspects of
the environmental component of sustainable development.

MAKING GROUND VEHICLES
MORE ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY
A large amount of emissions at airports are from motor vehicles,
including cars. The Company carries out regular instrumental controls
of vehicle fuel systems to ensure their compliance with required
toxicity and smoke levels.
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NEGATIVE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT PAYMENTS
BY JSC AEROFLOT IN 2005-2013, MILLION ROUBLES

19.6

8.7
4.6

2005

2006

2007

3.0

2.5

2.8

2008

2009

2010

1.7

2.1

2011

2012

5.1

2013

The total sum of environmental payments
by Aeroflot in 2013 was over
RUB

5,000,000

Payment levels rose in 2013 compared with 2012 due to high levels
of passenger, baggage and freight carrying, and also due to production
of solid waste in excess of statutory limits.

ENVIRONMENT PLANNING FOR 2014
In 2014, Aeroflot plans to develop technical reports on the constancy of
its operations and of resources used and on waste treatment, and also
to carry out research on industrial emissions prior to the installation of
purification equipment for atmospheric emissions.
The Company will keep up regular studies of levels of the pollution in
wastewater from treatment facilities at the Melkisarovo office complex,
and will keep records of quantity and quality of wastewater from
treatment facilities throughout the Company. Aeroflot specialists plan to
improve the system of waste monitoring, and the Company intends to
complete the procedure of ISO 14001 certification in 2014.
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DISCHARGE OF POLLUTANTS INTO WATER BODIES
In 2013, Aeroflot environmentalists worked with specialists of the
company which maintains the Aeroflot office complex at Melkisarovo,
to monitor the quantity and quality of wastewater discharged from
the treatment facilities at the office complex. In total 316 tests of
waste-water samples from the facilities at Melkisarovo were carried
out. The results show compliance with Instruction № 2.1.5.980-00,
‘Hygiene requirements for the protection of surface waters’, issued by
the Russian government supervisory agency for sanitation and disease
control. Monthly monitoring of the quality and quarterly monitoring of
the quantity of water discharge is now being carried out.
DISPOSAL OF WASTE GENERATED BY PRODUCTION AND
CONSUMPTION
During 2013 Company environment specialists monitored the state of
temporary solid waste storage sites and reviewed waste treatment
work. Monthly data are collected on waste production by Aeroflot
structural units. Aeroflot will work with the Institute of Civil Aviation
to carry out research work in 2014 in preparation for the separate
collection and disposal of solid waste from aircraft.
DISPOSAL AND RECYCLING OF DE-ICING FLUID
Aeroflot is the only Russian air carrier to practice the collection and
recycling of de-icing fluid. In 2013, the companies Promvodokanal and
Ecoservice Prime collected, removed and recycled deicing fluid after it
had been used on the aircraft of Aeroflot and other airlines. Aeroflot has
prepared a contract with the Institute of Civil Aviation for the design of
facilities to carry out complex recycling of de-icing fluids as part of the
Company’s innovative development programme.

ENERGY AND LUBRICANT CONSUMPTION
BY JSC AEROFLOT IN 2013
Item

Aviation fuel, tonnes
Heat energy, Gcals

Electricity, kWh

Vehicle fuel and
lubricants, litres

Aviation lubricants, litres

Consumption

volume
1,946,846.00
37,552.75

27,298,550.00

value, thousand
roubles (excluding
VAT)
55,268,372.07
51,938.62

82,655.62

4,341,066.00

111,249.42

222,572.30

111,545.45

.
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4.1 . CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

Corporate governance principles
The system of corporate governance at JSC Aeroflot has been
developed in conformity with the provisions of Russian law and
international best practices. The Company seeks to maximise the
transparency and efficiency of its governance operations. A key priority
in corporate governance at Aeroflot is to take full account of the balance
of interests between minority and majority shareholders and to ensure
that the balance is maintained.

the Board of Directors, as well as the main provisions of the current
system of remuneration, compensation and incentives to members of
the Board of Directors, have been provided for public scrutiny on the
Company website.

Corporate governance at JSC Aeroflot is governed by the following
documents:

Aeroflot is working to improve the system of corporate governance at
all of the airlines in the Group. Aeroflot representatives take part in the
functioning of executive management, collegial governance and control
bodies at subsidiaries, and specialised committees of the boards of
directors of subsidiaries and affiliates have been set up.

•
•
•
•
•

JSC Aeroflot Charter,
Statute on the General Meeting of Shareholders of JSC Aeroflot,
Statute on the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot,
Statute on the Executive Board of JSC Aeroflot,
Code of Corporate Ethics of JSC Aeroflot.

Aeroflot is working to further develop and improve its corporate
governance system. The regular Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders (AGM) in 2013 approved amendments to the Company
Charter, providing greater control over transactions of JSC Aeroflot
subsidiaries and affiliates with stocks and shares of other organisations.
Similar changes were made to the Statute on the Board of Directors of
JSC Aeroflot.
In 2013, Aeroflot used the services of the Russian Institute of Directors
(a non-profit partnership) for an independent audit of the Company’s
corporate governance standards. A number of measures to improve
corporate governance at the Company were taken on the basis of the
audit recommendations, including improvement of the internal control
system and preparation and approval of a Code of Corporate Ethics.
Information on the membership and competence of Committees of
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JSC Aeroflot also takes an active part in work to improve Russia’s
regulatory system in the sphere of corporate governance.

As envisaged by current Russian legislation, JSC Aeroflot takes
unilateral decisions on the business of subsidiaries in which the
Company is the sole shareholder. Responsibility for monitoring the
business efficiency of subsidiaries and affiliates is borne by senior
management and specialised business units.
The deployment of innovative technologies to enhance the efficiency of
various corporate governance functions and processes is an important
aspect of corporate governance efforts by JSC Aeroflot and other
aviation assets of the Group.

RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

APPENDIXES

AEROFLOT | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Structure of corporate governance
Corporate governance at JSC Aeroflot is exercised by its governance
and control bodies: the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board
of Directors, the Management Board, Chief Executive Officer and the
Revision Commission. Independent audit of the financial accounts of
JSC Aeroflot to Russian Accounting Standards and to International
Financial Reporting standards is carried out by external auditors.
REVISION COMMITTEE

Senior management and structural units of JSC Aeroflot bear
responsibility for monitoring business efficiency at airline subsidiaries.

GENERAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS

PERSONNEL AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
AUDIT COMMITTEE

STRATEGY COMMITTEE

EXECUTIVE BOARD

EXECUTIVE OFFICE
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

OPERATING, FINANCIAL AND
OTHER BUSINESS UNITS

SUBSIDIARIES

STEERING COMMITTEE FOR
STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION
COMMITTEE FOR FINANCE AND
INVESTMENT
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE FOR
IMPLEMENTATION OF SAP ERP
COMMITTEE FOR INNOVATIVE
DEVELOPMENT

General Meeting of Shareholders
The General Meeting of Shareholders is the Company’s supreme
governing body. The competence and procedure for calling a General
Meeting of Shareholders is defined by the Company Charter and the
Statute on the General Meeting of Shareholders of JSC Aeroflot. The
Company holds its Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) not
earlier than three months and not later than six months after the end of
the financial year).

Shareholders at the AGM elect the Company’s Board of Directors
and Revision Commission, approve the appointment of the Company
auditor, review the annual report and annual financial statements and
other documents in accordance with provisions of the Company Charter,
allocate profits, and deal with other matters in the competence of the
General Meeting of Shareholders. The Company Charter also allows
extraordinary meetings of shareholders to be called during the year to
address key issues.
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In 2013 JSC Aeroflot held its AGM on 24 June. The Meeting adopted
the following resolutions (Minutes № 33 of 27.06.2013):

The Extraordinary General Meeting held on 15 October 2013 approved
transactions concerning the aircraft fleet of JSC Aeroflot’s fleet:

• To approve the order of the day, voting regulations, and membership
of working bodies of the General Meeting of Shareholders of JSC
Aeroflot.
• To approve the Annual Report of JSC Aeroflot for 2012.
• To approve the annual financial accounts, including the profit and loss
account, of JSC Aeroflot for the 2012 financial year.
• To approve the allocation of income of JSC Aeroflot, including
payment (announcement) of dividends, for the 2012 financial year.
• To pay dividends of RUB 1.1636 per share in cash on JSC Aeroflot
shares for the 2012 financial year in the period from 25 June to 23
August 2013.
• To elect the following persons to the Board of Directors of JSC
Aeroflot: Vitaly Saveliev, Sergey Chemezov, Dmitry Saprykin, Kirill
Androsov, Vasily Sidorov, Igor Kogan, Igor Lozhevsky, Mikhail
Alekseev, Alexey Germanovich, Marlen Manasov and Roman
Pakhomov.
• To elect the following persons to the Revision Commission of JSC
Aeroflot: Igor Belikov, Sergey Poma, Marina Mikhina, Alexander
Vasilchenko and Vera Mironova.
• To approve the appointment of JSC BDO audit company as the
auditor of JSC Aeroflot for 2013.
• To approve the Statute on remuneration and compensation to
members of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot.
• To pay remuneration to members of the Board of Directors in the
prescribed amount.
• To approve the regulation on remuneration and compensation paid to
the members of the Revision Commission of JSC Aeroflot.
• To pay remuneration to members of the Revision Commission of
JSC Aeroflot in the prescribed amount.
• To make amendments to the Charter of JSC Aeroflot.
• To make amendments to the Statute on the Board of Directors of
JSC Aeroflot.
• To approve a number of related party transactions.

1. Transaction (set of interrelated transactions with related parties) on
lease of five Airbus A321-200 aircraft on a leaseback basis.

84

2. Transaction (set of interrelated transactions) for leasing of 50 new
Boeing 737-800/900ER aircraft.
3. Transaction to amend the terms of the acquisition by JSC Aeroflot of
22 new Airbus A350XWB aircraft from Airbus.
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors carries out overall supervision of Company
business with the exception of matters, which are in the competence
of the General Meeting of Shareholders. The procedure for calling
and holding Board meetings as well as other activities of the Board
are regulated by the Statute on the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
in accordance with the Federal Law on Joint-Stock Companies. The
key priorities for the Board of Directors are ensuring the Company’s
sustainable development in the long term, supervision of the Company’s
executive bodies, and uncompromising observance and defence of the
rights and lawful interests of all shareholders. Achievement of optimal
balance between executive, non-executive and independent directors
in composition of the Board of Directors is an important objective of
Aeroflot’s system of corporate governance.
Resolutions by the Board of Directors address the following issues of
priority importance for the Company:
• Setting business priorities, including Aeroflot Group’s development
strategy;
• Achieving efficiency gains by deploying improved approaches and
techniques in operating, financial and marketing business through
modernisation, use of advanced technologies, and by drawing on the
experience of the world’s leading airlines;
• Development of the aircraft fleet through optimisation and new
additions;

• Improvement in levels of service to passengers, as well as expanding
the range of services offered;
• Active cooperation with Russian and foreign airline partners in
the SkyTeam Alliance and use of participation in the Alliance to
develop Aeroflot’s route network and raise the financial efficiency of
international flight operations;
• Maintaining flight safety and regularity;
• Raising the business efficiency of enterprises, in which the Company
has ownership stakes;
• Design of new internal Company documents and improvements to
existing documents;
• Improvement and development of information technologies;
• Ensuring transparency of the Company’s procurement activities;
• Raising levels of transparency, openness and control over the
Company.
The Board of Directors held 20 meetings in 2013, of which 11 were
in the form of absentee voting. Altogether, the Board considered over
170 agenda items and took more than 250 decisions falling within its
competence.

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF JSC AEROFLOT

1

2

3

4

5

Prior to the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders in 2013
Sergey Aleksashenko
Kirill Androsov

Aleksey Germanovich

Igor Kogan

Igor Lozhevsky

6

Aleksey Navalny

8

Vitaly Saveliev

7

9

10
11

Year of first election to the
Board of Directors

2008

2008

2012

2012

2012

2013

Kirill Androsov

2008

Igor Kogan

2012

Aleksey Germanovich

Igor Lozhevsky

2012

2012

Marlen Manasov

2013

2009

Vitaly Saveliev

2009

Vasily Sidorov

2013

2006

Dmitry Saprykin

2011

Sergey Chemezov

Mikhail Alekseev

Year of first election to the
Board of Directors

2012

Gleb Nikitin

Aleksander Tikhonov

Elected by the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders in 2013

2011

2011

Roman Pakhomov
Dmitry Saprykin
Sergey Chemezov

2013

2011

2011
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MEMBERSHIP OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF JSC AEROFLOT, ELECTED BY THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS ON 24 JUNE 2013, MINUTES № 33
(AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2013)

Kirill ANDROSOV

Mikhail ALEKSEEV

Aleksey GERMANOVICH

Born in 1972.

Born in 1964.

Born in 1977.

Graduated from the St. Petersburg
Maritime Engineering University with a
Degree in Economics and Organisation
of the Machine-Building Industry.

Graduated from the Moscow Institute
of Finance, specialising in finance and
credit.

Graduated from the Economics Faculty
and the Faculty of Journalism at
Moscow State University.

Doctor of Economics.

Holds an MBA from Cranfield University
(UK).

Chairman of the Board of Directors
of JSC Aeroflot

MBA from Chicago University Business
School.
Doctoral Candidate in Economic
Science.

From 1989 to 1991: Senior Expert,
Chief Expert, Head of Department,
Deputy Head of the Chief Directorate of
the Ministry of Finance of the USSR.

From 2005 to 2008: Deputy Minister of
Economic Development of the Russian
Federation.

From 1992 to 1995: Head of the
Securities and the Economic Analysis
Department of Mezhkombank.

From 2008 to 2010: Deputy Head of
the Executive Office of the Government
of the Russian Federation.

From 1995 to 1999: Deputy Chairman
of Oneximbank

From 2010 to present: Managing
Partner of Altera Capital Management
AG.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

From 1999 to 2008: Senior positions at
Rosbank and Rosprombank.
From 2008 to present: Chairman of the
Management Board of UniCredit Bank.
Does not own shares of JSC Aeroflot.

From 2001 to 2009: senior positions in
Severstal group of companies, Deputy
CEO, Member of the Management
Board.
From 2009 to 2012: Director of Public
Sector Programmes, Professor at
Skolkovo School of Management
(Moscow).
From 2012 to 2014: Director,
Management Board Member, Advisor
at the Russian Direct Investment Fund.
From 2011 to 2014: Member of the
Boards of Directors of the transport
sector companies, GTLK, SG-Trans,
Sibir Airline, Lenmorniiproekt, NIIAT,
and also of the St. Petersburg State
University Development Fund.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Igor LOZHEVSKY

Marlen MANASOV

Born in 1969.

Born in 1957.

Born in 1965.

Graduated from the Lenin
State Teacher-Training Institute
(Mathematics).

Graduated from Omsk Polytechnical
Institute and the University of
Massachusetts in Boston.

Doctoral Candidate in Economics.

From 2007 to 2008: Chairman of Global
Banking Service and Capital Markets in
Russia and CIS at Dresdener Bank.

Graduated from Moscow State
University, majoring in political
economy. Economist, teacher of
professor of Political Economy.

From 1998 to 2009: Deputy Chairman
of the Management Board, Chairman
of the Management Board of
ORGRESBANK.
From 2001 to present: Chairman of
the Supervisory Board of the Interbank
Settlement System (non-profit
partnership), Deputy Chairman of the
Board of Directors of Nordea Bank,
Member of the Supervisory Board of
the Mortgage Credit Agency.

Independent Director

From 2008 to 2012: CEO of Deutsche
Bank Group in Russia and CIS.
From 2013 to present: Deputy
Chairman of Deutsche Bank AG for
Eastern Europe.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Independent Director

Posts held include CEO of UBS
Securities, Member of the Board of
Directors of UBS Bank, UBS Securities,
Novoship, RTS Stock Exchange,
Svyazinvest and NAUFOR.
From 2010 to present: Member of the
Board of Directors of Sovcomflot.
From 2011 to present: Member of the
Board of Directors of RUSS-INVEST.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Roman PAKHOMOV

Vitaly SAVELIEV

Dmitry SAPRYKIN

Born in 1971.

Born in 1954.

Born in 1974.

Graduated from the Makarov State
Maritime Academy, obtained an
MBA from the Higher School of
International Business of the Academy
of the National Economy and Public
Administration under the President
of the Russian Federation, as well as
diplomas from Kingston University
and the Institute of Economics and
Management of Transport Systems at
St. Petersburg State University of Civil
Aviation.

Graduated from Leningrad Polytechnical
Institute and from the Palmiro Togliatti
Engineering and Economics Institute.

Graduated from Moscow State Law
Academy and as a Master of Law
(LL.M) from Cornell Law School, where
he also took MBA courses.

Independent Director

Until 1996: Worked at Northern
Shipping Company.
From 1996 to 1998: Senior Specialist
in the Corporate Client Department of
Inkombank .
From 1998 to 2009: Senior positions
at Maritime Joint Stock Bank, Centre
Capital, VIM-Avia and Atlant-Soyuz.
From 2009 to 2010: CEO of Rossiya
State Transport Company.
2010: Advisor to the Deputy CEO of
Russian Technologies.
From 2010 to present: CEO of
Aviacapital-Service, Advisor to the CEO
of Rossiya Airlines.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Doctoral Candidate in Economic
Science.
From 2004 to 2007: Deputy Minister for
Economic Development of the Russian
Federation.
From 2007 to 2009: First
Vice-President, Head of the
Telecommunication Asset Development
Division (Sistema Telecom). First
Vice-President and Head of the
Telecommunication Asset business unit
of JSFC Sistema.
From 2009 to present: Chief Executive
Officer of JSC Aeroflot, Chairman of the
Management Board of JSC Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Doctoral Candidate in Law.
From 2006 to 2007: CEO of OJSC
Moscow Cellular Telecommunications.
From 2007 to 2009: Director of
Transaction Support, Deputy Head of
the Legal Division of JSFC Sistema.
From 2009 to 2013: Deputy CEO of
Aeroflot for Legal and Property Issues.
From 2013 to present: Deputy CEO
for Sales and Property Issues at
JSC Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Vasily SIDOROV

Sergey CHEMEZOV

Born in 1971.

Born in 1952.

Graduated from the Moscow State
Institute of International Relations
(MGIMO) specialising in international
public law and Wharton School
of Business at the University of
Pennsylvania specialising in finance.

Graduated from the Irkutsk Economics
Institute and completed advanced
courses at the Military Academy of the
General Staff of the Armed Forces of
the Russian Federation.

From 1997 to 2000: Deputy CEO of
Svyazinvest.
From 2000 to 2003: First VicePresident of Sistema Telecom.
From 2003 to 2006: President of MTS.
From 2006 to 2010: Co-owner of
Telecom Express Group.
From 2010 to present: Managing
Partner of Euroatlantic Investments Ltd.
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Doctor of Economic Science.
From 2004 to 2007: CEO of Federal
Unitary Enterprise Rosoboronexport.
From 2007 to present: CEO of State
Corporation Russian Technologies (the
Corporation is specialises in support for
the design, production and export of
high-tech industrial goods).
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

From 2012 to the present: Member
of the Board of Directors of Russian
Railways, CEO of ARIDA.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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The procedure for setting levels of remuneration and paying such
remuneration to members of the Board of Directors is established by
the Statute on the Procedure for Remuneration and Compensation of
Expenses of the Members of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot,
which was designed to comply with provisions of the Federal Law on
Joint-Stock Companies, other legal acts of the Russian Federation,
and Company internal documents, and was approved by the Board of
Directors on 24 December 2008, an with amendments and additions
on 10 October 2011.
At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (Minutes № 33 dated
27 June 2013 ) it was decided to pay bonuses for 2012 totalling RUB
19,739,321 to Board members who are not state officials.
In order to ensure a high degree of participation in achieving the
Company’s strategic goals, and to create incentives for members of
the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot to achieve the best possible
operational and financial results, the Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders of 24 June 2013 approved a new Statute on
Remuneration and Compensation Payable to Members of the Board of
Directors of JSC Aeroflot.
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• The size of the variable component (bonus, designed to serve as
a short-term incentive) is directly dependent on changes in the
Company’s market capitalisation on the MICEX in comparison with
changes in the level of the MICEX Index. (Market capitalisation
increased by 85.5% in 2013, while the MICEX Index gained 2.0%).
A long-term option programme for members of the Board of Directors
was also approved in 2013, designed to provide long-term incentives in
the period up to 2015.
The value of the option programme is equivalent to a 0.5% gain in the
market capitalisation of JSC Aeroflot over the programme period.
The programme uses two indicators:
• Indicator 1: Increase in the market capitalisation of JSC Aeroflot
during the respective year (50% weight).
• Indicator 2: The position of Aeroflot in a group of five peer airlines
by growth of market capitalisation in the relevant year (50%
weight). Indicator 2 is only included in the calculation if the trend in
capitalisation has been positive.

The system of remuneration for members of the Board of Directors
consists of fixed and variable (bonus) components:
• The main criterion for determining the fixed component is the degree
of participation by members of the Board of Directors in the work of
the Board and its committees.
Indicator 1 for the bonus pool

If capitalisation of JSC Aeroflot at the
end of December of the respective
year is higher than capitalisation on
the first trading day of the same year
(million USD)
>350

200-350 (inclusive)

100-200 (inclusive)

0-100 (inclusive)

<0

% of capitalisation growth, which
is directed to the BoD option
programme.

0.25%

0.19%

0.13%

0.06%

0.00%

TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT of the accrued remuneration pool for the
respective year is paid to members of the Board of Directors together
with payment of fixed remuneration.
SEVENTY-FIVE PERCENT of the accrued remuneration pool for the
respective year is withheld until the end of the option programme
(December 2015) and is paid as a lump sum based on a resolution by
the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Indicator 2 for the bonus pool

Position of JSC Aeroflot in its peer
group by the rate of growth of
capitalisation in the respective year:
indicator 2 is only applied if there has
been growth of capitalisation during
the year

1st in group

2nd in group

3rd in group

4th in group

5th-6th in group

% of capitalisation growth, which
is directed to the BoD option
programme.

0.25%

0.19%

0.13%

0.06%

0.00%

Payment of the balance under the option programme for members
of the Board of Directors is made from net income of JSC Aeroflot
for the financial year based on a resolution by the General Meeting of
Shareholders.
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Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors has set up three specialised committees for
Personnel and Remuneration, Audit and Strategy. The committees
function in accordance with respective statutes approved by the Board
of Directors. The Committees conduct their activities in accordance
with decisions of the Board of Directors and a work plan, which is
based on the work plan of the Board of Directors. The role of the
Board Committees is to carry out detailed elaboration of issues for
PERSONNEL AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Personnel and Remuneration Committee designs principles and
criteria for determining levels of remuneration of Board members,
defines the criteria for selection of candidates to the Board of Directors,
carries out regular assessments of work by executive bodies, reviews
initiatives to increase the efficiency of Company personnel policy and
performs other duties within its competence in accordance with the
decisions of the Board of Directors.
The Committee held eight meetings in 2013, including one meeting in
absentia.

consideration by the Board of Directors, to assist the Board members in
making more informed decisions.
A total of 23 meetings were held by the Committees in 2013, at which
matters connected with the business of JSC Aeroflot were examined
and detailed recommendations were provided to the Board of Directors.

The meetings addressed the following matters and issued
recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning them:
• Organisational structure of JSC Aeroflot.
• Setting the level of remuneration for Company management.
• Parameters of Aeroflot’s long-term share option scheme and profit
sharing scheme.
• Amending the Statute on remuneration and compensation to
members of the Board of Directors.
• Development of the Statute on remuneration and compensation to
members of the Aeroflot Revision Commission, and new versions of
the Statute on remuneration and compensation to members of the
Board of Directors of Aeroflot.

MEMBERS OF THE PERSONNEL AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 26, 2012 (MINUTES № 1)
Aleksey Germanovich

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Shamil Kurmashov

Deputy CEO for Finance and Investments

Igor Lozhevsky

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Aleksey Navalny

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Dmitry Saprykin

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

MEMBERS OF THE PERSONNEL AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 25, 2013 (MINUTES № 1)
Aleksey Germanovich

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Igor Kogan

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Marlen Manasov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Roman Pakhomov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Vasily Sidorov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Sergey Chemezov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE
The Strategy Committee is focused on improving the efficiency of
Aeroflot’s business and developing a long-term development strategy
for Aeroflot Group. The Committee follows up strategy implementation
and makes necessary adjustments, and makes recommendations on
business and development priorities for the Company.

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

The Committee met six times in 2013 and considered the following
matters:
• Strategy of Aeroflot Group;
• Cooperation between JSC Aeroflot and other airlines in the SkyTeam
alliance;
• Work with shareholders and the investment community;
• Management of the subsidiaries and affiliates of JSC Aeroflot;
• Matters concerning the lease and purchase of aircraft.

MEMBERS OF THE STRATEGY COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 26, 2012 (MINUTES № 1)
Igor Lozhevsky

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Aleksey Germanovich

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Sergey Aleksashenko
Andrey Kalmykov
Giorgio Callegari

Shamil Kurmashov
Maksim Nilov

Dmitry Saprykin

Aleksander Tikhonov
Sergey Chemezov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
First Deputy CEO for Operations

Deputy CEO for Strategy and Alliances

Deputy CEO for Finance and Investments

Director of the Corporate Strategy Department

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

MEMBERS OF THE STRATEGY COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 25, 2013 (MINUTES № 1)
Roman Pakhomov

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Giorgio Callegari

Deputy CEO for Strategy and Alliances

Aleksey Germanovich
Shamil Kurmashov
Marlen Manasov
Dmitry Saprykin
Vasily Sidorov

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee analyses the efficiency of internal control
procedures, designs recommendations on the implementation of
financial and business plan of the Company, and works to improve
internal control procedures. The Committee evaluates candidates for
role of Company auditor, interacts with the auditor, gives an opinion on
the auditor’s report, and carries out other duties within its jurisdiction in
accordance with resolutions of the Board of Directors.

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Deputy CEO for Commerce and Finance

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

The Audit Committee held nine meetings in 2013, as a result of
which recommendations were issued to the Board of Directors and
Management Board of JSC Aeroflot concerning:
• Efficient management and control of Company business and
finances.
• Financial, commercial and other risks associated with the business of
Aeroflot Group.
The Audit Committee carried out selective inspections of the organisation and
application of internal control procedures in the course of the year.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 26, 2012 (MINUTES № 1)
Igor Kogan

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Shamil Kurmashov

Deputy CEO for Finance and Investments

Sergey Aleksashenko
Aleksey Navalny

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot
Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AS OF JULY 25, 2013 (MINUTES № 1)
Igor Lozhevsky

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot, Head of the Committee

Igor Kogan

Member of the Board of Directors of JSC Aeroflot

Mikhail Alekseev
Vasily Sidorov
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Executive Board
The Company’s day-to-day business is directed by its sole executive
body and collective executive body, i.e. the CEO and the Management
Board. Executive bodies report to the Board of Directors and
General Meeting of Shareholders. The CEO is also the Chairman of
the Management Board. Appointment and early termination of the
authorities of the Management Board are subject to decision by the
Board of Directors.
The Management Board acts on the basis of the Company Charter
and the Statute on the Management Board, approved by the General
Meeting of Shareholders.
The Management Board of JSC Aeroflot held 23 meetings in 2013,
three of which were held in the form of absentee voting by members of
the Management Board. Issues discussed at the meetings included:
• Design of key performance indicators (KPIs) for the CEO of JSC
Aeroflot in 2013;
• Remuneration system and KPIs for aircrew;
• Approval of the Code of Ethics of JSC Aeroflot;
• Design of strategy for Aeroflot Group and subsidiary airlines;
• Development of strategic partnerships between JSC Aeroflot and
foreign airlines;
• Ancillary revenue from passenger traffic;
• Flight safety at JSC Aeroflot and subsidiary airlines;
• Launch of the low-cost subsidiary airline, Dobrolet, and of Aurora
Airlines;
• Functioning of the Company’s back-up data processing centre;
• Pilot training at civil aviation schools, overcoming shortages of pilots;
• Strategy for raising the Company’s capitalisation and increasing the
liquidity of JSC Aeroflot shares;
• Operational issues (sale of air transport services, management of
subsidiaries and merged companies, developing the aircraft fleet and
route network, opening of regular flights, functioning of JSC Aeroflot
branches and representative offices, introduction of a new scale of
commission and bonus payments for agents in Russia);

• Innovative technologies, including the development of in-flight
Internet service;
• Mid-term plan for implementing the Company’s Innovative
Development Programme in 2013-2015;
• Inventory procurement for JSC Aeroflot;
• Programme for improvement of product quality in 2013 (based on
NPS research);
• Service development at the Company;
• Aeroflot advertising concepts in Russia and abroad;
• Charity activities and social responsibility;
• Sponsorship of the Volleyball Federation of Russia and CSKA
Moscow football club;
• Naming of aircraft after eminent citizens of Russia;
• Painting a Sukhoi Superjet aircraft in the CSKA team colours, painting
a Sukhoi Superjet aircraft to mark Aeroflot’s 90th birthday, printing
the official logo of Ekaterinburg as an Expo 2020 applicant city on
aircraft;
• Sale of Aeroflot-branded souvenirs at sales offices.
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MEMBERS OF THE JSC AEROFLOT MANAGEMENT BOARD
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013

Vitaly SAVELIEV

Vladimir ANTONOV

Vasily AVILOV

Born in 1954.

Born in 1953.

Born in 1954.

Graduated from Leningrad Polytechnical
Institute and from the Palmiro Togliatti
Engineering and Economics Institute.

Graduated from the Moscow Railway
Engineering Institute.

Graduated from the Dzerzhinsky Higher
Fleet Engineering Institute.

From 1995 to 2011: Deputy CEO
of Aeroflot for Economic and Flight
Security, Deputy CEO for Aviation
Security, Vice-President for Aviation
Security, Deputy CEO for Aviation and
Operating Security, First Deputy CEO
for Operations.

From 1997 to 2013: Head of
Administration of Aeroflot, Director
of the Department of General Affairs,
Deputy CEO and Managing Director of
Aeroflot.

Chairman of the Management
Board, Chief Executive Officer

Doctoral Candidate in Economic
Science.
From 2004 to 2007: Deputy Minister for
Economic Development of the Russian
Federation.
From 2007 to 2009: First
Vice-President, Head of the
Telecommunication Asset Development
Division (Sistema Telecom). First
Vice-President and Head of the
Telecommunication Asset business unit
of JSFC Sistema.
From 2009 to present: Chief Executive
Officer of JSC Aeroflot, Chairman of the
Management Board of JSC Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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First Deputy CEO for Aviation
Security

From 2011 to present: First Deputy
CEO for Aviation Security at Aeroflot.
Owns 0.000425% of the shares in
JSC Aeroflot.

Deputy CEO for Administration

From 2013 to present: Deputy CEO for
Administration at JSC Aeroflot.
Owns 0.0000002% of the shares in
JSC Aeroflot.
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Kirill BOGDANOV

Dmitry GALKIN

Vadim ZINGMAN

Born in 1963.

Born in 1963.

Born in 1970.

Graduated from Leningrad Polytechnic
Institute.

Graduated from the Ordzhonikidze
Institute of Management (Moscow).

Graduated from St. Petersburg
University of Economics and Finance.

From 2004 to 2007: Executive Director
of Ramaks International.

From 1988 to the 2013: Manager,
Deputy Head, Head of the Internal
Audit Service, Director of the Internal
Audit Department at Aeroflot.

Doctoral Candidate in Economic
Science.

Deputy CEO for Information
Technology

From 2007 to 2009: Director of the
Development and Control Department
of the Telecom Assets business units of
Sistema Financial Corporation.
From 2009 to present: Deputy Director
of the Department of Information
Technologies at JSC Aeroflot,
Adviser to the CEO, Deputy CEO for
Information Technology.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Advisor to the Deputy CEO
for Finance and Network
and Revenue Management

From 2013 to present: Advisor to the
Aeroflot Deputy CEO for Finance and
for Management of the Network and of
Revenues.
Owns 0.000003% of shares in
JSC Aeroflot.

Deputy CEO for Customer Service

From 2001 to 2008: Deputy Director
of the Department for Government
Regulation of Foreign Trade Activity
at the Russian Ministry for Economic
Development and Trade.
From 2008 to 2009: Director of the
Government Relations Department at
JSFC Sistema.
From 2009 to 2012: Advisor to the
CEO, Deputy CEO for Customer
Relations, Deputy CEO for Operations
and Quality Management at Aeroflot.
From 2012 to present: Deputy CEO for
Work with Clients at JSC Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Giorgio CALLEGARI

Andrey KALMYKOV

Shamil KURMASHOV

Born in 1959.

Born in 1973.

Born in 1978.

Graduated from Turin Polytechnical
University (Turin, Italy).

Graduated in 1996 from the Moscow
State Institute of Radio Technology,
Electronics and Automation.

Graduated from the Moscow State
Institute of International Relations.

Deputy CEO for Strategy and Alliances

From 1990 to 2011: Sales Manager,
Vice-President for Sales, Vice-President
for Business Development, VicePresident for Alliances, Business
Development and International
Relations, Deputy Vice-President for
Alliances and Strategy of Alitalia.
From 2011 to present: Deputy CEO of
Aeroflot for Strategy and Alliances.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

First Deputy CEO for Operations

From 2006 to 2007: Commercial
Director, CEO of LLC SunExpress
Travel.
From 2007 to 2008: CEO of Sunrise
Asset Management.

Deputy CEO for Finance and Network
and Revenue Management

Doctoral Candidate in Economic
Science.
From 2004 to 2007: Deputy CEO
for Finance and Investment at JSFC
Sistema.

From 2008 to 2010: Assistant to the
Minister of Transport of the Russian
Federation.

From 2007 until 2009: Director of the
Investment Department, Deputy Head
of the Finance and Investment Division
of JSFC Sistema Telecommunications.

From 2010 to 2012: Deputy CEO for
Commerce, Deputy CEO for Operations
and Commerce, First Deputy CEO for
Operations and Commerce at Aeroflot.

From 2009 to 2013: Advisor to
the CEO, Deputy CEO for Finance
and Investment, Deputy CEO for
Commerce and Finance at Aeroflot.

From 2012 to present time: First Deputy
CEO for Operations at JSC Aeroflot.

From 2013 until present: Deputy CEO
for Finance and for Management of the
Route Network and of Revenues at JSC
Aeroflot.

Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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Georgy MATVEEV

Igor PARAKHIN

Dmitry SAPRYKIN

Born in 1953.

Born in 1961.

Born in 1974.

Graduated from the Academy of Civil
Aviation.

Graduated from the Moscow Institute
of Civil Aviation Engineers.

Doctoral Candidate in Technical
Science.

From 2001 to 2011: Head of
Programme, Deputy Director of the
Aviabusiness Higher Business School.

Graduated from Moscow State Law
Academy and as a Master of Law
(LL.M) from Cornell Law School, where
he also took MBA courses.

Director of the Flight Safety
Department

From 2001 to 2012: Deputy Head
of the Flight Safety Inspectorate,
Deputy Director of the Flight Safety
Department.
From 2012 to present: Director of the
Flight Safety Department.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.

Deputy CEO, Technical Director

From 2011 to present: Acting Technical
Director, Technical Director, Deputy
CEO and Technical Director at Aeroflot.
Owns 0.000007% of shares in
JSC Aeroflot.

Deputy CEO for Sales and
Property

Doctoral Candidate in Law.
From 2006 to 2007: CEO of OJSC
Moscow Cellular Telecommunications.
From 2007 to 2009: Director of
Transaction Support, Deputy Head of
the Legal Division of JSFC Sistema.
From 2009 to 2013: Deputy CEO of
Aeroflot for Legal and Property Issues.
From 2013 to the present: Deputy CEO
for Sales and Property Issues at JSC
Aeroflot.
Does not own shares in JSC Aeroflot.
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REMUNERATION OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD
The total remuneration paid during 2013 to members of the Executive
Board of JSC Aeroflot was RUB 414,219,581.52.
The system for remuneration of Executive Board members, like the
remuneration system for all other Company personnel, is structured
in a way that enables Aeroflot to attract and retain highly qualified
specialists. The level of remuneration is directly dependent on the
overall business results of Aeroflot Group. The incentive component
of remuneration to senior managers in 2013 was calculated in
compliance with the system of performance-related bonuses, tied to
key performance indicators (KPIs), as regulated by the Statute on Bonus
Payments to Managers and Specialists of JSC Aeroflot (Order of the
CEO № 30 dated 2 February 2011). In accordance with the Statute, the
incentive component of salary payment to Executive Board members
is determined based on the achievement of key performance indicators
approved for the respective reporting period (quarterly and annually).

Igor CHALIK

Deputy CEO, Commander
of Flight Operations

Born in 1957.
Graduated in 1979 from the Aktyubinsk
Higher Civil Aviation Flying School.
From 1994 to 2011: Second Pilot of
an Il-86, Second Pilot, Commander,
and Pilot Instructor for А310 aircraft,
Deputy Commander of the А310 Flight
Detachment of Aviation Detachment
№ 1, Commander of the А320 Flight
Detachment, Commander of the
А330 Flight Detachment of the Flight
Operations Department, Deputy CEO
and Director of the Flight Operations
Department.
From 2011 to present: Deputy CEO and
Flight Director.

Owns 0.000117% of shares
in JSC Aeroflot.
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The key performance indicators for Executive Board members relate
to overall financial and economic efficiency of Group business (ROIC,
EBITDAR, net income for the Group, etc.). Key performance indicators
for Executive Board members include both operating indicators and
other quality and efficiency indicators characterising overall business of
the Group.
An indicator measuring the ratio of overdue receivables to air transport
revenue was introduced as a KPI for members of the Executive Board
in 2013 in order to eliminate violations and failures identified by the
Accounts Chamber of the Russian Federation when auditing the
business of JSC Aeroflot in 2010-2011 and nine months of 2012.
On 29 August 2013 the Board of Directors approved a Statute
providing for a long-term stock option programme for management
of JSC Aeroflot (relating to about 60 managers). The programme is
scheduled to last until the end of 2015.
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The Statute calls for the formation of a stock option pool using the
following two indicators:
INDICATOR 1 – Increase of the capitalisation of JSC Aeroflot in the
respective year (50% weight).
INDICATOR 2 – The position of Aeroflot in a group of five peer airlines
by growth of market capitalisation in the respective year (50% weight).
Indicator 2 is only included in the calculation if the trend in capitalisation
has been positive. (Aeroflot was in second place by growth of
capitalisation among peers in 2013).

Indicator 1 for the bonus pool

If capitalisation of JSC Aeroflot at the
end of December of the respective
year is higher than capitalisation on
the first trading day of the same year
(million USD)
>350

200-350 (inclusive)

100-200 (inclusive)

0-100 (inclusive)

<0

% of capitalisation growth, which is
directed to the option programme.

1.50%

1.13%

0.75%

0.38%

0.00%

TWO THIRDS of accrued remuneration under the option programme
for the respective year are paid to programme participants no later
than one month after the publication of Group financial results for the
relevant year.
ONE THIRD of accrued remuneration under the option programme
for the respective year is withheld until 2016 and paid as a lump sum,
based on a resolution by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
A study by Ward Howell found that annual payments to staff under

Indicator 2 for the bonus pool

Position of JSC Aeroflot in its peer
group by the rate of growth of
capitalisation in the respective year:
indicator 2 is only applied if there has
been growth in capitalisation during
the year

1st in group

2nd in group

3rd in group

4th in group

5th-6th in group

% of capitalisation growth, which is
directed to the option programme.

1.50%

1.13%

0.75%

0.38%

0.00%

stock option programmes at multinational companies amount on
average to about 10-15% of net income, while the figure at Russian
companies is 15-20% of net income.
Payment of the balance under the option programme for management
is made from net income of JSC Aeroflot for the financial year, based on
a resolution by the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Committees
The following committees which prepare recommendations and
proposals for improving the business efficiency of JSC Aeroflot are
operating in the Company: for Finance and Investment; for Innovative
Development; and a Steering Committee for Implementation of SAP
ERP.
THE COMMITTEE FOR FINANCE AND INVESTMENT
The Committee for Finance and Investment is a permanent collegial
advisory body of JSC Aeroflot.
Functions and tasks of the Committee for Finance and Investment
include expert review of implementation of current investment
projects, expert assessment of such projects, decisions to suspend
MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE FOR FINANCE AND INVESTMENT*

The work of the committees is governed by current Russian law,
decisions of the Company’s Board of Directors, other regulatory
documents of the Company, rules and procedures imposed by the
Company, and statutes on the committees.

such projects, review of criteria to assess their efficiency, design of
proposals for the Group’s financial, economic and commercial policies,
and other tasks.
The Committee held 22 meetings in 2013.

Shamil Kurmashov

Deputy CEO for Finance and Network and Revenue Management

Dmitry Saprykin

Deputy CEO for Sales and Property

Vadim Zingman

Svetlana Arkhipova
Dmitry Galkin

Ilya Alexandrovsky

Aleksander Noskov

Andrey Polozov-Yablonsky
Andrey Chikhanchin
Evgeny Zenchenko

Deputy CEO for Customer Service

Director of the Department for Financial Planning and Analysis

Advisor to the Deputy CEO for Finance and for Management of the Route
Network and of Revenues
Director of the Sales Department

Director of the Department for Economic Security
Advisor to the CEO, Head of Innovation

Director of the Corporate Finance Department

Deputy Director of the Corporate Strategy Department

*M. Nilov left the Committee on 23.08.2013. I. Alexandrovsky, the Director of the Sales Department, and E. Zenchenko, the Deputy Director of
the Corporate Strategy Department, joined the Committee.

COMMITTEE FOR INNOVATIVE DEVELOPMENT
The Committee for Innovative Development was established to prepare
recommendations and proposals to the Management Board of JSC Aeroflot, in
order to enhance the efficiency of Company business.
Functions of the Committee include examination of innovation projects,
assessment of their efficiency, monitoring the implementation of
current projects, deciding on their suspension, setting requirements for

the format and quality of materials provided to the Management Board
concerning innovative development, and recommending projects for
implementation.
The Committee held two meetings in 2013, at which it considered the
implementation of current investment projects and the planning of new ones.

MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE FOR INNOVATIVE DEVELOPMENT
Vitaly Saveliev

CEO, Chairman of the Committee

Kirill Bogdanov

Deputy CEO for Information Technologies

Andrey Polozov-Yablonsky
Vadim Zingman

Andrey Kalmykov

Shamil Kurmashov
Dmitry Saprykin
Igor Parakhin
Oleg Volkov

Aleksey Gromakov
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Advisor to the CEO, Head of Innovation
Deputy CEO for Work with Clients
First Deputy CEO for Operations

Deputy CEO for Finance and Network and Revenue Management
Deputy CEO for Sales and Property
Deputy CEO, Technical Director

Director of the Applied Systems Department
Director of the Procurement Department
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Internal Control and Audit
JSC Aeroflot has an effective system of controls in place to ensure
maximum transparency, financial efficiency and compliance of all
aspects of the business with legal requirements. The company uses
internal and external control mechanisms to enable comprehensive
analysis and assessment of corporate governance and risk
management, and to establish the accuracy of information of a
financial and economic nature, which is disclosed. The Internal Audit

THE INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT
Internal audit at JSC Aeroflot is carried out by the Internal Audit
Department, which reports directly to the Company CEO and is
subordinated in its operations to the BoD Audit Committee. The
Internal Audit Department was created by a resolution of the Board of
Directors dated 01.07.2009. The Department carries out its duties with
due account for international professional standards of internal audit
and for the principles of independence, objectivity, competence and
professionalism.
The responsibilities of the Internal Audit Department include conducting
internal audit of structural units, branches and representative offices;
REVISION COMMISSION
The Revision Commission oversees the business of JSC Aeroflot to
obtain reasonable assurance that Company business accords with the
interests of Company shareholders and does not conflict with Russian
legislation currently in force.
The Revision Commission acts on the basis of the Charter and the
Statute on the JSC Aeroflot Revision Commission.

Department of JSC Aeroflot supervises the activities of branches and
representative offices, and a Revision Commission was also been
created, which ensure that Company business is in accordance with
the interests of the Company’s shareholders and with regulatory
requirements. The Company regularly uses the services of external
auditors to review and confirm the accuracy of its financial statements
prepared to Russian and international standards.

consulting on improvements to corporate governance and risk
management; assisting the external auditor; and verifying compliance
with requirements concerning insider information. The Department
assesses the efficacy of the internal control system, the system of risk
management and the corporate governance system.
The Internal Audit Department carried out 34 inspections of Aeroflot
structural units and subsidiaries during 2013 in order to identify risks
and assess the efficiency of main activities and business processes.
Proposals and recommendations were prepared and delivered to
relevant Company departments based on the results of the inspections.

The report reaches a positive conclusion. The Revision Commission is
of the opinion that Company reporting is on the whole reliable and does
not provide material grounds for refusing to confirm the data contained
in the balance sheet and income statement JSC Aeroflot as of 31
December 2013. The report also contains recommendations by the
Revision Commission in respect of the efficiency of Company business
and compliance with applicable law.

As prescribed by that Statute, the Revision Commission carried
out a check of the data contained in the Company’s annual financial
statements for 2013 prepared to Russian accounting standards,
including the income statement and other documents that are to
be presented to the AGM. The Revision Commission carried out a
comparative analysis of indicators characterising business efficiency
at Aeroflot in 2011-2013 and also ensured that the Company was in
compliance with current legislation in 2013.
In its report, prepared and approved on the basis of this work, the
Revision Commission gave an analysis of Aeroflot’s balance sheet
and financial results. The report reflected changes in balance sheet
structure, the main factors that led to these changes, and also
assessed a number of areas of Company business (goods and services
procurement, legal compliance). Based on the results of its inspections
the Revision Commission made recommendations aimed at improving
the efficiency of Company business by increasing profitability and
reducing costs.
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The AGM held on 24 June 2013 elected the following individuals as members of the Revision Commission of JSC Aeroflot:

Igor BELIKOV

Born in 1956.
Graduated from Voronezh State University. Doctoral Candidate in History. Completed studies at the Institute for Raising
Qualifications and for New Qualifications at the Financial Academy under the Government of the Russian Federation,
holds certificates in general audit (issued by the Russian Ministry of Finance) and in corporate governance (issued by
Schulich School of Business at York University, Toronto, Canada).
From 1996 to 2002: President of the Institute for Privatisation and Management, General Director of the Stock Market
and Management Institute.
From 2002 to present: Director of the Russian Institute of Directors
Has served on the Boards of Directors and Board Committees of Sistema Corporation, the Mortgage Credit Agency,
Acron, Astrakhanenergo , LUKOIL, Interdepartmental Analytical Centre, Murmansk Fishing Port, Rostopprom,
Sibirtelecom, North-West Telecom, Uralsvyazinform, Southern Telecom, etc.

Aleksander VASILCHENKO

Born in 1984
Graduated from the Moscow Academy of Economics and Law, majoring in finance and credit. Doctoral Candidate in
Economics.
Worked as: Chief Specialist of the Pension Fund of the Russian Federation; Chief Section Specialist and Department
Consultant of the Social Insurance Fund of the Russian Federation; Chief Consultant and Department Advisor at the
Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation.
From 2013 to present: Department Consultant in the Government of the Russian Federation, Deputy Director of
Administration at the Ministry of Economic Development of the Russian Federation.

Vera MIRONOVA

Born in 1950.
Graduated from the All-Union Correspondence Institute of the Food Industry, specialising in industrial planning.
From 1971 to 1976: Chief Accountant of Myachkovsky Aviation Unit.
From 1977 to 2010: Senior Economist, Head of Department, Deputy Head of the Chief Directorate of the Civil Aviation
Ministry, Deputy Head of Section of the Department of Air Transport of the Russian Transport Ministry, Head of the
Financial and Tax Policy Directorate of the Russian Federal Air Transport Service, Deputy Head of Department of the
Russian Transport Ministry, Head of the Finance and Economics Directorate of the Russian Federal Air Transport
Agency, Head of the Economics and Development Programme Directorate of the Russian Aeronavigation Agency.
From 2010 to present: Head of the Directorate for Financial Support, Budget Planning and Financial Reporting at
Rosaviatsia.

Marina MIKHINA

Born in 1961.
Graduated from Moscow State University, majoring in political economy.
Worked as: junior researcher at the Institute of the World Economy and International Relations (IMEMO) of the Russian
Academy of Sciences; Head of Section of the Main Directorate of the Bank of Russia (Moscow); Head of Section at
Unicombank; Senior Specialist at Rosneft; Senior Economist at Sberbank; Head of Department at the Agency for
Restructuring of Credit Organisations; Head of Section at the USSR External Trade Bank (VEB), Head of Department,
Deputy Head of Directorate at Vneshtorgbank; Head of Directorate, Department Director at NOMOS-Bank, Head of
Directorate at VTB Bank.
From 2012 to present: Advisor to the Deputy Minister of Economic Development of the Russian Federation, Head of
the Federal Agency for State Property Management.

Sergey POMA

Born in 1959.
Graduated from the Nakhimov Higher Naval School, the Faculty of Economics at St. Petersburg State University and
the Academy of National Economy under the Government of the Russian Federation.
From 1996 to 2009: Head Section Specialist of the Leningrad Region Finance Committee; Head of the Control
Department of the Federal Commission for the Securities Market; Chief Expert of Lidzhist law firm; CEO of Fund Invest
management company; Deputy Chief Editor of Rosfincom Information Agency.
From 2009 to present: Deputy Chairman of the Management Board of the National Association of Securities Market
Participants (self-regulating, non-profit organisation).

The AGM of 24 June 2013 decided to pay members of the Audit Commission
of JSC Aeroflot remuneration in the amount of RUB 1.272 million.
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EXTERNAL AUDIT
JSC Aeroflot uses the services of external auditors for review of its
financial statements. JSC Aeroflot’s external auditors in 2013 were:
• ZAO BDO (audit of statements prepared in accordance with Russian
Accounting Standards).
• ZAO PricewaterhouseCoopers (audit of statements prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standards).
Based on results of the 2013 audit the auditors confirmed the accuracy
of information presented in the financial statements of JSC Aeroflot.

Information disclosure
In its business Aeroflot adheres to the principles of transparency and
openness in communication with external audiences. The Company
fully complies with legal requirements for disclosure and seeks to
comply with best practice of the world’s leading companies in this
sphere.

Briefings and conference calls were organised for representatives of
the investment community in 2013 to help improve disclosure and raise
investment appeal, coinciding with the release of consolidated financial
results of Aeroflot Group for 2012, and for the first half-year and nine
months of 2013.

JSC Aeroflot is guided in its information disclosure by the Federal Law
on Joint-Stock Companies, the Federal Law on the Securities Market,
and the Regulation on Information Disclosure (approved by Order №
11 – 46 of the Federal Service for Financial Markets, dated 4 October
2011). The Company takes account of the requirements of market
organisers on the Russian securities market, recommendations of
the Code of Corporate Conduct, and the Company’s own Statute on
Corporate Information Policy.

Cooperation with the investment community included meetings
between Company management and representatives of major
international funds (road shows) in Stockholm (Sweden), Frankfurt
(Germany) and London (UK).

JSC Aeroflot transmits information about its business activities
to the widest possible audience by the placement of respective
announcements and press releases in the news list, updated in real
time, on the JSC Aeroflot page in the Skin disclosure system (http://
disclosure.skrin.ru/disclosure/7712040126) and on the official Company
website.
High-quality information to assist investment analysis is provided
regularly in the special ‘Investor Relations’ section of Aeroflot’s official
website. The information includes lists of affiliates, quarterly and annual
reports, and information disclosing business results that may affect
the value of Company securities. Aeroflot has a public rating from Fitch
Ratings agency, accompanied by an agency report, confirming the high
level of financial transparency achieved by JSC Aeroflot.

In 2013, the management of the company took part in meetings with
investors in investment conferences and forums held by the following
banks: Deutsche Bank, UBS, Morgan Stanley, Sberbank of Russia , VTB
Capital, Renaissance Capital, Goldman Sachs, and Merrill Lynch.
The JSC Annual Report for 2012 won the nomination, ‘Best Annual
Report in the consumer sector of the economy’ at the 16th Annual
Report Competition held by Moscow Stock Exchange, and was also
acclaimed ‘Best Annual Report in the transport industry’ at the 16th
Annual National Competition for annual reports and websites, organised
by Russia’s Securities Market Magazine and the INVESTOR.RU social
network. The online version of the Company Annual Report for 2012
won the 12th Golden Website national competition for Internet sites.
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4.2. Securities

Share capital
Charter capital of JSC Aeroflot as of 31 December 2013 amounted to
RUB 1,110,616,299, consisting of 1,110,616,299 common registered
uncertified shares with par value of 1 rouble. The Company does not
have preferred shares.

The total number of shareholders recorded in the register of
shareholders of Aeroflot on 31 December 2013 was 10,686 (26 legal
entities and 10,660 individuals), compared with 10,881 on 31 December
2012 (29 legal entities and 10,852 individuals).

State registration numbers of Aeroflot common share issues are:
73-1 p-5142(dated 22 June 1995); and 1-02-00010-А (dated 1 February
1999). The issues were united by Decree № 04-168/p of the Federal
Securities Commission, dated 23 January 2004, as a result of which
the issues of Aeroflot common shares were given state registration
number 1-01-00010-А, dated 23 January 2004.

The register of shareholders of JSC Aeroflot is kept by CJSC
Computershare Registrar (License № 10-000-1-00252). Details of the
register holder are given in the ‘Contacts’ section at the end of this
report.

In addition to shares outstanding, the Company has the right to issue a
further 250 million common shares (authorised shares). No additional
shares were issued in 2013.

INFORMATION ON MAIN SHAREHOLDERS
OF JSC AEROFLOT
Holders

STRUCTURE OF SHARE CAPITAL, %
Legal entities of which:

6.50

Russian Federation (through the Federal Agency for State Property Management)
CJSC National Settlement Depository

51.17
Russian Federation

42.33

Legal entities
Individuals

LLC Aeroflot-Finance

LLC Aviacapital-Service

Russian Technologies State Corporation
CJSC ING Bank (Eurasia)
LLC Deutsche Bank
CJSC Citibank

LLC J.P. Morgan Bank International
JSC Aeroflot Russian-Airlines
CJSC UniCredit Bank
Individuals

* O = owner, N = nominee.
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Charter capital of JSC Aeroflot as
of 31 December 2013 amounted to RUB

Aeroflot shares, depositary receipts and bonds are traded on the stock
market. The Company’s common shares and exchange-traded bonds
are traded on the Russian stock market, and global depositary receipts
(GDRs) are traded on foreign markets.

1,1 10,616,299

Aeroflot shares are traded on the Moscow Exchange, where they are
included in the A1 (highest) listing as of 31 December 2013 under the
AFLT ticker. The shares trade in the T+2 and Standard sectors. Aeroflot
shares are included in the main Russian stock indexes: MICEX, MICEX
BMI (Broad Market Index), and the MICEX TRN (Transport Sector
Index).

Status *
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As of 31.12.2013

stake in share
capital, %

Change of stake
in share capital,
percentage points

As of 31.12.2012

93.5

+0.32

383,909,712

34.57

+8.05

2.042

19,488,599

1.75

- 0.29

46,820,781

4.22

-

-

-4.22

N

13,476,959

1.21

-

-1.21

O

-

stake in share
capital, %

number of shares

1,033,827,304

93.18

1,038,497,791

294,542,434

26.52

O

22,688,599

N

O

N

O
O

N
N
N

number of shares

568,335,339

49,690,915
16,720,724

19,014,800

51.17

4.47
1.51
1.71

3,589,507

0.32

147,400

0.013

75,492,115

568,335,339

49,690,915

51.17

4.47

16,720,724

1.51

-

-

-

-

-

-

227,696

0.02

6.8

72,118,508

6.49

-

-

-

-

-

-1.71

-0.32

+ 0.02

- 0.013
- 0.31
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There was further growth of trading volumes in Aeroflot shares
on the Moscow Exchange in 2013, when volumes rose by 47% in
comparison with 2012, from a daily average of 1.508 million to a daily
average of 2.211 million shares.
AVERAGE DAILY TRADING VOLUMES ON THE MOSCOW EXCHANGE

MAXIMUM AND MINIMUM MARKET PRICE PER SHARE, ROUBLES
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Aeroflot’s market capitalisation as of 31 December 2013 was RUB
93.37 billion (USD 2.86 billion), which was 85.5% higher than on
31 December 2012 (the increase in USD terms amounted to 73.3%).
Aeroflot share price trends in 2013 were generally in line with the
global trends in the airline industry. Progress with integration of new
assets into Aeroflot Group led to improvement of the Group’s operating
and financial performance. Synergies from the ongoing merger of
aviation assets into Group structure led to the expansion of market
presence and growth of financial performance, with positive impact on
Aeroflot’s business and market valuation. The market also welcomed
the decision to pay dividends in 2013 on the results of business in 2012.
The dividends paid in 2013 were RUB 1.1636 per share (the dividend
payout ratio was 26.2% based on RAS financial statements), making
the Group more attractive to investors.
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Aeroflot shares are traded outside Russia via global depositary receipts
(GDRs) at the over-the-counter section of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.
One GDR represents five common shares of Aeroflot. Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas acts as depository bank and LLC Deutsche Bank is the
custodian. A total of 10,712,000 shares were converted into GDRs as of
31 December 2012, representing 0.96% of Charter Capital.
Preliminary work was carried out in 2013 to adjust the ratio of shares to GDR
to 5:1. The change in the ratio was brought into effect in January 2014.
In 2013, Aeroflot began preparations to launch a Level-1 American Depositary
Receipt (ADR) programme as part of efforts to expand the pool of potential
investors in the Company, including investors on the U.S. over-the-counter
market. In December 2013, permission was obtained from the CBR for
depositary receipts to be traded abroad and in January 2014 the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission announced that Aeroflot’s Level-1 ADR
programme had been launched.
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AEROFLOT’S LEVEL-1 ADR PROGRAMME

Programme type

Sponsored Level-1 Global Depositary
Receipts under SEC Rule 144А

Programme type

Sponsored Level-1 American
Depositary Receipts

Ratio (shares: GDR)

5:1

Ratio (shares : ADR)

5:1

ISIN

US0077712075, US0077711085

ISIN

US00777K1060

Ticker

AERAY

Ticker

AERZY

Bonds
In April 2013, the Company placed a third issue of exchange-traded
bonds with nominal value of RUB 5 billion for a period of three years
(BO-03) and redeemed the first and second issues of exchange-traded
bonds, which were placed in 2010 (BO-01 and BO-02).
Aeroflot’s BO-03 exchange-traded bonds are traded on the Moscow
Exchange, where they are included in the B List, and the bonds
are also included in the Lombard List of the Central Bank of Russia
(a list of securities which are acceptable as collateral for direct repo
transactions).

Coupons on Aeroflot’s exchange-traded bonds were paid in full and on
schedule in the reporting year:
• 8 April 2013: payment for the sixth coupon period in the amount
of RUB 231,840,000.00 (two hundred and thirty one million, eight
hundred and forty thousand roubles) on bonds BO-01; payment for
the sixth coupon period in the amount of RUB 231,840,000.00 (two
hundred and thirty one million, eight hundred and forty thousand
roubles) on bonds BO-02;
• 3 October 2013: payment for the first coupon period in the amount of
RUB 206,950,000.00 (two hundred and six million, nine hundred and
fifty thousand roubles) on bonds BO-03.

JSC AEROFLOT BOND ISSUANCES
Type
Exchange-traded bonds

Exchange-traded bonds

Exchange-traded bonds

Full name
Aeroflot BO-01

Aeroflot BO-02

Aeroflot BO-03

Number of
bonds issued

Nominal value,
roubles

Coupon, %

6,000,000

1000

7.75

6,000,000

1000

5,000,000

7.75

1000

In March 2013 the international rating agency, Fitch Ratings, assigned
ratings to JSC Aeroflot for a third time, as follows:
• The long-term issuer rating in foreign currency was set at a level of
BB-, with Stable outlook.

8.30

Redemption
date

Put option

2013-04-08

–

2013-04-08
2016-03-31

–

Fitch credit
rating
BB-

BB-

–

BB-

• The long-term issuer rating in the national currency was set at a level
of BB-, with Stable outlook.
• The national long-term rating was set at a level of A+(rus), with
Stable outlook.

Dividend policy
Shareholders of Aeroflot at the AGM in June 2013 resolved to pay
dividends on business results in the 2012 fiscal year in the amount of
RUB 1.1636 per share in cash. The payments were made during the
period from June 25 to August 23, 2013.

Dividends for 2012 paid to the Russian Federal Budget amounted
to RUB 661,315,000.46. The Company has no dividend payments
outstanding to the Federal Budget.

PAYMENT OF ANNOUNCED (ACCRUED) DIVIDENDS ON SHARES OF JSC AEROFLOT
Dividend period
2008

2009
2010
2011

2012

Total accrued dividends,

RUB

199,910,243.16

388,382,542.36

1,205,129,746.04

2,000,018,000.00
1,292,313,125.52

Total amount actually paid,

Number of shares

199,877,268.30

1,110,616,299

RUB*

388,345,850.76

1,205,087,832.86

1,999,953,078.76

1,292,048,246.03

at record date

Dividends per share, RUB

1,110,616,299

1,110,616,299

1,106,143,588**

1,110,616,299

0.1818

0.3497

1.0851

1.8081

1.1636

* The reason for inconsistency between the amounts accrued and the amounts actually paid is that the shareholder register of JSC Aeroflot lacked current
payment details of some shareholders as of the payment date.
** The non-correspondence in the number of shares is due to buy-back of shares by the Company at shareholders’ request. In accordance with paragraph 6
of Article 76 of the Federal Law № 208-FZ on Joint Stock Companies (26.12.1995), these shares do not carry voting rights, are not taken into account in
counting of votes, and do not accrue dividends.
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Aeroflot Group is working to build a unified system of risk management
at all its companies based on the approaches used by JSC Aeroflot,
the largest asset in the Group.
Aeroflot has an efficient integrated risk management system that
enables the rapid identification and assessment of risks and timely
reaction to them, so that any negative impact of the risks can be
minimised or eliminated. The Company uses a probabilistic approach to
risk assessment, analysing the impact of risks on business results by
means of mathematical models.
Risk management is carried out at all levels of Company management
and in all of the Company’s functional and project spheres. Risk
management functions are allocated between the Board of Directors,
the Management Board, the Audit Committee, the Risk Management
division and other divisions of JSC Aeroflot.

The company divides risks into four main groups: financial, operational,
legal and business risks.
Aeroflot uses a policy based on advanced planning in order to minimise
risks, relying on such mechanisms as insurance, hedging, setting of
limits and coverage requirements. Staff training, operations with an
up-to-date aircraft fleet, and the use of advanced technologies for
the purposes of flight safety, market risk management, pilot training,
and other measures help to minimise risks. The Company’s risk
management efforts are complex in nature and are intended not only to
minimise negative consequences from the occurrence of various risks,
but also to reduce the probability of adverse events and the level of
Company exposure to all kinds of risk.

Type of risk

Description

Market risks

Risk of lowering of the value of assets due to change
of market factors.

Price risk

Risk of change in prices for aviation fuel, which are
linked to world oil prices. Aviation fuel accounts for
more than 30% of total Company expenditures, so
price fluctuations have material impact on overall
Company costs.

Aeroflot uses financial instruments to hedge its price risk. At the beginning
of 2014 approximately 70% of monthly planned consumption of aviation fuel
during 2014 and 25% of planned consumption in 2015 was hedged. The
hedging structure used by Aeroflot is consistent with the practice of many
international airlines.

Foreign exchange risk

Risks arising from currency fluctuations. JSC Aeroflot
operates in international markets and carries out
operations in various currencies. Change in the
exchange rate can substantially affect the financial
results of the Company and the Group.

The company hedged 80% of its planned open currency positions in the euro
for 2014. Exchange rate trends in late 2013 and early 2014 were favourable for
JSC Aeroflot.

Interest rate risk

The risk of exchange rate changes, which can lead to
relative increase in the cost of borrowing (increase of
Company spending on interest payments). The risk
relates primarily to leasing contracts for which the
Company is subject to a floating LIBOR rate. Change
of the LIBOR rate on the international market may
lead to an increase of interest payments under lease
agreements.

In order to reduce interest rate risks, Aeroflot concluded an interest rate swap
agreement in 2011, by which the Company receives sums tied to the floating
LIBOR rate, but pays at a fixed rate. In 2014, this tool covers about 15% of the
Company's payments under finance leases tied to LIBOR. Aeroflot regularly
assesses the situation on the interest rate market and is ready to increase the
share of interest rate hedging if necessary.

Financial risks
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Risks that arise from changes in market indicators,
such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates.
Financial risks can significantly reduce the company's
profits.

Measures to minimise the risk

Aeroflot takes carefully planned steps to reduce the potential adverse effect of
financial risks or to eliminate them.
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Description

Measures to minimise the risk

JSC Aeroflot distinguishes the following sources of
credit risk:
• Risk associated with receivables from agents
carrying out the sale of passenger and freight
transport under agent agreements.
• Operations with bank counterparties, which bear
credit risk (placement of deposits, guarantees,
derivatives transactions).

In order to reduce receivables risk sellers of air transportation are required
to provide financial security in the form of bank guarantees or deposits. The
size of the financial security is recalculated on a monthly basis and depends
on the financial condition of the agent, as well as the agent’s payment
discipline and sales volume. Monitoring of the credit risk of Aeroflot agents
is carried out every ten days. A system of credit risk limits is used for bank
counterparties. The limit depends on the term and determines the amount
of potential payments by the bank in favour of the Company. The results of
financial analysis and expert assessment of credit institutions are taken into
account when determining credit risk limits. Information on all companies
within Aeroflot Group is used when calculating the degree of use of credit
facilities and remaining available credit. The financial condition of counterparty
banks and size of their limits are reviewed on a quarterly basis. Non-financial
information from various sources, including, media and the official websites
of state bodies (the Bailiff Service, Federal Tax Service, Supreme Commercial
court, etc.) is also monitored regularly. At the end of 1990 about 90 institutions
were included on the register of banks with which JSC Aeroflot cooperates.
Thanks to timely monitoring and management of credit risk, Aeroflot did not
incur any financial losses from transactions with counterparties during 2013.

Liquidity risks

Liquidity risk refers to possible inability of the
Company to perform its obligations to counterparties.

To reduce the risk of loss of liquidity, Aeroflot’s financial departments follow
a carefully planned schedule of cash inflow and outflow in order to identify
shortfalls in advance and rectify them through short-term borrowing from
credit institutions.

Operating risks

Risks associated with the operations of Aeroflot. Such
risks may arise due to faults in internal processes, the
actions of employees, failures of automated systems
or outside factors.

Efficient work by Aeroflot to minimise operating risks avoids potential losses
for the Company.
The Company insures the bulk of its operating risks. Risks that cannot be
insured against (other operating risks) are classified by their origin as internal
or external.

Aviation risks

Includes the risk of destruction or disappearance or
damage to the aircraft, its parts and/or assemblies, the
risk of civil air carrier liability and military risks.

Aeroflot insures all of its aviation risks. Spending for insurance of aviation risk
represents over 2/3 of total insurance spending by the Company.
Aviation insurance contracts were renewed as planned in 2013. Subsidiaries
of JSC Aeroflot (Orenburg Airlines, Rossiya Airlines Vladivostok Air, Donavia
and SAT Airlines) are included in consolidated reinsurance coverage , which
contributes to lower rates for JSC Aeroflot and Aeroflot Group as a whole.
Stabilisation of the international aviation insurance market also contributed to
lower rates. Aviation risk insurance rates decreased by 25% on average. As a
result, the overall premium for insurance of aviation risks remained unchanged.
Compared with the previous period of insurance, despite a significant increase
in the value of the aircraft fleet, the number of passengers and number of
take-off and landing cycles.
The direct insurer in the new policy period, as in the previous two years,
was the Alfa Insurance. On Western markets, Aeroflot was reinsured by the
world’s leading aviation broker, Willis Ltd. A co- broker, AON, was appointed
in 2013 for the first time in Aeroflot’s history. The appointment of a co-broker
for risk placement made the intellectual capital of two brokers available to
help obtain transparent pricing and receive additional recommendations for
improving and expanding current coverage, and obtaining suggestions for
placement of the insurance programme .

Credit risks

• Operational risks
• Civil liability risk

• Military risks

Non-aviation risks

• Medical risks

Risks associated with inability of counterparties to
meet their financial obligations to Aeroflot.

Risks of destruction or disappearance or damage to
the aircraft, its parts and/or assemblies

Risks associated with harm to the life and health of
passengers, and destruction (loss), partial loss or
damage (harm) to the baggage and personal items of
passengers, and of harm to the owners or dispatchers
of baggage.

Risks associated with the country to which the airline
operates its flights. Primarily risks associated with war,
revolution, civil war, coup, etc., as well as actions that
may entail malicious acts, sabotage, nationalisation,
confiscation and terrorist acts against the property of
the airline.

Aeroflot manages and minimises its credit risk using a systematic approach,
which has been enshrined in the Company’s internal regulatory documents.

Risks not related to the operation of aircraft, but which
influence the day-to-day business of the Company,
including medical risks, and risks of accidents at work.

Non-aviation risks are also subject to insurance.

Risks related to the state of health of Company
employees and their families.

Health insurance accounts for about 30% of total insurance costs. Aeroflot
provides comprehensive voluntary medical insurance of all Company
employees, their families, pensioners and also employees of foreign
representative offices and their families in more than 45 countries. Company’s
partner in health insurance provision is RESO-Guarantee Insurance Company
in Russia and Alfa Insurance abroad. More than 28,000 people are insured,
including more than 17,000 Company employees. In 2013, more than a
thousand people benefited from periods at sanatoria and holiday resorts as
directed by the Aeroflot Medical Centre.
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Type of risk

Description

Measures to minimise the risk

Other operating risks
subject to insurance

A wide range of non-aviation risks that may affect
Company operations, including risk of abduction, theft,
and damage to vehicles, the risk suffered by vehicle
drivers and passengers, as well as risks associated
with the operation of hazardous production facilities,
risks of loss and damage to property, risks associated
with management decision-making, etc.

Aeroflot implements various insurance programmes , covering a wide range
of operating risks, including vehicle insurance (comprehensive and third
party), extended liability insurance, liability in respect of hazardous production
facilities, liability of owners of temporary storage, liability of members of the
Board of Directors and Management, and property insurance.

• Risks of accidents
at work

Legal risks
• Legislative risks

• Geopolitical
(country and
regional) risks
Operating risks
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These risks include: accidental death; 1st, 2nd and
3rd group of disabilities as the result of an accident;
traumatic injury due to an accident; temporary or
permanent inability to work resulting from an accident
or illness

Legal risks can be divided into legislative risks and
geopolitical risks.

In compliance with the Russian Air Transport Code, JSC Aeroflot insures
against accidents which may befall air crew, cabin crew, and other employees
who provide flight services during execution of their duties and also insures
them against accidents on their way to and from work. These expenses
represent about 2% of total insurance expenses. The number of insured
workers is more than 10,000, divided into three groups depending on their
position and conditions of insurance. Each group has its own rights to
insurance indemnification based on the age of the insured party, length of
service with the Company and the risks covered.

In 2013, Aeroflot launched a programme of comprehensive insurance
for airline passengers. The project enables airline customers to purchase
combined air travel insurance. The product is available in the sales offices in
Moscow and Moscow Region, and on the Aeroflot website.

Risks associated with changes in legal rules:
• changes in currency regulation;
• changes in tax laws;
• changes in customs clearance
and the level of duties;
• changes in company law.

Aeroflot carefully monitors changes in legislation and takes an active part in
work by international organisations, influencing development of the legal and
regulatory environment of the air transport industry

Risks associated with change in the geopolitical
situation in regions which are part of the Aeroflot route
network

The Company attaches great importance to the analysis of country-specific
risks, choosing appropriate response in specific regions (suspension of flights,
route changes, increased security measures, strengthening of sanitary and
epidemiological control, etc.).

Risks which relate specifically to Aeroflot’s operations,
and which apply to all players in the sector

Aeroflot’s ability to manage such operational risks depends on the quality of
its management and the strategy it choses, with a strong focus on maximising
safety and tight operational controls.
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Type of risk

Description

Measures to minimise the risk

Risks of fluctuations in
demand

Risks associated with seasonality of demand for air
transport services

The airline industry is subject to seasonal fluctuations in demand for its
services. Peak demand coincides with vacation and holiday periods, when
capacity utilisation on both domestic and international routes is at its peak.
Aeroflot is expanding its route network to countries that are attractive to
tourists year-round in order to optimise its own load. The Company also carries
out a variety of promotions, including the sale of tickets at attractive rates to
increase traffic in the winter months. In addition, Aeroflot flights traditionally
offer convenient departure and arrival times, supporting levels of passenger
traffic even in periods of decreasing demand for air travel.

Reputational risks

Risks associated with damage to the Company’s
reputation

Aeroflot places considerable value on its reputation as a high-quality and safe
carrier, and as a reliable business partner. The Company therefore takes all
necessary steps to protect its reputation and its brand.
Management is constantly focused on the analysis and improvement of
services and introduction of new passenger service technologies, including
use of external contractors, which enhance customer loyalty.

Environmental risks

Risks associated with the impact of Aeroflot’s
business on the environment

Aeroflot seeks to minimise adverse effects on the environment, renewing
and upgrading its fleet by adding latest generation aircraft, which benefit from
greater fuel efficiency and lower levels of harmful emissions. The Company
has developed and approved guidelines on environmental management in
accordance with the requirements of ISO 14000.

Competition risks

Risks associated with the activity of other market
players

The level of competition from Russian and international airlines is high.
Aeroflot carefully monitors and quickly responds to market trends, offering
optimal prices and high-quality services. The company offers its passengers
the most convenient and fastest connections between domestic and
international flights, reducing waiting time for transit passengers to a
minimum.
Aeroflot is developing its cooperation with members of the SkyTeam alliance
through code-sharing agreements, expanding the route network and offering
passengers more extensive travel opportunities.
Aeroflot maintains strong passenger satisfaction by ensuring a high level of
safety, quality of service and an extensive network of routes, and also by
developing a loyalty programme, all of which support the Company’s longterm competitive advantages.
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6.1. Letter from the Deputy CEO for Finance
and Network and Revenue Management
Dear Shareholders,
In 2013, Aeroflot Group took another step towards achieving its strategic goals.

We are maintaining steady growth of our operating indicators and improving our
financial results.

The Group’s financial results in 2013 show a strong positive dynamics. Group

revenue increased by 12.3% to USD 9,135.7 million, thanks mainly to an increase
in passenger traffic of 14.3%. Aeroflot Group has kept its revenue yield per

structure and the avoidance of duplication between jobs. These figures show
the efficiency of the Group’s approach to management of human resources.

Work on efficiency in maintenance and repair also contributed to a reduction in
unit costs. Focus on expanding the range of in-house maintenance and repair
services in order to minimise the use of external contractors and productivity

growth led to lower unit labour costs for servicing the main types of aircraft in
the fleet of Aeroflot Group.

available seat kilometer at a stable level for several years by retaining its market

INTEGRATION OF SUBSIDIARY AIRLINES

business.

approach towards the management of airline assets. For the first time

leadership, increasing the efficiency of operations and expanding the scale of its

Group EBITDA increased by 1.5 times in 2013 to USD 1,000.0 million. EBITDA
margin increased from 8.2% in 2012 to 10.9% in 2013, underscoring the

efficiency of cost management by the Group. Profit for the year increased

by 38.5% to USD 230.3 million. Cash flows from operating activities in 2013

increased by 68.1% year-on-year to USD 908.9 million. Aeroflot Group continues
to provide stable and attractive rates of return to its shareholders: base earnings
per share rose by 2.6 US cents in the reporting year to a level of 23.9 US cents.
The Group strengthened its financial position in 2013 by reducing the use of

borrowing, maintaining high levels of liquidity, and also through a well-judged

hedging policy. Cash and short-term investments had risen by 15.4% year-on-

year as of 31 December 2013, to USD 578.4 million. Cash flow from operating
activities was USD 908.9 million and the current ratio was at a level of 1.2.

The Group continued to integrate subsidiaries and to adopt a multi-brand
since the beginning of the integration process in 2011, Aeroflot’s airline

subsidiaries achieved a break even aggregated operating result. Synergies from
the integration of subsidiaries into the Group structure have helped to improve
the Group’s financial performance. A number of projects were announced in

2013, which will contribute to achieving key objectives and ensure the growth of
Aeroflot Group’s business in the future:

• Aurora Airlines was created by merging two regional players,

OJSC  Vladivostok Avia and OJSC Sahalinskiye Aviatrassi. The new operator
will work in the Russian Far East market, which has promising passenger
traffic potential of six million people.

• The Group decided to establish a new airline, Dobrolet, which will take

a substantial share of the emerging market for low-cost transport in Russia,
providing passengers with high quality transportation services at affordable
prices.

Strong financial performance has been made possible by tight control over

REACHING OUR FULL POTENTIAL

development of the route network, and a flexible fare policy.

in the domestic and international air transportation market in order to achieve

costs, productivity gains, optimisation of operations at  the Group’s subsidiaries,

IMPROVEMENT OF OPERATING EFFICIENCY

Aeroflot Group is working continuously to improve the financial efficiency of its
business. In 2013, we achieved a steady reduction of per unit operating costs

thanks to strict cost control, use of a young and modern aircraft fleet, greater fuel
efficiency, and development of our maintenance and repair system.

A key factor contributing to the lower per unit operating costs in 2013 was

optimisation of fuel costs and maintenance of fuel efficiency levels of the aircraft

In 2013, Aeroflot Group laid the foundation for further growth of its business

the Group’s strategic targets in the future. We have invested enormous efforts
in the development of Group companies, proved our ability to control costs,
made significant progress in the integration of subsidiaries, and identified

new directions for development. Certainly, the favourable macroeconomic

situation has contributed to our strong performance. New challenges lie ahead

in 2014 when we must maintain strong market performance by our companies,
realising the existing potential for business growth and assuring best-possible
performance by JSC Aeroflot and the Group as a whole.

fleet. The Group extended  formula pricing to its airline subsidiaries and expanded
the number of suppliers in order to obtain more competitive fuel prices, and also
continued to actively monitor levels of fuel consumption throughout the Group.

The unit share of fuel costs per seat kilometer continued to decline in 2013 and
reached 2.28 US cents per ASK (down from 2.39 US cents in 2012), while fuel

consumption per tonne kilometer decreased by 2 grams to 313 grams per TKM.
Increased productivity also contributed to the reduction of unit costs. Labor

productivity increased by 9% in 2013. Personnel numbers rose by only 6% while

passenger numbers increased by 14.3%, thanks to optimisation of the personnel

116

Deputy CEO

for Finance and Network

and Revenue Management

Shamil Kurmashov

RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

APPENDIXES

AEROFLOT | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

6.2. Review of IFRS financial results
MAIN FINANCIAL RESULTS IN 2013
USD million

2013

Revenue

2012

9,135.7

Operating costs

8,514.2

Operating profit

430.3

Profit for the year

Income tax

73.7

357.7

20.3

230.3

166.3

38.5

10.9

8.2

2.7 p.p.

15.2

2.3 p.p.

191.4

EBITDA

1,000.0

EBITDAR

1,602.2

1,238.3

2.1

3.1

EBITDAR margin,%

9.4

357.7

200.0

EBITDA margin,%

12.3

7,780.4

621.5

Profit before income tax

Change, %

8,138.1

671.3

17.5

Net debt/EBITDA

4.5

49.0
29.4

-32.3

The growth of main operating indicators of Aeroflot Group by 14.0% resulted

2012. High profit for the year was achieved through revenue growth and good

million. Profit for the year was USD 230.3 million, which is 38.5% more than in

through operating improvements by subsidiary airlines.

in an increase of IFRS revenue by 12.3% year-on-year in 2013 to USD 9,135.7

control of costs, which grew more slowly than revenue (by 9.4%), as well as

MAIN FINANCIAL RESULTS OF AEROFLOT GROUP SUBSIDIARY AIRLINES IN 2013*
USD million
Revenue

EBITDA

Operating profit

Profit for the year

2013

JSC Aeroflot

6,949.1
845.8
542.6
281.2

2012

Change

604.4

+241.4

5,997.2

Total for airline subsidiaries

2013

15.9%

372.2

2,401.0
88.1

+170.4

229.8

13.7

+51.4

2012

Change

-64.3

+152.4

2,130.5

12.7%

-145.8

-105.3

+159.5

-186.6

+81.3

*Before intercompany elimination
The main positive result in 2013 was the achievement of aggregate operating

profit by subsidiary airlines. The financial results of subsidiaries continue to pull
down the net income of the whole Group, but most subsidiary airlines have
substantially reduced their losses.

REVENUE

Revenue from passenger flights accounted for 85.1% of the Group’s total
revenue in 2013. The share of airline agreements revenue was 5.8%. Cargo
flights brought 3.4% of revenues.

REVENUE
USD million

2013

Scheduled passenger flights

7,240.4

Cargo flights

307.0

Charter passenger flights

539.3

Other revenue

518.8

Airline agreements revenue

Total

2012

Change, %

363.7

-15.6

6,247.0

507.5

530.2

502.5

9,135.7

8,138.1

517.4

15.9
6.3
5.5

0.3

12.3

Revenue from passenger flights in 2013 amounted to USD 7,779.7 million,
which is 15.2% higher year-on-year. The significant increase was mainly due

to a growth in passenger traffic volumes. The Group transported 31.4 million
passengers in 2013, which is 14.3% more than in 2012.

Revenue from cargo flights was USD 307.0 million, which is 15.6% less than

AEROFLOT GROUP REVENUE BREAKDOWN, %

in 2012, reflecting the decision in 2013 to cease operations of cargo aircraft and
limit cargo services to the baggage compartments of passenger aircraft.

Airline agreements revenue totalled USD 530.2 million in 2013, which is 5.5%
higher than a year earlier.

5.9

5.8

5.7

Scheduled
passenger flights

3.4

Cargo flights

Charter
passenger flights

79.2

Airline agreements
revenue

Other revenue
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OPERATING COSTS

Group operating costs in 2013 were USD 8,514.2 million, showing growth of

12.3%, respectively) thanks to efficient cost control.

increase in traffic in 2013.

The Group’s operating costs grew more slowly than revenue (by 9.4% and

USD 733.8 million or 9.4% year-on-year. The increase was mainly due to an

Aircraft fuel is the largest item in Group costs (29.2% of the total costs), followed
by aircraft and passenger servicing (17.0%) and staff costs (16.7%).

MAIN COST ITEMS
Cost items (USD million)

2013

2012

Change, %

1,241.8

14.7

Aircraft fuel

2,484.5

2,287.5

Aircraft and passenger servicing

1,444.8

1,274.2

13.4

Sales and marketing

402.2

353.6

13.7

Depreciation and amortisation

334.7

269.1

24.4

Passenger services

214.0

177.3

20.7

Staff costs

Aircraft maintenance

Operating lease expenses

Administration and general expenses

Communication expenses

Food and beverages on board

Cost of duty free goods sold
Custom duties

Insurance expenses

Other expenses
Total

1,423.9
639.7

8.6

583.5

602.1

9.6

567.0

272.0

255.2

185.4

150.9

154.6

6.2
6.6

22.9

93.5

6.0

43.8

65.3

58.1

-89.7

40.5

-3.7

44.6

39.0

267.5

-1.8

383.6

8,514.2

-30.3

7,780.4

9.4

The fastest growing cost items in 2013 were passenger services (20.7%),

EBITDAR

depreciation and amortisation (24.4%), staff costs (14.7%) and sales and

EBITDAR margin increased from 15.2% in 2012 to 17.5% in 2013 due to

food and beverages on board (65.3%), communication expenses (22.9%),
marketing expenses (13.7%). The increase of these cost items reflects growth of

business scale, efforts to maintain a high quality of service and an increase in the
number of personnel as a result of fleet expansion.

EBITDA

Group EBITDA increased by 1.5 times in 2013, to USD 1,000.0 million. EBITDA
margin increased from 8.2% in 2012, to 10.9% in 2013 due to effective cost

control by the Group, increase of fuel efficiency of the Group fleet and increase
of productivity and synergies from the multi-brand structure, which is being
implemented by Aeroflot Group.

Group EBITDAR also increased in 2013 by 29.4% to USD 1,602.2 million.
the optimisation of operating lease costs of Group airlines and favourable leasing
rate trends.

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Finance income of the Group in 2013 totalled USD 84.3 million, down by 49.3% from

2012. The decline was due to change in foreign exchange gain and other finance income,
which was at a high level in 2012 as a consequence of one-off renegotiation of finance
lease contracts at OJSC AK Rossiya.

Finance costs amounted to USD 276.7 million. The increase of finance costs by more

than 1.5 times was due to foreign exchange losses in 2013, reflecting greater volatility on
currency markets.

FINANCE INCOME (USD million)

Gain on derivative financial instruments

Interest income on bank deposits and security deposits
Gain on disposal of investments
Foreign exchange gain
Other finance income
Total finance income

FINANCE COSTS (USD million)
Foreign exchange loss
Interest expense

Loss on derivative financial instruments

Loss on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Loss on disposal and impairment of investments
Other finance costs
Total finance costs
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2013

2012

Change, %

17.0

13.9

22.3

56.9
10.4

13.3

-

-

89.2

84.3

166.4

105.1

-

-

2013

50.0

327.8

-

-

-49.3

2012

Change, %

104.3

110.9

-6.0

29.5

33.0

37.4

-

0.4

276.7

11.2

10.0

1.6

166.7

-

233.9
-10.6

-75.0
66.0
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There was also substantial impact on the finance income and costs by the results

YIELD

foreign exchange risk to ensure balance of the currency structure of the Group’s

unchanged on domestic routes. Maintenance and slight growth of yield rates at

associated with derivative financial instruments (hedging of fuel prices and of
revenue and expenditure).

Yield rates on international routes increased in 2013, but remained almost

a time of major increase in business volumes confirm the efficiency of the fare

policy, assisted by an extensive and attractive passenger route network, which

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Group profit for the year increased by 38.5% in 2013, to USD 230.3 million.

has enabled the growth of transit passenger traffic.

Substantial increase of profit for the year compared with 2012 enabled

a 12.2% increase in basic earnings per share, which amounted to 23.9 US cents
in 2013 compared with 21.3 US cents in 2012.

PASSENGER TRAFFIC YIELDS, US CENTS/PKM

8.7

8.7

9.5

8.3

2009

9.8

8.7

2010

2011

International flights
(scheduled and charter)

8.3

CARGO TRAFFIC YIELDS, US CENTS/TKM

10.5

10.4

8.5

2012

25.2

2013

Domestic flights
(scheduled)

CASH FLOWS
OPERATING CASH FLOW

2009

29.7

30.0

30.1

31.0

2010

2011

2012

2013

Cash flows from operating activities increased by 68.1% in 2013, to USD 908.9

Major non-cash adjustments to reconcile profit before income tax with cash

investing and financing activities, increased by 81.6%, from USD 295.1 million

• a change in provisions by USD 61.0 million, mainly due to provision for

million. Total cash flows in 2013, not including depreciation and cash flows from
to USD 536.0 million. Profit before income tax for 2013 rose by 20.3%, to USD
430.3 million. Cash flows effects from changes in working capital increased

by USD 38.0 million, to USD 9.7 million. Foreign exchange gain of USD 89.2

million in 2013 was followed by a loss of USD 105.1 million on this item in 2013

due to a gradual weakening of the rouble against other world currencies in 2013
(in particular, the rouble depreciated against the dollar from RUB 30.3727 on 1
January 2013 to RUB 32.7292 on 31 December 2013).

406.5
228.5
184.3
145.3
2009

908.9

Depreciation
and amortisation

540.6
369.2
334.7
269.1
221.1
179.8
146.2
146.0
2010

2011

Net cash flows
from operating activities

2012

expenses needed to bring the aircraft to the required condition before their
return at the end of the operating lease period; and

• increase of depreciation and amortisation by 24.4% compared with 2012 by

USD 65.6 million, primarily due to growth in the historical cost of fixed assets
in 2013 by 12.6%.

FREE CASH FLOW

Free cash flow in 2013 amounted to USD 796.0 million, which is 37.0% more than

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES, NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES AND DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION, MLN USD

739.3

flows from operating activities are related to:

in 2012 (+214.9 million). The change reflects increase in cash flows from operating
activities by USD 368.3 million in 2013 and reduction of cash flows from investing
activities from USD 40.5 million in 2012 to USD -112.9 million in 2013.

The major factors causing reduction of cash flows from investing activities in
2013 compared with 2012 were substantial cash flows in 2012 from:

• receipt of payment for sale of shares owned by JSC Aeroflot in the CJSC
Aerofirst for USD 36.2 million;

149.8

2013

Capital expenditures

• the sale of fixed assets for USD 87.5 million (fixed asset sales in 2013
generated USD 2.1 million);

• return of prepayments for aircraft in the amount of USD 292.6 million following

the receipt of five Airbus A330 aircraft and three Airbus A321 aircraft, obtained
under a finance lease (in 2013 this item was worth USD 244.4 million in

connection with the receipt of four Boeing 777 aircraft, obtained under a

finance lease).

Capital expenditures in 2013 were USD 149.8 million, which is 16.7% less than
in 2012.
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NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
AND FREE CASH FLOW, MLN USD

545.8

(70.8)

739.3

228.5

2009

Free cash flow

2010

581.1
369.2

The internal funding ratio (the ratio of cash flow from operations to capital
expenditures) was 606.7% in 2013, up from 300.7% in 2012.

796.0

908.9

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

540.6

Net cash and cash equivalents increased by 14.9% in 2013 to USD 570.1 million,
partly due to the effect of exchange rate changes in the amount of USD -38.2

(65.0)
2011

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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2012

Net cash flows
from operating activities

million (the figure in 2012 was USD 23.6 million).

2013

AGGREGATED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
USD million

2013

Profit before income tax

2012

Change

Change. %

334.7

269.1

65.6

24.4

105.1

-89.2

194.3

-28.3

38.0

430.3

Depreciation and amortisation
Change in provisions

57.6

Foreign exchange loss/(gain)

Other adjustments

Change in working capital

-3.4

106.9

165.8

-1.9

-

9.7

Restricted cash

357.7

Income tax paid, net

-133.5

-131.1

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

-138.5

-167.1

Net cash flows from operating activities

908.9

Purchases of investments

-11.3

Proceeds from sale of investments (including equity accounted investments)

7.2

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary

-

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

2.1

Dividends received

1.8

(Prepayments made)/return of prepayments for aircraft, net

72.6

61.0

-35.5

-1.9

-

-2.4

368.3

-12.7

1.4

24.8

87.5
3.4

-

-

-58.9

540.6

36.2

20.3

28.6

-

1.8

68.1

-17.1

-11.0

-17.6

-71.0

-85.4

-97.6

-74.1

-36.2
-1.6

-

-47.1

19.8

76.4

-56.6

Net cash flows (used in)/received from investing activities

-112.9

40.5

-153.4

Proceeds from borrowings

204.1

605.5

-401.4

-66.3

9.7

1.4

14.4

Return/(payment) of lease security deposits, net

6.0

Free cash flow

796.0

-8.0

581.1

Repayment of borrowings

-457.8

-703.9

Repayment of the principal element of finance lease liabilities

-307.5

-291.9

-40.5

-62.2

-683.9

73.9

Proceeds from sales of treasury shares/(Purchase of treasury shares), net

11.1

Interest paid

-89.7

Dividends paid

Other cash flows (used in)/received from financing activities

-3.6

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents

-38.2

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

496.2

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

14.0

214.9

246.1
-15.6

-75.3

-14.4

16.5

-20.1

-

-

37.0

-35.0

5.3

19.1

21.7

-34.9

-501.6

-182.3

36.3

103.1

-29.2

-28.3

73.9

14.9

23.6

-61.8

-

393.1

103.1

As of 31.12.2012

Change

Change, %

77.4

15.4

570.1

496.2

26.2

AGGREGATED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
USD million
ASSETS

Cash and short-term investments
Other current assets

Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
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As of 31.12.2013
578.4   

1,910.7   

2,489.1

501.0   

1,831.5   

2,332.5

2,712.5   

2,435.9   

3,902.3

3,913.4

1,189.8   

6,391.4   

79.2   

156.6

276.6   

4.3

6.7

11.4

1,477.5   

-287.7   

-19.5

6,245.9   

145.5   

2.3

-11.1

-0.3
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As of 31.12.2013

As of 31.12.2012

Change

2,076.8   

2,246.0   

-169.2   

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

2,650.0   

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

6,391.4   

Total equity

2,373.6   

1,664.6   

1,626.3   

Change, %
-7.5

276.4   

11.6

145.5   

2.3

38.3   

6,245.9   

2.4

ASSETS STRUCTURE, %

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The value of non-current assets of Aeroflot Group increased by 0.3% in 2013 to
USD 3,902.3 million. The change was mainly due to an increase in value of the
item ‘Property, plant and equipment ‘ by USD 276.6 million due to the receipt
‘Other non-current assets’ was mainly due to the reclassification of a part of

reclassification of prepayments for aircraft, delivery of which is expected in 2014,
to short-term prepayments.

2012

Current assets increased by 6.7% to USD 2,489.1 million. This change was
mainly due to an increase in the following items:

• ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ by USD 73.9 million. Increase of this item was due
to an increase of sums held on account at banks and of term deposits up to

90 days;

receivables grew in 2013 due to an increase of trade receivables from agents

assets) by USD 60.1 million was due to the sale by JSC Aeroflot of shares in

Total equity capital, including minorities, increased by 2.4% or USD 38.3 in 2013,

Detailed information on share capital is presented in Note 33 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Unit

%

EQUITY

(profit for the period attributable to company shareholders).

CJSC Aerofirst in January 2013.

ROE*

9.1

earnings, which changed mainly due to income of USD 251,7 million for 2013

A reduction in the item ‘Assets classified as held for sale’ (part of current

million USD

2013

Other current assets
Cash and short-term
investments

The biggest contribution to change of equity was from growth in retained

relating to passenger flights as volumes of sales grew.

million USD

8.0

Other non-current
assets
Property, plant
and equipment

to USD 1,664.6 million

• ‘Account receivables and prepayments’ by USD 148.2 million. Trade account

Equity (average)*

29.9

29.3

CURRENT ASSETS

Profit for the year*

42.4

39.0

assets from ‘Derivative financial instruments’ to ‘Current assets’ , as well as the

Return on equity

18.6

23.7

of four Boeing 777 aircraft under a financial lease. A reduction in the item

2013

230.3

1,645.5
14.0

2012

166.3

1,515.3
11.0

2011

491.3

1,279.6

38.4

2010

2009

1,080.4

971.6

253.2

23.4

85.8

8.8

*Including non-controlling interest.

CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

payable increased by USD 116.0 million, mainly due an increase in procurement,

2,650.0 million. The change was mainly due to the growth of finance lease

In 2013 current liabilities decreased by 7.5%, or USD 169.2 million. Accounts

increase of staff-related liabilities by USD 35.9 million and a growth in finance

lease obligations by USD 19.1 million. There was a substantial decrease of shortterm borrowings and the current portion of long-term borrowings (by USD 312.4

Non-current liabilities grew by 11.6% or 276.4 million in 2013 to a level of USD
liabilities by 18.3% or USD 300.1 million due to the addition of four Boeing 777
aircraft to the fleet.

million), mainly due to redemption of an exchange bond issue in 2013.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

A reduction in ‘Liabilities directly related to assets classified as held for sale’ by

are mainly intended for the replenishment of working capital.

USD 25.5 million was caused by the sale of Aeroflot’s interest in CJSC Aerofirst
in January 2013.

Aeroflot Group has taken loans at both fixed and floating rates of interest. They

The main change of loan liabilities in 2013 was from repayment of series BO-01
and BO- 02 exchange bonds with total nominal value of USD 376.8 million and
the placement of series BO-03 with nominal value of USD 152.8 million and
interest rate of 8.3% per annum.
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LOAN PORTFOLIO OF AEROFLOT GROUP ON 31 DECEMBER 2013 (USD MILLION)
Bank name
Bond series BO-03

Bank BFA

AB Rossiya
CitiBank

Sberbank of RF

OJSC ALFA-BANK

Other
Total

Interest rate
8.3%

11.9%, 12.4%

Currency

Short-term loans
and borrowings

RUB

3.1

RUB

77.3

Libor + 3.5%

USD

24.3

13.0%

RUB

30.5

-

153.6

10.6%

11.0%, 11.5%
-

LIQUIDITY

RUB

RUB

USD

Long-term loans and
borrowings
152.8
15.3

-

45.8

18.4

15.3

20.4
-

-

6.3

255.9

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY STRUCTURE, %

The Group maintains its liquidity at a satisfactory level. As of 31 December

2013 cash and short-term investments amounted to USD 578.4 million, which
is 15.4%, more than a year earlier. Cash flows from operating activities were

26.0

USD 908.9 million, increased from USD 540.6 million a year earlier. The current
ratio on 31 December 2013 was 1.2, up from 1.0 on 31 December 2012.  

26.0

38.0

41.5

36.0
2012
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32.5
2013

Equity
Non-current
liabilities
Current liabilities
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6.3. Statement of Management Responsibility for
the Preparation and Approval of the Consolidated Financial
Statements for 2013
The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the independent auditor’s responsibilities stated in

the independent auditor’s report set out below, is made with a view to distinguishing the respective responsibilities of
management and those of the independent auditor in relation to the consolidated financial statements of Joint Stock
Company Aeroflot - Russian Airlines and its subsidiaries (the “Group“).

Management is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that present fairly the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations, cash flows and
changes in equity for the year then ended, in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS“).
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for:
• selecting suitable accounting principles and applying them consistently;
• making judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• stating whether IFRS have been complied with, subject to any material departures being disclosed and explained in
the consolidated financial statements; and

• preparing the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Management is also responsible for:

• designing, implementing and maintaining an effective system of internal controls, throughout the Group;

• maintaining proper accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position of

the Group, and which enable them to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group comply with IFRS;

• maintaining statutory accounting records in compliance with local legislation and accounting standards in the respective
jurisdictions in which the Group operates;

• taking such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group; and
• preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013 (set out on pages 1-81) were

approved on 12 March 2014 and signed on behalf of management by:

V.G. Saveliev

Sh.R. Kurmashov

General Director

Deputy General Director for Finance

and Network and Revenue Management
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6.4. Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of Joint Stock Company Aeroflot – Russian Airlines
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Joint Stock Company Aeroflot – Russian

Airlines and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31

December 2013 and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash

flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the

risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Group as at 31 December 2013, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.

12 March 2014

Moscow, Russian Federation

ZAO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit, 10 Butyrsky Val, Moscow, Russian Federation, 125047
T: +7 495 967 6000, F: +7 495 967 6001, www.pwc.ru

124

RISK MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL RESULTS

APPENDIXES

AEROFLOT | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

6.5. IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements for 2013
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
Note

Traffic revenue

5

Other revenue

6

Revenue

Operating costs, less staff costs and depreciation and amortisation
Staff costs

Depreciation and amortisation

7

Operating costs

Operating profit

17

Income tax

10

11

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(6,191.4)

(334.7)

(269.1)

(83.9)

Share of financial results of equity accounted investments
Profit before income tax

(6,671.7)

9

10

Finance costs

1,019.9

9,135.7

(1,423.9)

Finance income

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

Shareholders of the  Company
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

166.4

357.7

(276.7)

(166.7)

430.3

357.7

1.2

(200.0)

230.3

0.3

(191.4)

166.3
222.1

(21.4)

(55.8)

23.9

21.3

1,054.1

1,044.2

23.9

Weighted average number of diluted shares outstanding (millions)

(78.1)

84.3

621.5

Basic earnings per share (US cents)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions)

(1,241.8)

(7,780.4)

230.3

Diluted earnings per share (US cents)

8,138.1

(8,514.2)

251.7

Non-controlling interest

2012

7,118.2

1,049.0

8

21, 22

Other operating costs and income, net

2013

8,086.7

1,054.1

166.3

21.1

1,054.9

Approved on 12 March 2014 and signed on behalf of management.
V.G. Saveliev

Sh.R. Kurmashov

General Director

Deputy General Director for Finance

and Network and Revenue Management

The consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the notes set out on pages 132 to 165 which are forming part of the consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
Profit for the year

Note

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets transferred to
profit for the year

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

(Loss)/gain on the change in fair value of derivative financial instruments

Deferred tax related to the (loss)/gain on the change in fair value of derivative
financial instruments
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR
Total comprehensive income /(loss) attributable to:

24
11

2013

166.3

5.2

(0.1)

(124.7)

100.3

0.1

(2.3)

(153.1)

124.0

77.2

290.3

(33.7)

Shareholders of the Company

86.4

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

77.2

Non-controlling interest

2012

230.3

(9.2)

26.1

352.3

(62.0)

290.3

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the notes set out on pages 132 to 165 which are forming part of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
Note

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Cash and cash equivalents

12

570.1

496.2

Accounts receivable and prepayments

14

1,701.6

1,553.4

Aircraft lease security deposits

13

12.4

Derivative financial instruments

24

ASSETS

Current assets

Short-term financial investments

Current income tax prepayment

Expendable spare parts and inventories

Assets classified as held for sale
Total current assets

8.3

14.6

4.8

68.8

8.1

15

150.5

141.1

16

-

60.1

31.6

-

2,489.1

2,332.5

11

66.4

95.7

Long-term financial investments

18

186.3

200.2

Other non-current assets

19

181.9

270.4

Non-current assets

Deferred tax assets

Investments in associates

Aircraft lease security deposits

17

13

Prepayments for aircraft

20

Intangible assets

22

Derivative financial instruments

24

Property, plant and equipment
Goodwill

Total non-current assets

3.8

33.3

376.4

3.2

35.4

445.6

21

2,712.5

2,435.9

23

203.5

225.8

3,902.3

3,913.4

TOTAL ASSETS

102.3

35.9

6,391.4

108.7

92.5

6,245.9

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

24

6.5

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

25

1,107.7

Deferred revenue related to frequent flyer programme

26

17.6

Finance lease liabilities

28

265.4

16

-

Unearned traffic revenue

Provisions

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings
Liabilities directly related to assets classified as held for sale
Total current liabilities

126

27

29

499.1
26.9

-

989.1

502.9
11.8
4.4

246.3

153.6

466.0

2,076.8

2,246.0

25.5

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Note

Long-term borrowings

30

Provisions

27

Finance lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

1,635.4

11

50.3

73.7

Other non-current liabilities

31

24

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital

Treasury shares reserve

33

Accumulated profit on disposal of treasury shares

Hedge reserve

Share-based payment reserve
Retained earnings

50.6

56.9

161.9

2,650.0

230.9

2,373.6

4,619.6

51.6

51.6

(129.5)

50.7

49.2

(0.3)

24

39

(0.4)

(303.5)

(167.6)

(11.7)

-

2,160.1

1,837.7

TOTAL EQUITY

1,664.6

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

45.2

145.4

(109.2)

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interest

3.0

138.9

4,726.8

Investment revaluation reserve

Accumulated currency translation reserve

240.0

1,935.5

26

Total non-current liabilities

255.9

31 December 2012

28

Deferred revenue related to frequent flyer programme

Derivative financial instruments

31 December 2013

(173.1)

6,391.4

17.0
6.8

1,948.1
1,775.2

(148.9)

1,626.3

6,245.9

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the notes set out on pages 132 to 165 which are forming part of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
Cash flows from operating activities:

Note

Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation

Change in impairment provision for accounts receivable and prepayments

Loss on accounts receivable write-off

Change in impairment provision for obsolete expendable spare parts and  
inventory

Accrual/(release) of provision for impairment of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash operations, related to assets classified as held for sale

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Accounts payable write-off

21, 22
14
9

21

2013

2012

430.3

357.7

334.7

269.1

19.3

12.3

(26.2)

11.8

(0.3)

6.1

9.3

(0.4)

(3.7)

(Gain)/loss on sale of investments and accrual of provision for impairment of
investments

10

(10.4)

Change in provisions

27

Foreign exchange loss/(gain)

10

Change in the share-based payment provision

39

Loss on change in the fair value of derivative financial instruments
Interest expense

Loss on write-off of VAT recoverable

Change in other provisions and other assets impairments

17

10

Gain on derivative financial instruments, net
Dividend income

Loss on goodwill write-off

Total operating cash flows before working capital changes

(1.2)

-

(9.2)

(0.3)
10.0

29.5

33.0

10

104.3

110.9

9

0.6

Other operating  income

Other finance costs and income, net

(0.5)

5.8

9

Share of financial results in equity accounted investments

12.3

51.5

105.1

(1.1)

6.1

(7.0)
10
9

(1.7)

(89.2)

3.3

0.2

(1.7)

(4.7)

0.5

(48.4)

(1.5)

(3.6)

(19.5)
-

(2.1)

43.6

1,034.6

700.0

Change in accounts receivable and prepayments

(94.7)

(216.1)

Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

136.4

232.7

Change in expendable spare parts and inventories

(32.0)

Total operating cash flows after working capital changes
Restricted cash

Income taxes paid

Income tax received

Net cash flows from operating activities

128

1,044.3
12

(1.9)

(44.9)
671.7
-

(133.8)

(153.0)

908.9

540.6

0.3

21.9

RISK MANAGEMENT
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Note

Proceeds from sale of investments

2013

2012

7.2

Purchases of investments

23.0

(11.3)

(12.7)

-

36.2

Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

(138.5)

(167.1)

Prepayments for aircraft

(224.6)

(216.2)

6.0

(8.0)

Proceeds from sale of equity accounted investments
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

16

Dividends received

Return of prepayments for aircraft

Proceeds from borrowings

204.1

Repayment of  borrowings

Repayment of the principal element of finance lease liabilities

3.4

292.6

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares

40.5

(703.9)

(89.7)

(75.3)

11.5

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares to non-controlling shareholders

0.4

Purchase of treasury shares

(0.4)

Dividends paid

(Purchase of)/proceeds from derivative financial instruments

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents

-

(0.2)

(683.9)

(501.6)

73.9

12

9.9

(62.2)

(38.2)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(291.9)

(40.5)

(4.0)

Net cash used in financing activities

605.5

(457.8)

(307.5)

Interest paid

Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases

87.5

(112.9)

Cash flows from financing activities:

Non-cash transactions as part of the investing activities:

2.1

244.4

Net cash flows (used in)/received from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

1.8

1.8

Return/(payment) of lease security deposits, net

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

-

496.2

16.5

23.6

103.1
393.1

570.1

496.2

584.2  

685.2

The consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the notes set out on pages 132 to 165 which are forming part of the consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

1 January 2012

Note

Profit/(loss) for the year

Total other comprehensive income/(loss)

Investment revaluation
reserve

Accumulated
currency translation
reserve

51.6

(83.4)

(0.3)

(274.1)

-

-

(0.1)

106.5

-

Translation from the functional currency to
the presentation currency
Gain from the change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments less
related deferred tax

Share capital

Accumulated profit on
disposal of treasury
shares less treasury
shares reserve

24,11

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Share-based payments

-

-

-

-

Disposal of treasury shares

-

14.6

-

-

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

-

Additions of treasury shares
Translation from the functional currency to
the presentation currency
Dividends declared

Profit/(loss) for the year

Loss on the change in fair value of
derivative financial instruments less
related deferred tax

Total other comprehensive (loss)/income

-

(11.3)

-

-

51.6

(80.3)

(0.4)

(167.6)

-

-

0.1

(135.9)

24,11

-

-

-

-

-

-

(0.2)

-

Translation from the functional currency to
the presentation currency

-

-

-

31 December 2012

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(0.4)

-

-

Translation from the functional currency to
the presentation currency

-

5.3

Dividends declared

-

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Disposal of a subsidiary
Share-based payments

Additions of treasury shares
Disposal of treasury shares

Sale of treasury shares to non-controlling
shareholders
31 December 2013
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16

-

-

-

51.6

-

-

16.9

-

-

(58.5)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(0.3)

(303.5)

-

-
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Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Hedge reserve

Share-based payment
reserve

Retained earnings

Total

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

(6.8)

10.7

1,790.7

1,488.4

(84.2)

1,404.2

-

-

-

106.4

(6.2)

100.2

-

23.8

-

-

222.1

-

-

-

-

-

(3.9)

-

-

-

-

-

-

222.1

23.8

130.2

(55.8)

-

(6.2)

166.3

23.8

124.0

-

352.3

(62.0)

290.3

-

(0.2)

-

(0.2)

14.6

-

14.6

(11.3)

17.0

6.8

1,948.1

1,775.2

(148.9)

1,626.3

-

-

(1.1)

(136.9)

12.2

(124.7)

-

(28.4)

-

-

(64.7)

251.7

-

(64.7)
251.7

(28.4)

(10.9)

(0.4)

-

(0.4)

-

-

-

(6.8)

-

-

-

-

(0.3)

-

-

-

(11.7)

-

-

-

86.4

-

(6.8)

-

16.9

-

0.9
-

(39.5)

2,160.1

(28.4)

(10.9)

(165.3)

-

-

230.3

-

-

(21.4)

(67.4)

(153.1)

-

(2.7)

-

-

-

(3.9)

-

(11.3)

-

-

-

(3.9)

5.9
-

(39.5)

1,837.7

(9.2)
(0.5)
0.4

(4.0)

(173.1)

77.2

(6.8)

16.9

5.4
0.4

(43.5)

1,664.6

The consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the notes set out on pages 132 to 165 which are forming part of the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 2013
(ALL AMOUNTS IN MILLIONS OF US DOLLARS, UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED)

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS

The principal activities of the Company are the provision of passenger and cargo

was formed as an opened joint stock company following the Russian

aviation services from Moscow Sheremetyevo Airport. The Company and its

decree conferred all the rights and obligations of Aeroflot – Soviet Airlines and

hotel operations. Associated entities mainly comprise aviation security services

air transportation services, both domestically and internationally, and other

Joint Stock Company Aeroflot – Russian Airlines (the “Company“ or “Aeroflot“)

subsidiaries (the “Group“) also conduct activities comprising airline catering and

Government decree in 1992 (hereinafter - the “1992 decree“). The 1992

and other ancillary services.

its structural units upon the Company, including inter-governmental bilateral
agreements and agreements signed with foreign airlines and enterprises in

the field of civil aviation. Following the Decree of the Russian President No. 1009

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Government of the Russian Federation

and Strategic Joint Stock Companies.

owned 51.17% of the Company. The Company’s headquarters are located in

(the “RF“) represented by the Federal Agency for Management of State Property

dated 4 August 2004, the Company was included in the List of Strategic Entities

Moscow at 10 Arbat Street, 119002, RF.

The principal subsidiaries are:
Company name
OJSC Donavia (“Donavia“)

OJSC AK Rossiya (“AK Rossiya“)

OJSC Vladivostok Avia (“Vladavia“)
OJSC AK Aurora (“AK Aurora“)

OJSC Orenburgskie Avialinii (“Orenburgavia“)

Registered address

Principal activity

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

St. Petersburg, RF

Airline

75% minus one share

75% minus one share

Rostov-on-Don, RF

Primorsk Region, RF

CJSC Aerofirst (“Aerofirst“)
CJSC Sherotel

Airline

100.00%

52.16%

52.16%

Airline

100.00%

100.00%

Moscow, RF

Cargo transportation
services

100.00%

100.00%

Moscow, RF

Finance services

100.00%

100.00%

Moscow Region, RF

Trading

-

66.67%

Orenburg, RF

LLC Dobrolet (“Dobrolet“)
CJSC Aeromar

100.00%

Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk, RF

CJSC Aeroflot-Cargo

LLC Aeroflot-Finance (“Aeroflot-Finance“)

Airline

Airline

Moscow, RF

100.00%

Airline

Moscow Region, RF

100.00%

Catering

Moscow Region, RF

100.00%

-

51.00%

Hotel

51.00%

100.00%

100.00%

AK Aurora. The remaining shares will transferred to the governments of the Russian

In October 2013 Aeroflot incorporated Dobrolet, a new 100% subsidiary, in order to

Far East regions which will take an active part in the project development in 2014.

operate low-cost flights. The start of Dobrolet operations is scheduled for the second

An important step in this direction was the Agreement on Cooperation and Joint

quarter of 2014.

Participation in AK Aurora Operations signed on 6 November 2013 between Aeroflot
and the Government of the Sakhalin Region (the “AK Aurora Agreement“).

In 2013, following an order of the Russian Prime-Minister, AK Aurora was founded
based on two Far East airlines – OJSC Sahalinskiye Aviatrassi and Vladavia.

The company’s main goal is to support the social and economic development

During 2013, the Group sold its share in Aerofirst with a gain on disposal of USD

system. The route map was designed taking into account the needs of passengers

16). As of 31 December 2012, assets and liabilities of this entity were classified

10.6 million which was recorded within financial income for 2013 (Notes 10 and

of the Far East through a more efficient and affordable passenger transportation

as held for sale (Note 16).

from all Russian Far East regions. The Company will own at least 51% of shares of

The Group’s major associate is (Note 17):
Company name

CJSC AeroMASH–AB (“AeroMASH–AB“)

Registered address

Principal activity

Moscow Region, Russia

31 December 2013

Aviation security

45,00%

31 December 2012
45,00%

The table below provides information on the Group’s aircraft fleet as at 31 December 2013 (number of items):
Type of aircraft

Ownership

Il-96-300

An-24
Mi-8

Total owned

Aeroflot

Donavia

AK Rossiya

Orenburgavia

Vladavia

Owned

6v

-

-

-

-

Owned

-

-

-

-

3#

Owned

-

-

-

(no. of items)

-

6

-

-

-

AK Aurora

Group total

-

6

-

1

3

1

10

-

1

3

Airbus A-319

Finance lease

4

-

9

-

-

-

13

Airbus A-321

Finance lease

21

-

-

-

-

-

21

Airbus A-320

132

Finance lease

1

-

-

-

-

-

1
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Type of aircraft

Ownership

Boeing B-737

Finance lease

Airbus A-330

Boeing B-777
An-148
Tu-204

Total finance lease
SSJ 100

Finance lease

Donavia

AK Rossiya

Orenburgavia

Vladavia

AK Aurora

Group total

-

-

-

-

-

2

2

-

-

8

Finance lease

4

Finance lease

-

Finance lease

51

Operating lease

14

Boeing B-767

Operating lease

5

MD-11

Operating lease

3*

Operating lease

-

Operating lease

Boeing B-737

Operating lease

Airbus A-330

Boeing B-777
DHC 8 S-300
DHC 8 S-200

Total operating lease

Operating lease

Operating lease

Total fleet

-

-

15

-

8

5

-

-

-

3

-

-

-

-

99

143

-

-

10

10

6*

-

-

-

6^

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2

-

7

9

-

-

-

-

3

-

-

6

8

-

-

-

38

Operating lease

Airbus A-320

-

-

10

Operating lease

Airbus A-321

AEROFLOT | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

Aeroflot

Operating lease

Airbus A-319
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-

6

-

8

-

4
6

-

6

2

61

-

-

3

-

-

10

26

-

66

-

14

5

21#

-

2

28

-

3

-

-

3

-

-

-

19

34

-

-

-

-

24

24

-

-

-

-

3

6

10

-

15

8

2

13

3

3
2

168

239

– three of these aircraft are not operated as at 31 December 2013.
– all these aircraft are not operated as at 31 December 2013.
– one of these aircraft is not operated as at 31 December 2013.
^
– four of these aircraft are not operated as at 31 December 2013.
v

*
#

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SUMMARY
OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(iii) is able to use its powers with regard to the investee in order to influence

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared

The existence and effect of substantive rights, including substantive potential

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of US Dollars

over another entity. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have practical

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS“).
(“USD million“), except where specifically noted otherwise.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical

cost convention except for financial instruments which are initially recognised at
fair value; financial assets available for sale and financial instruments measured
at fair value through profit or loss, as well as derivative financial instruments to

which specific hedge accounting rules are applicable. The principal accounting

the amount of its income.

voting rights, are considered when assessing whether the Group has power

ability to exercise that right when decisions about the direction of the relevant

activities of the investee need to be made. The Group may have power over an

investee even when it holds less than majority of voting power in an investee. In
such a case, the Group assesses the size of its voting rights relative to the size

and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders to determine if it has de-facto
power over the investee.

policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are

Protective rights of other investors, such as those that relate to fundamental

presented in the consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

prevent the Group from controlling an investee.

set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods

changes of investee’s activities or apply only in exceptional circumstances, do not

All significant subsidiaries directly or indirectly controlled by the Group are

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to

subsidiaries is set out in Note 1.

control ceases.

included in the consolidated financial statements. A listing of the Group’s principal

the Group (acquisition date) and are deconsolidated from the date on which

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements at

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity

liabilities received in a business combination are measured at their fair values at

The functional currency of each of the Group’s consolidated entities is

operates. Since 1 January 2007, the functional currency of the Company and
its subsidiaries is the Russian Rouble (“RUB“ or “rouble“). The presentation

the acquisition method. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.

currency of the Group’s consolidated financial statements is US Dollar, since

Goodwill is measured through the deduction of net assets of the acquired entity

statements in US Dollars to be more useful for the users of the consolidated

entity, non-controlling share in the acquiree and fair value of the existing equity

the Company’s management considers presentation of the consolidated financial
financial statements.
CONSOLIDATION

Subsidiaries represent investees, including structured entities, which the Group
controls, as the Group:

(i) has the powers to control significant operations which has a considerable

from the total of the following amounts: consideration transferred for the acquired
interest in the acquiree held immediately by the Group before the acquisition

date. Any negative amount (“negative goodwill, bargain purchase“) is recognised

in profit or loss, after management reassesses whether it identified all the assets
acquired and all liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed and reviews
appropriateness of their measurement.

impact on the investee’s income,

The consideration transferred for the acquiree is measured at the fair value

is entitled to such income, and

assumed, including fair value of assets or liabilities from contingent consideration

(ii) runs the risks related to variable income from its involvement with investee or

of the assets given up, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
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arrangements but excludes acquisition related costs such as advisory, legal,

DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATES

the acquisition and incurred for issuing equity instruments are deducted from

interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying

valuation and similar professional services. Transaction costs related to

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained

equity; transaction costs incurred for issuing debt as part of the business

amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for

transaction costs associated with the acquisition are expensed.

or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other

combination are deducted from the carrying amount of the debt and all other

The Group measures non-controlling interest that represents the ownership

interest and entitles the holder to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation on a transaction by transaction basis, either at:
а) fair value, or

the purposes of subsequent accounting for the retained interest in an associate

comprehensive income in respect of that entity, are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that

amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are recycled to
profit or loss.

b) in proportion to the non-controlling share in the net assets of the acquiree.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions

other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

between group companies are eliminated; unrealised losses are also eliminated

retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in

unless the cost cannot be recovered. Unrealised losses are also eliminated,

GOODWILL

uniform accounting policies consistent with the Group’s policies.

performs goodwill impairment testing on an annual basis. Goodwill is allocated

unless the cost cannot be recovered. The Company and its subsidiaries use

Non-controlling interest is that part of the net results and of the equity of a

subsidiary attributable to interests which are not owned, directly or indirectly,
by the Company. Non-controlling interest forms a separate component of
the Group’s equity.

PURCHASES OF NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The Group applies the economic entity model to account for transactions with
owners of non-controlling interest. Any difference between the purchase

consideration and the carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The Group
to the cash generating units (namely, the Group’s subsidiaries). These units

represent the lowest level at which the Group monitors goodwill and are not

larger than an operating segment.

Gains or losses on disposal of an operation within a cash generating unit to which

goodwill has been allocated include the carrying amount of goodwill associated
with the disposed operation, generally measured on the basis of the relative

values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit
which is retained.

is recorded as a capital transaction directly in equity. The Group recognises

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

controlling interest sold as a capital transaction in the consolidated statement of

into each entity’s functional currency at the official exchange rate of the Central

the difference between sales consideration and carrying amount of nonchanges in equity.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence (directly or
indirectly), but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between

20 and 50 percent of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.
The carrying amount of associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition

less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Dividends received from associates

reduce the carrying value of the investment in associates. Other post-acquisition

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated

Bank of the Russian Federation (“CBRF“) at the respective end of the reporting

period. Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of transactions in foreign currency and from

the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
into each entity’s functional currency at year-end official exchange rates of

the CBRF are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for

the year within finance income or costs. Translation at year-end rates does not

apply to non-monetary items in the consolidated statement of financial position
that are measured at historical cost. Non-monetary items measured at fair

changes in the Group’s share of net assets of an associate are recognised as

value in a foreign currency, including equity investments, are translated using

(i) the Group’s share of the net income or losses of associates is included in

of exchange rate changes on non-monetary items measured at fair value in a

follows:

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year as a share of financial
results of equity accounted investments,

the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Effects
foreign currency are recorded as part of the fair value gain or loss.

(ii) the Group’s share in other comprehensive income is recorded as a separate

The results and financial positions of all Group entities (none of which has

(iii) all other changes in the Group’s share of the carrying value of net assets of

different from the presentation currency are translated to the presentation

line item in other comprehensive income,

the associates are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
within the share of financial results of equity accounted investments.

However, when the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds

its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,

the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are

eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates; unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the associate’s assets.
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the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency
currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each consolidated statement of financial position

presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses for each consolidated statement of profit or loss and
cash flows are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is

not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses and cash flows
are translated at the dates of the transactions);

(iii) components of equity are translated at the historic rate; and

(iv) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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The table below presents official US Dollar and Euro to rouble exchange rates
used for the translation:

Official exchange rates

Average rate for 2013

Roubles for 1 US Dollar

Roubles for 1 Euro

32.7292

44.9699

30.3727

40.2286

31.8480

31 December 2013

Average rate for 2012

31.0930

31 December 2012

At 12 March 2014 the official exchange rates of US Dollar and Euro to rouble

were 36.40 roubles for 1 US Dollar and 50.47 roubles for 1 Euro, respectively.
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups (which may include both non-current and
current assets) are classified as assets held for sale if their carrying amount will

be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use (including loss of control of a subsidiary holding the assets) within twelve

42.3129

39.9524

the transportation service or when the passenger requests a refund. Sales

representing the value of tickets that have been issued, but which will never be
used, are recognised as traffic revenue at the date the tickets are issued based
on an analysis of historical patterns of actual sales data. Commissions, which

are payable to the sales agents are recognised as sales and marketing expenses

within operating costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
of ticket sale by agents.  

months after the reporting period. This condition is regarded as being met only

Passenger revenue includes revenue from code-share agreements with certain

for immediate sale in its present condition; 3) the decision on the sale is made

flights (“code-share agreements“). Revenue from the sale of code-share seats on

when 1) the sale is highly probable; 2) the asset (or disposal group) is available
by management and the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition

as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification; and 4) no

significant changes to or cancellation of the sale plan are expected. Non-current
assets and disposal groups held for sale are presented as a separate line item
(assets classified as held for sale) in the consolidated statement of financial
position within current assets.

other airlines as per which the Group and other airlines sell seats for each other’s
other airlines is recorded at the moment of the transportation service provision
and is accounted for net in Group’s passenger revenue in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Revenue from the sale of code-share seats on

Group’s flights by other airlines are recorded at the moment of the transportation
service provision and is fully accounted for in the Group’s traffic revenue in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A disposal group is a group of assets (current or non-current) to be disposed of,

Cargo revenue: The Group’s cargo transport services are recognised as revenue

directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

but not yet provided is reported in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

by sale or otherwise, together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities

Goodwill is included if the disposal group includes an operation within a cash-

when the air transportation is provided. The value of cargo transport services sold
position in a separate line item (unearned traffic revenue) within current liabilities.

generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated on acquisition.

Catering: Revenue is recognised when meal packages are delivered to

Non-current assets are assets that include amounts expected to be recovered or

transferred to customers.

collected more than twelve months after the reporting period. If reclassification is

the aircraft, as this is the date when the risks and rewards of ownership are

required, both the current and non-current portions of an asset are reclassified.

Other revenue: Revenue from bilateral airline agreements is recognised when

All liabilities directly related to non-current assets or a disposal group held for

revenue is recognised when the services are provided. Revenues from sales of

sale and transferred upon sale are subject to reclassification and recorded as a
separate line item in the consolidated statement of financial position (liabilities

directly related to assets classified as held for sale) within non-current liabilities.
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are measured at the lower
of the carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.

earned with reference to the terms of each agreement.  Hotel accommodation

goods are recognised at the point of transfer of risks and rewards of ownership

of the goods, normally when the goods are shipped to the customer. If the Group
agrees to transport goods to a specified location, revenue is recognised when
the goods are passed to the customer at the destination point. Revenues

from sale of services are recognised in the period in which the services were
rendered.

Held-for-sale property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are not

SEGMENT INFORMATION

deferred taxes are not subject to write down to the lower of their carrying amount

the information that internally is provided to the General Director of the Group,

depreciated or amortised. Reclassified non-current financial instruments and
and fair value less costs to sell.
REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

and represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal
course of business, net of sales related taxes.

Passenger revenue: Ticket sales are reported as traffic revenue when

the transportation service has been provided. The value of tickets sold and still

valid but not used by the reporting date is reported in the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position in a separate line item (unearned traffic revenue)
within current liabilities. This item is reduced either when the Group completes

The Group determines and presents operating segments based on

who is the Group’s chief operating decision maker. Segments whose revenue,

financial result or assets are ten percent or more of all the segments are reported
separately.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group’s intangible assets other than goodwill have definite useful lives and
primarily include capitalised computer software with the useful life of 5 years.

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their useful
lives. Acquired licenses for computer software are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring them to use. If impaired, the carrying

amount of intangible assets is written down to the higher of value in use and fair
value less costs to sell.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FINANCE LEASE

depreciation and impairment losses (where appropriate). Depreciation is

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the Group, the assets leased are

Property, plant and equipment are reported at cost, net of accumulated

calculated in order to amortise the cost or appraised value (less estimated

salvage value where applicable) over the remaining useful lives of the assets.
(a) Fleet
(i) Owned aircraft and engines – Owned fleet consists of Russian-made aircraft,
while engines are both Russian and foreign-made. The full list of aircraft is
presented in Note 1.

(ii) Finance leased aircraft and engines – Where assets are financed through
finance leases, under which substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership are transferred to the Group, the assets are treated as if they had
been purchased outright.

(iii) Capitalised maintenance costs – Expenditure incurred on modernisation and

improvements projects that are significant in size (mainly aircraft modifications
involving installation of replacement parts) are separately capitalised.

The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced is derecognised from
the consolidated statement of financial position and included in operating

Where the Group is a lessee in a lease which transferred substantially all

capitalised in property, plant and equipment at the commencement of the lease
at the lower of: the fair value of the leased assets and the present value of
the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as
to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. Corresponding
lease liabilities net of future interest expenses are recorded as a separate

line item (finance lease liabilities) within current and non-current liabilities in

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. Interest expenses

within lease payments are charged to profit or loss over the lease terms using
the effective interest method. The assets acquired under finance leases are

depreciated over their useful life or the shorter lease term, if the Group is not
reasonably certain that it will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.

Customs duties, legal fees and other initial direct costs increase the total amount
recorded in assets in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

The interest component of lease payments  included in financial costs in
the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

costs in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss. Capitalised costs

CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS

depreciated on a straight-line basis to the projected date of the next check

of assets that are not carried at fair value and that necessarily take a substantial

of aircraft checks and major modernisation and improvements projects are

or based on estimates of their useful lives. Ordinary repair and maintenance
costs are expensed as incurred and included in operating costs (aircraft
maintenance) in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(iv) Depreciation – The Group depreciates fleet assets owned or held under

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
time to get ready for intended use or sale (the “qualifying assets“) are capitalised
as part of the costs of those assets, if the commencement date for capitalisation

is on or after 1 January 2009.  The Group views prepayments for aircraft as
the qualifying asset with regard to which borrowing costs are capitalised.

finance leases on a straight-line basis to the end of their estimated useful life

The capitalisation starts when the Group:

depreciated separately over their respective estimated useful lives.

(а) bears expenses related to the qualifying asset;

Airframes of aircraft

20-32 years

(b) bears borrowing costs; and

Interiors

5 years

(c) takes measures to get the asset ready for intended use or sale.

or lease term, if it is shorter. The airframe, engines and interior of aircraft are
The Group’s fleet assets have the following useful lives:
Engines

8-10 years

(v) Capitalised leasehold improvements – capitalised costs that relate to

the rented fleet are depreciated over the shorter of: their useful lives and
the lease term.

(b) Land and buildings, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated  at the historical US Dollar cost

recalculated at the exchange rate on 1 January 2007, the date of the change of

Capitalisation of borrowing costs continues up to the date when the assets are
substantially ready for their use or sale.

The Group capitalises borrowing costs related to capital expenditure made on
qualifying assets. Borrowing costs capitalised are calculated at the Group’s
average funding cost (the weighted average interest cost is applied to

the expenditures on the qualifying assets), except to the extent that funds are

the functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries from the US

borrowed specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. Where

line method on all property, plant and equipment based upon their expected

the temporary investment of those borrowings are capitalised.

Dollar to the Russian Rouble. Depreciation is accrued based on the straightuseful lives or, in the case of leasehold properties, over the duration of

the leases or useful life if it is shorter. The useful lives of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment range from 3 to 50 years. Land is not depreciated.
(c) Construction in progress

Construction in progress represents costs related to construction of property,

this occurs, actual borrowing costs incurred less any investment income on

IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At each reporting date the management reviews its property, plant and

equipment to determine whether there is any indication of impairment of those
assets. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated by management as the higher of: an asset’s fair value less costs

plant and equipment, including corresponding variable out-of-pocket expenses

to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its

other assets that require assembly or any other preparation. The carrying value

in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss. An impairment loss

directly attributable to the cost of construction, as well the acquisition cost of
of construction in progress is regularly analysed for the potential accrual of
the impairment provision.

GAIN OR LOSS ON DISPOSAL

recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recorded within operating costs

recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed where appropriate if there has

been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair

value less costs to sell.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as

OPERATING LEASES

and is recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss within

all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership from the lessor to the Group,

the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
operating costs.
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or loss for the year (as finance income or finance costs) in the period in which they
arise. Other financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – KEY MEASUREMENT TERMS

Depending on their classification, financial instruments are carried at fair value,
cost or amortised cost, as described below.

are recognised within non-current assets at the time of the aircraft transfer

Fair value – is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

Amortisation charges are recognised within operating costs. In compliance with

date. The best evidence of fair value is price in an active market. An active market

and amortised using a straight-line method over the term of lease agreement.
the customs legislation of the Russian Federation, the Group pays customs

duties in instalments, and therefore customs duty payment obligations are initially
recognised at amortised cost.

The operating lease agreements include requirements for the condition of

the aircraft before its return to the lessor. Accordingly, the Group accrues a

provision in the amount of discounted expenses needed to bring the aircraft

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
is one in which transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is measured as

the product of the quoted price for the individual asset or liability and the quantity
held by the entity.

to the appropriate condition.  The estimated expenses are based on the most

A portfolio of financial derivatives or other financial assets and liabilities that are

the operating lease agreements, age and condition of the aircraft and engines,

assets and financial liabilities on the basis of the price that would be received

reliable data available at the time of such estimation. The provisions of

market value of fixtures, key parts and components subject to replacement and
the cost of work required to be performed at the time of the aircraft return are
taken into account. The provision is recorded at the discounted value.
AIRCRAFT LEASE SECURITY DEPOSITS

not traded in an active market is measured at the fair value of a group of financial
to sell a net long position (i.e. an asset) for a particular risk exposure or paid to
transfer a net short position (i.e. a liability) for a particular risk exposure in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This
is applicable for assets carried at fair value on a recurring basis if the Group: (a)
manages the group of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of

Aircraft lease security deposits represent amounts paid to the lessors of

the Company’s net exposure to a particular market risk (or risks) or to the credit

security deposits are returned to the Group at the end of the lease period.

risk management or investment strategy; (b) it provides information on that

the consolidated statement of financial position (aircraft lease security deposits)

personnel; and (c) the market risks, including duration of the Group’s exposure

aircraft in accordance with the provisions of operating lease agreements. These
Security deposits related to lease agreements are presented separately in
and recorded at amortised cost.

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

risk of a particular counterparty in accordance with the Group’s documented

basis about the group of assets and liabilities to the entity’s key management

to a particular market risk (or risks) arising from the financial assets and financial
liabilities is substantially the same.

Financial assets have the following categories: а) loans and receivables, b) financial

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on

or loss, which are recognised in this category from the date of the initial recognition.

are used to measure fair value of certain financial instruments for which external

assets available for sale, and c) financial assets measured at fair value through profit

Loans and receivables are unquoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or

determinable payments other than those that the Group intends to sell in the near

term. Financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables may

be reclassified if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these financial assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

Derivative financial instruments, including currency and interest rate options,

fuel options, and currency and interest rate swaps are carried at their fair value.
All derivative instruments are carried as assets when fair value is positive and
as liabilities when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative

instruments are included in profit or loss for the year, except for instruments subject
to special hedge accounting rules, whose fair value changes are recorded in other
comprehensive income.

Derivative instruments embedded in other financial instruments are treated as

separate derivative instruments when their risks and characteristics are not closely
related to those of the host contract.

All other financial assets are included in the available-for-sale category, which

includes investment securities which the Group intends to hold for an indefinite

recent arm’s length transactions or consideration of financial data of the investees
market pricing information is not available.

Financial instrument measured at fair value are analysed by levels of the fair value
hierarchy as follows:

(i) level one are measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities,

(ii) level two measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and

(iii) level three measurements are valuations not based on solely observable
market data (that is, the measurement requires significant unobservable

inputs). Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to
have occurred at the end of the reporting period.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred
at the end of the reporting period.

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other

period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes

consideration given to acquire an asset at the time of its acquisition and includes

CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to, and must be

in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Financial liabilities have the following measurement categories: a) held for trading,

which also includes financial derivatives, and (b) other financial liabilities. Liabilities

transaction costs. Measurement at cost is only applicable to investments in

equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price and whose fair value

settled by, delivery of such unquoted equity instruments.

held for trading are carried at fair value with changes in value recognised in profit
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Control is retained if the counterparty does not have the practical ability to sell

the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose
additional restrictions on the sale.

includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition and

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

method. Accrued interest income and accrued interest expense, including both

available-for-sale debt securities is calculated using the effective interest method

of any premium or discount to maturity amount using the effective interest

accrued coupon and amortised discount or premium (including fees deferred at

origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying
values of related items in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of

interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The effective interest

Available for sale investments are carried at fair value. Interest income on

and recognised in profit or loss for the year as finance income. Dividends on

available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss for the year
as finance income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established
and it is probable that the dividends will be collected. All other elements of

changes in the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income until

the investment is derecognised or impaired at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is reclassified from other comprehensive income to finance income in profit

rate  is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or

or loss for the year.

instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the net carrying amount of

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss for the year when incurred

variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for

recognition of available-for-sale investments. A significant or prolonged decline

receipts (excluding future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial
the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of
the premium or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate

specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates.
Such premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life of

the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received

between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to

the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial instrument. An incremental cost

as a result of one or more events (“loss events“) that occurred after the initial
in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is

impaired. The cumulative impairment loss – measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on

that asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is reclassified from other

comprehensive income to finance costs in profit or loss for the year.

Impairment losses on equity instruments are not reversed and any subsequent

gains are recognised in other comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period,
the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and

is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not taken place.

the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment

levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer taxes and

current period’s profit or loss.

Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents and advisors,
duties imposed on property transfer. Transaction costs do not include debt

loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

INITIAL RECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

banks, and short-term highly liquid investments (including bank deposits) with

Derivative financial instruments, including financial instruments subject to special
hedge accounting rules,  are initially recognised at fair value. All other financial

instruments are initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with

contractual maturities of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

at initial recognition is best evidenced by the transaction price. A gain or loss on

Restricted balances are excluded from cash and cash equivalents for

transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market

from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months

include only data from observable markets.

consolidated statement of financial position.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value and
transactions in the same instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs

frame established by regulation or market convention (“regular way“ purchases
and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date on which the Group

the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows. Balances restricted

after the reporting period are included in other non-current assets in the Group’s

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and

commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised

receivables are individually recognised at fair value, and are subsequently

the instrument.

accounts receivable balances are assessed individually and any impairment

when the Company/Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group derecognises financial assets when:
(а) the assets are redeemed or the rights to cash flows from the assets expired,
or

(b) the Group has transferred the rights to the cash flows from financial assets or
entered into a transfer agreement, while:

(i) also transferring all substantial risks and rewards of ownership of the assets, or
(ii) neither transferring nor retaining all substantial risks and rewards of
ownership but losing control over such assets.

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Uncertain
losses are included in other operating costs in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss.  

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred as a result of
one or more events (“loss events“) that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset and which have an impact on the amount or timing of

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated. The primary factors that the Group considers

in determining whether a financial asset is impaired are its overdue status and
realisability of related collateral, if any.

Impairment losses are always recognised through an allowance account to write

down the asset’s carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows
(which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at
the original effective interest rate of the asset. The calculation of the present
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value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects

for a flight by the customers. Domestic flights are subject to VAT at 18% and

selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

suppliers as well as VAT paid in respect of imported leased aircraft and spare

the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after

the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting

international flights are not subject to VAT. Input VAT invoiced by domestic

parts may be recovered, subject to certain restrictions, against output VAT.

The recovery of input VAT is typically delayed by up to six months and sometimes
longer due to compulsory tax audit requirements and other administrative

matters. Input VAT claimed for recovery as at the date of the consolidated
statement of financial position is presented net of the output VAT liability.

the allowance account through profit or loss for the year.

Recoverable input VAT that is not claimed for recovery in the current period is

Uncollectible assets are written off against the related impairment loss provision

VAT receivable that is not expected to be recovered within the twelve months

after all the necessary procedures to recover the asset have been completed
and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited to impairment loss account within
the profit or loss for the year.

If the terms of an impaired financial asset held at amortised cost are renegotiated or
otherwise modified because of financial difficulties of the counterparty, impairment

recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position as VAT receivable.
from the reporting date is classified as a non-current asset. Where provision has
been made for uncollectible receivables, the bad debt expense is recorded at
the gross amount of the account receivable, including VAT.
FREQUENT FLYER PROGRAMME

Since 1999 the Group operates a frequent flyer programme referred to as

Aeroflot Bonus. Subject to the programme’s terms and conditions, the miles

is measured using the original effective interest rate before the modification of

earned entitle members to a number of benefits such as free flights and flight

at its fair value only if the risks and rewards of the asset substantially changed. This

accumulated but as yet unused bonus miles are deferred using the deferred

terms. The renegotiated asset is then derecognised and a new asset is recognised
is normally evidenced by a substantial difference between the present values of
the original cash flows and the new expected cash flows.
PREPAYMENTS

In the consolidated financial statements, prepayments are carried at cost less
provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current when

the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtained

class upgrades. In accordance with IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes,

revenue method to the extent that they are likely to be used. The fair value of

miles accumulated on the Group’s own flights is recognised under current and
non-current deferred revenue related to frequent flyer programme (Note 26)

within current and non-current liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position. The fair value of miles accumulated by Aeroflot-Bonus
participants for using services provided by the partners of the programme,
as well as the fair value of bonus miles, is recognised as other current and

after one year, or when the prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be

non-current liabilities related to frequent flyer programme (Notes 25 and 31) in

are transferred to the carrying amount of the asset once the Group has obtained

consolidated statement of financial position. Revenue is recognised upon

classified as non-current upon initial recognition. Prepayments to acquire assets
control of the asset and it is probable that future economic benefits associated

with the asset will flow to the Group. Other prepayments are written off to profit

accounts payable and accrued non-current liabilities, respectively, in the Group’s
the provision of air transportation services to passengers.

or loss when the services relating to the prepayments are received. If there is

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

be received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly

insurance funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary

an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not
and a corresponding impairment loss is recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables are accrued when the counterparty performs its obligations

under the contract and are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest

Wages, salaries, contributions to the Russian Federation state pension and social
benefits (such as health services and etc.) are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by the employees of the Group.  
PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised if, and only if, the Group has a present obligation (legal

or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable (i.e. more likely than

method.

not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required

BORROWINGS

the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Short-term borrowings comprise:
• interest bearing borrowings with a term shorter than one year;
• current portion of long-term borrowings.

Long-term borrowings include liabilities with the maturity exceeding one year.

to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of

reflect the current best estimate (Note 27). Where the effect of the time value of
money is significant, the amount of a provision is stated at the present value of
the expenditures required to settle the obligation.
INCOME TAX

Income taxes have been provided for in the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with legislation using tax rates and legislative regulations enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Income tax expense/

benefit comprises current and deferred tax and is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss for the year, unless it should be recorded within other

EXPENDABLE SPARE PARTS AND INVENTORIES

comprehensive income or directly in equity since it relates to transactions which

realisable value, whichever is lower. The costs are determined on the first-in, first-

this or any other period.

Inventories, including aircraft expendable spare parts, are valued at cost or net

out (“FIFO“) basis. The Group accrues a provision for the full amount of obsolete

are also recognised within other comprehensive income or directly in equity in

inventories which the Group does not plan to continue using in its operations.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from tax authorities

VALUE ADDED TAXES

profits or losses are based on estimates if the consolidated financial statements

Value added tax (“VAT“) related to sales of goods or provision of services is

recorded as a liability to the tax authorities on an accruals basis. For sales of
passenger tickets VAT liability is recognised when the tickets are registered

in respect of taxable profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable
are authorised prior to filing relevant tax returns. Other tax expenses, except

from the income tax, are recorded within other operating costs in the Group’s
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for consolidated financial

for the provided services is measured at fair value of these instruments at the date

taxes are not recorded for temporary differences arising on initial recognition

increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled

loss carry forwards and temporary differences arising between the tax bases

reporting purposes. In accordance with the initial recognition exemption, deferred
of an asset or a liability in a transaction other than a business combination if

the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither accounting nor taxable

The title to future equity compensations (shares or share options) to employees

of the transfer and is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding
to these awards.

profit. Deferred tax liabilities are not recorded for temporary differences on initial

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for

tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates enacted

such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number

recognition of goodwill, and subsequently for goodwill which is not deductible for
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period which are expected

to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or the tax loss
carry forwards will be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
individually for each of the Group’s entity.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry

forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the deductions can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is not recognised with regard to retained earnings

received after the acquisition of subsidiaries, except where the Group controls

the subsidiary’s dividend policy and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse through dividends or otherwise in the foreseeable future.
UNCERTAIN INCOME TAX POSITIONS

The Group’s uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end

which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met,
of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at

the vesting date. The effect of revisiting initial estimates, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss in alignment with the Group’s equity.

For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant-date fair

value is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences
between expected and actual outcomes.
TREASURY SHARES PURCHASED

Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company’s equity
instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable

incremental costs, net of income taxes, is deducted from equity attributable to
the Company’s owners until the equity instruments are cancelled, reissued or

disposed of. The Company’s shares, which are held as treasury stock or belong

to the Company’s subsidiaries, are reflected as a reduction of the Group’s equity.

of each reporting period. Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that

The disposal of such shares does not impact net income for the current year and

taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities.

shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any

are determined by management as more likely than not to result in additional
The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any
known court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest

and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management’s best
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligations at the end of
the reporting period.
PENSIONS

The Group makes certain payments to employees on retirement. These

obligations represent obligations under a defined benefit pension plan. For

such plans the pension accounting costs are assessed using the projected unit

is recognised as a change in the shareholders’ equity of the Group. Where such
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders.

Dividend distributions by the Company are recorded net of the dividends related
to treasury shares.
DIVIDENDS

Dividends are recorded as a liability and deducted from equity in the period

in which they are declared and approved by the shareholders in the General
Shareholders’ Meeting.

credit method. Under this method the cost of providing pensions is charged to

The Company’s retained earnings legally distributable are based on

over the average service lives of employees. Actuarial gains and losses are

significantly from the earnings estimated based on the Company’s IFRS financial

the consolidated statement of profit or loss in order to spread the regular cost

recognised in financial results immediately. The pension liability for non-retired
employees is calculated based on a minimum annual pension payment and do

the Company’s statutory accounting reports. These earnings may differ
statements.

not include increases, if any, to be made by management in the future. Where

EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE

after the reporting date they are discounted using a discount rate determined by

the Company’s shareholders by the weighted average number of participating

such post-employment employee benefits fall due more than twelve months
reference to the average government bond yields at the reporting date.

The Group also participates in a defined contribution plan, under which the Group
has committed to making additional contributions as a percentage (20% in

2014) of the contribution made by employees choosing to participate in the plan.

Earnings per share are determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to

shares outstanding during the reporting year. The calculation of diluted earnings

per share includes shares planned to be used in the option programme when

the average market price of ordinary shares for the period exceeds the exercise
price of the options.

Contributions made by the Group on defined contribution plans are charged

CHANGES IN PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

Pension fund at the statutory rates in force during the year. Such contributions

Where necessary, corresponding figures have been adjusted to conform to

to expenses when incurred. Contributions are also made to the Government
are expensed as incurred.

STATEMENTS.

the presentation of the current year amounts.

SHARE CAPITAL

CHANGES IN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

miles which would not be used by the Aeroflot Bonus participants, as well as

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to
from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over
the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS IN
APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES

DEFERRED TAX ASSET RECOGNITION

recognised in the consolidated financial statements and the carrying amounts

statement of financial position. Deferred income tax assets are recorded to

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements
are continually evaluated and are based on management’s experience and

The recognised deferred tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through
future deductions from taxable profits and is recorded in the consolidated

the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The future taxable
profits and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based

other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to

on the medium term business plan prepared by management and extrapolated

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying

are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  

the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements and estimates

4. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS

be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain

the accounting policies. Judgements that have the most significant effect on
that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year include:  

USEFUL LIVES AND RESIDUAL VALUE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND

results thereafter. The business plan is based on management expectations that

The following new standards and interpretations that are applicable to the Group’s
operations became effective for the Group from 1 January 2013:

EQUIPMENT

IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements“ (issued in May 2011 and

residual value are matters of management judgement based on the use of

all of the guidance on control and consolidation in IAS 27 “Consolidated and

The assessment of the useful lives of property, plant and equipment and their
similar assets in prior periods. To determine the useful lives and residual value

of property, plant and equipment, management considers the following factors:
nature of the expected use, estimated technical obsolescence and physical
wear. A change in each of the above conditions or estimates may require
the adjustment of future depreciation expenses.

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) replaces
separate financial statements“ and SIC-12 “Consolidation - special purpose
entities“. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so that the same criteria

are applied to all entities to determine control. This definition is supported by

extensive application guidance. The Standard did not have any material impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

VALUE OF TICKETS WHICH WERE SOLD, BUT WILL NOT BE USED

IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities“ (issued in May 2011 and

never be used, are recognised as traffic revenue at the date the tickets are issued

entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, a joint arrangement, an associate or an

Sales representing the value of tickets that have been issued, but which will

based on an analysis of historical patterns of actual sales data. The assessment
of the probability that the tickets will not be used is a matter of management
judgement. A change in these estimates may require the adjustment to

the revenue amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 5) and to
the unearned traffic revenue - in the consolidated statement of financial position.
FREQUENT FLYER PROGRAMME

At the reporting date, the Group estimates and recognises the liability pertaining to
air miles earned by Aeroflot Bonus programme (Note 2) members. The estimate
has been made based on the statistical information available to the Group and

reflects the expected air mile utilisation pattern after the reporting date multiplied
by their assessed fair value. The assessment of the fair value of a bonus mile, as

well as the management’s expectations regarding the amount of miles to be used

by Aeroflot Bonus members, are a matter of management judgement. A change in

effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) applies to

unconsolidated structured entity. It replaces the disclosure requirements previously
found in IAS 28 “Investments in associates“. IFRS 12 requires entities to disclose

information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and
financial effects associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates,
joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities. To meet these

objectives, the new standard requires disclosures in a number of areas, including
significant judgements and assumptions made in determining whether an entity
controls, jointly controls, or significantly influences its interests in other entities,
extended disclosures on share of non-controlling interests in group activities

and cash flows, summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material

non-controlling interests, and detailed disclosures of interests in unconsolidated

structured entities. The Standard resulted in additional disclosures related to noncontrolling interests in these consolidated financial statements (Note 32).

these estimates may require the adjustment of deferred revenue related to  frequent

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements“ (issued

adjustment to revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 5).

2012) changed the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive

flyer programme in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note 26) and

COMPLIANCE WITH TAX LEGISLATION

Compliance with tax legislation, particularly in the Russian Federation, is subject

to a significant degree of interpretation and can be routinely challenged by the tax
authorities. The management records a provision in respect of its best estimate
of likely additional tax payments and related penalties which may be payable if

the Group’s tax compliance is challenged by the relevant tax authorities (Note 42).

in June 2011, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
income. The amendments require entities to separate items presented in

other comprehensive income into two groups, based on whether or not they

may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future. The suggested title used by
IAS 1 has changed to “statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income“. The amended standard resulted in changed presentation of the Group’s
consolidated financial statements, but did not have any impact on measurement
of transactions and balances.

CLASSIFICATION OF A LEASE AGREEMENT AS OPERATING AND

“Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities“ –

Management does not apply professional judgement with regard to

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The amendment requires

FINANCE LEASE

the classification of aircraft lease agreements as operating and finance lease
agreements in order to determine whether all significant risks and rewards

related to the ownership of an asset are transferred to the Group in accordance
with the agreement and which risks and rewards are significant. A change in
these estimates may require a different approach to aircraft accounting.
ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group tests goodwill for impairment at least annually. The recoverable amount
of each cash generating unit was determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates as further detailed in Note 23.

Amendments to IFRS 7 (issued in December 2011 and effective for annual
disclosures that enable users of an entity’s consolidated financial statements to
evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights
of set-off. The amendment to IFRS 7 has no material effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Transition Guidance Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12
(issued in June 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning 1

January 2013). The amendments clarify the transition guidance in IFRS 10

“Consolidated Financial Statements“. Entities adopting IFRS 10 should assess
control at the first day of the annual period in which IFRS 10 is adopted, and

if the consolidation conclusion under IFRS 10 differs from IAS 27 and SIC 12,
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the immediately preceding comparative period (that is, year 2012) is restated,

Amendments to IAS 36 – “Recoverable amount disclosures for non-

in IFRS 10, IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements“ and IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests

beginning 1 January 2014; earlier application is permitted if IFRS 13 is

unless impracticable. The amendments also provide additional transition relief

in Other Entities“, by limiting the requirement to provide adjusted comparative
information only for the immediately preceding comparative period. Further,

financial assets“ (issued in May 2013 and effective for annual periods

applied for the same accounting and comparative period). The amendments
remove the requirement to disclose the recoverable amount when a CGU

the amendments remove the requirement to present comparative information

contains goodwill or indefinite lived intangible assets but there has been no

IFRS 12 is first applied. The Transition Guidance Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS

consolidated financial statements (Note 23).

for disclosures related to unconsolidated structured entities for periods before
11 and IFRS 12 have no material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement“ (issued in May 2011 and effective for

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) improved consistency

and reduced complexity by providing a revised definition of fair value, and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
IFRSs. IFRS 13 has no material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements. The Standard resulted in additional disclosures related to fair value
measurement in these consolidated financial statements.

Amended IAS 19 “Employee Benefits“ (issued in June 2011, effective for

impairment. These amendments did not have any material impact on the Group’s

Certain new standards and interpretations applicable to the Group have been

issued that are mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2014 or later, and which the Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to IAS 39 – “Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge
Accounting“ (issued in June 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning
1 January 2014). The amendments will allow hedge accounting to continue in a

situation where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging instrument,

is novated (i.e. parties have agreed to replace their original counterparty with a new

one) to effect clearing with a central counterparty as a result of laws or regulation,

if specific conditions are met.  The Group is currently assessing the impact of

periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) makes significant changes

the amendments on its consolidated financial statements.

termination benefits, and the disclosures for all employee benefits. The standard

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement“. Key features

when they occur, as follows: (i) service cost and net interest in profit or loss;

December 2011 and November 2013 are:

in the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and
requires recognition of all changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset)

and (ii) remeasurements in other comprehensive income. The Group reports

accumulated amount of these remeasurements in retained earnings in equity.

IFRS 19 has no material effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in
May 2012 and effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2013).

The improvements consist of changes to five standards. IFRS 1 was amended
to (i) clarify that an entity that resumes preparing its IFRS financial statements

may either repeatedly apply IFRS 1 or apply all IFRSs retrospectively as if it had

never stopped applying them, and (ii) to add an exemption from applying IAS 23

“Borrowing costs“, retrospectively by first-time adopters. IAS 1 was amended to
clarify that explanatory notes are not required to support the third balance sheet
presented at the beginning of the preceding period when it is provided because

it was materially impacted by a retrospective restatement, changes in accounting

policies or reclassifications for presentation purposes, while explanatory notes will

of the standard issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010,

• Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement

categories: those to be measured subsequently at fair value, and those to

be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be made
at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’s business

model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the instrument.

• An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt
instrument and both (i) the objective of the entity’s business model is to hold

the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and (ii) the asset’s contractual

cash flows represent payments of principal and interest only (that is, it has only

“basic loan features“). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

be required when an entity voluntarily decides to provide additional comparative

• All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity

equipment are classified as property, plant and equipment rather than inventory

profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable election can be

statements. IAS 16 was amended to clarify that spare parts, stand-by and servicing
when they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment. The requirement to
account for spare parts and servicing equipment as property, plant and equipment

only if they were used in connection with an item of property, plant and equipment  
was removed because this requirement was too restrictive when compared with

the definition of property, plant and equipment. IAS 32 was amended to clarify that
certain tax consequences of distributions to owners should be accounted for in
the statement of profit or loss as was always required by IAS 12.

instruments that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through

made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains
and losses through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss.

There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss. This

election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are to

be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.  
• Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of

financial liabilities were carried forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change

IAS 34 was amended to bring its requirements in line with IFRS 8.   IAS 34 now

is that an entity will be required to present the effects of changes in own credit

segment only if such information is regularly provided to chief operating decision

comprehensive income.

requires disclosure of a measure of total assets and liabilities for an operating

maker and there has been a material change in those measures since the last

annual consolidated financial statements. The amended standards did not have
any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Other new and amended standards did not have any impact on these
consolidated financial statements.

risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in other

• Hedge accounting requirements were amended to align accounting

more closely with risk management. The standard provides entities with
an accounting policy choice between applying the hedge accounting

requirements of IFRS 9 and continuing to apply IAS 39 to all hedges because
the standard currently does not address accounting for macro hedging.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The amendments made to IFRS 9 in November 2013 removed its mandatory

mandatory for the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and that

not intend to adopt the existing version of IFRS 9.

The following new standard applicable to the Group has been issued that is
the Group early adopted.
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reporting date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit and loss. Amendments
to IFRS 3 are effective for business combinations where the acquisition date is on or
after 1 July 2014. IFRS 8 was amended to require (1) disclosure of the judgements

to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria.

made by management in aggregating operating segments, including a description of

set-off’ and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent

been assessed in determining that the aggregated segments share similar economic

This includes clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of
to net settlement. The Group is considering the implications of the amendment
and its impact on the Group.

IFRIC 21 – “Levies“ (issued on 20 May 2013 and effective for annual periods
beginning 1 January 2014). The interpretation clarifies the accounting for an

obligation to pay a levy that is not income tax. The obligating event that gives rise
to a liability is the event identified by the legislation that triggers the obligation
to pay the levy. The fact that an entity is economically compelled to continue

operating in a future period, or prepares its financial statements under the going
concern assumption, does not create an obligation. The same recognition

principles apply in interim and annual financial statements.  The application
of the interpretation to liabilities arising from emissions trading schemes is

optional. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 19 – “Defined benefit plans: Employee contributions“

(issued in November 2013 and effective for annual periods beginning 1 July
2014). The amendment allows entities to recognise employee contributions as a

reduction in the service cost in the period in which the related employee service
is rendered, instead of attributing the contributions to the periods of service,

if the amount of the employee contributions is independent of the number of

the segments which have been aggregated and the economic indicators which have

characteristics, and (2) a reconciliation of segment assets to the entity’s assets when
segment assets are reported. The basis for conclusions on IFRS 13 was amended to

clarify that deletion of certain paragraphs in IAS 39 upon publishing of IFRS 13 was not
made with an intention to remove the ability to measure short-term receivables and

payables at invoice amount where the impact of discounting is immaterial. IAS 16 and
IAS 38 were amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and the accumulated
depreciation are treated where an entity uses the revaluation model.  IAS 24 was
amended to include, as a related party, an entity that provides key management
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity
(‘the management entity’), and to require to disclose the amounts charged to

the reporting entity by the management entity for services provided. The Group

is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on its consolidated financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2013 (issued in December 2013

and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)

The improvements consist of changes to four standards. The basis for conclusions
on IFRS 1 is amended to clarify that, where a new version of a standard is not yet
mandatory but is available for early adoption; a first-time adopter can use either
the old or the new version, provided the same standard is applied in all periods

presented. IFRS 3 was amended to clarify that it does not apply to the accounting

years of service. The amendment is not expected to have any material impact on

for the formation of any joint arrangement under IFRS 11. The amendment also

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 (issued in December 2013 and effective

exception in IFRS 13, which allows an entity to measure the fair value of a group

below). The improvements consist of changes to seven standards. IFRS 2 was

(including contracts to buy or sell non-financial items) that are within the scope

the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, unless otherwise stated
amended to clarify the definition of a ‘vesting condition’ and to define separately
‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’; The amendment is effective for

share-based payment transactions for which the grant date is on or after 1 July 2014.
IFRS 3 was amended to clarify that (1) an obligation to pay contingent consideration

which meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as a financial liability

or as equity, on the basis of the definitions in IAS 32, and (2) all non-equity contingent
consideration, both financial and non-financial, is measured at fair value at each

clarifies that the scope exemption only applies in the financial statements of

the joint arrangement itself. The amendment of IFRS 13 clarifies that the portfolio

of financial assets and financial liabilities on a net basis, applies to all contracts

of IAS 39 or IFRS 9. IAS 40 was amended to clarify that IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are

not mutually exclusive. The guidance in IAS 40 assists preparers to distinguish

between investment property and owner-occupied property. Preparers also need
to refer to the guidance in IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of an

investment property is a business combination. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments on its consolidated financial statements.

5. TRAFFIC REVENUE
Scheduled passenger flights

Charter passenger flights
Cargo flights

Total traffic revenue

2013

2012

7,240.4

6,247.0

307.0

363.7

539.3

8,086.7

507.5

7,118.2

6. OTHER REVENUE
Airline agreements revenue

Revenue from partners under frequent flyer programme
Refuelling services

2013

530.2
176.3

67.6

Catering services on board

38.2

Hotel revenue

16.2

Ground handling and maintenance
Sales of duty free goods
Other revenue

Total other revenue

28.3
13.2

179.0

1,049.0

2012

502.5

73.5

75.4

20.9

32.0

18.4

171.3

125.9

1,019.9
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7. OPERATING COSTS LESS STAFF COSTS AND DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
2013

Aircraft and passenger servicing

1,444.8

Aircraft maintenance

639.7

Operating lease expenses

602.1

Sales and marketing

402.2

Passenger services

214.0

Administration and general expenses

272.0

Communication expenses

Food and beverages on board

Insurance expenses

Aircraft fuel

93.5
40.5

58.1

305.5

4,187.2

3,903.9

6,671.7

6,191.4

2,484.5

Total operating costs less staff costs and depreciation and amortisation

177.3

44.6

183.6

Operating costs less aircraft fuel, staff costs and depreciation and amortisation

255.2

43.8

6.0

Other expenses

567.0

353.6

150.9

39.0

Cost of duty free goods sold

583.5

185.4
154.6

Custom duties

2012

1,274.2

2,287.5

8. STAFF COSTS
2013

Wages and salaries

1,152.4

Pension costs

217.6

Social security costs

53.9

Total staff costs

Pension costs include:
• compulsory payments to the Pension Fund of the RF,

• contributions to a non-government pension fund under a defined contribution

pension plan under which the Group makes additional pension contributions as

Payments to the Pension Fund of the RF
Defined contribution pension plan

Defined benefit pension plan

Total pension costs

1,423.9

2012

1,026.4
162.7

52.7

1,241.8

a fixed percentage (20% in 2013, 15% to 20% in 2012) of the transfers made
personally by the employees participating in the programme, and

• an increase in the net present value of the future benefits which the Group

expects to pay to its employees upon their retirement under a defined benefit
pension plan as follows:

2013

215.6

1.4

0.6

2012

159.4

0.3
3.0

217.6

162.7

2013

2012

5.4

3.5

9. OTHER OPERATING COSTS AND INCOME, NET
Fines and penalties received from suppliers
Insurance compensation received

Gain on accounts payable write-off

6.5
3.7

7.1

9.2

Loss on accounts receivable write-off

(19.3)

(12.3)

Other expenses

(79.6)

(38.7)

Total other operating costs and income, net

(83.9)

Loss on write-off of VAT recoverable
Loss on goodwill write-off (Note 23)

(0.6)

(3.3)

-

(43.6)

2013

2012

17.0

13.9

(78.1)

10. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
Finance income:

Gain on derivative financial instruments (Note 24)

Interest income on bank deposits and security deposits
Gain on disposal of investments (Note 16)
Foreign exchange gain
Other finance income
Total finance income
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Finance costs:

Foreign exchange loss

2013

2012

(104.3)

(110.9)

(29.5)

(33.0)

(105.1)

Interest expense

Loss on derivative financial instruments (Note 24)

-

(37.4)

Loss on change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (Note 24)
Loss on disposal and impairment of investments

(11.2)

-

Other finance costs

(10.0)

(0.4)

Total finance costs

(1.6)

(276.7)

(166.7)

11. INCOME TAX
2013

2012

Current income tax charge

195.4

110.8

Total income tax

200.0

191.4

Deferred income tax

4.6

80.6

Reconciliation of the income tax estimated based on the applicable tax rate to the income tax is presented below:
2013

2012

Profit before income tax

430.3

357.6

Theoretical income tax expense at tax rate in accordance with legislation

(86.1)

(71.5)

Tax rate applicable in accordance with legislation

20%

Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation purposes:
Non-taxable income

20%

3.3

Non-deductible expenses

8.6

(89.0)

Unrecognised current year tax losses

(50.8)

(1.1)

Recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses

(4.9)

4.7

Write-off of deferred tax assets

Prior years income tax adjustments

3.8

(31.2)

(65.0)

(200.0)

(191.4)

(0.6)

Total income tax

(11.6)

During the year the Group revised its estimates related to the deductibility of tax losses of Vladavia and wrote off deferred tax assets in the amount of USD 31.2 million (2012: USD 65.0 million
related to AK Rossiya and Vladavia).

31 December 2013

Movements for
the year

31 December 2012

Movements for
the year

31 December 2011

14.0

(32.2)

46.2

(33.8)

80.0

3.2

(10.5)

18.7

0.6

Tax effect of temporary differences:
Tax loss carry forwards (i)

Long-term financial investments
Accounts receivable

Property, plant and equipment

Accounts payable

Derivative financial instruments

Deferred tax assets before tax set off

1.0

1.3

37.6

Accounts payable

10.6

(11.0)

(65.3)

Accounts receivable

5.0

114.2

Property, plant and equipment

Long-term financial investments

45.4

26.0

15.6

(47.8)

Customs duties related to the imported aircraft
under operating leases

(1.9)

66.4

(18.4)

(0.5)

(4.9)

1.1

(7.8)

44.7

Tax set off

Deferred tax assets after tax set off

(0.1)

95.7

(44.4)

4.0

(69.3)

6.8

(25.2)

(1.4)

(3.5)

-

-

5.2

4.7

(34.2)

(29.5)

(0.7)

13.7

3.0

125.2

(18.3)

(29.3)

1.8

(10.2)

42.4

18.1

5.9

159.4

(19.3)

140.1

(36.9)

(32.4)

3.6

(28.8)

(1.4)

(2.1)

(5.7)

(4.7)

0.5

(2.7)

(1.0)

(9.1)

(9.6)

Deferred tax liabilities before tax set off

(98.1)

5.1

(103.2)

(42.7)

(60.5)

Deferred tax liabilities after tax set off

(50.3)

23.4

(73.7)

(32.5)

(41.2)

Tax loss carry-forwards
Tax set off

Movements for the year, net

Less deferred tax recognised directly in equity (ii)

Assets held for sale

Translation from the functional currency to
the presentation currency
Income tax for the year

(i) Tax loss carry-forwards for different years expire in 2014 to 2022;

-

47.8

18.3

(5.9)

(0.1)

-

1.4

(4.6)

29.5

(0.6)

10.2

(76.9)

3.2

0.6

19.3

2.3

(2.2)
(3.8)

(80.6)

(ii) Deferred tax asset in respect of the change in the fair value of the derivative

financial instruments of USD 0.1 million (2012: deferred tax liability of USD 2.3

million) has been recognised in these consolidated financial statements (Note 24).
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Management believes that the deferred tax assets of USD 0.1 million as at 31

(2012: USD 6.3 million) relating to investments in subsidiaries of the Group has

December 2013 (31 December 2012: USD 0.1 million) and deferred tax liabilities

able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference, and reversal is

0.1 million) are recoverable after more than twelve months after the end of

not been recognised in these consolidated financial statements as the Group is
not expected in the foreseeable future.

of RUB USD 0.1 million as at 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: USD
the reporting period.

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

122.9

162.1

Bank deposits denominated in US Dollars with maturity of less than 90 days

40.0

0.5

Bank accounts denominated in Euro

15.3

Cash on hand and bank accounts denominated in roubles
Bank accounts denominated in US Dollars

Bank deposits denominated in roubles with maturity of less than 90 days
Bank accounts denominated in other currencies
Cash in transit

Total cash and cash equivalents

298.7

257.7

57.8

9.5

32.6

36.8
26.7

2.8

2.9

570.1

496.2

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial

13. AIRCRAFT LEASE SECURITY DEPOSITS

state-controlled Russian bank – OJSC Sberbank of Russia (“Sberbank of RF“)

its obligations in full, on a timely basis and in good faith. The security deposit is

assets are disclosed in Note 37. Most of the funds are held with a highly reliable
with long-term credit rating BBB (Fitch rating agency), and OJSC Bank BFA
(“Bank BFA“) with long-term credit rating В (S&P rating agency).

As at 31 December 2013 the Group had restricted cash of USD 3.2 million (31
December 2012: USD 1.4 million) recorded within other non-current assets in
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

A security deposit is held with the lessor to secure the lessee’s fulfilment of

transferred to the lessor by instalments or in a single instalment. The security
deposit is usually equal to three monthly lease payments. The lessee has

the right to replace the security deposit, in full or in part, with a letter of credit.

The security deposit can be offset against the last lease payment or any payment
if there is any non-fulfilment of obligations by the lessee. The security deposit is

returned subsequent to the lease agreement’s termination/cancellation or return
of the aircraft immediately after the date of lease termination and fulfilment
by the lessee of its obligations. The security deposits under aircraft lease

agreements are recorded at amortised cost using an average market yield of
5.0% to 9.5% in 2013 (2012: 5.0% to 9.5%).

Aircraft lease security deposits

1 January 2012

31.8

Payment of security deposits during the year

11.0

Amortisation during the year

2.9

Return of security deposits during the year

(2.3)

Foreign exchange difference

(2.1)

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

2.2

31 December 2012

43.5

Payment of security deposits during the year

10.1

Amortisation during the year

7.6

Return of security deposits during the year

(15.8)

Foreign exchange difference

3.5

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

(3.2)

31 December 2013

Current portion of  security deposits

Non-current portion of  security deposits

Total aircraft lease security deposits

45.7

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

33.3

35.4

12.4

45.7

8.1

43.5

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, security deposits under aircraft lease agreements are neither past due nor impaired.
Analysis of aircraft lease security deposits by their credit quality:
International companies

Russian companies

Total aircraft lease security deposits
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14. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS
31 December 2013

Trade accounts receivable

31 December 2012

760.5

Other financial receivables

630.4

47.3

Less impairment provision

87.5

(74.6)

(107.8)

332.0

365.1

Total financial receivables

733.2

VAT and other taxes recoverable

320.8

276.3

28.6

36.7

Prepayments to suppliers
Prepayments for aircraft

610.1

250.5

Deferred customs duties related to the imported aircraft under operating leases, current portion
Other receivables

233.7

36.5

Accounts receivable and prepayments

31.5

1,701.6

1,553.4

Accounts receivable and prepayments include prepayments for acquisition of

Financial receivables are analysed by currencies in Note 37. VAT and other taxes

the Prepayment for Aircraft line item are due to the approaching aircraft delivery

under operating leases are denominated in roubles. Prepayments to suppliers are

aircraft to be delivered within 12 months after the reporting date. Movements on
dates as well as the refund of prepayments related to the delivery of aircraft in
the current period.

Deferred customs duties of USD 28.6 million as of 31 December 2013

recoverable as well as deferred customs duties related to the imported aircraft

mainly denominated in roubles. Prepayments for aircraft are denominated in US

Dollars and Euro.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, sufficient impairment provision

(31 December 2012: USD 36.7 million) relate to the current portion of customs

was made against accounts receivable and prepayments.

are recognised within operating costs in the Group’s consolidated statement of

The movements in the Group’s impairment provision for accounts receivable and

duties related to imported aircraft under operating leases. These customs duties
profit or loss over the term of the operating lease. The non-current portion of
the deferred customs duties is disclosed in Note 19.

prepayments are as follows:

Impairment provision

1 January 2012

89.8

Increase in impairment provision during the year

54.7

Provision use (Note 9)

(12.3)

Release of provision

(30.0)

31 December 2012

107.8

Provision use (Note 9)

(18.1)

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

5.6

Increase in impairment provision during the year

34.5

Release of provision

(42.6)

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

(7.0)

31 December 2013

74.6

Financial receivables are analysed by credit quality in Note 37.

15. EXPENDABLE SPARE PARTS AND INVENTORIES
Expendable spare parts

Fuel

Other inventories

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

11.1

20.4

110.9
41.8

93.0

29.6

Total expendable spare parts and inventories, gross

163.8

143.0

Total expendable spare parts and inventories

150.5

141.1

Less impairment provision for obsolete expendable spare parts  and inventories

(13.3)

(1.9)

16. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In 2012 the Group’s management decided to sell 66.67% of its subsidiary

Aerofirst. Its assets have been classified as held for sale. As at 31 December
2012, the Group determined the selling price, and it exceeded the carrying
amount of Aerofirst’s assets.

Property, plant and equipment (Note 21)
Inventories

Accounts receivable and prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents
Other non-current assets

Total assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale

31 December 2012 Aerofirst
16.9
30.7

8.7

3.7

0.1

60.1
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31 December 2012 Aerofirst

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(22.5)

Salary payable

(1.1)

Deferred tax liabilities

(2.0)

Total liabilities associated with assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale

(25.6)

Net assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale

34.5

Assets classified as held for sale are included within other operating segments as at 31 December 2012 (Note 35).
In January 2013, the Group sold its interest in Aerofirst's share capital. The details of the disposed assets and
liabilities and disposal consideration and results are as follows:

30 January 2013

Goodwill (Note 23)

6.0

Property, plant and equipment

15.7

Inventories

25.9

Accounts receivable and prepayments

4.1

Cash and cash equivalents

1.9

Other current assets

0.2

Other non-current assets

0.1

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(12.7)

Salary payable

(1.5)

Deferred tax liabilities

(1.9)

Net assets of a subsidiary

37.8

Less non-controlling interest

(10.6)

Carrying amount of net assets disposed of

27.2

In December 2012, the Group received USD 36.2 million (less cash of entity in amount of USD 3.7 million) for the sale of Aerofirst’s shares held by the Group.
The gain of USD 10.6 million on disposal of the subsidiary was recorded within the Group’s finance income for 2013.
Gain on disposal of subsidiary

Consideration for disposal of subsidiary

38.6

Carrying amount of net assets disposed of, net of non-controlling interest

(27.2)

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

(0.8)

Gain on disposal of subsidiary

10.6

17. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
31 December 2013
AeroMash – AB
Other

31 December 2012

Portion of voting shares

Carrying amount

Portion of voting shares

Carrying amount

Miscellaneous

0.1

Miscellaneous

0.1

45.00 %

Total investments in associates

Share of financial results of equity accounted instruments

3.7

45.00 %

3.1

3.8

3.2
2013

2012

1.2

0.3

At 31 December 2013 and for the year then ended the financial information of AeroMash – AB, a significant associate of the Group, was as follows:
Current assets

Non-current assets
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Revenue
Profit

Total comprehensive income
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18. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
Available-for-sale investments

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

185.1

199.7

Available-for-sale securities
Mutual investment funds

0.5

SITA Investment Certificates

0.5

0.6

Total available-for-sale investments (before impairment provision)

0.5

186.2

Other long-term investments:

Loans issued to related parties and promissory notes of related parties (Note 39)

200.7

0.9

Loans issued to third parties and promissory notes of third parties

1.9

-

Other long-term investments

0.0

0.0

Total other long-term financial investments (before impairment provision)

0.0

0.9

Less provision for impairment of long-term financial investments

1.9

(0.8)

Total long-term financial investments

(2.4)

186.3

200.2

Available-for-sale securities are mainly represented by the initial value of

Management is unable to measure the fair value of the Group’s investments in

in servicing of aircraft, passengers and handling cargo of Russian and foreign

information, its shares are not quoted and recent trade prices are not publicly

OJSC MASH reliably, as this entity has not published its most recent financial

the Group’s investment in OJSC MASH, a state-related company engaged

accessible. The investments are recognised in the consolidated statement of

airlines, and providing non-aviation services to entities operating in Sheremetyevo

financial position at their cost of USD 183.7 million (31 December 2012: USD

airport and adjacent area, and to Sheremetyevo airport passengers. The RF

198.0 million).

represented by the Federal Agency for State Property Management owns over
80% of the entity’s shares (Note 39).

19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Deferred customs duties related to the imported aircraft under operating leases,  
non-current portion

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

57.6

106.3

181.9

270.4

89.1

VAT recoverable on acquisition of aircraft

Other non-current assets

122.6

35.2

Total other non-current assets

41.5

20. PREPAYMENTS FOR AIRCRAFT

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 prepayments for aircraft were USD 376.4 million and USD

445.6 million, respectively. Movements in the non-current portion of prepayments are due to the approaching
contractual aircraft delivery dates and payment of new long-term advances to suppliers.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 prepayments for aircraft include advance payments for the acquisition:
Expected lease type

Aircraft type

Lease type is not determined

Boeing B-787

Lease type is not determined
Operating lease

Airbus А-350
SSJ 100

Finance lease

Boeing В-777

Lease type is not determined

Airbus A-321

Lease type is not determined

Airbus A-320

31 December 2013

Number of aircraft,
units

Expected delivery date

22

2018–2023

6

2015-2016

22
12

10

4

2016–2019

31 December 2012

Number of aircraft,
units

Expected delivery
date

22

2018–2019

12

2014–2016

-

-

2015

2016–2017
2016–2017

22
20

-

2014–2016
2014–2015

-

Prepayments made to purchase aircraft expected to be delivered within 12 months after the reporting date are recorded within accounts
receivable and prepayments (Note 14).
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21. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost

Owned
aircraft and
engines

Leased aircraft and
engines

191.3

0.1

1 January 2012
Additions

14.6

Capitalised expenditures

Land and buildings

Transport,
equipment and
other

Construction in
progress

Total

1,700.8

361.5

334.6

179.6

2,767.8

15.6

-

-

-

670.2

Disposals

(14.2)

(18.7)

Transfers

-

-

Transfers to assets held for sale (iii)

-

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency

11.5

31 December 2012
Additions (i)

Capitalised expenditures
Transfers

Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2012

Charge for the year

31 December 2012

Charge for the year

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency

31 December 2013

Carrying amount

31 December 2012

31 December 2013

(16.0)

-

21.2

20.7

-

(19.7)

7.1

178.5

69.0

40.6

710.7

(24.3)

(32.4)

(1.1)

(23.5)

-

(81.3)

-

(195.1)

-

2.1

(26.1)

-

13.1

(30.7)

10.4

338.8

430.7

56.9

(119.9)

(394.0)

(115.8)

(167.4)

(0.5)

(7.5)

(27.8)

(7.5)

23.0
10.2

-

18.7

-

(27.0)

(567.8)
(215.6)

-

32.4
45.8

(141.4)

(705.2)

64.0

1,918.1

54.6

2,185.1

finance lease agreements.

(ii) The 2013 disposals mainly include the disposal of cabins of Boeing B-767
aircraft and three aircraft Boeing B-737-500 .

(iii) Transfer to assets held for sale relates to the sale of Aerofirst subsidiary in
2013 (Note 16).

In 2013, capitalised interest expense amounted to USD 55.4 million.

(12.9)
-

6.7

1.5

(6.9)

(127.4)
(11.7)

-

0.1
9.5

(129.5)
233.1

209.3

(43.5)
0.4

14.1
1.7

(10.6)

-

(2.6)

2,890.3

(165.5)

76.4

(15.2)

196.0

with a carrying amount of USD 550.7 million which were received under

150

13.0

(4.9)

3.4

66.0

(i) The 2013 additions mainly relate to the addition of four aircraft Boeing B-777,

Capitalisation rate was 3.7% in 2013.

3.0

(14.8)

565.9

(139.3)

Disposals (ii)

(294.7)

31.8

-

(Accrual)/release of impairment
provision

(228.0)

3,476.2

11.6

Transfers to assets held for sale (iii)

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency

(19.2)

23.7

(0.1)

Disposals

15.7

(14.6)

402.8

(23.4)

(Accrual)/release of impairment
provision

828.6

360.5

(14.8)

31 December 2013

81.0

2,485.9

-

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency

118.0

58.6

203.3

-

Disposals (ii)

-

4.2

(269.3)

3,912.7
(797.6)

-

(245.3)

-

0.3

-

51.1

-

3.2

(52.0)

(205.3)

(0.5)

(1,040.3)

1.7

0.0

(5.8)

(53.7)

17.7
15.9

(223.7)
197.5

207.0

-

(308.8)

-

0.1

73.2
81.5

(0.4)

(1,200.2)

23.2

2,435.9

56.5

2,712.5

As at 31 December 2013 property and land (including tenancy) with the total
carrying amount of USD 23.5 million (31 December 2012: USD 50.3 million)
were pledged to third and related parties as a security for the Group’s

borrowings (Note 30).

As at 31 December 2013 the cost of fully depreciated property plant and

equipment was USD 169.6 million (31 December 2012: USD 195.5 million).
In 2013 the loss on impairment of own aircraft and engines which was equal
to USD 7.5 million related to impairment of aircraft, engines and capitalised

spare parts due to disposal of IL-96 aircraft (2012: USD 0.1 million  of loss on
impairment of the capitalised spare parts).
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22. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Software

Licences

1 January 2012

49.3

4.1

Disposals

(0.0)

-

3.1

0.3

Cost

Additions

13.1

Transfers

4.9

Translation from the functional currency
to the presentation currency

31 December 2012

70.4

Disposals

Additions (i)

31 December 2013

1 January 2012

Charge for the year

31 December 2012

0.1

7.6

(0.5)

(5.3)

(0.3)

2.5

-

13.1

(1.9)

4.1

32.0

(1.6)

-

-

-

(0.6)

-

(0.1)

-

(2.3)

(0.6)

0.2

2.1

35.8

1.4

-

(4.0)

(1.1)

(0.3)

-

(8.9)

-

-

(17.5)

(23.8)

-

0.0

(1.6)

-

(42.9)

(25.9)

-

1.0

0.1

-

-

(18.5)

-

21.2

44.9

0.1

32.0

167.3

-

-

-

(11.5)

0.1

(9.2)

-

27.7

-

51.5

(10.6)

-

(2.7)

-

-

-

-

40.4

31 December 2013

3.2

-

-

(43.8)

Carrying amount

-

-

0.1

31 December 2013

0.9

(0,0)

-

(0.4)

(16.4)

Translation from the functional currency
to the presentation currency

(4.9)

26.2

-

(30.0)

Disposals

-

-

(0.1)

(1.2)

31 December 2012

-

117.8

-

151.6

0.0

Translation from the functional currency
to the presentation currency

-

-

-

0.1

(14.0)

Disposals

52.3

13.1

Total

55.5

(14.8)

Charge for the year

12.1

-

Other

21.2

79.6

Accumulated amortisation

Trademark and
client base

4.4

14.6

Translation from the functional currency
to the presentation currency

Investments in
software and R&D

33.0

3.7

(65.0)
108.7

0.1

102.3

(i) Additions mainly include expenditures incurred in relation to the purchase of SAP and SIRAX program licenses and implementation costs.

23. GOODWILL

The aggregate carrying amount of goodwill, allocated to the Group entities, and the corresponding values of the recognised impairment
losses are presented in the table below:
CGU name
AK Rossiya

Vladavia

Orenburgavia

Aerofirst (Note 16)

AK Aurora
Total

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Cost of
goodwill

Accumulated
impairment loss

Carrying amount
of goodwill

Cost of goodwill

41.4

(41.4)

-

43.6

(43.6)

6.5

-

269.4

(43.6)

163.7
35.0

-

-

4.8

244.9

163.7

176.4

-

35.0

37.7

-

4.8

-

(41.4)

-

203.5

Accumulated
impairment loss

5.2

-

Carrying amount
of goodwill
176.4
-

-

37.7

-

5.2

6.5

225.8

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated between the cash

AK ROSSIYA

level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management

was calculated based on the risk-free rate on ten-year U.S. government bonds,

generating units (the “CGUs“), i.e. the Group subsidiaries that represent the lowest
purposes and are not larger than an operating segment of the Group.

The recoverable amount of CGU was calculated on the basis of value in use, which

was determined by discounting the future cash flows to be generated as a result of
the entity’s operations.

Key assumptions against which the recoverable amounts are estimated concerned

the discount rate, the terminal growth rate (for the calculation of the terminal value)
and cash flows.

VLADAVIA

Following the goodwill testing for impairment in 2012, the Group recognised
complete impairment of goodwill related to Vladavia for the amount of USD
43.6 million.

The discount rate was assumed at 12.9% (31 December 2012: 9.9%).  This rate
adjusted for country risk (for Russia) and currency risk (roubles), the risk of investing
in equities, and the risk associated with small-cap shares. The industry average

D/E ratio and Beta coefficient as at 31 December 2013 were taken into account in
the calculation.  

The cost of debt was calculated based on the effective rate on AK Rossiya’s long-

term loans in roubles and the effective rate of finance lease, adjusted for currency
risk, and share of financial leasing in overall AK Rossiya’s debt.
Pre-tax WACC was 16.1% (31 December 2012: 12.38%).
The growth rate for the terminal value calculation was set at the level of Russia’s
GDP long-term growth rate of 3.5% (2012: 4.4%).  
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As a basis for cash flows forecast the Group adopted the approved AK Rossiya’s

The cost of debt was calculated based on the effective rate on Orenburgavia’s

ORENBURGAVIA

Pre-tax WACC was 16.5% (31 December 2012: 13.75%).

was calculated based on the risk-free rate on ten-year U.S. government bonds,

The growth rate for the terminal value calculation was set at the level of Russia’s

budget for 2014.

The discount rate was assumed at 13.2% (31 December 2012: 11%).  This rate
adjusted for country risk (for Russia) and currency risk (roubles), the risk of investing

in equities, and the risk associated with small-cap shares. The industry average D/E
ratio and Beta coefficient as at 31 December 2013 were taken into account.

long-term loans in roubles.

GDP long-term growth rate of 3.5% (2012: 4.4%).   

As a basis for Orenburgavia’s cash flows forecast the Group adopted the approved
Orenburgavia’s budget for 2014.

24. DERIVATIVE FINACIAL INSTRUMENTS
31 December 2013

Derivative financial instruments within assets  
Representing:
Current

31 December 2012

31.6

Non-current

-

35.9

Total derivative financial instruments within assets

92.5

67.5

92.5

Derivative financial instruments within liabilities
Representing:
Current

6.5

Non-current

138.9

Total derivative financial instruments within liabilities

145.4

-

145.4

145.4

The Group assesses the fair value and performs analysis of derivative financial instruments on a regular basis for the purposes of consolidated
financial statements or when so requested by the management. Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments determined using
Levels 2 and 3 inputs:

Assets

1 January 2013 – Total derivative financial instruments

Level 3 derivative financial instruments that are not subject to special hedge accounting rules

92.5

Change in fair value for the year (Note 10)

(19.7)

Disposals for the year (Note 10)

(21.5)

Additions for the year (Note 10)

16.3

Level 2 derivative financial instruments that are subject to special hedge accounting rules
Change in fair value for the year

Translation from the functional currency to the presentation currency

6.0

(6.1)

31 December 2013 – Total derivative financial instruments

Liabilities
145.4
13.0

14.9

(23.3)
6.3

(10.9)

67.5

145.4

Assets

Liabilities

Level 3 derivative financial instruments that are not subject to special hedge accounting rules

61.6

121.6

31 December 2013 – Total derivative financial instruments

67.5

145.4

Representing:

Level 2 derivative financial instruments that are subject to special hedge accounting rules

5.9

23.8

Derivative financial instruments mature in less than 6 months to 5 years. The majority

million, the amount of USD 2.7 million was recycled to consolidated statement of

INSTRUMENTS SUBJECT TO SPECIAL HEDGE ACCOUNTING RULES

Similar transactions entered into in 2010 were closed in the first half of 2013 due

39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement“.

closure of these transactions was USD 15.2 million. The results of closure of these

of derivatives mature in 1 to 2 years.

Hedging transactions listed below are assessed as effective for the purposes of IAS

(а) Cross-currency interest rate swaps with a fixed interest rate
In April and May 2013, the Group entered into two cross-currency interest rate swap

profit or loss.

to the agreements term expiration. The decrease in hedge reserve as a result of

transactions were reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2013, namely a gain of USD 30.8 million and a loss of USD 7.9
million as well as the change in the deferred tax of USD 3.1 million.

agreements with a fixed interest rate with a Russian bank to hedge some of its

Level 2 market inputs in the fair value hierarchy were used to assess the fair value

fluctuations. In 2013 the loss arising from the change in fair value of this derivative

cash flows using one-month MosPrime discount rate for cash flows in roubles and

Euro-denominated revenues from potential unfavourable RUB/EUR exchange rate
financial instrument of USD 17.5 million was recorded in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income together with the corresponding deferred tax of USD 3.5
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The agreements are entered into with a Russian bank with a long-term credit rating

The agreements are entered into with a number of Russian banks with long-term

derivative financial instrument is insignificant.

the value of these derivative financial instruments is insignificant.

BBB- (Fitch rating agency), therefore the effect of credit risk on the value of this

credit ratings at least BBB- (Fitch rating agency), therefore, the effect of credit risk on

(b) Interest rate swap with a fixed interest rate

Level 3 market inputs were used to assess the fair value of the instrument and

In June 2011, the Group entered into an agreement with a Russian bank to hedge a

the fair value of the options:

risk related to increase of LIBOR which is mainly used for estimation of the payments
under finance lease agreements. In accordance with the terms of the agreement

the Monte-Carlo method was applied. The following inputs were used to assess
• spot price for Brent crude oil observable in the information systems at the valuation
date;

the Group fixes interest payments related to 21 ongoing financial lease agreements.

• forecast price for Brent crude oil determined based on the data provided by

with a corresponding deferred tax of USD 0.3 million have been recognised in

• volatility calculated based on historical closing prices for Brent oil; and

The fair value of the hedge amounted to a gain of USD 1.7 million, which together
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31

December 2013. In 2013, the loss under this transaction was USD 2.4 million.
Level 2 market inputs in the fair value hierarchy were used to assess the fair value

of the instrument. The fair value was determined based on discounted contractual
cash flows using one-month MosPrime discount rate and forward currency rates

determined on the basis of similar transactions in the active market. Management

analysts for the term of the option;

• one-month MosPrime rate.
(b) Currency options

In November and December 2012 as well as in August, September and December

2013, the Group entered into agreements with a number of Russian banks to hedge
the currency risk. The loss from the change in fair value of this derivative financial

believes that sufficient cash flows will be available during the periods when a gain or a

instrument in 2013 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss amounted

The agreement is entered into with a Russian bank with a long-term credit rating

The agreements are entered into with a number of Russian banks with long-term

derivative financial instrument is insignificant.

the value of this derivative financial instrument is insignificant.

loss will be recognised on this transaction, through to June 2014.

BBB+ (Fitch rating agency), therefore the effect of credit risk on the value of this

to USD 32.0 million (2012: a gain in amount of USD 8.3 million).  

credit ratings at least BBB- (Fitch rating agency), therefore, the effect of credit risk on

INSTRUMENTS THAT ARE NOT SUBJECT TO SPECIAL HEDGE

Level 3market inputs were used to assess the fair value of the instrument and

The derivative financial instruments listed below are carried as assets when their fair

the fair value of the options:

ACCOUNTING RULES

value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair

value of derivative financial instruments are included in profit or loss for the reporting

the Monte-Carlo method was applied. The following inputs were used to assess
• the underlying asset’s spot rate observable in the information systems at
the valuation date;

period.

• forward rate determined based on the data provided by analysts for the term of

(а) Fuel options

• volatility calculated based on historical closing prices for the underlying asset; and

In September and October 2012 as well as in September 2013, the Group entered

the option;

• three-month US Dollar LIBOR rate.

into agreements with a number of Russian banks to hedge a portion of its aircraft fuel

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the gain on the currency and fuel options was

gain of USD 2.5 million for 2013, which is reported in the consolidated statement of

9.1 million, respectively). These amounts were recorded within finance income and

costs. The change in fair value of this derivative financial instrument amounted to a
profit or loss (2012: a loss of USD 41.3 million).

USD 26.1 million, the loss was USD 27.2 million (2012: USD 13.3 million and USD

finance costs, respectively.

A similar transaction entered into in December 2010 was closed  in the first half
of 2013 due to the contractual term expiration. The gain of USD 0.03 million on

the closure of this transaction was recorded within the finance income for 2013.

25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Dividends payable

Other financial payables
Total financial payables

Staff related liabilities

VAT payable on imported leased aircraft (Note 31)

Advances received (other than unearned traffic revenue)
Other taxes payable

Other current liabilities related to frequent flyer programme (Note 26)

Income tax payable

Customs duties payable on imported leased aircraft (Note 31)

Other payables

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities

31 December 2013
580.2
0.7

50.2

31 December 2012
464.2

0.7

95.1

631.1

560.0

115.7

104.0

30.0

23.0

4.3

18.1

218.5
58.9

27.4

182.6
52.1
31.7

8.2

10.3

1,107.7

989.1

13.6

7.3
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As at 31 December 2013, staff related liabilities primarily include salary payable,

Financial payables by currency are analysed in Note 37. VAT payable on

2012: USD 86.1 million) and the unused vacation accrual of USD 69.2 million

duties payable on imported leased aircraft are denominated in roubles. Other

as well as social contribution liabilities of USD 132.3 million (31 December
(31 December 2012: USD 93.6 million).

As at 31 December 2013, accounts payable and accrued liabilities include

imported leased aircraft, income tax payable, other taxes payable and customs
payables and advances from customers (excluding unearned traffic revenue) are
denominated primarily in roubles.

USD 104.0 million) and customs duties payable of USD 8.2 million (31 December

26. DEFERRED REVENUE AND OTHER LIABILITIES RELATED TO
FREQUENT FLYER PROGRAMME

equal monthly instalments over a thirty-four-month period from the date these

(Aeroflot Bonus programme) as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012

the current portion of VAT payable of USD 115.7 million (31 December 2012:

2012: USD 10.3 million) relating to imported leased aircraft, which are payable in
assets were cleared through customs.

As at 31 December 2013, the non-current portion of VAT payable and

customs duties payable, relating to the imported leased aircraft, was equal to  
USD 57.6 million (31 December 2012: USD 105.2 million) and USD 5.2 million
(31 December 2012: USD 8.4 million), respectively (Note 31).

Deferred revenue and other liabilities related to frequent flyer programme

represent the number of bonus miles earned when flying on the Group flights,
but unused by the Aeroflot Bonus programme members and the number

of promo-miles and bonus miles earned by programme members for using

programme partners’ services, respectively, and are estimated at fair value.

Deferred revenue and other liabilities related to  frequent flyer programme also

include liabilities under the Company’s discount programme as at 31 December
2013, which represent the fair value of coupons for a discount on the repeated
purchase of tickets at Aeroflot’s web-site.

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Deferred revenue related to frequent flyer programme, non-current

56.9

45.2

Other non-current liabilities related to frequent flyer programme (Note 31)

74.8

93.0

Deferred revenue related to frequent flyer programme, current

17.6

Other current liabilities related to frequent flyer programme (Note 25)

27.4

Total deferred revenue and other liabilities related to frequent flyer programme

11.8

31.7

176.7

181.7

27. PROVISIONS

1 January 2012

Additional provision for the year

Release of provision for the year

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency

31 December 2012

Additional provision for the year

Release of provision for the year

Unwinding of the discount

Foreign exchange loss, net

Translation from the functional
currency to the presentation
currency
31 December 2013

Total

Litigation

Tax risks

Repair of leased aircraft
before return

provisions

0.4

3.9

-

4.3

6.4

2.2

-

8.6

(3.8)

(2.2)

-

(6.0)

0.3

0.2

-

0.5

14.9

0.5

39.3

54.7

-

17.6

3.3

4.1

(0.4)

(2.8)

-

-

(0.5)

(0.4)

-

17.3

Current liabilities

-

(3.2)

3.6

3.6

(1.7)

1.4

7.4

58.8

17.6

(2.6)
77.5

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

50.6

3.0

26.9

Non-current liabilities

Total provisions

77.5

4.4
7.4

LITIGATION

REPAIR OF LEASED AIRCRAFT BEFORE RETURN

liabilities represent management’s best estimate of probable losses on existing

expenses needed to bring the aircraft to the required condition before their return

The Group is a defendant in legal claims of a different nature. Provisions for
and potential lawsuits (Note 42).
TAX RISKS

The Group makes a provision for contingent liabilities and accrued fines and

penalties based on the best management’s estimate of the amount of additional
taxes that may be required to be paid (Note 42).
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28. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

The Group leases aircraft from third and related parties under finance lease agreements (Note 39). The aircraft that the Group has operated
under finance lease agreements as at 31 December 2013 are listed in Note 1.

31 December 2013

Total outstanding payments

2,643.3

Future finance lease interest expense

(442.4)

Total finance lease liabilities

2,200.9

Representing:

Current finance lease liabilities

265.4

Non-current finance lease liabilities

1,935.5

Total finance lease liabilities

2,200.9

Due for repayment:

Principal

On demand or within
1 year

265.4

Later than 1 year and
not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total

898.5
1,037.0

2,200.9

31 December 2013

Future interest
expense

Total payments

Principal

81.1

346.5

246.3

238.4

1,136.9

771.8

122.9

442.4

As at 31 December 2013 interest payable  amounted to USD 7.7 million

(31 December 2012: USD 4.0 million) and is included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities.

The effective interest rate as at 31 December 2013 was 4.1 % per annum
(31 December 2012: 3.7% per annum).

1,159.9

2,643.3

31 December 2012

31 December 2012
2,233.0

(351.3)

1,881.7
246.3

1,635.4

1,881.7

Future interest
expense

Total payments

65.4

311.7

191.7

963.5

863.6

94.2

1,881.7

351.3

957.8

2,233.0

In 2013 interest expense on finance leases was USD 56.1 million (2012: USD
52.7 million).

Leased aircraft and engines with the carrying amount disclosed in Note 21 are

effectively pledged for finance lease liabilities as the rights to the leased asset
revert to the lessor in the event of default.

Finance lease liabilities of USD 2,109.2 million are denominated in US Dollars
(31 December 2012: USD 1,775.8 million in US Dollars) (Note 37).

29. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND CURRENT PORTION OF LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Loans denominated in US Dollars:

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

24.3

24.3

Citibank, current portion (Note 30)

Total loans denominated in US Dollars
Bonds denominated in roubles:

24.3

Bond, series BO-03, current portion (Note 30)

3.1

Total bonds denominated in roubles

3.1

Bonds, series BO-01 and BO-02 (Note 30)
Loans denominated in roubles:

Bank BFA, current portion (Note 30)

OJSC ALFA-BANK (i)

Sberbank of RF*, current portion  (Note 30)
Bank ITURUP (LLC)

Bank FORSHTADT (CJSC)

Other short-term bank loans

Total loans denominated in roubles

Loans denominated in other currency:

Eurasia Investment Promotion Co. Ltd, current portion (Note 30)

Sberbank of RF*

Total loans denominated in other currency:

Total short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings

24.3
-

-

402.1

77.3

-

18.4

23.5

-

9.9

30.5
-

-

402.1

-

3.9
1.0

126.2

38.3

-

0.8

-

-

153.6

0.5
1.3

466.0

* Government-related banks.
(i) The balance as at 31 December 2013 represents a loan of USD 30.6 million issued at an interest rate of 13.0% per annum.
The loan is unsecured.
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30. LONG-TERM BORROWINGS
Loans denominated in US Dollars:
Citibank, non-current portion (i)

Accor

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

20.4

44.5

3.4

3.4

2.9

Other long-term loans

Total loans denominated in US Dollars
Bonds denominated in roubles:

Bond, series BO-03, non-current portion (ii)
Total bonds denominated in roubles

2.9

26.7

50.8

152.8

-

152.8

Loans denominated in roubles:
OJSC AB Rossiya (iii)

-

45.8

Bank BFA, non-current portion (iv)

Sberbank of RF*, non-current portion (v)

49.4

15.3

98.8

76.4

188.4

15.3

Total loans denominated in roubles

Loans denominated in other currency:

Eurasia Investment Promotion Co. Ltd, non-current portion

40.2

-

Total loans denominated in other currency

0.8

-

Total long-term borrowings

0.8

255.9

240.0

* Government-related banks.
(i) The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2013 represents a loan of USD

20.4 million issued at an interest rate of LIBOR plus 3.5% per annum. The loan
was used for funding the Group’s aircraft finance lease agreements.

(ii) In 2013, the Group repaid exchange bonds of series BO-01 and BO-02 for
the total nominal amount of USD 402.1 million and placed exchange bond

of series BO-03 for the nominal amount of USD 152.8 million issued at an

interest rate of 8.3% per annum. These exchange bonds are unsecured. As at
31 December 2013, the yield to maturity was 7.98% per annum;

(iii) The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2013 represents a loan of

(iv) The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2013 represents loans of

USD 15.3 million issued at an interest rate of 11.9% and 12.4% per annum.

The loans are secured by property with a carrying value of USD 17.3 million
and land tenancy;

(v) The outstanding balance as at 31 December 2013 represents loans of USD

15.3 million issued at an interest rate of 11.0% to 11.5% per annum. The loans
are secured by property and land with a carrying value of RUB 6.2 million.

The long-term borrowings (including current portion) are repayable as follows:

USD 45.8 million issued at an interest rate of 10.6% per annum. The loan is
unsecured.

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

255.9

233.7

Total long-term borrowings (including current portion)

379.0

691.2

Within 1 year

123.1

Later than 5 years

-

Less amounts repayable within 12 months

29.2 million (2012: USD 56.6 million).

6.3

(123.1)

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months
In 2013 interest expense on short-term and long-term borrowings was USD

451.2

(451.2)

255.9

240.0

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the fair value of loans and
bonds, was not materially different from their carrying amounts.

31. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other non-current liabilities related to frequent flyer programme (Note 26)

Defined benefit pension obligation, non-current portion
Other non-current liabilities

USD 8.4 million) relating to imported leased aircraft, which are payable in equal

monthly instalments over a thirty-four-month period from the date these assets
are cleared through customs.
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105.2

5.2

8.4

2.6

Total other non-current liabilities

USD 105.2 million) and customs duties of USD 5.2 million (31 December 2012:

57.6

21.6

Customs duties payable on imported leased aircraft (Note 25)

current portion of VAT payable of USD 57.6 million (31 December 2012:

31 December 2012

74.9

VAT payable on imported leased aircraft (Note 25)

As at 31 December 2013 other non-current liabilities include the non-

31 December 2013

161.9

93.0
14.9

9.4

230.9

Non-current customs duties payable on imported leased aircraft have been

discounted using a discount rate of 9.8% to 12% (31 December 2012: 9.8% to 12%).
The current portion of VAT payable and customs duties payable of

USD 115.7 million (31 December 2012: USD 104.0 million) and USD 8.2 million

(31 December 2012: USD 10.3 million), respectively, are related to the imported
leased aircraft (Note 25).
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32. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

The following table provides information about the subsidiary (AK Rossiya) with non-controlling interest that is material to the Group:.

Portion of non-controlling interest’s voting rights held

25% plus 1 share

Loss attributable to non-controlling interest for 2013

(4.9)

Accumulated losses attributable to non-controlling interests in subsidiary

(77.0)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest during the year 2013

-

The summarised financial information of this subsidiary was as follows as at 31 December 2013 and for 2013:
31 December 2013

Current assets

122.7

Non-current assets

320.6

Non-current liabilities

449.9

Current liabilities

293.1
2013

Revenue

1,007.6

Loss for the year

(20.6)

Comprehensive loss

(20.6)

As at 31 December 2013 there are no significant restrictions in getting access to the subsidiary's assets or using them for settling the subsidiary's obligations.

33. SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December2012 share capital was equal to USD 51.6 million.
Number of ordinary shares
authorised and issued (shares)

Number of treasury shares (shares)

1,110,616,299

(62,814,444)

31 December 2012

31 December 2013

1,110,616,299

All issued shares are fully paid. The total number of unissued ordinary shares is

250,000,000 shares (31 December 2012: 250,000,000 shares) with a par value
of RUB 1 per share (31 December 2012: RUB 1 per share).
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to one vote per share.

Number of ordinary shares
outstanding (shares)
1,047,801,855

(53,757,439)

1,056,858,860

and sale of 85,900 treasury shares; the Group also repurchased 227,696 shares
from the Company’s shareholders (2012: the decrease was 7,580,643 shares).
As at 31 December 2013, treasury shares were held by wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group and by the Company:

In 2013, the number of the Group’s treasury shares decreased by 9,057,005

shares due to the exercise of rights under the share option programme (Note 39)
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Aeroflot Finance

53,527,652

62,726,453

Total number of treasury shares

53,757,439

62,814,444

Aeroflot

227,696

LLC Partner Aeroflot (“Partner Aeroflot“)

2,091

-

87,991

These ordinary shares carry voting rights in the same proportion as other ordinary

34. DIVIDENDS

the Group are effectively controlled by management of the Group.

dividends in respect of 2012 in the amount of RUB 1.1636 per share (US cents 3.7 at

shares. Voting rights of ordinary shares of the Company held by the entity within

The Company’s shares are listed on the Moscow Exchange; as at 31 December 2013
and 31 December 2012, they were traded at RUB 84.1 (USD 2.57 at the exchange

rate as at 31 December 2013) per share and RUB 45.3 (USD 1.49 at the exchange rate
as at 31 December 2012) per share, respectively.

The Company launched Global Depositary Receipts (GDRs) programme in December
2000. A Global Depositary Receipt represents 100 ordinary shares. As at 31

December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the GDRs were traded on the Frankfurt

stock exchange at Euro 178.0  (USD 244.6 at the exchange rate as at 31 December

At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on 24 June 2013 the shareholders approved
the average exchange rate of the year 2012) totalling to RUB 1,292.4 million (USD 41.6
million) for the Company’s total declared and placed shares.

At the annual shareholders’ meeting held on 25 June 2012 the shareholders approved
dividends in respect of 2011 in the amount of RUB 1.8081 per share (US cents 5.8 at

the average exchange rate of the year 2011) totalling to RUB 2,000.0 million (USD 68.1
million) for the Company’s total declared and placed shares.
All dividends are declared and paid in roubles.

2013) per GDR and Euro 111.0 (USD 147.5 at the exchange rate as at 31 December
2012) per GDR, respectively.
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The passenger traffic operational performance is measured based on internal

management reports which are reviewed by the Group’s General Director.

The Group has a number of operating segments, but none of them, except for

Passenger traffic revenue by flight routes is allocated based on the geographic

“Passenger Traffic“, meet the quantitative threshold for determining reportable

destinations of flights. Passenger traffic revenue by flight routes is used to

segment. In 2013, management analysed and concluded that the disclosure of

measure performance as the Group believes that such information is the most

operating segments that do not meet the quantitative threshold is not important

material in evaluating the results.

for users of the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Consequently,
the disclosure of operating segments for the year ended 2012 was revised
accordingly.

Passenger traffic
2013

External sales

9,063.4

Total revenue

9,063.7

Inter-segment sales
Operating profit

Finance income

Other
72.3

Inter-segment sales
elimination

Total Group

-

9,135.7

(289.3)

9,135.7

0.3

289.0

(289.3)

583.9

44.0

(6.4)

361.3

Finance costs

430.3

Income tax

(200.0)

Profit for the year

Investments in associates
Unallocated assets
Total assets

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities

230.3

6,443.9

-

4,687.4

213.0
4.3

146.1

(350.8)

-

(161.4)

Total liabilities
2013

Capital expenditures and PP&E additions (Note 21)
Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 21 and 22)
Goodwill impairment (Note 9)

2012

772.9

14.2

-

-

-

-

328.9

5.8

7,914.5

223.7

Total revenue

7,914.5

451.2

Operating profit

Finance income

0.1

316.3

Segment liabilities

Unallocated liabilities

8,138.1

48.4

(7.0)

Capital expenditures and PP&E additions (Note 21)

Depreciation and amortisation (Notes 21 and 22)
Goodwill impairment (Note 9)

158

-

-

357.7

166.4

(166.7)

0.3

357.7

(191.4)

166.3

6,222.3
-

4,520.4

242.9
3.2

176.0

(387.0)

-

(168.6)

Total liabilities
2012

787.1

(227.6)

Profit for the year

Total assets

54.7

8,138.1

(227.6)

Income tax

Unallocated assets

4,672.1

-

227.6

Profit before income tax

Segment assets

6,391.4

334.7

Share of financial results of equity accounted
instruments

Investments in associates

4.3

81.0

-

Finance costs

31 December 2012

6,306.1

4,726.8

External sales

Inter-segment sales

84.3
1.2

Profit before income tax

Segment assets

621.5

(276.7)

Share of financial results of equity accounted
instruments

31 December 2013

-

6,078.2

3.2

164.5

6,245.9
4,527.8
91.8

4,619.6
827.9

16.4

43.6

-

263.8

5.3

-

-

844.3

269.1
43.6
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2013

2012

1,260.7

1,117.5

160.7

102.2

Total passenger revenue from flights from the RF

2,096.9

1,801.5

Europe

1,265.0

1,161.0

157.4

101.0

Passenger revenue:

International flights from the RF to:
Europe

Asia

609.9

North America
Other regions

511.0

65.6

International flights to the RF from:
Asia

70.8

639.6

North America
Other regions

539.2

63.8

Total passenger revenue from flights to the RF

67.0

2,125.8

Domestic flights

3,000.4

Total passenger traffic revenue

7,240.4

Other international flights

1,868.2

2,562.0

17.3

15.3

6,247.0

36. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT CATEGORY

Financial assets and liabilities are classified by measurement categories as at 31 December 2013 as follows:

Note

Loans and
receivables

Available-for-sale
financial assets

14

733.2

16.2

0.0

Derivative financial instruments

24

45.6

-

-

Other non-current assets

12

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term financial investments

Financial receivables

Aircraft lease security deposits

Long-term financial investments
Total financial assets

Derivative financial instruments
Financial payables

Finance lease liabilities
Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

12

570.1

13

18

Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

61.6

5.9

185.5

1,369.2

185.5

-

-

Derivative financial
instruments (hedging)

25

-

-

(23.8)

-

29, 30

-

16.2

733.2

45.6

67.5

186.4

5.9

1,622.2

Other financial
liabilities

3.2

Total

-

(145.4)

-

(2,201.0)

(2,201.0)

(23.8)

(3,319.1)

(3,464.5)

(631.1)

-

(121.6)

Total

570.1

-

-

61.6

Liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

28

-

-

-

(121.6)

-

-

Note

24

-

-

0.9

3.2

Derivative financial
instruments
(hedging)

(631.1)

(487.0)

(487.0)

Financial assets and liabilities are classified by measurement categories as at 31 December 2012 as follows:

Note

Loans and
receivables

Available-for-sale
financial assets

14

610.1

10.8

0.0

Derivative financial instruments

24

43.5

-

-

Other non-current assets

12

1.9

198.3

1,164.0

198.3

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term financial investments

Financial receivables

Aircraft lease security deposits

Long-term financial investments
Total financial assets

Derivative financial instruments
Financial payables

Finance lease liabilities
Borrowings

Total financial liabilities

12

496.2

13

18

-

Assets at fair value
through profit or
loss

-

-

Derivative financial
instruments (hedging)

25

-

-

24

28

29,30

(126.3)

-

-

(126.3)

(19.1)

610.1

10.8

-

-

200.2

-

1,454.8

-

-

Liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

-

92.5

Note

496.2

-

92.5

-

Total

-

-

-

1.5

Derivative
financial
instruments
(hedging)

Other financial
liabilities

-

(560.0)

43.5
92.5

1.5

Total

(145.4)

(560.0)

-

(1,881.8)

(1,881.8)

(19.1)

(3,250.3)

(3,395.7)

-

(808.5)

(808.5)

All other financial liabilities of the Group are carried at amortised cost.
159

ABOUT THE COMPANY

LETTERS TO SHAREHOLDERS

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

37. RISKS CONNECTED WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

stressed financial conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking

market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk, aircraft fuel price risk and capital

cash forecasting process to ensure its liquidity is maintained at appropriate level.

damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group utilises a detailed budgeting and

The Group manages risks related to financial instruments, which include
management risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  

The following are the Group’s financial liabilities (excluding derivative financial

LIQUIDITY RISK

instruments) as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 broken down by
contractual maturities (based on the remaining period from the reporting date

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk, i.e. the risk that the Group will not be

to the contractual settlement date). The amounts in the table are contractual

able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach

undiscounted cash flows (including future interest payments) as at respective

to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have

reporting dates:

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and
31 December 2013
Loans in foreign currency
Loans in roubles
Bonds denominated in roubles

Average interest rate

Contractual

Effective

0–12 months

1–2 years

2–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

3.5%

3.5%

25.5

27.2

0.1

-

52.8

11.5%

11.5%

143.4

82.6

12.7

156.1

-

-

226.0

3.9%

3.9%

346.5

300.2

836.7

1,160.0

2,643.4

-

-

631.2

-

-

-

631.2

1,162.4

422.7

992.8

1,160.0

3,737.9

8.3%

Finance lease liabilities
Financial payables

Total future payments, including
future interest payments

31 December 2012
Loans in foreign currency
Loans in roubles
Bonds denominated in roubles
Finance lease liabilities
Financial payables

8.3%

15.8

Average interest rate

-

184.6

Contractual

Effective

0–12 months

1–2 years

2–5 years

Over 5 years

Total

3.7%

3.7%

27.8

26.0

21.1

6.3

81.2

11.2%

11.2%

61.2

142.9

68.4

-

272.5

7.8%

7.6%

410.3

-

-

-

410.3

3.7%

3.7%

311.6

262.5

696.7

964.5

2,235.3

-

-

560.0

-

-

-

560.0

1,370.9

431.4

786.2

970.8

3,559.3

Total future payments, including
future interest payments

Maturity dates of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 24.
As at 31 December 2013, the Group was able to attract USD 495.8  million

The Groups analyses the exchange rate trends on a regular basis. In November

granted to the Group by various lending institutions.  

the Group entered into agreements with a number of Russian banks to hedge

and December 2012 as well as in August, September and December 2013,

of cash (31 December 2012: USD 959.6 million) available under lines of credit

the risk of negative changes in the exchange rates (Note 24).

CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional

The Group is exposed to currency risk in relation to revenue as well as

amounts of financial instruments:

purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency other than rouble.
The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are Euro
and US Dollar.

In millions of US
Dollars
Cash and cash
equivalents

Financial receivables

31 December 2013
Note
12

Other non-current
assets

Financial payables

160

162.9

339.0
0.9

Total assets

Finance lease liabilities,
current portion

US Dollar

15.2

83.5
1.1

Total

32.6

210.8

79.3
1.2

502.8

99.8

113.1

259.2

-

198.0

28

Euro

77.3

31 December 2012

Other
currency

501.7
3.2

US Dollar
162.6

305.5
0.8

Euro

Other
currency

Total

26.7

36.8

226.1

96.6
0.3

75.6
0.3

477.7
1.4

14.7

715.7

290.0

468.9

123.6

112.7

705.2

-

259.2

237.9

-

-

237.9

154.7

90.9

19.4

265.0
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31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Note

US Dollar

Euro

Other
currency

28

1,850.0

-

-

24.2

-

-

2,358.2

77.3

14.7

2,450.2

2,005.6

91.4

21.0

2,118.0

(1,855.4)

22.5

98.4

(1,734.5)

(1,536.7)

32.2

91.8

(1,412.8)

Short-term  borrowings
and current portion of
long-term borrowings

Long-term borrowings
Total liabilities

29

30

Total (liabilities)/assets,
net

26.8

-

-

Total

US Dollar

Euro

Other
currency

Total

1,850.0

1,537.9

-

-

1,537.9

24.3

0.5

0.8

25.6

24.2

26.8

50.8

-

0.8

51.6

The Group also expects that payments of Euro 2.3 million, Euro 2.3 million, Euro

A 20% strengthening or weakening of listed below currencies versus rouble as at

interest rate swap with a fixed interest rate disclosed in Note 24, will be made

(decreased) profit after tax by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes

2.3  million, Euro 2.3 million and Euro 126.4 million related to the cross-currency
in March and September 2014, March and September 2015 and March 2016,
respectively.

31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, respectively, would have increased/
that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The effect

on the Group’s equity would be the same as that on the Group’s profit after tax
relating to this profit.

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Percent of change in rate of
currency versus rouble

Effect on profit after tax
(increase/ (decrease))

Percent of change in rate of
currency versus rouble

Effect on profit after tax
(increase/ (decrease))

US Dollar

20%

(325.8)

20%

(250.2)

Other currencies

20%

16.9

20%

14.9

20%

325.8

20%

250.2

20%

(16.9)

20%

(14.9)

Increase in the rate of currency
versus rouble:
Euro

Decrease in the rate of
currency versus rouble:
US Dollar

Euro

Other currencies

20%

20%

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels

of market interest rates on its financial results and cash flows. Changes in

interest rates impact primarily change in cost of borrowings (fixed interest rate

borrowings) or future cash flows (variable interest rate borrowings). At the time

of raising new borrowings as well as finance lease management uses judgment

3.9

20%

(3.9)

5.2

20%

(5.2)

to decide whether it believes that a fixed or variable interest rate would be more
favourable to the Group over the expected period until maturity.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the interest rate profiles of
the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:

Carrying amount

31 December 2013

Fixed rate financial instruments:
Financial assets

100.7

Financial liabilities

(960.3)

Total fixed rate financial instruments
Variable rate financial instruments:
Variable rate financial liabilities

31 December 2012
13.0

(1,312.3)

(859.6)

(1,299.3)

(1,650.1)

(1,275.4)

During the year some of the Group’s loans bore variable interest rates (Note 29

AIRCRAFT FUEL PRICE RISK

or lower than the actual interest rates for the year, with all other variables held

the price of aircraft fuel. In September and October 2012 as well as September

and Note 30). If the variable interest rates on loans in 2013 were 20% higher

constant, interest expense would not have changed significantly (2012: would not
have changed significantly).

The interest expense under finance lease agreements primarily accrues at

variable interest rates. A sizeable part of finance lease liabilities (USD 367.2

million as at 31 December 2013 and USD 445.9 as at 31 December 2012) is a
subject to an interest rate swap with a fixed interest rate (Note 24). If in 2013
those rates were  20% higher or lower than what they actually were, with all

The results of the Group’s operations can be significantly impacted by changes in
2013, the Group entered into agreements with a number of Russian banks
to hedge a portion of its fuel costs from potential future price increases. In

accordance with the terms of each agreement the Group will be compensated

by the bank for the excess between the actual aircraft fuel price and the ceiling
price specified in the agreement, whilst the Group has agreed to compensate

the bank the shortfall between the actual prices and the floor price specified in
the agreement (Note 24).

other variables held constant, interest expense on finance leases for the year

would not have been materially different (2012: would not have been materially
different).
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT RISK

Total debt consists of short-term and long-term borrowings (including the current

concern while maximizing the return to the Company’s shareholders through

aircraft and defined benefit pension obligation.

The Group manages its capital to ensure its ability to continue as a going
the optimisation of the Group’s debt to equity ratio.

The Group monitors its capital in comparison with rivals in the airline industry on
the basis of the following ratios:
• net debt to total capital,
• total debt to EBITDA, and
• net debt to EBITDA.

portion), finance lease liabilities, custom duties payable on imported leased

Net debt is defined as total debt less cash, cash equivalents and short-term
financial investments.

Total capital consists of equity attributable to the Company’s shareholders and
net debt.

EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before depreciation, amortization and
custom duties expenses.

The ratios are as follows:

As at and for the year
ended 31 December
2013

Total debt

2,645.5

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term financial investments

2,067.0

Total capital

3,904.7

Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty
to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises

principally from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, financial receivables and
investments in securities.

The Group conducts transactions with the following major types of
counterparties:

(i) The Group has credit risk associated with travel agents and industry

organisations. A significant share of the Group’s sales  is made via travel

agencies. Due to the fact that receivables from travel agents are diversified

0.5

2.7

Net debt/EBITDA

CREDIT RISK

671.3

0.5

Total debt/EBITDA

capital requirements, except for minimal share capital according to the legislation.

1,775.2

3,895.6

1,000.0

Net debt/Total capital

Neither the Group nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed

(501.0)

2,120.4

1,837.7

EBITDA

and 2012.

2,621.4

(578.4)

Net debt

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management in 2013

As at and for the year
ended 31 December
2012

3.8

2.1

3.1

the overall credit risk related to travel agencies is assessed by management as
low.

(ii) Receivables from other airlines are carried out through the IATA clearing house.
Regular settlements ensure that the exposure to credit risk is mitigated to
the greatest extent possible.

(iii) Aircraft suppliers require that security deposits are paid by the Group in

relation to the future aircraft deliveries. The Group mitigates this credit risk by
performing background checks on suppliers. Only well-known and reputable
companies are contracted with.

(iv) The Group limits its exposure to credit risk associated with investments

in securities by only investing in liquid securities with a high credit rating.
Management actively monitors its investing performance and given that

the Group only has invested in securities with high credit ratings, management
does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

The maximum exposure to the credit risk net of impairment provision is set out in the table below:
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Financial receivables (Note 14)

733.2

610.1

Long-term financial investments (Note 18)

186.3

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12)
Short-term financial investments

Aircraft lease security deposits (Note 13)
Other non-current assets (Note 12)

Total financial assets exposed to credit risk

570.1
8.3

45.7

3.2

496.2

4.8

200.2
43.5

1.4

1,546.8

1,356.2

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Analysis by credit quality of financial receivables is as follows:
Current and not past due

Past due but not impaired

- less than 90 days overdue

- 91 days to 2 years overdue
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811.4
3.6

-

727.7
9.5

0.2
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31 December 2013

31 December 2012

3.6

9.8

-

Total past due but not impaired receivables
Less impairment provision

(74.6)

Total financial receivables

CREDIT RISK CONCENTRATION

As at 31 December 2013 a large portion of the cash as well as long-term financial

investments of the Group was placed in two banks (as at 31 December 2012: two

banks) and invested in one company (as at 31 December 2012: one company),
respectively, which causes the credit risk concentration for the Group.

38. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument can be exchanged in a

-

(107.8)

733.2

610.1

2 in the fair value hierarchy. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost which is approximately equal to their fair value.
LIABILITIES CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST.

The fair value of financial instruments is measured based on the current

market quotes, if any. The estimated fair value of unquoted fixed interest rate

instruments with stated maturity was estimated based on expected cash flows
discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar credit risk

current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation.

and remaining maturity. As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the fair

instrument.

bonds (Note 30) were not materially different from their carrying amounts. The

The best evidence of the fair value is an active quoted market price of a financial

The estimated fair values of financial instruments have been determined by

the Group using available market information, where it exists, and appropriate

values of financial payables (Note 25), finance lease liabilities (Note 28), loans and
fair values of financial payables, finance lease liabilities and loans are categorised
as Levels 2, while bonds are categorised as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.

valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to interpret

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

market information in estimating the fair value of financial instruments.

or if one party has the ability to control the other party or can exercise significant

market data to determine the estimated fair value. Management uses all available

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT FAIR VALUE.

This category includes only derivative financial instruments disclosed in Note 24.

Parties are generally considered to be related if they are under common control

influence or joint control over the other party in making financial and operational
decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship attention is

directed to the economic substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.  

FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST.

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the outstanding balances with

carrying value. The estimated fair value of fixed interest rate instruments is based

ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 were as follows:

The fair value of instruments with a floating interest rate is normally equal to their
on estimated future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current

related parties and income and expense items with related parties for the years

interest rates effective on debt capital markets for new instruments with similar

ASSOCIATES

of the counterparty. Carrying amounts of financial receivables, lease security

associates and income and expense items with associates for the years ended

credit risk and remaining maturity. Discount rates used depend on the credit risk
deposits and loans issued approximate their fair values, which belong to Level

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the outstanding balances with
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 were as follows:
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

1.2

0.4

2.0

2.4

Transactions

2013

2012

Purchase from associates

40.7

37.2

Assets

Accounts receivable
Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
The amounts outstanding to and from related parties will be settled mainly in cash.
Sales to associates

0.5

1.0

Purchases from associates consist primarily of aviation security services.

The Group has transactions with government-related entities, including but not

GOVERNMENT-RELATED ENTITIES

• banking services,

As at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the Government of the RF

represented by the Federal Agency for Management of State Property owned

51.17% of the Company. The Group operates in an economic environment where
the entities are directly or indirectly controlled by the Government of the RF

through its government authorities, agencies, affiliations and other organisations,
collectively referred to as government-related entities.

limited to:

• transactions with derivative financial instruments,
• investments in OJSC MASH (Note 18),

• purchase of air navigation and airport services, and

• government subsidies including those provided for compensating the losses

from passenger flights under two government programmes, i.e. flights to and
from European Russia for inhabitants of Kaliningrad region and Far East.

The Group decided to apply the exemption from disclosure of individually

insignificant transactions and balances with the Government and parties that are
related to the Company because the Russian state has control, joint control or
significant influence over such parties.
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Outstanding balances of derivative financial instruments and cash at settlement
and currency accounts in the government-related banks:
Assets

31 December 2013

31 December 2012

190.9

176.1

6.0

5.3

Cash and cash equivalents
Sberbank of RF

Gazprombank OJSC

11.5

JCK VTB Bank

Derivative financial instruments
Sberbank of RF

Gazprombank OJSC
Derivative financial instruments
Sberbank of RF

Gazprombank OJSC

in Notes 28 and 40. The share of liabilities to the government-related entities is

approximately 20% for finance lease and 8% for operating lease (31 December

38.3

45.0

(89.0)

(59.0)

3.2

Liabilities

The amounts of the Group’s finance and operating lease liabilities are disclosed

8.3

-

(0.9)

-

the liabilities under the bonus programmes was determined based on consensus
forecast for the Company’s capitalisation growth until 2015.

2012: 25% and 5%, respectively).

In 2013, expenses related to the bonus programmes were USD 10.5 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2013 the aggregate amount of Group’s

statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December 2013, outstanding liability under

transactions with government-related entities is less than 13% of operating

costs, and less than 2% of revenue (2012: less than 11% and 1%, respectively).

These expenses are recorded within staff costs in the Group’s consolidated
these plans was USD 10.5 million.

These expenses primarily include costs of air navigation and aircraft maintenance

SHARE OPTION PROGRAMME

government-related entities.

management personnel (the “Share option programme“).  The Share option

services in the government-related airports and also supplies of motor fuels by

As at 31 December 2013 the Group issued guarantees for the amount of USD
2.4 million to a government-related entity to secure obligations under tender
procedures (31 December 2012: no such guarantees were issued).

Transactions with the state also include taxes, levies and customs duties

During 2010 the Group initiated a share option programme for its key

programme ran for three years and was exercised in three tranches accrued

over the three-year period from 1 January 2011 through to 31 December 2013.
The vesting requirement of the Share option programme was the continuous
employment of participants in the Company during the vesting period of
the Share option programme.  

settlements and charges which are detailed in Notes 7, 8, 9, 11, 14, 19, 25 and 31.

The fair value of services received in return for the share option granted was

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

of the fair value of the services received was determined using the Black-Scholes

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management personnel
(the members of the Board of Directors and the Management Committee as well
as key managers of flight and ground personnel who have significant power and
responsibilities on key control and planning decisions of the Group), including

salary and bonuses as well as short-term and mid-term compensation, amounted

measured by reference to the fair value of the share option granted.  The estimate
model. The following variables have been used in the model:
Market share price at the grant date, USD

1.7

Expected volatility, %

40

Risk free interest rate, %

5

to USD 23.2 million (2012: USD 23.1 million).

During 2013 the Group recorded release of 1,796,300 unused share options

Such amounts are stated before personal income tax but exclude mandatory

statement of profit and loss (in 2012 expenses related to the share option

insurance contributions to non-budgetary funds.  According to Russian

legislation, the Group makes contributions to the Russian State pension fund
as part of unified social tax for all its employees, including key management
personnel.

BONUS PROGRAMMES BASED ON THE COMPANY’S CAPITALISATION
In 2013, the Group approved bonus programmes for the Group’s key

management personnel and members of the Company’s Board of Directors.
These programmes run for three years and are exercised in three tranches

of cash payments.  The amounts of payments depend both on the absolute

increase in the Company’s capitalisation and the Company’s capitalisation growth
rates against its peers based on the results of the reporting year. The fair value of

for the amount of USD 1.1 million within staff costs in the Group’s consolidated
programme amounted to USD 0.2 million). As at 31 December 2013, there were
no outstanding liabilities under the share option programme (the outstanding
amount as at 31 December 2012: USD 6.8 million).
CROSS SHAREHOLDING

As at 31 December 2013 Aeroflot-Finance and Partner Aeroflot, 100%-owned

subsidiaries of the Group, owned 53,527,652 ordinary shares and 2,091 ordinary
shares of the Company, respectively (31 December 2012: 62,726,453 ordinary
shares and 87,991 ordinary shares of the Company, respectively) (Note 33).   

40. COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable aircraft and other

operating lease agreements with third and related parties (Note 39) are as follows:
31 December 2013

31 December 2012

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2,905.2

1,832.7

Total operating lease commitments

7,708.4

On demand or within 1 year
Later than 5 years
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615.1

4,188.1

538.3

1,294.2

3,665.2
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The amounts above represent base rentals payable. Maintenance fees payable

The Group’s management prepared transfer pricing documentation to comply

included in the amounts.

internal procedures are adequate to meet the new transfer pricing legal

to the lessor, based on actual flight hours, and other usage variables are not

The aircraft that the Group has operated under operating lease agreements as
at 31 December 2013 are listed in Note 1. The Group received aircraft under

operating lease agreements for the term of 3 to 16 years. The agreements are
extendable.

The Group entered into a number of agreements with Russian banks under which
the banks guarantee the payment of the Group’s liabilities under existing aircraft
lease agreements.

41. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2013, the Group entered into agreements on acquisition
of property, plant and equipment with third parties for the total of USD

1,227.6 million (31 December 2012: USD 1,921.2 million). These commitments
mainly relate to 12 (31 December 2012: 16) Boeing B-777 aircraft  which are
expected to be used under finance lease agreements.

42. CONTINGENCIES

with the new legislation and believes that its pricing policy and implemented
requirements.

Changes in tax legislation or its enforcement in relation to such issues as transfer
pricing may lead to an increase in the Group’s effective income tax rate.

In 2012 – 2013, the approach of some of the Group’s entities to VAT accounting
treatment for a certain type of transactions was challenged by tax authorities.

This decision was challenged in court, and as at 31 December 2013 no liability
was recognised in these consolidated financial statements. It is possible that

such approach can be challenged by tax authorities other entities of the Group.

Management is unable to reliably estimate the potential effect of such claims, but
it may be significant. In January 2014, the Group won the law suit related to this
claim of tax authorities in the first instance.

In addition to the above matters, as at 31 December 2013 management

estimates that the Group has other possible obligations from exposure to

other than remote tax risks of USD 232.5 million (31 December 2012: USD

210.0 million). These risks are mainly related to VAT accounting treatment for a

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT OF THE GROUP

certain type of transactions specific for a Group’s subsidiary, and they represent

is exposed to the risk of the economic and financial markets of the RF which

and related requirements for documentation. Management will vigorously defend

The Group’s operations are primarily located in the RF. Consequently, the Group
display characteristics of an emerging market.  The legal and tax frameworks

continue development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent

changes which together with other legal and fiscal impediments contribute to

the challenges faced by entities operating in the RF.  The consolidated financial

estimates arising from uncertainties in the interpretation of Russian tax legislation
the Group’s positions and interpretations that were applied in calculating taxes

recognised in these consolidated financial statements, if these are challenged by
the tax authorities.

statements reflect assessment of the Group’s management of the impact of

INSURANCE

of the Group. The future business environment may differ from management’s

the Group insures risks under various voluntary insurance programs, including

the Russian business environment on the operations and the financial position
assessment.

TAX CONTINGENCIES

The Group maintains insurance in accordance with the legislation. In addition,
management’s liability, Group’s liability and risks of loss of aircraft under
operating and finance lease.

The taxation system in the RF continues to evolve and is characterised by

LITIGATION

which are sometimes fuzzy and contradictory and subject to varying

defendant) in a number of court proceedings arising in the ordinary course of

frequent changes in legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions,
interpretation by different tax authorities. Taxes are subject to audit and

investigation by a number of authorities, which have the authority to impose
severe fines and penalties charges. A tax year remains open for review by

the tax authorities during the three subsequent calendar years; however, under

During the reporting period the Group was involved (both as a plaintiff and a

business. Management believes that there are no current court proceedings or

other claims outstanding which could have a material effect on the results of
operations and financial position of the Group.

certain circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. Recent events within

During 2013, the Group accrued USD 30.9 million under the claim for additional

interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation.

harmful working conditions.  These charges are recorded within other operating

the RF suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more  tough stance in their

These circumstances may create tax risks in the RF that are substantially

more significant than in other countries.  The Group’s management believes

payments to the employees for their night work and for hazardous exposure and
costs in the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss. As at 31 December
2013, all liabilities to the employees under the above claim are settled.

that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities in these consolidated financial

43. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

official pronouncements and court decisions. However, the interpretations of

to the ownership of the Sakhalin region. The transaction was effected under

statements based on its interpretations of applicable Russian tax legislation,

these provisions by the relevant authorities could differ and the effect on these

consolidated financial statements, if the authorities were successful in enforcing
their interpretations, could be significant.

On 24 January 2014, the Company transferred 49% of shares of AK Aurora

the AK Aurora Agreement (Note 1) which provides for  transfer of AK Aurora’s
shares to the governments of the Russian Far East constituent regions out of

the shareholding of the Sakhalin region. The shares were sold for USD 5.7 million.

Russian revised transfer pricing legislation is effective from 1 January 2012.

During the period from January to March 2014, the Group received six Airbus

a certain extent, better aligned with the international transfer pricing principles

Boeing B-777 under finance lease.

The new transfer pricing rules appear to be more technically elaborate and, to
developed by the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development.

А-320, one Boeing B-737 and one DHC 8-201 under operating lease, and two
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Main business
(as defined by
the company
Charter)

Revenue in
2013,thousand
roubles

Income (loss) in
2013, thousand
roubles

Dividends in 2013,
roubles

32,089,926

-656,593

23,138

Commercial passenger
and freight services
on domestic and
international air routes,
and the provision of
aviation services

3,799,679

-99,630

-

274,122,792.0

Passenger, baggage,
freight and post
services on domestic
and international air
routes,

11,181,074

-1,998,975

6

shares

665,503,000.0

Domestic and
international air
transport

21,047,439

-539,061

-

Ensuring a strong
presence for Aeroflot
Group on the market in
the south of European
Russia and using
the potential of this region
for Group development.

shares

328,863,260.0

Domestic and
international air
transport

8,349,051

-58,147

-

100

Creating a budget airline
as part of the Group.

stake in
Charter
capital

264,400,000.0

Domestic and
international air
transport

-

-23,124

-

49

Premium Charter carrying

shares

17,657,540.0

Air transport with high
levels of comfort and
service.

Undergoing bankruptcy

75
(minus
1 share)

Ensuring a strong
presence for Aeroflot
Group on the North
European market and
using St. Petersburg to
develop Group potential.

shares

689,173,000.0

Open Joint Stock
Company Aurora
Airlines
(JSC Aurora
Airlines)

100

Ensuring a strong
presence for Aeroflot
Group
on the Russian Far East
market and creating a Far
Eastern regional airline
within the Group.

shares

302,700.0

Open Joint
Stock Company
Vladivostok Air
(JSC Vladivostok
Air)

52.16

Ensuring a strong
presence for Aeroflot
Group
on the Russian Far East
market and creating a Far
Eastern regional airline
within the Group.

shares

Open Joint
Stock Company
Orenburg Airlines
(JSC Orenburg
Airlines)

100

Creation of a specialised
airline that gives the Group
a presence on the tourist
transport market.

Open Joint Stock
Company Donavia
(JSC Donavia)

100

Limited Liability
Company
Dobrolet (LLC
Dobrolet)
Closed Joint
Stock Company
Jetalliance Vostok
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Purpose

Open Joint Stock
Company Rossiya
Airlines,
(JSC Rossiya
Airlines)

Interest, %

Size of interest
(31.12.2013),
roubles

Domestic and
international
air transport of
passengers, baggage,
freight, mail and
provision of aviation
services, including
services for passengers
and baggage

Form

Full name (short
name)

Main subsidiaries and affiliates
(as of 31 December 2013)
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Main business
(as defined by
the company
Charter)

Revenue in
2013,thousand
roubles

Income (loss) in
2013, thousand
roubles

Dividends in 2013,
roubles

Accommodation at
minimal regulated tariffs
of JSC Aeroflot crews
and passengers (in case
of service disruption), and
crews and passengers of
JSC Aeroflot subsidiaries
and affiliates

shares

882,812,538.63

Building, equipping
and renovating hotel
complexes, office
and hotel complexes,
offices and of ancillary
buildings, hydrocarbon
processing, operation of
hotel complexes, office
and hotel complexes
and offices.

1,333,829

154,371

-

Limited Liability
Company ALT
Reiseburo А/С

100

Travel services and related
services (sale of air tickets,
visa support)

shares

452,915.0

Travel arrangements,
including arrangements
for group travel, on a
travel agency basis, and
related retail services.

72,790

-6,730

-

Limited Liability
Company Aeroflot
Riga (LLC Aeroflot
Riga)

100

Ticket sales and other
sales functions carried
out in other countries by
Aeroflot representative
offices (due to limitations
on activity by foreign
companies under national
legislation). Currently
undergoing liquidation.

stake in
Charter
capital

17,121.5

Scheduled and
unscheduled air
transport, other air
transport businesses.

In liquidation

Limited Liability
Company
Aeroflot-Finance
(LLC AeroflotFinance)

99.9999 Implementation of
investment projects for
JSC Aeroflot (examples
are acquisition of shares
in JSC Aeroflot from
National Reserve Bank
and acquisition of shares
from Rosavia).

stake in
Charter
capital

2,100,000,000.0

Information and
advisory services
concerning
the issuance and
circulation of securities,
collecting and
providing information
about the state of
the securities market
and financial market for
interested individuals
and legal entities

-

91,226

-

Closed Joint
Stock Company
Aeromar (JSC
Aeromar)

51

Supply of in-flight meals,
cleaning services and
preparation of aircraft
cabins for aircraft of JSC
Aeroflot, and subsidiary
and affiliate airlines at
minimum regulated tariffs.

shares

28,050.0

Production and supply
of food and drink for
use on board aircraft,
various other services
to Russian and other
foreign airlines,
provision of other
catering services,
including preparation
and delivery of food to
orders for enterprises
and organisations.

9,384,755

747,674

-

Limited Liability
Company
Transnautic Aero
GmbH

49

Agent for freight sales
in Germany. Currently
undergoing bankruptcy
proceedings.

stake in
Charter
capital

105,154.0

Marketing and receipt
of orders for air freight
transport worldwide
using the capacities
of Aeroflot and other
airlines that provide
air freight services,
as well as helping to
build structures for air
freight transportation
in Russia and other CIS
countries and all related
operations.

Undergoing bankruptcy

Purpose

100

Interest, %

Closed Joint
Stock Company
Sherotel (JSC
Sherotel)

Full name (short
name)

Size of interest
(31.12.2013),
roubles
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Form
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Dividends in 2013,
roubles

1,339.33

Training, raising
of qualifications
and retraining of
specialists in the field
of civil aviation and
the travel industry
to meet the specific
needs of national
and regional bodies
and organisations
(institutions,
enterprises),
organisations in other
forms of ownership and
individuals.

267,122

2,085

-

Closed Joint
Stock Company
AeroMAShAviation Security
(JSC AeroMASh
AB)*

45

Aviation security at
airports, particularly at
JSC Aeroflot’s base airport
(Sheremetyevo).

shares

45,000.0

Pre-flight inspection
of airliner passengers
and crews, service
personnel, hand
luggage, baggage,
freight, post and
supplies for use during
flights.

-

-

-

Open Joint
Stock Company
Sheremetyevo
International
Airport (JSC
Sheremetyevo
International
Airport)**

8.959

Base airport for JSC
Aeroflot.

shares

2,259,687,350.0

Servicing of aircraft,
passengers and
cargoes.

-

-

-

Closed Joint
Stock Company
Transport Clearing
Chamber (JSC
TCC)**

3.85

Organisations of
settlements between JSC
Aeroflot and sales agents

shares

50,000.0

Organisation, conduct
and improvement
of mutual revenue
settlements for
the carriage of
passengers, baggage,
mail and freight, their
insurance, and other
services between
users of the mutual
settlement service.

-

-

-

LLC AMTERMINAL,
Social
Programmes
Foundation

Details of these assets are of limited relevance due to their insignificant impact on the financial results of Aeroflot Group

Form

Training of flight personnel contribution
and aviation specialists.
for creation of
A strategic asset, set
the Institution
up to meet the needs of
Aeroflot and other airlines
for qualified specialists.

Purpose

-

Interest, %

Non-state
Vocational
Education
Institution Aeroflot
Aviation School
(Aeroflot Aviation
School)

Full name (short
name)

Income (loss) in
2013, thousand
roubles

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

Revenue in
2013,thousand
roubles

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Main business
(as defined by
the company
Charter)
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Size of interest
(31.12.2013),
roubles

ABOUT THE COMPANY

* The Group‘s interest in AeroMASh-AB is less than 50%, so the company’s financial results are not consolidated under IFRS but
are recognised on an equity basis.
** The Group‘s interest in the companies JSC MASh and CJSC TCC is less than 20%, so the financial results of these companies are
not consolidated, but are recognised as part of long-term financial investments.

INFORMATION ON CONTRACTS MADE IN 2013 FOR SALE AND
PURCHASE OF SHARES / PARTICIPATORY STAKES IN NONCORE ASSETS
JSC Aeroflot sold 200 ordinary registered shares of the company JSC Aerofirst
(66.6% of its share capital). The competition, which was held in order to sell

the stake, obtained a price of RUB 1,230.0 million roubles, which was RUB 329.0
million more than the price determined by an independent appraiser. The income
to JSC Aeroflot from the sale (according to RAS rules) was RUB 729.9 million.  
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Information on the Results of the President and Government of Russian Federation
Assignments Execution in 2013
№

Document type, date, number

Short description of instruction

Execution

2

Instruction of the First Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation I.I.
Shuvalov
dated 22-01-2013 № ISh-P9-333
(Incoming № 438 dated 25-01-2013)

With the assistance of JSC Russian Railways,
JSC Sheremetyevo Airport, the Administration of
Primorsky Territory and airlines using Vladivostok
Airport, to ensure an Aeroexpress timetable,
which is convenient for passengers, to provide
the necessary information to the general public
about the services, to consider possible inclusion
of the train ticket in the price of the airfare in high
service classes, and to submit other suggestions
on possible measures to support the project.
Please submit coordinated proposals on matters
requiring a decision by the Russian Government.
To be implemented by 20-02-2013.

Information on the lack of a right on the part of
JSC Aeroflot to increase airfares for its passengers
in order to include the price of carriage on
the Aeroexpress train as a necessary condition
for purchase of an airline ticket was submitted to
the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing №
GD-448 dated 26-02-2013).

With the assistance of JSC Aeroflot, JSC
Sovcomflot, Russian Railways, and other
major industry employers in each mode of
transport, to provide comprehensive proposals
for implementation of the state programme
of the Russian Federation, ‘Development
of Education’, for the period 2013-2020 and
of the Main Initiatives of the Government
of the Russian Federation up to 2018 for
the development of higher vocational and
secondary vocational education.
To be implemented by 11-04-2013.

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot for implementation of
the state programme of the Russian Federation,
‘Development of Education’, for the period
2013-2020 and of the main initiatives of
the Government of the Russian Federation up to
2018 for the development of higher vocational and
secondary vocational education were submitted
to the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing №
GD-780 dated 16-04-2013).

The materials were prepared and delivered to Sochi
by A. Yu. Kalmykov.

1

Instruction of the President of the Russian
Federation V.V. Putin dated 07-01-2013 № Pr-26
(Incoming № 260 dated 17-01-2013)

Design and approve a set of measures to lower the
price of domestic air transport.
To be implemented by 01-02-2013.

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot for design and approval
of a set of measures to lower the price of domestic
air transport were submitted to the Russian
Ministry of Transport (Outgoing № GD-144 dated
22-01-2013).

3

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation D.N.
Kozak dated 12-02-2013 № P9-5875 (Incoming №
895 dated 12-02-2013)

4

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation A.V.
Dvorkovich
dated 11-02-2013 № AD-P9-777
(Incoming № 966 dated 14-02-2013)

5

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation A.V.
Dvorkovich
dated 13-02-2013 № AD-P9-885
(Incoming № 1022 dated 18-02-2013)

Provide organisational and technical support for
the permanent working group for development
of the Air Navigation System of the Russian
Federation (attached to the Government
Commission on Transport and Communications).

6

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation D.N.
Kozak dated 20-03-2013 № DK-P9-1728 (Incoming
№ 1933 dated 22-03-2013).

7

Instruction of the Deputy Head of
the Administration of the Government of
the Russian Federation I. Lobanov
dated 17-04-2013 №2091p-P17 (Incoming № 2622
dated 17-04-2013).

Clause 1:
To appoint speakers and submit to the Sochi 2014
Organising Committee materials, reports
and presentations in the Russian and English
languages, as specified in the programme of
the third visit by experts of the International
Olympic Committee (IOC), arriving and departing
in the period from 10 to 12 April 2013 , and also
to appoint persons responsible for interaction
with the Sochi 2014 Organising Committee in
preparation for the visit.
To be implemented by 28-03-2013.

Submit proposals by 26-04-2013 for candidates
from the federal reserve of management
executives (Instruction of the Government of
the Russian Federation dated 20-07-2012 № ADP17-4145) to pursue studies as part of the second
intake in the framework of the federal programme.

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot for candidates to
pursue studies as part of the second intake
in the framework of the Federal Programme
were submitted to the Deputy Head of
the Administration of the Government of
the Russian Federation I. Lobanov (Outgoing
№ GD-869 dated 29-04-2013).

8

Instruction of the First Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation I.I.
Shuvalov
dated 13-05-2013 № ISh-P9-3134 (Incoming №
3157 dated 14-05-2013).

To complete review of materials by 15-052013 for the first phase in choice of a model for
the development of the Moscow Aviation Hub)
to obtain an agreed position on this issue and
submit it for consideration by the working group,
which will be held under my chairmanship in
mid-May 2013.

Notes and comments to the interim report, ‘Design
of a Development Model for the Moscow Aviation
Hub’ were submitted (Outgoing № 208-1239 dated
22-04-2013).

A list of instructions of the Government of
the Russian Federation, connected with
preparations for the 22nd Winter Olympic Games
and 11th Winter Paralympic Games, Sochi 2014
(Minutes DK-P9-162pr).

Information (section I, clause 17) was sent to
the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing №
210.21-2193 dated 21-03-2013).

S.N. Loktev, Deputy Director for flight
Aeronavigation and Chief Navigator of
JSC Aeroflot, joined the permanent working
group for development of the Air Navigation
System of the Russian Federation (attached to
the Government Commission on Transport and
Communications).
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№

Document type, date, number

Short description of instruction

Execution

10

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation A.V.
Dvorkovich dated 22-07-2013 № AD-P9-5167
(Incoming № 5121 dated 23-07-2013)

Taking into account the decision to create a single
regional company in the Far East on the basis of
SAT Airlines, to submit coordinated proposals for
the development of air transportation in the Far
Eastern Federal District, including the expansion
of the route network, and preserving the regularity
and geography of regional and international flights
operated by JSC Vladivostok Air.
To be implemented by 26-07-2013.

11

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation
D.N. Kozak dated 19-07-2013
№ DK-P2-5173 in response to the letter from
JSC Aeroflot dated 18-07-2013 № GD-1316
concerning assistance in resolving the issue
of conversion of funds from the Uzbek party
and possible consideration of this issue at
the level of the co-chairs of the Russian-Uzbek
Intergovernmental Commission (Incoming № 5189
dated 25-07-2013)

Request to offer proposals.

Proposals for creation of a single regional company
in the Far East and coordinated proposals for
the development of air transportation in the Far
Eastern Federal District, including the expansion
of the route network, and preserving the regularity
and geography of regional and international flights
operated by JSC Vladivostok Air and SAT Airlines
were submitted to the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation
A.V. Dvorkovich and to the Russian Ministry of
Transport
(Outgoing №№ GD-1363, GD-1364 dated 26-072013).

The deadline for execution of the Instruction was
postponed to 01-05-2014, since the Russian
Transport Ministry had not submitted proposals
to the Russian Government (according to available
information, a draft letter on the issue is under
consideration by senior officials of the Ministry).

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot to assist in the reissue
of permits held by Vladivostok Air for provision
of international air transportation to JSC SAT
Airlines in connection with implementation of
the programme to expand the geography of
regional and international flights were submitted
to the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing №
GD-1500 dated 20-08-2013) and the Federal Air
Transport Agency (Outgoing № 406-304 dated
20-08-2013).

9

Instruction of the First Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation I.I.
Shuvalov
dated 06-06-2013 №ISh-P12-3816 (Incoming №
3824 dated 10-06-2013)

To cooperate with relevant organisations of
the Republic of Tatarstan to prepare proposals and
take appropriate action.
To report the results to the Government of
the Russian Federation no later than 10-06-2013.

12

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation A.V.
Dvorkovich  dated 01-08-2013 № AD-P9-5658
(Incoming № 5597 dated 08-08-2013)

To implement a programme to expand
the geography of inter-regional, regional and
international flights.
Report to be submitted to the Government of
the Russian Federation before 15-12-2013, and
semi-annually thereafter.

13

Instruction of the Deputy Chairman of
the Government of the Russian Federation A.V.
Dvorkovich dated 06-08-2013 №4696p-P9
(Incoming № 5635 dated 09-08-2013)

Plan to design and implement a long-term
mechanism for subsidising long-distance
passenger transportation.

14

Minutes of a meeting held by Russian Deputy
Prime Minister D.O. Rogozin
dated 14.08.2013 №RD-P7-25 (Incoming № 6140
dated 28-08-2013)

Clause 6:
The Russian Ministry of Transport, Ministry of
Economic Development, Finance Ministry and
Ministry of Industry Russia to submit coordinated
proposals for the partial reimbursement of
expenses incurred by Russian airlines for the start
of operations and subsequent exploitation of new
types of aircraft produced in Russia
Clause 7:
The Russian Ministry of Transport in association
with JSC Aeroflot and JSC Ilyushin Finance Co. to
develop an action plan to improve the operating
efficiency of Tu-204-300 aircraft in the fleet of
JSC Vladivostok Air.
Reports on results to be submitted to
the Government of the Russian Federation in
September 2013.

15

Instruction by Russian Deputy Prime Minister
D.O. Rogozin dated 23.09.2013 №RD-P9-6914
(Incoming № 7130 dated 02.10.2013)

With JSC Aeroflot, to review the proposal by
President of Khimki Basketball Club D.A. Golubkov
regarding the provision of Charter flights to
transport athletes to competitions.

16

Decree issued by Russian Prime Minister D.A.
Medvedev dated 09.10.2013 № 883 (Incoming №
7399 dated 10.10.2013)

On making amendments to the list of organisations
created to carry out tasks assigned to
the Government of the Russian Federation.
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Proposals by JSC Aeroflot to reserve 50 seats on
the latest daily flights from Moscow to Kazan at
the time of the Summer Student Games, as part
of Games sponsorship by JSC Aeroflot, were sent
to the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing №
GD-1095 dated 10-06-2013).

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot for modifying quotaplaces at subsidised rates based on seasonal
demand at the discretion of carriers within the limit
for provision of financial subsidies were submitted
to the Russian Ministry of Economic Development
(Outgoing № 04-1660 dated 18-09-2013).

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot were submitted to
the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing
№ GD-42-KI dated 12-09-2013).

JSC Aeroflot’s proposals were submitted to
the Russian Ministry of Transport (Outgoing № GD50-KI dated 17-10-2013).

Proposals by JSC Aeroflot on the inexpediency
of providing Charter flights for Khimki Basketball
Club athletes were submitted to the Russian
Ministry of Transport (Outgoing № GD-1848 dated
21.10.2013).

To be carried out no later than 30 April of the year
following the reporting year.
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№

Document type, date, number

Short description of instruction

Execution

18

Instruction by Russian Deputy Prime Minister
A.V. Dvorkovich
dated 28.10.2013 № P30-450-AD
(Incoming № 7867 dated 29.10.2013)

Dear Vitaly Gennadievich,
We have a firm agreement with A.L. Kostin.
Please organise transport according to the agreed
timescale.

19

Instruction by Russian Deputy Prime Minister
A.V. Dvorkovich in response to the letter from
JSC Aeroflot dated 10.10.2013 №GD-1778 ‘On
amendments to the Resolution of the Customs
Union Commission’, dated 31.10.2013 №AD-P97817 (Incoming № 8057 dated 05.11.2013)

To urgently review and submit coordinated
proposals on the merits of the issue (making
changes to certain points in the Resolution of the
Customs Union Commission on the application of
tariff preferences, full exemption from customs
duties and taxes, and the extension of periods
for temporary import and the application of
specific customs procedures for importing civilian
passenger aircraft).

Schoolchildren affected by the Far East floods
were transported to Moscow for vacations
and back to Khabarovsk (185 students,
15 accompanying adults). The Governor of
Khabarovsk Territory expressed his thanks.

20

Instruction by Russian Deputy Prime Minister
A.V. Dvorkovich dated 23.11.2013 № AD-P9-8417
in response to a letter from JSC Aeroflot dated
01.11.2013 № GD-1919 ‘On preparing a draft
legislative act to reimburse the costs incurred
by JSC Aeroflot and JSC Vladivostok Air for the
carriage of passengers of JSC Dalavia Ltd. and LLC
Interavia Airline at the expense of the 2013 federal
budget (Incoming № 8668 dated 25.11.2013)

To review and submit proposals.

To be carried out by 10.03.2014.

Please review issues related to the operation of
RRJ-95B JSC aircraft by JSC Aeroflot jointly with
JSC UAC and take immediate steps to eliminate
the shortcomings, which have been noted.
Submit proposals as necessary.
Report on results by 30.01.2014.

The deadline for submitting a report to the CEO on
this issue has been postponed until 17.02.2014.

17

21

Minutes of a meeting held by Russian Deputy
Prime Minister A.V. Dvorkovich dated 04.10.2013
№AD-P9-198pr (Incoming № 7454 dated
14.10.2013)

Instruction by Russian Deputy Prime Minister
A.V. Dvorkovich in response to the letter from
JSC Aeroflot dated 06.12.2013 №GD-73-KI ‘On
the main problems, associated with the RRJ-95B
aircraft fleet’, dated 17.12.2013 №AD-P7-9096-DSP
(Incoming №31/KI dated 20.12.2013)

II ‘On execution of the instruction of the President
of the Russian Federation dated 10.09.2013 №
Pr-2147 to design a set of measures to improve the
competitiveness of the Pulkovo Airport’.
Clause 2:
JSC Aeroflot (V.G.Saveliev) to provide an analysis
of the business of JSC Rossiya Airlines, including
economic indicators, the state of the fleet, route
network changes, the frequency of flights operated
by the airline, including flights using Pulkovo
Airport, as well as data on the routes ‘temporarily’
excluded from operation by JSC Russian Airlines.

An analysis of OJSC Rossiya Airlines’ performance
2010-2013 was submitted to Russian Deputy
Prime Minister A.V. Dvorkovich (outgoing № GD1970 dated 13.11.2013).

No further actions have been taken for resolution
of this issue since the meeting chaired by Minister
of Economic Development A.V. Ulyukaev on
15.11.2013 at the Russian Ministry of Economic
Development, at which it was decided to extend
the preferences established by paragraphs 2 and
3 of the Customs Union Commission Resolution
dated 16.07.2010 № 328 until 31.12.2017, with the
same stipulation on seat numbers of between 111
and 170.
Sub-Commission meeting minutes, signed by First
Deputy Prime Minister of the Russian Federation
and Chairman of the Government Commission
on Economic Development and Integration I.I.
Shuvalov, have not yet been sent to the Eurasian
Economic Commission (e-mail dated 24.01.2014
from D.P. Saprykin, progress report dated
21.02.2014).
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Information on Large Transactions and Related Party Transactions
Counterparty

Object of
the transaction

Price, roubles

Interested persons

Basis of interest

1

JSC Rossiya
Airlines

Provision by JSC Aeroflot
of a guarantee in favour
of JSC Rossiya Airlines
to Rossiya Bank

2,953,217.60

The BoD member of
JSC Rossiya Airlines D.P.
Saprykin is a member of
the BoD of JSC Aeroflot

2

JSC Aeromar

Lease of premises

405,829.62

The BoD member of JSC
Aeromar D.P. Saprykin is
a member of the BoD of
JSC Aeroflot. The BoD
member of JSC Aeromar
V.Ya. Zingman is a member
of the Executive Board of
JSC Aeroflot

The Company owns 20% or more
of the shares (participatory units)
of a legal entity, which is a party,
beneficiary, agent or representative
in the transaction;
The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

3

JSC Orenburg
Airlines

Training air crew in flight
conditions on a Boeing
B777 accompanied by a
pilot instructor

4,545,537

The BoD member of JSC
Orenburg Airlines D.P.
Saprykin is a member of
the BoD of JSC Aeroflot

4

JSC Sherotel

Services to
accommodate key
JSC Aeroflot specialists
in hotels

16,327,000

The BoD member of JSC
Sherotel D.P. Saprykin is a
member of the BoD of JSC
Aeroflot.
The BoD member of JSC
Sherotel V.Ya. Zingman is a
member of the Executive
Board of JSC Aeroflot

5

JSC
Vladivostok Air

11,466,569.76

The BoD member of
JSC Vladivostok Air D.P.
Saprykin is a member of
the BoD of JSC Aeroflot

6

JSC
Vladivostok Air

Provision by JSC Aeroflot
of aeronavigational
services for flights by
JSC Vladivostok Air
aircraft

287,367.35

The BoD member JSC
Vladivostok Air D.P.
Saprykin is a member of
the BoD of JSC Aeroflot

7

Aeroflot
Aviation School

717,895.40

The member of the Board
of Trustees of Aeroflot
Aviation School, I.P.
Chalik is a member of
the Executive Board of JSC
Aeroflot
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Provision by JSC Aeroflot
of aeronavigational
services for flights by
JSC Vladivostok Air
aircraft
Lease of premises

The Company owns 20% or more
of the shares (participatory units)
of a legal entity, which is a party,
beneficiary, agent or representative
in the transaction;
The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

Management body
responsible for
the resolution
Minutes of a BoD
meeting dated 21
December 2012,
№8

The Company owns 20% or more
of the shares (participatory units)
of a legal entity, which is a party,
beneficiary, agent or representative
in the transaction;
The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

Minutes of a BoD
meeting dated 21
December 2012,
№8

The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

Minutes of a BoD
meeting dated 21
December 2012, №8

The Company owns 20% or more
of the shares (participatory units)
of a legal entity, which is a party,
beneficiary, agent or representative
in the transaction;
The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction
The person holds a post in
the managing bodies of the legal
entity, which is a party, beneficiary,
agent or representative in
the transaction

Minutes of a BoD
meeting dated 17
April 2013, № 13

Minutes of a BoD
meeting dated 04
September 2013,
№4
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Information on Observance of the Code of Corporate Conduct
№

Provision of the Code of Corporate Conduct

1
2

3

4

5

6

Observed or not
observed

Notes

Shareholders are notified about any general meeting of shareholders at
least 30 days before it is held, regardless of the agenda items, unless
legislation permits a longer notification period.

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 17.2

Observed

Shareholders have the opportunity to acquaint themselves with the
information (materials), which must be provided ahead of a general
meeting of shareholders, by electronic communication, including via the
internet

Observed

Under paragraph 16.4. of the Company Charter, ‘The list of
persons having the right to take part in the general meeting
of shareholders is provided by the Company for purpose of
acquaintance at the request of persons included in the list
and controlling at least 1 (one) percent of votes.’

The Charter or internal documents of the company should contain a
requirement for the obligatory presence at the general shareholders
meeting of the CEO, executive directors, BoD members, members of the
revision commission and the company auditor

The General Meeting of Shareholders

Shareholders have the opportunity to acquaint themselves with the
list of persons that have the right to participate in a general meeting of
shareholders starting from the date when the meeting is announced, and
up to the closure of the meeting in case of a meeting in person, or up to
the last date for receipt of ballots in case of a meeting in absentia.

Obeyed in practice

A shareholder has the opportunity to place a question on the agenda of a
general meeting of shareholders or request the convocation of a general
meeting of shareholders without providing an extract from the register
of shareholders if his right to shares is detailed in the register, and, if his
right to shares is via a depo account, the shareholder can exercise these
rights after presenting an extract from the depo account

Observed

The Company itself requests confirmation from
the register of shareholders when accepting agenda
proposals for the general meeting of shareholders

Partially observed

The Company requests confirmation from the register of
shareholders when accepting agenda proposals for the
general meeting of shareholders

Candidates should be present in person when the general meeting of
shareholders considers questions of selecting members of the BoD, the
CEO, executive directors, members of the audit commission, and for the
approval of the company auditor

Partially observed

7

The company’s internal documents should set out the procedure for the
registration of participants in the general meeting of shareholders

Observed

8

The company Charter should ensure the right of the BoD to carry out
annual approval of the company’s financial and business plan

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.2 (sub-points 1 and 24)

The company should have a risk management procedure approved by
the BoD

Observed

Statute on the Audit Committee, paragraph 5.5.

The company Charter should allow the BoD to suspend the authority
of the CEO, who has been appointed by the general meeting of
shareholders

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.2 (sub-paragraph 8)

The Charter should allow the BoD to set requirements for qualifications
and remuneration level of the CEO, executive board members, and heads
of main sub-divisions of the company

Partially observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.2
(sub-paragraphs 10 and 12)

The Charter should allow the BoD to approve the terms of contracts with
the CEO and executive board members

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.2 (sub-paragraph 10)

The company Charter or internal documents should require that votes
of BoD members who are also the CEO and members of the executive
board cannot be taken into account in voting on the terms of the
company’s contract with the CEO (with management organisations or
with a manager)

Not observed

The BoD should include at least three directors who are independent, as
defined in the Code of Corporate Conduct

Observed

The BoD should not include any person who has been judged guilty of
economic crimes or crimes against government authority, government
services or local government services, or has been subject to
administrative sanctions for violations in the entrepreneurial, financial,
fiscal or securities market sectors

Observed

The BoD of the company should not include any person who is a
stakeholder, CEO (manager), member of a management body or
employee of any legal entity, which is in competition with the company

Observed

The Charter should require BoD election by cumulative voting

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.4

Internal documents should require BoD members to refrain from any
actions which will or might lead to a conflict between their own interests
and interests of the company and, if such a conflict arises, the internal
documents should require them to disclose the relevant information to
the BoD

Partially observed

Company Charter, paragraph 22.1; Article 8 of the Statute
on the Board of Directors

Observed

The procedure for members of the Board of Directors to
declare any interest in transactions by the Company is
regulated by paragraph 22.7 of the Company Charter and
by Articles 81 and 82 of the Federal Law on Joint Stock
Companies

9
10
11
12
13

14
15

16
17
18

19

Board of Directors

Internal documents should require BoD members to notify the BoD
in writing if they intend to carry out transactions with securities of
the company, in which they are serving as BoD members, or of its
subsidiaries (affiliates), and should disclose information about any
transactions, which they have carried out with such securities

Statute on the General Meeting of Shareholders, Article 7
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20

Internal documents should require the holding of BoD meetings at least
once every six weeks

21
22
23

24

25

26
27

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

Observed or not
observed

Notes

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors, Article 5

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors, Article 5

Internal documents should set out the procedure for conducting BoD
meetings

Observed

Internal documents should require approval by the BoD of any transaction
with value equal to or exceeding 10% of the value of company assets,
except for transactions carried out in the course of the company’s normal
business

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors, article 5 ;
Regulations for Meetings of the Board of Directors of JSC
Aeroflot

BoD meetings in the year, for which the annual report is prepared, should
be held at least once every six weeks

Company Charter, paragraph 19.2 (sub-paragraph 21)

Internal documents should allow BoD members to obtain information
necessary for carrying out their functions in the BoD, from executive
bodies and heads of main structural sub-divisions of the company,
and should make the latter answerable for any failure to provide such
information

Partially observed

Article 8 of the Statute on the Board of Directors.

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors,
sub-paragraph 11.3 of Article 11;
Statute on the Strategy Committee

The company should have a BoD committee (the audit committee),
which recommends an auditor for the company to the BoD and
collaborates with the auditor and the company revision commission

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors,
sub-paragraph 11.3 of Article 11;
Statute on the Audit Committee

The company should have a BoD committee on strategic planning
or the functions of such a committee should be assigned to some
other committee (other than the audit committee or personnel and
remuneration committee)

The audit committee should only include independent and non-executive
directors

Observed

The audit committee should be headed by an independent director

Observed

Internal documents should allow all members of the audit committee to
have access to any company documents and information on condition
that confidential information is not disclosed

Observed

Statute on the Audit Committee, paragraphs 3.4 and 4.11

The company should have a BoD committee (the personnel and
remuneration committee), whose function is to define criteria for choice
of BoD candidates and to design company remuneration policy

Observed

The personnel and remuneration committee should be headed by an
independent director

Not observed

Statute on the Board of Directors,
sub-paragraph 11.3 of Article 11;
Statute on the Personnel and Remuneration Committee

The personnel and remuneration committee should not include
executives of the company

Observed
Partially observed

34

The company should have a BoD committee on risk management or the
functions of such a committee should be assigned to another committee
(other than the audit committee and the personnel and remuneration
committee)

The company should have a BoD committee on the resolution of
corporate conflicts, or the functions of such a committee should be
assigned to another committee (other than the audit committee and the
personnel and remuneration committee)

Partially observe

35

The committee on the resolution of corporate conflicts should not include
company officials

Not observed

The company should have internal documents, approved by the BoD,
which regulate the procedure for the formation and operation of BoD
committees

Observed

28
29
30
31
32
33

36

In accordance with sub-paragraph 11.1 of Article 11
of the Statute on the Board of Directors, the Board
of Directors can create permanent and temporary
committees

There have been no corporate conflicts since July 28, 1992
(the date of creation of JSC Aeroflot). If conflicts arise, the
Board of Directors has the right to create a committee for
resolution of corporate conflicts (Statute on the Board of
Directors, sub-paragraph 11.1 of Article 11)

A committee of the Board of Directors for resolution of
corporate conflicts has not been created

The committee on the resolution of corporate conflicts should be headed
by an independent director

Not observed

The company Charter should define a BoD quorum in such a way that the
participation of independent directors in BoD meetings is essential

Not observed

39

The company should have a collegiate executive body (executive board)

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 21.1

40

The Charter or internal documents should require executive board
approval of real estate transactions and taking of credits by the company,
unless the relevant transactions are classed as major transactions and
therefore do not relate to normal conduct of business by the company

Observed

Statute on the Executive Board, paragraph 2;
Company Charter, paragraph 21.4 of Article 21

Internal documents should contain a procedure for approving operations
that exceed the limits of the company’s financial and business plan

Observed

Executive bodies should not include any person who is a stakeholder,
CEO (manager), member of an executive body, or employee of a legal
entity, which is in competition with the company

Observed

Company Charter, sub-paragraphs 19-21 of paragraph 19.2
of Article 19, and sub-paragraph 12 of paragraph 21.5 of
Article 21

37
38

41
42

176

Executive bodies

A committee of the Board of Directors for resolution of
corporate conflicts has not been created
Separate statutes for each committee of the Board of
Directors
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Provision of the Code of Corporate Conduct

43

Executive bodies should not include any person who has been judged
guilty of economic crimes or crimes against government authority,
government services or local government services, or has been subject
to administrative sanctions for violations in the entrepreneurial, financial,
fiscal or securities market sectors. If the function of single-person
executive body is carried out by a professional managing organisation
or manager, the CEO and executives of the organisation or the manager
should be subject to the same requirements

44

45

46.
47

Observed or not
observed
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Notes

Observed

The Charter or internal documents should forbid any managing
organisation or manager to carry out analogous functions for a competing
company or to be in any ownership relationship with the company apart
from provision of the services of managing organisation (manager)

Not observed

The Charter or internal documents should set out criteria for the selection
of a managing organisation (manager)

Internal documents should require executive bodies to refrain from any
actions which will or might lead to a conflict between their own interests
and interests of the company and, if such a conflict arises, they should be
required to disclose the conflict to the BoD

Observed

Company Charter, Article 22

Not observed

Executive bodies should submit monthly reports on their work to the
company BoD

Partially observed

The Company Charter does not envisage any statute on a
managing organisation (manager)

Company Charter, paragraph 21.4

48

Contracts between the company and the CEO (managing organisation,
manager) and executive bodies should assign responsibility for violation of
regulations on use of confidential or official information

Observed

49

The company should have a special officer (the corporate secretary),
whose function is to ensure observation by company bodies and officers
of procedural requirements that guarantee implementation of the rights
and lawful interests of company shareholders.

Observed

Statute on the Board of Directors, Article 10;
Company Charter, paragraph 19.8

Observed

Company Charter, paragraph 19.8

51

The Charter should specify criteria for candidates to serve as corporate
secretary

Not observed

52

The Charter or internal documents should include requirements for
the approval of major transactions prior to their implementation

Not observed

The charter should forbid any actions by the company’s executive bodies
(members of executive bodies) or BoD members, which are intended
to protect the interests of executive bodies (members of those bodies)
and members of the BoD, and which tend to worsen the situation of
shareholders when large share stakes in the company are being acquired
(takeover). In particular the charter should forbid any decision by the BoD
on additional share issue, issue of securities convertible into shares or
securities offering the right to purchase company shares until the period
of acquisition of the large stake has expired, even if such a decision is
the right of the BoD under the charter

Not observed

The Charter should not release the buyer in a takeover from the
obligation to offer to buy common shares (securities convertible into
common shares) from other shareholders

Observed

50

53
54

55
56
57

58
59

60
61

The Company Secretary

The Charter or internal documents should specify a procedure for
nominating (electing) the corporate secretary and the responsibilities of
the corporate secretary

Major corporate actions

An independent appraiser should be engaged for appraisal of the market
value of property, which is the object of a major transaction

Observed

The Charter should require the engagement of an independent appraiser
to appraise current market value of shares and possible changes in their
market value as a result of takeover

Not observed

The Charter or internal documents should contain a requirement to
engage an independent appraiser for appraisal of the share conversion
ratio during reorganisation

Not observed

The company should have an internal document approved by the BoD
defining rules and approaches to information disclosure (statute on
information policy)

Observed

Statute on Corporate Information Policy

Partially observed

Statute on Corporate Information Policy, paragraph 3.2.1

Internal documents should provide a full list of information, documents
and materials, which must be supplied to shareholders for the resolution
of issues raised at general meetings of shareholders

Observed

Statute on the General Meeting of Shareholders, subparagraphs 5.5.1, 5.5.2, 5.5.3, 5.5.4 of paragraph 5.5

Observed

Generally available corporate information and documents,
which must be provided to all interested parties, are in
open access on the corporate site, www.aeroflot.ru and at
www.disclosure.skrin.ru/disclosure/7712040126

Information disclosure

Internal documents should require disclosure of the purposes of any
share placement, the persons who plan to acquire the shares (also
in the case of large share stakes) and whether senior officials of
the company will participate in acquisition of the shares

The company should have a corporate website and should regularly
disclose company information on that website
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62

Internal documents should require disclosure of information about
company transactions with persons whom the company Charter
categorises as senior company officials, and also about company
transactions with organisations, in which senior officials of the company
directly or indirectly own 20 or more percent of share capital or over
which such officials can exert significant influence by other means

63

Internal documents should require disclosure of information about all
transactions, which can have serious impact on the market value of
company shares

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

Observed or not
observed

Notes

Observed

Statute on Corporate Information Policy, paragraph 3.2.1.;
Statute on Access to Insider Information

Partially observed

Code of Corporate Conduct of JSC Aeroflot, paragraph 3
Statute on Corporate Information Policy, paragraph 3.2.3.

64

The company should have an internal document, approved by the BoD,
setting out rules for the use of material information on company
business, its shares and other securities and transactions with them in
cases where such information is not generally available and where its
disclosure may have significant impact on market value of shares and
other securities of the company

Partially observed

65

The company should have procedures, approved by the BoD, for internal
control of its financial and business operations

Observed

Statute on the Internal Audit Service

The company should have a special sub-division for supervising internal
control procedures (a control and audit service)

Observed

Statute on the Internal Audit Service

Internal documents should require definition of the structure and
composition of the control and audit service by the BoD

Observed

Statute on the Internal Audit Service

The control and audit service should not include any person who has
been judged guilty of economic crimes or crimes against government
authority, government services or local government services, or has been
subject to administrative sanctions for violations in the entrepreneurial,
financial, fiscal or securities market sectors

Observed

Internal documents should set out schedules for submission of
documents and materials to the control and audit service for assessment
of financial and business operations, and should define responsibility of
company officials and workers for failure to meet such schedules

66
67
68

69

70

71

72

73
74
75

76
77

78

Supervision of Financial and Business Operations

The control and audit service should not include any person who
is a member of other executive bodies of the company or who is a
stakeholder, CEO (manager), member of a management body or worker
of any legal entity, which is in competition with the company

Observed

Partially observed

Statute on the Revision Commission

Internal documents should oblige the control and audit commission to
inform the BoD audit committee of any violations, which are discovered,
or to inform the BoD directly in case the company does not have an audit
committee

Observed

Statute on the Internal Audit Department

Internal documents should contain a procedure for approval of nonstandard operations by the BoD

The charter should require prior assessment by the control and audit
service of the advisability of carrying out any operations, which are not
envisaged by the company’s financial and business plan (non-standard
operations)

Not observed

Partially observed

Part of powers of the Board of Directors

The company should have an internal document, approved by the BoD,
defining the procedure for checks of financial and business activity by
the company’s audit commission

Observed

Statute on the Revision Commission,
paragraph 3.1 of Article 3

The BoD audit committee should give an assessment of the auditor’s
report prior to its presentation to shareholders at the general meeting of
shareholders

Observed

Statute on the Audit Committee, paragraph 5.9

The company should have a BoD approved internal document that
the BoD uses for guidance when making decisions on dividend
recommendations (statute on dividend policy)

Partially observed

Dividends

The dividend policy statute should contain a procedure for defining
the minimum share of company net profit, which must be paid out as
dividends, and should specify the conditions, under which dividends on
preferred shares (whose size is defined in the company Charter) are not
paid

Company dividend policy and amendments to that policy should be
published in a periodical publication, which is indicated by the company
Charter as the place for announcement of shareholder meetings, and
should also be placed on the company’s website

Partially observed

The Company Charter does not envisage preferred shares

Not observed

* In the following text, observance of the Code of Corporate Conduct means due account (observance) by the Company of
recommendations issued by the federal body of executive power responsible for the securities market, of requirements set out in
the Company’s Charter and internal documents (valid at the time this document was drawn up), and of Russian laws governing the
activities of Joint Stock companies such as JSC Aeroflot.  
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Transactions for sale and purchase of shares of JSC Aeroflot,
carried out by members of governing bodies
of JSC Aeroflot in 2013
№

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Name

K. Bogdanov

K. Bogdanov

D. Galkin

D. Galkin

V. Avilov

V. Avilov

I. Chalik

I. Chalik

A. Kalmykov

A. Kalmykov

A. Kalmykov

A. Kalmykov

V. Zingman

V. Zingman

K. Bushlanov

K. Bushlanov

G. Callegari

G. Callegari

Sh. Kurmashov

Sh. Kurmashov

21.

V. Saveliev

22.

V. Saveliev

23.

V. Saveliev

24.

V. Saveliev

25.

V. Saveliev

26.

V. Saveliev

27.

V. Saveliev

28.

29.

30.

D. Saprykin

D. Saprykin

D. Saprykin

Position

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

Executive Board member

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member,
CEO

BoD member, Executive Board member

BoD member, Executive Board member

BoD member, Executive Board member

Type of
transaction
(purchase/sale)
Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Sale

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Purchase

Sale

Date

05.02.2013

05.02.2013

08.11.2013

11.11.2013

16.01.2013

16.01.2013

19.12.2013

19.12.2013

15.01.2013

18.01.2013

23.01.2013

23.01.2013

11.01.2013

11.01.2013

21.01.2013

21.01.2013

26.12.2013

26.12.2013

29.01.2013

29.01.2013

Number of shares
purchased/sold
787,700

787,700

462,000

462,000

429,000

429,000

462,000

462,000

196,000

196,000

788,700

788,700

788,700

788,700

429,000

429,000

384,000

384,000

788,700

788,700

Shares
purchased/sold
as % of share
capital
0.071

0.071

0.0416

0.0416

0.03863

0.03863

0.04171

0.04171

0.018

0.018

0.071

0.071

0.071

0.071

0.03862

0.03862

0.3457

0.3457

0.071

0.071

Purchase

19.07.2013

1,649,265

0.148

Sale

19.07.2013

20,100

0.0018

Sale

22.07.2013

641,300

0.0577

Sale

23.07.2013

108,200

0.0097

Sale

25.07.2013

58,600

0.0052

Sale

26.07.2013

85,000

0.0076

Sale

29.07.2013

736,065

0.0662

Sale

Purchase

Sale

10.01.2013

16.01.2013

30.01.2013

1,278,044

788,700

788,700

0.115

0.071

0.071
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Terms and abbreviations used in this Annual Report
Aeroflot Group

All the companies (self-sufficient legal persons), linked by financial and economic ties, which carry out coordinated
business on the air transport market, of which JSC Aeroflot is the head (parent) company and corporate centre, based
on its significant or dominant stakes in the other companies

Aviation security

Protecting air traffic from illegal interference, all the measures and resources necessary for achieving such protection

BSP/ARC (Billing and Settlement Plan/
Airline Reporting Corporation)

Systems for settlement between agents and airlines. BSP is an international settlement system between agents and
airlines organised by IATA, which enables sales of air transport services on neutral forms (not assigned to any specific
airline), helps airlines to expand their presence on the air transport market, minimises financial risks, lowers expenses on
maintenance of the sales system, and speeds up the accounting system by use of electronic technologies. The purpose
of BSP is to raise the efficiency of interactions between airlines and agent networks. ARC is a system used in the USA,
which is analogous to BSP  

Cargo load factor

Ratio of tonne kilometer actually flown to maximum tonne kilometer capacity, expressed in percent

Code sharing

An agreement on the joint use of route codes, enabling one and the same route to be sold by two companies under their
own brands and with a distinct route number for each company. Either of the airlines in the agreement can be the actual
provider of transport service on the route

Electronic ticket (e-ticket)

A way of documenting sale and control of air transport without record of a physical medium (special accounting
form). All information relating to transport of a specific passenger (routes, fare, service class, sum paid, duties, etc.) is
contained in an electronic ticket file, located in a database of the relevant carrier. E-tickets are not necessarily associated
with sale of transport services via the internet, although it is easier to sell electronic tickets than ordinary tickets via the
Internet

Flight safety

Capacity to provide air transport services without risk to people’s life or health

Hub

Term used to describe an airport where transport routes converge and where there is a large share of transit
passengers, including airports where the timetable of incoming and outgoing flights is organised in such a way as to
minimise transit time between any one flight and the maximum number of other flights

IATA (International Air Transportation
Association)

An international association created in 1945 to foster cooperation between airlines to ensure the safety, reliability,
and cost efficiency of flights in consumers’ interests. Members of the association now include 270 airlines from 140
countries worldwide. IATA website: www.iata.org

ICAO (International Civil Aviation
Organisation)

Created as a result of the Chicago Convention on International Civil Aviation, signed in 1944. The ICAO is a specialised
institution within the UN, responsible for the development of international standards, recommended practice and rules
in the technical, economic and legal realms of international civil aviation. ICAO website: www.icao.int    

IOSA (International Operational Safety
Audit)

An international audit of operational safety, which includes the following aspects of airline operations: organisation and
management system; flight operations; aircraft engineering and maintenance; ground handling; operational control and
flight dispatch; cabin crew; aviation security; cargo operations and transport of hazardous cargo

ISO

International Organisation for Standardisation

ISO 9000

A series of international standards for creation of a quality control system at an enterprise, consisting of a number of
reccommendations for raising business process efficiency

JSC Aeroflot

Open Joint Stock Company Aeroflot - Russian Airlines, created by Russian Government Orders № 267 (01.04.1993) and
№ 314 (12.04.1994), carrying out air transportation of passengers, baggage, mail and cargo, and also providing services
based on an operator’s certificate and the appropriate licences

Market capitalisation  

Total market value of the shares of a company

Marketing partner

A party and/or airline that has the right to use its code on the flight of a partner operator and to show its code under
the ‘carrier’ heading on tickets for a code-sharing flight, but which does not carry out technical and ground handling or
operating control of the aircraft that makes the code-sharing flight  

Passenger kilometers (PKM)

Transporting one passenger over a distance of one kilometer

Passenger load factor

Ratio of the number of revenue passenger kilometers flown to total available seat kilometers. Expressed in percent

Passenger turnover

Measures the volume of air transport operations. Calculated by multiplying the number of paying passengers carried on
each stage of a flight by the distance of the flight stage. Expressed in passenger kilometers

Seat kilometer

Measure of an airline’s passenger traffic capacity, based on one seat flying a distance of one kilometer

TCC

Transport and Clearing Chamber

Tonne kilometer (TKM)

Transporting one tonne of paying load (passengers at 90 kg per passenger, cargo and post) over a distance of one kilometer
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List of Aeroflot Offices
Sales offices and branches in Russia
Address

Telephone

10 Arbat Street

Offices and sales desks in Moscow
E-mail

+7 (495) 223-55-55
+7 (499) 500-75-97

arb@aeroflot.ru

19 Yeniseyskaya Street

+7 (495) 223-55-55

ens@aeroflot.ru

7 Korovy Val Street (Buildng 1)

+7 (495) 223-55-55

krv@aeroflot.ru

3 Kuznetsky Most Street

+7 (495) 223-55-55

kzm@aeroflot.ru

20/1 Petrovka Street

+7 (495) 223-55-55

ptr@aeroflot.ru

37/19 Pyatnitskaya Street

+7 (495) 223-55-55

ptn@aeroflot.ru

32 First Tverskaya-Yamskaya Street

+7 (495) 223-55-55

tvr@aeroflot.ru

4 Frunzenskaya Embankment

+7 (495) 223-55-55

fru@aeroflot.ru

Terminal D, Sheremetyevo Airport*

+7 (495) 223-55-55

-

Terminal E, Sheremetyevo Airport

+7 (495) 223-55-55

-

Terminal F, Sheremetyevo Airport

+7 (495) 223-55-55

-

Opening hours

Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30
Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30
Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30
Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30

Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30

Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30

Mon.–Sat.: 9:00 — 20:30
Sun.: 9:00 — 16:30
Mon.–Sat.: 9:00–20:30
Sun.: 9:00–16:30

24 hours
(two 15 minute breaks:
8:45–9:00; 19:45–20:00)
24 hours
(two 15 minute breaks:
8:45–9:00; 19:45–20:00)
24 hours
(two 15 minute breaks:
8:45–9:00; 19:45–20:00)

* Aeroflot service desks are located in the left wing at Terminal D, on the third floor in the domestic flight departure zone
(opposite registration desks 21–28).

City

Code

Anapa

86133

Abakan

Arkhangelsk

Astrakhan

Barnaul

Blagoveshchensk

Volgograd

Gelendzhik

Ekaterinburg

Irkutsk

Kazan

Kemerovo

Krasnodar

Krasnoyarsk

Magnitogorsk

Mineralniye Vody

Nizhnevartovsk

Nizhny Novgorod

3902

8182

8512

3852

4162

8442

–

343

3952

843

3842

861

391

-

87922

3466

831

Offices in Russia (outside Moscow)
Telephone

Fax

Address

322-55

315-66

170 Krymskaya Street

296-500

651-455

511-111

369-902

318-770

385-480

+7(905)438- 52-22

356-5574

211-398

200-95-85

349-451

267-3607

274-37-28

+7(967)869-77-74

562-18

243-232

434-4040

–

59A Druzhby Narodov Street

651-455

30 Naberezhnaya Severnoy Dviny

380-245

85А Dmitrova Street

511-112

3 Gubernatora A. Guzhvina Prospect

318-770

108 Lenin Street

–

Gelendzhik Airport

964-468

15 Lenin Prospect

356-5570

41 Belinsky Street

200-95-85

35/15 Butlerova Street

211-326

27 Stepana Razina Street

349-451

1 Kolomeitseva street

274-37-27

73A Karl Marx Street

267-1907

–

599-20

245-555

434-4188

65 Krasnaya Street

Magnitogorsk Airport

Mineralniye Vody Airport

11 Omskaya Street

6 Gorky Square

Novokuznetsk

3843

+7(913)989-02-74

–

Office 13, 2nd Floor, Air Terminal

Omsk

3812

251-322

247-955

Office 4.2, 14 Gagarin Street

Novosibirsk

Orenburg

Perm

Petropavlovsk Kamchatsky

Rostov-on-Don

Samara

Sochi/Adler

Surgut

Tomsk

Tyumen

Ulan-Ude

383

3532

342

4152

863

846

8622

3462

3822

3452

3012

223-1576

660-555

217-9698

–

290-1303

290-1304

218-6618

286-9542

300-722

276-0277

2644-511

233-966

901-129

681-155

210-347

28 Krasny Prospect

9 Turkestanskaya Street

10 Lenin Street

300-830

35 Sovetskaya Street

276-02-80

141 Leninskaya Street

2645-675

363-305

901-129

383-872

210-347

24 Sholokhova Street

61А Roz Street

41 Lenin Street

51A Kirov Street

84 Malygina Street

47A Kommunisticheskaya Street
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City

Code

Chita

3022

Ufa

Khabarovsk

Chelyabinsk

Yuzhno-Sakhalinsk

Yakutsk

Vladivostok

Kaliningrad

347

4212

351

4242

4112
423

4012

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Offices in Russia (outside Moscow)
Telephone

Fax

321-808

321-808

279-60-55

783-435

237-09-17

788-755

40-26-06

Branches in Russia

2205-235

916-455

279-60-75

783-456

237-09-17

784-555

40-26-07
2205-403

956-454

Address

5/3 Lenin Street

17 Zvezdnaya Street

50 Pushkin Street

90 Svobody Street

172 Prospect Mira

8 Oyunskogo Street
143 Svetlanskaya Street

4 Pobedy Square

St. Petersburg

812

438-55-81

Country/City

Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

Vienna

43-1

512-1501

512-150-178

Opernring 1/R/417-419,
1010 Vienna, Austria

994-12

498-11-67

498-11-66

U. Hadjibekov Str., 23,
Baku, Azerbaijan, AZ 1000

374-10

532-131

522-435

12 Amiryana Street,
Yerevan, 0010, Armenia

375-17

328-69-79

328-68-95

Office 101, Ya. Kupaly Street, 220030,
Minsk, Belarus

32-2

513-60-66

512-29-61

Brussels Airport
Box 2
1930 Zaventem, Belgium

359-2

962-10-01

962-55-66

1407 Sofia, Bulgaria, Zlaten Rog Street,
22, 1-st Floor, Office 2B

London

44-20

735-522-33

735-523-23

70 Piccadilly, London, W1J 8HP, UK

Budapest

361

318-59-55

317-17-34

1050 Budapest, Joszef Attila Utca 18,
Hungary

Hanoi

84-4

377-187-42

377-185-22

Ho Chi Minh

84-8

354-725-88

-

209-210, Bld. D1, 298 Kim Ma Str.,
Ba Dinh District Hanoi, Vietnam

9th floor, Hai Au Building, 39B Truong
Son, Ward 4, Tan Binh District,
Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam

Berlin

49-30

226-981-37

226-981-36

Hamburg

49-40

5075-27-46

502-837

В-12489 Berlin
Justus-Von-Liebig-Strasse 7, Germany

Hannover

49-511

724-7814

977-2064

Dusseldorf

49-211

421-65-56

528-76-99

Munich

49-89

975-918-14

975-910-90

Frankfurt

49-69

273-006-11

273-006-19

Hahn (regional office for cargo
transport in Europe)

49-6543

508-600

508-606

Austria

Azerbaijan
Baku

Armenia
Yerevan
Belarus
Minsk

Belgium

Brussels
Bulgaria
Sofia

Great Britain
Hungary

Vietnam

Germany
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1/43 Rubinsteina Street

Flughafen Hamburg
Terminal 1
Flughafen- Str.1-3
22335 Hamburg, Germany

Flughafen Hannover
Terminal B
Flughafen- Str.6
30855 Langenhagen, Germany

Flughafen Dusseldorf Terminal Ring 1B,
TS 1.642-643, Germany

Flughafen Muenchen Terminal
1, Modul C, Raum C4365 85356
Muenchen, Germany

Hansaallee 154, Haus Hamburg, 60320
Frankfurt am Main, Germany

55483 Hahn Airport, Building 860,
Hahn, Germany
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Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

30-210

353-06-11

353-21-48

Athens International Airport Eleftherios
Venizelos
Ving H, 3rd Floor
P.O. Box 80084
T.K. 19019 Attiki

45

331-263-38

331-411-82

Koebenhavns Lufthavn, Terminal 2, 2
Sal 2770 Kastrup, Denmark

202

239-004-29

239-004-07

18, El Boustan st. El Boustan
Commercial Centre Cairo, Egypt

91-11

233-104-26

237-232-45

Room 510, 5th Floor, Ansal Bhawan,
16, Kasturba Gandhi Marg,
New Delhi - 110001, India

Tel-Aviv

972-3

975-72-37

975-72-43

Ben Gurion Airport 70100, Israel

Tehran

98-21

889-19-314

889-10-888

Tehran, Vali Asr Ave., Sadr Str., 62, Iran

Barcelona

34-93

430-58-80

419-95-51

Madrid

34-91

431-37-07

431-80-98

Aeropuerto de Barcelona, Terminal 1,
Dique Norte, planta 0, Oficina №431,
Spain

Malaga

34-95

297-45-34

297-45-33

Aeropuerto de Malaga, Malaga, 29004,
Spain

Bologna

39 051

64 72 207

64 72 207

Venice

39-041

269-84-84

269-84-47

Aeroporto di Bologna, Via Triumvirato,
84, 40132 Bologna, Italy

Milan

3902

585-810-14

585-810-15

Rome

3906

420-385-05

429-049-23

Via L.Bissolati 76, Roma, 00187, Italy

Almaty

727

291-54-16

-

32 Belagina Street, Almaty, Kazakhstan

Toronto

+1416

776-3932

776-3639

Toronto Pearson International Airport
Terminal 3, Office J305 P.O. Box 6009
Toronto AMF, ON L5P 1B2, Canada

357

2400-8456

2400-8458

P.O. 43062, P.C. 6650 New Int`l Airport,
Larnaca, Cyprus

996-312

620-074

620-075

64/1 Erkindik Boulevard, Bishek,
Kyrgyzstan

Hong Kong

852

253-726-11

253-726-14

Guangzhou

86-20-

360-504-10

360-664-82

Room 1005, 10th Floor
Jubilee Centre, 18 Fenwick Street,
Wanchai, Hong Kong, PRC

Beijing

86-10

650-024-12

650-125-63

Shanghai

86-21

627-980-33

627-980-35

Stuttgart

Greece
Athens

Denmark

Copenhagen
Egypt
Cairo
India

Delhi
Israel
Iran

Spain

Italy

Kazakhstan
Canada

Cyprus

Larnaca
Kyrgyzstan
Bishkek
China

South Korea

49-711

948-49-10

948-49-13

70629 Flughafen Stuttgart Terminal 3
Ebene 3 Raum 3301, Germany

Oficina 42739, Terminal 1, Aeropuerto
Barajas,Madrid 28042, Spain

Aeroport Marko Polo, Tessera, Venezia,
Luigi Broglio street 8, 30030, Italy

Aeroporto Interc. Malpensa
21010 Ferno (VA), Italy

Guangzhou Baiyun International Airport,
Guangzhou, 510470 China,
Hotel Pullman Guangzhou Baiyun
Airport, room W202

General Representation
of Aeroflot in China
N2 Chao Yang Men Bei Da Jie, Beijing,
100027, PRC

Suite 664, Shanghai Centre, 1376,
Nan Jing Xi Road, Shanghai, 200040,
PRC
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Country/City

LETTERS TO SHAREHOLDERS

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Offices abroad

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
AND SECURITIES

Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

537

204-32-00

204-55-93

5-ta Avenida, Entre 76 Y 78, Edificio
Barcelona,
Oficina 208, Miramar Trade Centre,
Miramar, Playa, Ciudad Habana, Cuba

Riga

371-6

778-07-70

778-07-71

Dzirnavu Str., 57A, Riga, LV-1010, Latvia

Beirut

9611

739-596

739-597

Gefinor Centre, Block B, 10th Floor,
Office 1002Б Clemanceau Str.,
Ras-Beirut/ 3234, Beirut, Lebanon

976-11

319-286

323-321

Ulaan Baator BAATOR, Seoul Str. 15,
Aeroflot, 210644, Mongolia

960

333-00-82

333-00-79

Male 20026 boduthakurufaanu magu
H.Aagadhage/1st floor, Maldives

31-20

625-40-49

625-91-61

1118BG Schiphol ,
Schiphol Boulevard 159
Amsterdam, Netherlands

47

648-104-10

648-184-12

2060 Gardermoen,
Edvard Griegs vei 1, Norway

971-4

222-22-45

222-77-71

PO Box 1020 Al Maktoum Str.,
Al Mazroei Bldg. Office 101, Deira,
Dubai , U.A.E.

48-22

628-17-10

628-25-57

Warszawa 00-697 Aa. Jerozolimskie
65/79, Poland

82-2

569-32-71

569-32-76

Rm.207, Shin A Bldg, 50, 11 Gil
Seosomun-Ro-Jung-Gu, Seoul,
100-752, Korea

4-021

315-03-14

312-51-52

2-4, Gheorghe Manu Str., 010445
District 1, Bucharest, Romania

Belgrade

381-11

328-60-71

328-60-83

11000 Belgrade Kneza Mihajlova, 30

Washington

1-202

625-40-49

625-91-61

Los Angeles

1-323

272-48-61

413-21-59

1101 17 Str., NW. Suite 716
Washington DC, USA

Miami

1-305

869-19-46

869-19-46

New York

1-212

944-23-00

944-52-00

358 Fifth Avenue Suite 1103,
New York, USA

662

1-34-22-27

1-34-21-79

Suvarnabhimi Airport, Concourse G,
Room G2-085, 999 Moo 1 Nong Prue,
BangPhli Samut Prakan 10540, Thailand

Antalia

902-42

330-31-06

330-34-77

Istanbul

90-212

296-67-25

296-67-37

Antalya International Airport,
Terminal-2 Z-196, Antalya, Turkey

Seoul

Cuba

Havana

Latvia
Lebanon

Mongolia

Ulan-Bator
Maldives
Male

Netherlands
Amsterdam
Norway
Oslo
UAE

Dubai
Poland

Warsaw
Republic of Korea
Seoul

Romania

Bucharest
Serbia
USA

Thailand

Bangkok
Turkey
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822

771-32-71

569-32-76

Rm.207, Shin A Bldg, 50, 11 Gil
Seosomun-Ro, Jung-Gu, Seoul,
100-752, Korea

Los Angeles, 9100 Wilshire Blvd. Suite
175, Beverly Hills, CA 90212, USA

6450 NW 25 Str., Building 704,
Miami, FL 33122, USA

Harbiye Mah., Cumhuriyet Cad N48 B,
Sisli, Istanbul, Turkey
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Offices abroad
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Country/City

Code

Telephone

Fax

Address

Tashkent

998-71

120-05-55

120-05-57

73 Bobur Str., Tashkent, 100029,
Uzbekistan

Uzbekistan

Ukraine

Dnepropetrovsk

38-056

239-57-71

239-57-85

Donetsk

38-050

368-02-52

-

Kiev

38-044

369-5-555

245-48-81

Odessa

38-0482

39-33-01

39-33-04

Simferopol*

Kharkov

38-0652

595-606

595-606

Civil Aviation Airport

1 Vzletnaya Str., Donetsk 83021,
Ukraine

112-А Sagsaganskogo Str., Kiev,
01032 Ukraine

Odessa International Airport, Odessa,
Ukraine

6 Airport Square, Simferopol, Ukraine

38-057

766-36-17

-

1 Romashkina Str., Airport, Kharkov,
61031, Ukraine

358-9

424-771-14

821-472

Helsinki – Vantaan Lentoasema
Terminaali 2 01530 Vantaa, Finland

Nice

33-4

932-14-482

932-14-544

Paris

33-1

418-40-787

494-70-516

Aeroflot Aeroport Nice – Cote D’Azur
Terminal 2, 06281 Nice Cedex 3, France

385-1

487-20-55

120-05-57

10000, Zagreb, Hebranga Andrije 4,
Stan 2, Croatia;
21120, Split Aeroport, Kastela, Cesta
Dr.F.Tudmana, 96, Croatia

420

227-020-020

224-812-683

Truhlarska, 5
110 00 Prague 1, 11000,
Czech Republic

Geneva

41

22-717-88-00

22-798-24-30

Zurich

41-43

816-40-48

816-40-90

15, Route de l`Aéroport-CP-7 , CH-1215
Genève 15, Switzerland

46-8

593-617-05

593-602-16

Box 19, 19045, Stockholm Arlanda,
Sweden

81-3

553-287-81

553-288-21

Toranomon Kotohira Tower 16F,
1-2-8 Toranomon, Minato-ku, Tokyo,
105-0001, Japan

Finland

Helsinki
France

Croatia
Zagreb

Czech Republic
Prague

Switzerland

Sweden

Stockholm
Japan
Tokyo

Le Dome – Batiment 4-4, rue de la
Haye – 95731 Roissy CDG Cedex,
France

Terminal 2 CH-8060 Zurich 60
Flughafen, Switzerland

*In March 2014 the country of location of JSC Aeroflot representative office in Simferopol was changed to the Russian Federation.

185

Contact Information
Full name – Joint Stock Company “Aeroflot - Russian Airlines”  
Short name – JSC Aeroflot

Certificate of inclusion in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities – Issued by the Moscow Department of the Russian Tax Ministry (№1027700092661 issued
on 02 August 2002)

Tax payer identification number – 7712040126

Location – 10 Arbat Str., Moscow, Russian Federation

Postal address – 10 Arbat Str., Moscow, 119002, Russian Federation
Website: www.aeroflot.ru

FOR SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

SHEREMETYEVO BRANCH OF THE REGISTER

Tel./fax: +7 (495) 258-06-84

Terminal B, Sheremetyevo Airport, Khimki, Moscow Region

For shareholders:

E-mail: emitent@aeroflot.ru
For investors:

Tel/fax: +7 (495) 258-06-86, (499) 500-69-63/fax
E-mail: ir@aeroflot.ru

PRESS SERVICE

Tel.: +7 (499) 500-73-87, (495) 752-90-71
Fax: +7 (495) 753-86-39

E-mail: presscentr@aeroflot.ru

SHARE REGISTER

CJSC Computershare Registrator

Location: Aeroflot Aviation Personnel Training Department, Building 6,
Tel./fax: +7 (495) 578-36-80

Opening hours for share operations:

Monday-Thursday: 9:30 to 16:00, break from 13:00 to 13:30;
Friday: 9:30 to 14:30

AEROFLOT BONUS PROGRAMME
Tel.: +7(495) 223-55-55

8-800-444-55-55 from Russian regions
Fax: +7 (495) 725-43-56
Opening: 24 hours

www.aeroflotbonus.ru

E-mail: bonus@aeroflot.ru

License number: 10-000-1-00252

CALL CENTRE

Tel.: +7 (495) 926-81-60

Enquiries regarding tickets purchased over the internet can be sent by e-mail to:

Location: Kutuzoff Tower Business Centre, 8 Ivano-Franko Street, Moscow
Fax: +7 (495) 926-81-78
E-mail: info@nrcreg.ru
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For air ticket booking and information: +7 (495) 223-55-55, 8-800-444-55-55
callcenter@aeroflot.ru

NOTICE CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

In addition to factual data, this Annual Report also contains opinions, assumptions
and forecasts by Company management based on currently available information.
Changes in external factors, such as fluctuating demand for air transportation,
price changes, implementation of new technologies, changes in legal
environment, fluctuations in exchange rates, etc., may cause actual performance
by the Company in the future to differ from forecasts in this Report.

